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0 0 102 0 0 102
(27070 (2945) 2,324 (3125 (3377) 1,764
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(71) (67) (69) 6 ©)
79 138 94 (43 47
228,363 220,359 215688 4 2
165,685 162,717 163,604 2 (1)
115277 — - - -
65669 60,352 58403 O 3
252,880 238,180 241,520 6 (1)
2016 2015 5.3 65.7
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635 608 653 4 (7)
1,314 1872 1383 (30) 35
402 292 397 38 (26)
(128) (111) (135 15 (18)
2223 2661 2298 (16) 16
)
2016
2016 48 5,497
2015
19 20 18 19
2015 38 5,452 2015
2,661
2015
5,228 2015 1,057
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272
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5497 6826 7,426  (19) (8)

3 10 7 - 43

2725 3105 3038 (12) 2

2001 2322 1847 (14 26

509 563 520 (100 8

0 2661 O (100) -

217 %6 - 126 -

2727 5642 2367 (52 138

5452 8747 5405 (38) 62

48 (L,931) 2,014 - -

0.4 (11.2) 117 - —

992 1281 728 - _

9928 12372 11,325 (200 9

1) 0.9 (149) 186 - -
239,700 234,276 337,443 2 (31)

51,713 62,838 60,200 (18 4

50556 63527 60,922 (200 4

284,143 276,656 372,949 3 (26)

277,787 279,691 376,857 (1) (26)

11,530 12,000 10,930 (4) 10
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2016 2015
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2016 2015 2014
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3 10 7
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2015
2016
2015 20 1,839
2015
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1,972 1,787 2109 10 (15)
20 0 D - 100
1237 1265 1,187 (2 7
424 432 410 ) 5
2 2 2 - -
0 380 O (100) -
28 22 - 27 -
454 836 412 (46) 103
1,691 2101 1599 (200 31
261 (314 511 - -
107  (154) 274 - —
858 1176 75.8 - _
4652 3717 3259 25 14
1) 5.7 (84) 157 - -
20784 18712 13839 11 35
18,027 16,150 12,167 12 33
17,624 16327 12,294 8 33
45571 40,898 39,954 11 2
44552 41,347 40,373 8 2
3000 2810 2440 10 15
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2016 2015
/2015 /2014
2016 2015 2014
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1,972 1,787 2,109
20 - D
1,691 2,101 1,599
0 (380) 0
(28) (22) —
1,663 1,699 1,599
261 (314) 511
28 402 0
289 88 511
11.9 4.6 27.4
GAAP (€Y
2016 2015 1.3
2015 3.2 446
2016
2016 2015 849
M&A
2016 2015
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2016 PO
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1,046 872 20
1,967 1,702 16
758 836 (14)
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2015 2,652 5,759
RMBS DOJ NCUA
2,792 2016
2015 2,206 2,943
2016 1,271
2016
2015
1,782 2015 137 2016
111 2016 4,377
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2016 2015 2014

(1,271) 511 1,838 - (72)
27 11 427 145 (97)
111 137 33 (199 315

612 1,168 1,214 (48) 4

3590 1539 3,516 133 (56)

2792 417 2536 - (84)
54 163 182 (67) (10)
121 156 - (22 -

3765 1858 3,698 103 (50)
4377 3026 4912 45 (38)
23 22 32 5 (31)

(5759) (2652 (31070 117 (15

4 (11) 395 - -

80,297 100,823 130,211 (20) (23)

45,441 72,424 78509  (37) (8)

44425 73218 79,332 (39) (8)

105,768 168,544 251,548 (37) (33)

103,402 170,393 254,184 (39) (33)

1,830 3200 4360 (43 (27)

2016 2015
/2015 /2014
2016 2015 2014
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194 291 403 (33) (28)
(90)  (109) 167 17n -
(1,253) (281) 283 346 -
(315 (251) (219) 25 15
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27 11 427 145 (97)
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(1,271) 511 1,838
4) 0 0
6 0 0
(1,269) 511 1,838
111 137 33
4,377 3,026 4,912
(121) (156) -
(2,693) (290) (2,325)
1,563 2,580 2,587
(5,759) (2,652) (3,107)
2,816 446 2,325
(2,943 (2,206) (782)
GAAP @
2016 2015 28.8 44.4
2016 103.4 2015

67.0

2016

2016

2015

1,271
2015

511
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2015 137 2016 111
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2015 1,351 4,377
RMBS 2016 2,792
2016 121
220 2015
2,580 2016 1,563 39
©)
IT
2016
IT
2016 2015

/2015 /2014
2016 2015 2014

71 561 680 (87) (18)
1) D 1 0 -
277 351 358 (21) (2)
399 465 288 (14 61
76 46 8 65 475
7 0 - - -
482 511 296 (6) 73

759 862 654 (12) 32
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(687) (300) 25 129 —
62,413 64,621 24,440 (3) 164
1) 17,338 18467 16,354 (6) 13
( 1) 59374 63090 18810 (6) 235
(D
2016
2015 2016
2017
2016 2015
/2015 /2014
2016 2015 2014
(160) 69 (78) - —
1) 0 208 543 (100)  (45)
231 194 215 19 (10)
71 561 680 (87)  (19)
( D ASU 2016-01
2016
2016 2015
/2015 /2014
2016 2015 2014
2571 2571 2578 O 0
2978 3439 3085 (13) 11
76 46 8 65 475
166 106 - 57 -
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5791 6,162 5671 (6) 9
5032 5300 5017 (5 6
1,021 1217 1,122 (16) 8
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669 648 605 3 7
1,732 1698 1564 2 9
279 262 231 6 13
542 677 605 (20) 12
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2015 FINMA 110 LCR
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SNB
Fed ECB
2015
LCR HQLA
2016 2015
61,720 24,682 8,291 3,601 98,294 72,475
3,235 61,836 4,627 21,982 91,680 101,561
(21 64,955 86,518 12918 25583 189,974 174,036
()
2016 12 31 HQLA 190.0
SNB Fed  ECB 98.3
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2016 12 31 34.9
9.9 25.0
17
2017
LCR FINVA FINVA  HQLA
HQLA
LCR
LCR
LCR 2016
LCR 202 HQLA 190.6 94.3
RMBS DOJ
LCR 2015 HQLA
i i
i
2016
2015
2016 2015
(1 (2 ( 2
3) — 190,642 175,306

150,044 18,811 19,362
205,036 74,763 86,619
- 63,312 86,778
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264,146 6,279 3,313

- 275,899 307,006
127,475 80,759 95,418
57,726 30,234 31,104
70,618 70,618 52,011
- 181,611 178,533
- 190,642 175,306
- 94,288 128,473
— 202 136

(1) 30
2
()

FINMA
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2015

13

2015

2016
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2016

2016 12
113,546 739 1,001 92 0 4,883 121,161
0 383 218 135 6 30 772

50,325 53,295 18,851 10,009 2,081 278 134,839

32,178 386 0 0 0 0 32,564
165,150 O 0 0 0 0 165,150
17 86 0 482 1,224 680 2,489
846 3 0 0 166 5,762 6,777
10,364 53,807 29,204 42,832 89,729 50,040 275,976
0 0 0 0 0 4,711 4,711

0 0 0 0 0 4913 4,913

0 0 0 0 0 213 213
33431 O 0 0 0 0 33,431

18,878 2,106 4,434 3,755 4,027 3,665 36,865
424,735 110,805 54,608 57,305 97,233 75175 819,861

7,286 5081 4354 5272 637 170 22,800
229,898 23,966 51,705 45730 4363 171 355,833

13456 9,804 5658 1,291 2,762 45 33,016
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0 0 32,564
0 0 44,930
5846 O 15,385
22,487 90,709 70,137 193,315
0 0 39,852
773 1,729 39,855

396,263 53,726 74,830

81,399 100,200 71,132 777,550

2016

2016

1930

Pfandbriefbank Schweizerischer Hypothekarinstitute

1)
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9.4
7.2
2.2
10.7
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2.0

6.9
6.9

o O O
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16.3
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2.0
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2016 7 2015 8.7 15.4
2016
2016 12 31 26.8
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2016
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11 2013 2018
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ENDBAL %D D5 —
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D
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CET1 2.5
G-SIB
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1.5
CET1
BIS
2016 2017 2018 2019
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CET1 4.5% 4.5% 4.5% 4.5%
0625% (1 1250% (» 1.875% (1 25%
G-SIB
0375% ( » 0.750% ( » 1.125% ( » 15%
CET1 5.5% 6.5% 7.5% 8.5%
1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5%
7.0% 8.0% 9.0% 10.0%
2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%
9.0% 10.0% 11.0% 12.0%
CET1
( 2 60.0% (1 80.0% (1 100.0% 100.0%
2013 2022 10
(D
( 2
CET1 1.5
CET1 11
5.125 CET1
11 2.5 CET1
CET1
2018
11
11
2016
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2020 RWA 12.86
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3.5 CET1
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W GETI
2016 ) 207 :auaz_ 219 200
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2017
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2016 12 31
2.5 6.5
1.25 5.75
CET1
5.125
FINMA
FINMA
CET1 5.125 2016
6.7
RWA 2.5
CET1 2016
11.8 4.3
BIS
2016 2015 () 2016 2015 ()
CET1 36,576 42,072 (13) 30,783 32,938 (7)
48,865 53,063 (8) 41,879 44,601  (6)
55,728 62,682  (11) 46,758 51,425  (9)
271,372 294,950 (8) 268,045 289,946 (8)
CET1 135 143 - 115 11.4 —
18.0 180 - 15.6 15.4 _
205 213 - 17.4 17.7 _
BIS
CET1 2015 14.3 2016 13.5 CET1
RWA 2016 2015
18.0 2015 21.3
2016 20.5
CET1 2015 42.1 2016 36.6

CET1
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2016 2015 () 2016 2015 ()

41,897 44,382  (6) 41,807 44,382 (6)

( 1 (694) (459) 51 (694) (459) 51
1,246 2132  (42) - _ _

83 89 ©) _ _ _

2) (2,919) (1,906) 53 (4,864) (4,765) 2
(2 (42 (28) 50 (70) (71) (1)
(2,120) (1,262) 68 (3534) (3155) 12
(299) (234) 28 (498)  (584)  (15)

435 (185) - 724 (463) -

( 2) (479 (244) 96 (798) (611 31
(1) (8) (88) (2 (21) (90)

(3 11 ) - 20 (5) -
(542) (203) 167 (1,398) (1,310) 7
(

(4,627) 4) (1,851 150 (10,420) (10,985) (5)

CET1 36,576 42,072 (13) 30,783 32,938 (7)
6,000 6562  (9) 6000 6562 (9)

5.125 5,006 5101 O 5096 5101 O
11,096 11,663 (5) 11,096 11,663 (5)

5) 2,899 2616 11 - - -
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12,289 10,991 12 11,096 11,663 (5)
48,865 53,063 (8) 41,879 44,601 (6)
698 2,682 (74) 698 2,682 (74)
4,181 4,142 1 4181 4,142 1
4,879 6,824 (29) 4,879 6,824 (29)
2,083 2,970 (30) — — —
(99) (175) (43) — - —
6,863 9,619 (29) 4 879 6,824 (29)
55,728 62,682 (11) 46,758 51,425 (9)
QD)
C 2
3
(D) 60
40
C 5
( 6) i CET1 40 2.0
2015 9.6 2016 6.9
2015 62.7 2016 55.7
CET1
CET1 2015 11.4 2016 11.5
2015 17.7 2016 17.4
2016 2015
2016 2015
CET1
42,072 43,322 32,938 28,576
(2,710) (2,944) (2,710) (2,944)
(
446 1 (1,127) 413 (1,111)
(2,777) (3,356) 0 0
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1 1,536 1 3,840
(429) (69) 3 (173)
(

(744) 4) (1,122) (579) (1,082
36576 42,072 30,783 32,938
10991 6,482 11,663 11,316
372 9 274 6
1,096 1,827 0 0
(505) (29) (505) 0

0 2,304 0 0
446 (97) 0 0
(111) 495 (336) 341
12289 10,991 11,096 11,663
9,619 10,947 6,824 6,984
73 (272) 51 (167)
59 57 0 0
(2,005)  (339) (1,946) 0

(

(883) 5) (775) (50) 7
6,863 9,619 4879 6,824
55728 62,682 46,758 51,425

1) US GAAP
2)

3) 6.0
4)
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IPRE
2016 FINMA
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6 32 5 1 17 - 1) 40
(
35 42 23 4 35 - 1) 64
17 40 9 1 32 (42) 57
2014
13 35 10 2 20 (34) 46
(
7 31 6 0 15 - 1) 39
(
19 a1 19 5 27 - 1) 59
9 40 7 1 20 (30) 47
D
98 VaR
(1
VaR
2016 3 2 16 26 13 (27) 33
2015 7 1 18 44 25 (46) 49
2014 15 0 12 44 57 (86) 42
VaR
2016 3 2 17 27 14 (29) 34
2015 8 1 19 45 26 (48) 51
2014 17 0 13 48 63 (95) 46
VaR
(D VaR VaR
VaR
2016 VaR 2015 33 34

RMBS CMBS
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12 VaR
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12 VaR
2015 2014
25
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(13) 32 07 00 07 33
100 200
2016
()
200 8 704 257 (18) 36 987
100 5 356 131 (11) 18 499
100 (8) (366)  (134) 15 (17) (510)
200 (18) (7400  (273) 35 (35) (1,031)
2015
()
200 (241) 599 110 18 128 614
100 (124) 309 58 5 65 313
100 130 (327)  (64) 3 (69) (327)
200 266 (674)  (133) 13 (138)  (666)
2016 12 31 200 1.0
2015 12 31 0.7
2016 2015
99 200
20
10
20
2016 12 31 517

2015 12 31 464
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20
2016 2015 12 31
0.1
VaR
2016 12 31
1.0
2016 12 31
26.0
www .credit-suisse.com/pillar3
2015 (
2016 1) ()
277,043 274,006 1
116,975 137,653 (15)
394,018 411,659 (4
175,717 171,567 2
48,527 44,604 9
44,399 39,227 13
67,063 84,970 (21)
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43,145 43,919 )
14,636 26,672 (45)
1) 2016 23
2016 2015 12 31 82 258
VIE
91 VIE
2016 2015 12 31 1,152 1,118
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(1

2016
99,383 3,551 1,166 0 0 235 104,335
1,224 17,863 11,704 0 273 204 37,268
2,923 438 3 18 0 108 3,490
109,530 21,852 12,873 18 273 547 145,093
23,661 1,383 499 160 214 99 26,016
28,460 19,618 23,405 3,788 4441 4,008 83,740
3,657 2,077 2,320 4,351 465 4,878 17,921
801 223 1,135 1070 O 1,044 4,273

( ( (

56,579 2) 23,3013) 27,3594) 9,369 5,120 10,029 131,950
166,109 45,153 40,232 9,387 5,393 10,576 277,043
38 397 5,377 6,711 2,545 4,460 19,528

( )
38 (99) (27) (8) (8) (25) (129)

( 5 (462) (89) (71) (19) (24) (273)  (938)

165,685 44,965 40,134 9360 5361 10,278 275,976

2015

97,529 4,080 1,039 0 0 516 103,164
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7,799 16,748 11,184 0 554 1,661 37,946
2,971 434 29 28 1 303 3,766
108,299 21,262 12,252 28 555 2,480 144,876
23,499 877 321 659 482 601 26,451
26,549 16,627 21,220 5061 3,056 5185 77,767
4031 1,393 1,606 7306 1,199 5756 21,334
831 82 585 694 0 1,386 3,578
( ( (
54910 2) 18,9793) 23,7324) 13,720 4,737 12,928 129,130
163,209 40,241 35,984 13,748 5292 15,408 274,006
81 202 4,724 7329 2,298 6,186 20,820
)
7 (82 (29) (13) (6) (22) (145)
( 95 (499) (75) (50) (35) (6) (201) (866)
162,717 40,084 35,905 13,700 5280 15,185 272,995
1)
2) 2016 12
31 11,266 33,515 2015 12 31
9,201 33,615
3) 2016 12
31 18,084 1,165 2015 12 31
15,951 911
4) 2016 12

5)

31
17,627

21,135

175
244
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2015 12 31 2016 12 31 3.0 277.0
6.0
1.2
0.7
3.4
0.7
0.4
4.9
4.2 2.9
4.8
4.4
2015 12 31
2016 12 31 104.5
97 80 LTV 2015 12 31
102.3 97 80 LTV 2016 2015
LTV 80

LTV
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(1

2016
341 179 242 8 466 1,236
168 17 1 0 79 265
509 196 243 8 545 1,501
53 89 17 0 199 358
191 39 6 9 368 613
244 128 23 9 567 971
2) 753 324 266 17 1,112 2472
674 170 239 17 985 2,085
79 154 27 0 127 387
2015
414 94 205 26 242 983
201 33 3 0 35 272
615 127 208 26 277 1,255
44 52 10 0 176 282
136 73 11 9 207 436
180 125 21 9 383 718
2) 79 252 229 35 660 1,973
729 148 227 35 469 1,610
66 104 2 0 191 363
D
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2015 12 31 2016 12 31 0.5 2.5

253

177

76

452

2016

72
37

2016
42

18

(1
2016
( 2) 499 75 50 35 6 201 866
366 43 38 15 0 188 650
133 32 12 20 6 13 216
74 23 14 (7 15 130 249
(122)  (24) 7 (10 (D (114) (279
8 9 1 1 2 45 66
(114) (15 ® 9 1 (69 (212

3 2 11 0 0 2 18
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0 4 2 0 2 9 17
( 2 462 89 71 19 24 273 938
314 56 62 9 0 259 700
148 33 9 10 24 14 238
(D
( 2
2016
647 1,326 1,973
514 1,820 2,334
28 104 132
(201)  (437)  (639)
( 1 (135)  (455)  (590)
(91) (202)  (293)
( 2 9) (225) (234)
(91) (124)  (215)
0 3 3
662 1,810 2,472
(D
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2016
216 650 866
170 480 650
46 170 216
63 186 249
(86) (192)  (279)
13 53 66
(73) (139) (212
10 8 18
0 17 17
216 722 938
172 528 700
44 194 238
(1
2016
0.3 0.4 07 03 00 8.9 0.6
05 0.7 08 06 00 182 10
0.3 0.2 02 07 08 45 0.4
47 173 233 529 - 233 283
2015
0.4 0.3 07 04 01 3.0 05
05 0.6 07 05 01 7.2 0.8
0.3 0.2 02 05 02 2.2 0.3
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46.0 171 166 429 00 28.5 32.9

D

oTC

CDS

PRV
NRV

2016 2015

153 439 792 1384 150 60.7 941 169.8
346 177 96 619 306 189 104 599
6.0 51 13 124 66 5.6 1.3 135
1.0 4.7 24 81 2.7 124 27 178
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( 1 06 04 15 25 08 09 14 31
OTC 575 718 940 2233 557 985 109.9 264.1
11.8 9.6
( 2 (208.2) (245.1)
26.9 28,6
26.8 28.4
0.1 0.2
(D
( 2
2016 2015
AAA 15 17
AA 8.0 6.4
A 5.8 75
BBB 8.7 8.8
BB 2.2 3.6
OTC 26.2 28.0
( 1 0.7 0.6
( 1 26.9 28.6
(D
US GAAP

US GAAP
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CDS
CDS
CDS
CDS CDS
ISDA
2015 12 31 3,674

35 2016 12 31
31 3,654 45

2015 12 31 1,282

0TC

0TC

CDS

CDS

CDS

2016 12 31

19
531
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(2

2016 12 31 CDS ( 1) ( 3
190 0 168 22 0 (67 190 22
50 0 0 50 0O 0 50 50
240 0 168 72 0 (67) 240 72
0 0O 0 O 4 0 4 4
61 0 61 0 O o 61 O
1,017 0 1016 1 O o0 1,017 1
1,078 0 1077 1 4 0 1,082 5
198 0o 197 1 0O O 198 1
1,140 0 1,117 23 2 (1) 1,142 25
1338 0 1314 24 1) 1,340 26
33 O 0 33 0 (5 33 33
1154 0 494 660 117 (43) 1271 777
1,062 117 608 337 20 (104) 1,082 357
2249 117 1,002 1,030 137 (152) 2386 1,167
2644 2087173 384 0  (L478) 2,644 384
1,095 52 626 417 67 49 1,162 484
2956 65 2,490 401 60 (48) 3,016 461
6,695 22043280 1,202 127 (1,477) 6,822 1,329
42 0 0 42 0O o 42 42
547 0 546 1 O o0 547 1
589 0 546 43 0 o 580 43
0 O 0 O 68 64 68 68
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328 0 320 8 1 (149 329 9

204 0 121 83 33 19 237 116
532 0 441 91 102 69 634 193
20 0O 0 20 0 (16 20 20

1614 10 933 671 10 (96) 1,624 681
1563 10 1,287 266 34 (68) 1,597 300
3197 20 2220 957 44 (180) 3,241 1,001
2,887 2087341 459 72 (1,502) 2,959 531
4492 62 2631 1,799 195 (104) 4,687 1,994
8539 192 7,185 1,162 149 (202) 8,688 1,311
15018 2,34110,1573420 416 (1,808) 16,334 3,336

D
2
Q)

CDS
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2016 12 31

0.04
2,797,379,244 2,089,897,378 707,481,866( 1)
D 653,000,000
415,099,918
2016 12 31
0.04
2,089,897,378
- 2,089,897,378]- -
2012 3,859,874
96,496,860
2012 12 31 ( 1 (439 )
52,833,197
2012 12 31 1,320,829,922
(6,007 )
2013 11,011,577
275,289,427
2013 12 31 ( 2 (1,252 )
63,844,774
2013 12 31 1,596,119,349
(7,259 )
2014 441,984
11,049,598
2014 12 31 ( 3 (50 )
64,286,758
2014 12 31 1,607,168,947
(7,309 )

230/771



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

OooooOodd
2015 14,008,412
350,210,297
2015 12 31 ( 4) (1,593 )
78,295,170
2015 12 31 1,957,379,244
(8,901 )
2016 5,300,725
132,518,134
2016 12 31 ( 5) (603 )
83,595,895
2016 12 31 2 089,897,378
(9,504 )
(D
0.04 38,812,660
1,552,506
2012 24,195,537 967,821
2012
33,488,663 1,339,547
( 2
2013 83,506,127
3,340,245
0.04 18,822,723
752,909
0.04 18,950,402
758,016
2013 50,000,000
2,000,000
2013 66,457,888
2,658,316
2013 37,552,287 1,502,091
( 3
0.04 11,049,598
441,984
C %
2015 11 23 58,000,000 2,320,000
2015 12 260,983,898 10,439,356
2015 31,226,399 1,249,056
( 5
2016 30,000,000 1,200,000
2016
27,000,000 1,080,000
2016 75,518,134 3,020,725
2016 12 31
114,541 97.1 165,821,864 7.9
2938 5 1,048,360,035 50.2
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520 0.4 56,358,187 2.7
20 0.0 1,255,503 0.1
818,101,789 39.1
118,019 100.0 2,089,897,378 100.0
2016 12 31
FMIA
10 15 20 25 33 1/3 50 66 2/3
FMIA
www.credit-
suisse.com/shareholders.
2016 12
31 4.21 0.19 4.02
21.46
(D)
2016 12 31
2016 16 5.31
111.3 541
GmbH ( 2
2016 12
104.4 4,99
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2016 11 16 12.81
103.0 493
LLC ( 3
2017 28
96.7 491
2013 11
81.5 5.17
( 4
2013 25
38.6 3.01
2015 12 31
2016 12
98.5 5.03 -
2015 12 10
975 4.98 13.59
LLC
2015 12
84.0 4.95 6.40
GmbH
2013 11
815 5.17 -
2016 25
69.0 3.52 -
2012 12 19
63.5 4.96 -
2015 21
48.4 3.01 -
2013 25
38.6 3.01 -
2014 12 31
2013
88.5 6.70 7.99
GmbH
2013 10 31
82.0 5.20 16.53
LLC
2013 11
815 5.17 -
2014 19
80.0 5.01 -
2015 25
67.5 4.20 -
2012 12 19
63.5 4.96 -
2015 14
47.8 2.98 -
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2013 25
38.6 3.01 -
1)
2)
1.725 9.5 5.26
0.055
3) LLC
1.72 9.5 2.5 9.0
12.81
4)
2016 11 12 SIX 4.96
20
20
2016 2015 0.70
2017
28 2016
0.70
2017
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

27.2 30.3 30.1 27.9 21.3
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AG 2017
2014 www.credit-
suisse.com/articles
CEO
2002 SOX
www.credit-suisse.com/code 10
0GR
www.credit-suisse.com/boardcharter
www . credit-suisse.com/compensationpolicy
®
2016 12 31 83,595,895
0.04 2,089,897,378
2016 12 31 118,019 61 1,271,795,589
39 2016
12 31 107,432,334 5.1
2016 12 31
2016 2015
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114,541 97 165,821,864 8 109,269 97 130,897,618 7
104,367 88 146,980,705 7 99,598 88 115,974,393 6
10,174 9 18,841,159 1 9,671 9 14,923,225 1
3,478 3 1,105,973,725 53 3,669 3 1,014,879,371 52
3,040 3 232,035,476 11 3,160 3 208,903,959 11
(G 438 0 873,938,249 42 509 0 805,975,412 41
118,019 100 1,271,795,589 61 112,938 100 1,145,776,989 59
107,407 91 379,016,181 18 102,758 91 324,878,352 17
9,595 8 586,277,229 28 9,169 8 552,781,065 28
1 148 0 290,750,194 14 173 0 244,415,078 12
869 1 15,751,985 1 838 1 23,702,494 1
- - 818,101,789 39 - - 811,602,255 41
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579 0 8,320,368 0 646 1 6,883,152 0
25 0 604,300 0 34 0 636,040 0
(@) 1,761 1 130,483,026 6 1,755 2 121,339,051 6
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( 4 250,000 150,000 — — 400,000 200,000 50% 200,000 50%

(
4) 250,000 200,000 - — 450,000 225,000 50% 225,000 50%
250,000 150,000 - — 400,000 200,000 50% 200,000 50%

( 4) 250,000 100,000 — — 350,000 175,000 50% 175,000 50%
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( 9 7 250,000 350,000 420,000 274,5101,294,510 784,510 61% 510,000 39%
( 49( 8 250,000 350,000 560,000 137,2551,297,255 717,255 55% 580,000 45%
6,000,0002,150,0001,930,000663,765 10,974,6947,059,69464% 3,915,00036%
( 1) 2016 2017 12
2016
2017 0.5
( 2) 2016 12 31
14.39 2017
( 3 1.5 100 2016
2017 50 0.75
2016 2017
230,929
(D) 2016 29 2017
28
12
12 2017
60 40
( 5 50 50
200,000 252,000
( 6
200,000 50 50
«n 420,000
50 50
USA
280,000 274,510
C 8 560,000
50 50
USA
140,000 137,255
2015 2016
(1 2)
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2015
( 3 3,000,000- - - 3,225,9563,225,956100% - 0%
( 4 250,000 - - - 250,000 125,000 50% 125,000 50%
(
4)( 5 250,000 100,000 - - 369,783 194,783 53% 175,000 47%
( 4( 6 250,000 250,000 - 280,000 780,000 530,000 68% 250,000 32%

( 4 250,000 200,000 - - 450,000 225,000 50% 225,000 50%

C 9 7 250,000 200,000 200,000

650,000 325,000 50% 325,000 50%

( 4 250,000 150,000 - - 400,000 200,000 50% 200,000 50%

(
4) 250,000 200,000 - - 450,000 225,000 50% 225,000 50%
( 4) 250,000 100,000 - - 350,000 175,000 50% 175,000 50%

( 49 8 250,000 350,000 583,333 116,667 1,300,000708,333 54% 591,667 46%

4) 250,000 100,000 - - 350,000 175,000 50% 175,000 50%
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( 49( 8 250,000 350,000 641,667 58,333 1,300,000679,167 52% 620,833 48%
5,750,0002,000,0001,425,000455,000 9,875,7396,788,23969% 3,087,50031%
( 1) 2015 2016 12
2015
0.5 2014 0.6
( 2) 2015 12 31
21.49 2016
( 3) 1.5 100 2015
2016
2015 225,956
C 4 2015 23 2016
29
12
12 2016
69 31
Q)
20,000 19,783
( 6) 50 50
200,000 280,000
«n
200,000 50 50
8
700,000
583,333 50 50 2015 12
USA
116,667 2015
50 50 2015 12
USA
2015 12 2016
280,000
140,000
2016
2016 2016 2017
12 11
2017 10.3
0.7

2017
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2017
2017 2018
2017 2018
12.5
0.5
2016 2017
2017
2017
12.5
11 1.5
2016 12 31
2016 2015
12 31 ( 1)

197,861 244,868

35,809 26,404

38,287 25,120

70,883 52,998

7,865 -

81,746 60,944

96,318 75,799

19,700 4,653

226,362 209,434

7,865 -

82,803 65,601

225,038 194,089

140,910 107,866
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1,231,447 1,067,776  ( 2)
(D
( 2) 2016 27 2015 12 31
6,850
20
2016 2015 2014 12 31
10 16
SEC
2016 2015 2014 12 31
2016 2015
12 31 ( )
4,830,000 4,915,000
30,000 -
4,195,000 1,775,000
976,000 984,000
10,031,000 7,674,000
50
2017 18 AG 2016
2017 28
CEO 40
CEO CEO

2016
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STI 2017 LTI 40 1
CEO
2016 CEO
24 CEO 2016
2015 10
CEO
STI LTI 40
4.2.1 2016 STI 17.01
4.2.3 2017 LTI 52 31.2
29.78
STI 8.98 2016 LTI 20.8
2017 2016
73.06
CEO 4.67
STI 1.67 2016
LTI 2017
STI 2.5 2016
10.24
2017
2015 2016 4.1 2017
2018 12.5
12
( 1 2016 2016 STI 40
2017 LTI
®

©
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Badenerstrasse 172, 8004

Zurich Switzerland KPMG AG KPMG
1989 1990
2012
2016
652 Fabrikstrasse 50,
8031 Zurich, Switzerland
KPMG
2016 2015
( 1) 48.8 453 8
( 2 55 10.0 (45)
( 3 19 2.2 (14)
(QD)
2 O) (i)
(i) (iv)
() ) (i)
(i)
KPMG
KPMG KPMG
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Q)
2014 28
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ADS
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NYSE NASDAQ NYSE NASDAQ
NYSE NASDAQ
NYSE NASDAQ
NYSE
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NYSE NASDAQ
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NYSE  NASDAQ
NASDAQ
33
33
NYSE  NASDAQ (i)
(i)
ADS
2016 11 ADS
ADS
ADS ADS
ADS
100ADS
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ADS ADS

313/771



2016

1.1

ADS

ADS

314/771

ADS

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn



®

®

®

®

©

315/771

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn



AG
AG

AG

193 2 1 1

19 UFJ

2016
AG

316/771

38

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

oOoOooodn
2015 12 31 2016 12 31
2016 12 31
59 131 1
134 2017 5
1 113.69



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

(€H)
12 31
2016 2015 2014
( ( (
) ( ) ) ( ) ) ( )
17,374 1,975,250 19,341 2,198,878 19,061 2,167,045
9,812)  (1,115,526) (10,042)  (1,141,675) (10,027)  (1,139,970)
7,562 859,724 9,209 1,057,203 9,034 1,027,075
11,002 1,261,049 12,044 1,369,282 13,051 1,483,768
313 35,585 1,340 152,345 2,026 230,336
1,356 154,164 1,114 126,651 2,131 242,273
20,323 2,310,522 23,797 2,705,481 26,242 2,983,453
10 252 28,650 324 36,836 186 21,146
11 10,572 1,201,931 11,546 1,312,665 11,334 1,288,562
12 9,770 1,110,751 8,574 974,778 9,534 1,083,920
1,455 165,419 1,623 184,519 1,561 177,470
21 0 0 3,797 431,681 0 0
13 540 61,393 355 40,360 - -
11,765 1,337,563 14,349 1,631,338 11,005 1,261,391
22,337 2,539,494 25,805 2,944,003 22,429 2,549,953
(2,266) (257,622) .422)  (275,357) 3,627 412,354
28 441 50,137 523 59,460 1,405 159,734
,707) (307,759) (2,945) (334,817) 2,222 252,619
0 0 0 0 102 11,596
Q@,707) (307,759) (2,945) (334,817) 2,324 264,216
3 341 @ 114) 449 51,047
2,710) (308,100) (2,944)  (334,703) 1,875 213,169
(2,710) (308,100) (2,944)  (334,703) 1,773 201,572
0 0 0 0 102 11,596
14 (1.32) (150.07) @.73) (196.68) 0.99 112.55
14 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.06 6.82
14 (1.32) (150.07) Q.73) (196.68) 1.05 119.37
14 (1.32) (150.07) @1.73) (196.68) 0.98 111.42
14 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.06 6.82
14 1.32) (150.07) .73) (196.68) 1.04 118.24
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12 31
2016 2015 2014
( (
) ) ) ) ) )
(2,707) (307,759) (2,945) (334,817) 2,324 264,216
(20) (2.274) 16 1,819 (20) (2.274)
515 58,550 (1,156) (131,426) 2,287 260,009
1 114 ) (455) 12 1,364
394 44,794 (661) (75,149) (1,253) (142,458)
36 4,003 155 17,622 (63) (7,162)
/ (1,043) (118,579) - - . -
17) (13,302) (1,650) (187,589) 963 109,483
(2.824) (321,061) (4,595) (522,406) 3,287 373,699
@ 27 (19) (2,160) 540 61,393
(2.822) (320,833) (4,576) (520,245) 2,747 312,306
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12 31
2016 2015
( (
) ( ) ) ( )
121,161 13,774,794 92,328 10,496,770
200 22,738 89 10,118
VIE 369 41,952 1,693 192,477
772 87,769 867 98,569
26 2,956 2 227
15 134,839 15,329,846 123,049 13,989,441
87,331 9,928,661 83,565 9,500,505
VIE 0 0 53 6,026
32,564 3,702,201 28,511 3,241,416
30,762 3,497,332 27,940 3,176,499
16 165,150 18,775,904 190,737 21,684,890
52,322 5,948,488 62,559 7,112,333
VIE 2,744 311,965 2,372 269,673
17 2,489 282,974 3,090 351,302
2,489 282,974 3,090 351,302
VIE 511 58,096 1,009 114,713
18 6,777 770,477 7,021 798,217
4,096 465,674 4,237 481,705
VIE 2,006 228,062 1,986 225,788
19 275,976 31,375,711 272,995 31,036,802
19,528 2,220,138 20,820 2,367,026
132 15,007 108 12,279
VIE 284 32,288 1,312 149,161
(938) (106,641) (866) (98,456)
20 4,711 535,594 4,644 527,976
VIE 199 22,624 327 37,177
21 4,913 558,559 4,808 546,622
22 213 24,216 196 22,283
138 15,689 112 12,733
33,431 3,800,770 34,542 3,927,080
23 36,865 4,191,182 58,017 6,595,953
9,383 1,066,753 25,627 2,913,534
257 29,218 671 76,286
VIE 2,617 297,527 14,451 1,642,934
819,861 93,209,997 820,805 93,317,320
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12 31
2016 2015
( (
) ( ) ) ( )
24 22,800 2,592,132 21,054 2,393,629
437 49,683 482 54,799
24 355,833 40,454,654 342,705 38,962,131
3,576 406,555 3,663 416,446
15 33,016 3,753,589 46,598 5,297,727
19,634 2,232,189 32,398 3,683,329
32,564 3,702,201 28,511 3,241,416
16 44,930 5,108,092 48,971 5,567,513
VIE 18 2,046 27 3,070
15,385 1,749,121 8,657 984,214
4,061 461,695 3,112 353,803
VIE 1 114 81 9,209
25 193,315 21,977,982 197,608 22,466,054
72,868 8,284,363 80,931 9,201,045
VIE 1,759 199,981 14,826 1,685,568
39,852 4,530,774 39,452 4,485,298
23 39,855 4,531,115 42,231 4,801,242
9,493 1,079,259 11,754 1,336,312
VIE 244 27,740 836 95,045
777,550 88,399,660 775,787 88,199,224
84 9,550 78 8,868
32,131 3,652,973 31,925 3,629,553
25,954 2,950,710 29,139 3,312,813
0 0 (125) (14,211)
26 (16,272) (1,849,964) (16,635) (1,891,233)
41,897 4,763,270 44,382 5,045,790
414 47,068 636 72,307
42,311 4,810,338 45,018 5,118,096
819,861 93,209,997 820,805 03,317,320
12 31
2016 2015
0.04 4.55 0.04 4.55
2,797,379,244 2,666,152,845
26 2,089,897,378 1,957,379,244
26 0 (5,910,224)
26 2,089,897,378 1,951,469,020
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1,2
2
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1
2
3
4
US GAAP
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( ( ( ( (

) ) ) ) ) ) ) )

78 31,925 29,139 (125) (16,635) 44,382 636 45,018
- (13) - - - (13) ®) (19)
B - - - - - (103) (103)
- - - - - - 112 112
- - (2,710) - - (2,710) 3 (2,707)
- - “75) - 475 - - -
- - - . @12) 112) ®) Q@)
6 1,661 - - - 1,667 - 1,667
- 7 - 16,160 - 16,167 - 16,167
- - - (16,197) - (16,197) - (16,197)
- 178 3 - 162 - 340 - 340
- (164) - - - (164) - (164)
- (1,435)° - - - (1,435) - (1,435)
- - - - - - (194) (194)
- ©28) - - - ©28) (29) 7)

84 32,131 25,954 0 (16,272) 41,897 414 42,311

110
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2
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) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
8,868 3,629,553 3,312,813 (14,211)  (1,891,233) 5,045,790 72,307 5,118,096
- (1,478) - - - (1,478) (682) (2,160)
- - - - - - (11,710) (11,710)
- - - - - - 12,733 12,733
- - (308,100) - - (308,100) 341 (307,759)
- - (54,003) - 54,003 - - -
- - - - (12,733) (12,733) (568) (13,302)
682 188,839 - - - 189,521 - 189,521
- 796 - 1,837,230 - 1,838,026 - 1,838,026
- - - (1,841,437) - (1,841,437) - (1,841,437)
- 20,237 - 18,418 - 38,655 - 38,655
- (18,645) - - - (18,645) - (18,645)
- (163,145)5 - - - (163,145) - (163,145)
- - - - - - (22,056) (22,056)
- (3,183) - - - (3,183) (3,297) (6,480)
9,550 3,652,973 2,950,710 0 (1,849,964) 4,763,270 47,068 4,810,338
110
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( ( ( ( (
) ) ) ) ) ) ) )
64 27,007 32,083 @92 (15,003) 43,959 1,042 45,001
_ - - - - - (381) (381)
_ - - - - - 55 55
- - (2,944) - - (2,944) ) (2,945)
- - - - (1,632) (1,632) (18) (1,650)
14 6,731 - - - 6,745 - 6,745
- @n - 18,789 - 18,752 - 18,752
- - - (19,761) - (19,761) - (19,761)
- (321) - 1,039 - 718 - 718
- (106) - - - (106) - (106)
- (1,137) - - - (1,137) - (1,137)
. B - . - - (58) (58)
- (12) - - - (212) ® (15)
78 31,925 29,139 @125) (16,635) 44,382 636 45,018
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) ( ) ( ) ( ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
7,276 3,070,426 3,647,516 (21,828)  (1,705,691) 4,997,699 118,465 5,116,164
_ _ - - - - (43,316) (43,316)
- - - - - - 6,253 6,253
- - (334,703) - - (334,703) (114) (334,817)
- - - - (185,542) (185,542) (2,046) (187,589)
1,592 765,247 - - - 766,839 - 766,839
- (4,207) - 2,136,121 - 2,131,915 - 2,131,915
- - - (2,246,628) - (2,246,628) - (2,246,628)
- (36,494) - 118,124 - 81,629 - 81,629
- (12,051) - - - (12,051) - (12,051)
- (129,266) - - - (129,266) - (129,266)
_ _ - - - - (6,594) (6.,594)
- (24,102) - - - (24,102) (341) (24,443)
8,868 3,629,553 3,312,813 (14,211)  (1,891,233) 5,045,790 72,307 5,118,006
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( ( ( ( (

) ) ) ) ) ) ) )

64 27,853 30,261 (139) (15,875) 42,164 5,002 47,166
- 238 - - - 238 (2,143) (1,905)
- - - - - - 39 39
- - 1,875 - - 1,875 449 2,324
- - - - 872 872 91 963
- 297 - - - 297 - 297
- (15) - 9,409 - 9,394 - 9,394
- - - (10,197) - (10,197) - (10,197)
- (105) - 735 - 630 - 630
- (80) - - - (80) - (80)
- @,177) (53) - - (1,230) 22) (1,252)
- 2 - - - 2 - 2
- - - - - - (2,378) (2,378)
- ®) - - - ®) 4 @

64 27,007 32,083 (192) (15,003) 43,959 1,042 45,001
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2014 ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )

7,276 3,166,608 3,440,373 (15,803)  (1,804,829) 4,793,625 568,677 5,362,303
- 27,058 - - - 27,058 (243,638) (216,579)
- - - - - - 4,434 4,434
- - 213,169 - - 213,169 51,047 264,216
- - - - 99,138 99,138 10,346 109,483
- 33,766 - - - 33,766 - 33,766
- (1,705) - 1,069,709 - 1,068,004 - 1,068,004
- - - (1,159,297) - (1,159,297) - (1,159,297)
- (11,937) - 83,562 - 71,625 - 71,625
- (9,095) - - - (9,095) - (9,095)
- (133,813) (6,026) - - (139,839) (2,501) (142,340)
- 227 - - - 227 - 227
- - - - - - (270,355) (270,355)
- (682) - - - (682) 455 @21

7,276 3,070,426 3,647,516 (21,828)  (1,705,691) 4,997,699 118,465 5,116,164
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12 31
2016 2015 2014
( (

) ( ) ) ( ) ) ( )
Q@,707) (307,759) (2,945) (334,817) 2,324 264,216
0 0 0 0 (102) (11,596)
@,707) (307,759) (2,945) (334,817) 2,222 252,619
937 106,528 4,889 555,830 1,285 146,092
252 28,650 324 36,836 186 21,146
(193) (21,942) 32 3,638 684 77,764
(65) (7,390) 134) (15,234) 134 15,234
21,100 2,398,859 26,245 2,983,794 (5,513) (626,773)
9,611 1,092,675 11,395 1,295,498 6,062 689,189
(1,255) (142,681) (22,805)  (2,592,700) (23,876)  (2,714,462)
(905) (102,889) (1,933) (219,763) 1,196 135,973
29,482 3,351,809 18,013 2,047,898 (19,842)  (2,255,837)
26,775 3,044,050 15,068 1,713,081 (17,620)  (2,003,218)
117 13,302 349 39,678 275 31,265
(7,056) (802,197) 36,964 4,202,437 11,685 1,328,468
(88) (10,005) (376) (42,747) (1,060) (120,511)
14 1,592 19 2,160 930 105,732
363 41,269 908 103,231 340 38,655
(1,403) (159,507) (594) (67,532) (1,264) (143,704)
1,737 197,480 1,938 220,331 1,553 176,561
(3,745) (425,769) (5,446) (619,156) (23,604)  (2,683,539)
2,468 280,587 1,579 179,517 1,255 142,681
(1,164) (132,335) (1,102) (125,286) (1,056) (120,057)
55 6,253 13 1,478 1 114
749 85,154 409 46,499 606 68,896
(7.953) (904,177) 34,661 3,940,609 (10,339)  (1,175,441)
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2016 2015 2014
( (
) ( ) ) ( ) ) ( )
10,267 1,167,255 (29,149)  (3,313,950) 26,040 2,960,488
6,594 749,672 (18,148)  (2,063,246) 3,509 398,938
(14,525)  (1,651,347) (22,149)  (2,518,120) (31,001)  (3,524,504)
52,984 6,023,751 77,858 8,851,676 74,159 8,431,137
(47,132)  (5,358,437) (49,365)  (5,612,307) (36,471)  (4,146,388)
725 82,425 6,035 686,119 297 33,766
16,167 1,838,026 18,752 2,131,915 9,394 1,068,004
(16,197)  (1,841,437) (19,761)  (2,246,628) (10,197)  (1,159,297)
(493) (56,049) 27 (48,546) (1,252) (142,340)
377 42,861 186 21,146 (1,192) (135,518)
8,767 996,720 (36,168)  (4,111,940) 33,286 3,784,285
1,244 141,430 (582) (66,168) 5,790 658,265
0 0 0 0 (460) (52,297)
28,833 3,278,024 12,979 1,475,583 10,657 1,211,594
92,328 10,496,770 79,349 9,021,188 68,692 7,809,593
121,161 13,774,794 92,328 10,496,770 79,349 9,021,188
12 31
2016 2015 2014
( (
) ( ) ) ( ) ) ( )
662 75,263 1,010 114,827 1,502 170,762
9,136 1,038,672 10,208 1,160,548 9,527 1,083,125
0 0 3 341 143 16,258
0 0 0 0 29 3,297
425 48,318 35 3,979 687 78,105
383 43,543 7 796 1,084 123,240
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5,759 5,721 5,912
4,698 4,552 4,942
3,597 3,839 3,335
5,497 6,826 7,426
1,972 1,787 2,109

(1,271) 511 1,838
71 561 680
20,323 23,797 26,242
2,025 1,675 2,024
1,121 723 1,260
725 377 900

48 (1,931) 2,014
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62,413 64,621
819,861 820,805
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60 65 39
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(1,043) (884) (1,045)
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46 65 94
3,255 3,501 3,828
1,364 1,644 1,878
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4,392 5,292 5,574
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11,092 12,044 13,051
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6,231 2,965 5,888
(2,529) (1,121) (4,398)
(1,796) (259) 275
(2,124) 1 265

177 (46) (228)
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313 1,340 2,026
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140 87
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217 94 311 187 12 199
1 2016 2015
2016 2015 34 23
27 31
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(2,713) (2,958) 1,743
3 14 79
(2.710) (2.944) 1,822
(2,713) (2,958) 1,743
3 14 79
2,048.4 1,706.3 1,665.1
0.0 0.0 0.8
0.0 0.0 12.2
. 2,048.42 1,706.32 1,678.1
3.0 25.7 72.7
(1.32) (1.73) 0.99
0.00 0.00 0.06
(1.32) (1.73) 1.05
(1.32) (1.73) 0.98
0.00 0.00 0.06
(1.32) (1.73) 1.04

1
2016 2015
2014 11.3 7.6 8.9
2 2016 2015 3.2
0.9 54.6 47.8
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11,497 13,989
1 27
2 23
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12 31 2016 2015
2,489 3,090
2,489 3,090
12 31
2016
241 18 0 259
1,309 34 0 1,343
287 0 0 287
497 0 0 497
14 0 0 14
2,348 52 0 2,400
66 23 0 89
0 0 0 0
66 23 0 89
2,414 75 0 2,489
2015
273 21 0 294
1,382 34 0 1,416
285 0 0 285
750 0 0 750
259 0 0 259
2,949 55 0 3,004
65 20 0 85
1 0 0 1
66 20 0 86

3,015 75 0 3,090
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1,203 1,239 1.05
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10 518 520 4.37
2,348 2,400 1.63
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12 31 2016 2015
3,121 2,876
1 1,731 2,000
2 268 412
3 1,657 1,733
6,777 7,021
1
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104,335 103,164
37,268 37,946
3,490 3,766
145,093 144,876
26,016 26,451
83,740 77,767
17,921 21,334
4,273 3,578
131,950 129,130
277,043 274,006
257,515 253,186
19,528 20,820
(129) (145)
(938) (866)
275,976 272,995
158,766 155,771
118,277 118,235
277,043 274,006
1,236 983
265 272
1,501 1,255
358 282
613 436
971 718
2,472 1,973
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216 650 866 251 507 758 267 602 869
63 186 249 66 229 295 66 79 145
(86)  (192)  (278)  (118)  (111)  (229)  (108)  (241) (349)
13 53 66 12 16 28 17 24 m
(73)  (139)  (212)  (106) (95)  (201) o)  (@17) (308)
10 8 18 6 12 18 1 19 20
0 17 17 ) ®) * 8 24 32
216 722 938 216 650 866 251 507 758
172 528 700 170 480 650 202 338 540
a4 194 238 46 170 216 49 169 218
145,070 112,445 257,515 144,855 108,331 253,186 142,926 107,582 250,508
. 662 1,810 2,472 647 1,326 1,973 582 808 1,390
144,408 110,635 255,043 144,208 107,005 251,213 142,344 106,774 249,118
1
12 31 2016 2015 2014
1 30 3,405 3,435 380 4,294 4,683 181 4,127 4,308
0 125 125 0 355 355 0 397 397
\ 1,632 2,768 4,400 1,641 735 2,376 1,055 806 1,861
3 72 2,087 2,159 0 373 373 0 272 272
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AAA BBB BB C D

92,533 11,613 189 104,335

34,136 2,916 216 37,268

1,164 2,119 184 3,467

127,833 16,648 589 145,070

19,594 5,878 84 25,556

36,469 35,945 1,459 73,873

9,695 1,887 107 11,689

1,253 60 14 1,327

67,011 43,770 1,664 112,445

194,844 60,418 2,253 257,515

! 180,276 51,344 1,480 233,100

2015 12 31

AAA BBB BB C D

89,966 12,950 248 103,164

36,129 1,679 138 37,946

1,247 2,272 226 3,745

127,342 16,901 612 144,855

19,454 6,126 98 25,678

32,995 32,365 859 66,219

12,391 2,965 149 15,505

824 105 0 929

65,664 41,561 1,106 108,331

193,006 58,462 1,718 253,186

1 178,649 48,422 1,063 228,134
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2016 12 31 30 gé gé %
102,047 2,053 29 33 173 2,288 104,335
36,953 93 1 1 220 315 37,268
2,963 276 36 40 152 504 3,467
141,963 2,422 66 74 545 3,107 145,070
24,843 631 17 2 63 713 25,556
72,002 854 127 131 759 1,871 73,873
11,536 49 0 0 104 153 11,689
1,268 44 1 0 14 59 1,327
109,649 1,578 145 133 940 2,796 112,445
251,612 4,000 211 207 1,485 5,903 257,515

2015 12 31 ) 30 gé gé 90
101,580 1,442 10 0 132 1,584 103,164
37,551 214 7 1 173 395 37,946
3,359 176 36 33 141 386 3,745
142,490 1,832 53 34 446 2,365 144,855
25,164 456 3 1 54 514 25,678
65,051 599 107 69 393 1,168 66,219
15,266 84 45 2 108 239 15,505
928 1 0 0 0 1 929
106,409 1,140 155 72 555 1,922 108,331
248,899 2,972 208 106 1,001 4,287 253,186
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190 11 201 13 40 53 2541
193 17 210 0 13 13 223
180 4 184 0 1 1 185
563 32 595 13 54 67 662
62 5 67 0 19 19 86
539 182 721 345 513 858 1,579
58 46 104 0 27 27 131
14 0 14 0 0 0 14
673 233 906 345 559 904 1,810
1,236 265 1,501 358 613 971 2,472
2015 12 31
197 17 214 18 49 67 2811
108 27 135 0 3 3 138
204 23 227 0 1 1 228
509 67 576 18 53 71 647
53 19 72 0 29 29 101
333 136 469 263 319 582 1,051
88 50 138 1 35 36 174
474 205 679 264 383 647 1,326
983 272 1,255 282 436 718 1,973
12016 2015 12 31 62 68
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2016 2015

12 31
211 198 21 209 196 26
209 193 54 117 112 15
177 160 97 221 201 129
597 551 172 547 509 170
65 59 10 76 72 10
1,283 1,250 472 815 796 387
126 122 46 172 166 83
14 14 0 0 0 0
1,488 1,445 528 1,063 1,034 480
2,085 1,996 700 1,610 1,543 650
43 43 - 72 71 -
14 14 - 21 22 ;
8 8 - 7 7 i,
65 65 - 100 100 -
21 21 - 25 25 -
296 296 - 236 236 -
5 5 - 2 2 _
322 322 - 263 263 -
387 387 - 363 363 -
2,472 2,383 700 1,973 1,906 650
662 616 172 647 609 170
1,810 1,767 528 1,326 1,297 480
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12 31
( ( (
) ) )
195 2 1 190 2 2 205 2 2
153 1 1 82 0 0 65 1 1
205 1 1 228 1 1 237 1 1
553 4 3 500 3 3 507 4 4
72 1 0 74 0 0 75 0 0
1,039 10 4 626 7 3 667 10 4
154 1 0 149 1 1 127 0 0
5 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0
1,270 12 4 849 8 4 874 10 4
1,823 16 7 1,349 11 7 1,381 14 8
83 3 0 51 4 0 36 5 0
24 0 0 33 0 0 29 1 1
11 0 0 7 0 0 21 0 0
118 3 0 91 4 0 86 6 1
31 1 0 12 1 0 9 4 0
307 7 1 98 3 1 18 3 0
5 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0
5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
348 8 1 114 4 1 27 7 0
466 11 1 205 8 1 113 13 1
2,289 27 8 1,554 19 8 1,494 27 9
671 7 3 591 7 3 593 10 5
1,618 20 5 963 12 5 901 17 4
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12 31
0 0 0 1 13 13 1 4 4
0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0
16 201 201 13 207 210 10 290 238
0 0 0 1 2 2 0 0 0

16 201 201 16 222 225 11 294 242
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65
2016 2014

2016 2015
2,197 2,326
328 417
2,164 2,064
6,676 5,908
2,119 2,035
13,484 12,750
(8,773) (8,106)
4,711 4,644

2016 2015 2014
887 1,012 1,232

25 24

23
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21
2016
610 1,573 2,294 3,183 1,027 12 8,699
5 0 0 0 0 0 5
9 32 37 12 17 0 107
) 7 13) 0 0 0 )
623 1,612 2,318 3,195 1,044 12 8,804
0 0 772 2,719 388 12 3,891
0 0 772 2,719 388 12 3,891
623 1,612 1,546 476 656 0 4,913
2015
613 1,581 2,306 3,196 1,030 12 8,738
@ ) ) ©) 0 0 (16)
€H) €)) ® (10) ©) 0 23
610 1,573 2,294 3,183 1,027 12 8,699
0 0 16 58 8 12 94
0 0 756 2,661 380 0 3,797
0 0 772 2,719 388 12 3,891
610 1,573 1,522 464 639 0 4,808
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2016 30 2016
2016 12 31
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2016 2015
12 31
28 (26) 2 27 (25) 2
50 (14) 36 113 (70) 43
6 ®) 3 5 ©) 3
84 (43) 4 145 ©7) 48
172 - 172 148 - 148
138 - 138 112 - 112
256 (43) 213 293 7 196
12 31 2016 2015 2014
8 18 22
0 16 1
0 15 -
0 0 0
2017 8
2018 7
2019 4
2020 3

2021 2
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12 31 2016 2015
5,705 7,921
1,237 327
148 186
8,214 26,061
! 8,062 25,839
2 122 182
30 40
431 1,307
4,787 5,658
5,828 6,179
394 448
2,423 2,770
1,061 825
6,637 6,335
36,865 58,017
11,497 13,989
369 518
2 110
1,577 0
4,077 1,851
88 88
311 199
431 1,307
6,039 6,011
636 608
129 54
737 1,551
516 1,145
13,534 14,888
39,855 42,231
12016 2015 12 31 681 1,135
US GAAP
0 60
22016 2015 12 31
16 31 13
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24
2016 2015
12 31
2,963 1,645 4,608 3,170 3,779 6,949
122,053 33,440 155,493 126,735 33,627 160,362
63,005 2 63,007 62,908 5 62,913
35,718 119,807 155,5251 32,267 101,268 133,535 1
223,739 154,894 378,633 2 225,080 138,679 363,759 2
- - 22,800 - - 21,054
- - 355,833 - - 342,705
12016 2015 12 31 100,000
155,458 133,223
22106 2015 12 31
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168,601 157,986
22,955 24,796
VIE 1,759 14,826
193,315 197,608
72,868 80,931
59,544 54,848
12 31 2016 2015
35,980 35,594
16,395 11,534
5,713 5,261
1,456 2,459
59,544 54,848

390/771



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

OOooOoOoOoo
12 3 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
0 290 0 0 0 4,788 5,078
1 B, 6.0 - - - 6.37.5 -
0 290 0 0 0 4,788 5,078
12,661 11,329 15,679 9,373 7,696 33,840 90,578
10,168 13,343 7,234 5,648 7,055 25,575 78,023
1 0.0-14.6 0.0-14.2 0.0-13.6 0.1-14.3 0.1-4.0  0.1-8.2 -
163 10,240 0 1,933 19 5260 17,624
51 0 202 0 0 0 253
| 1.6-7.0 4.9-13.3 0.8 3.47.0 0.0 5.7-8.0 -
VIE
421 255 357 1 30 0 1,064
5 25 0 0 0 665 695
1 3.0-4.0 2.8-3.3 3.0 0.0 3.39.3 0.9-10.5 -
32,460 35,192 23,472 16,955 14,800 65,349 188,237
32,460 35,482 23,472 16,955 14,800 70,137 193,315
11,116 9,713 5,278 4,964 4,601 23,872 59,544
1
SEC
M
FINMA
AG
AG

500

26
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/
)

@15 (12,615) 60 (4,672) 607 - (16,635)
(6) 441 1 7 142 (1,043) (458)
(6) 0 0 0 0 0 (6)
®) 79 0 387 (106) 0 352
0 0 0 0 0 475 475

(20) 520 1 394 36 (568) 363

(35  (12,095) 61 (4,278) 643 (568)  (16,272)

()  (11,478) 64 (4,010) 452 - (15,003)
0 (1,142) G)  (1,031) 238 - (1,938)

(15) @ 0 0 0 - (16)
31 6 @ 369 (83) - 322
16 (1,137) 4) (662) 155 - (1,632)

(15)  (12,615) 60 (4,672) 607 - (16,635)

(1)  (13,674) 52 ,757) 515 - (15,875)

11) 2,196 25 (1,440) 20 - 790
4 0 0 0 0 - 4

(13) 0 (13) 187 (83) - 78

(20) 2,196 12 (1,253) (63) - 872

() (11,478) 64 (4,010) 452 - (15,003)
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2016 2015 2014
791 6 0
513 472 243
(126) (103) (56)
387 369 187
(134) (110) (108)
28 27 25
(106) (83) (83)
59 )
AJP Ltd. 17
31
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2016 2015 2014
1,957,379,244 1,607,168,947 1,596,119,349
132,518,134 350,210,297 11,049,598
30,000,000 0 11,049,598
2,089,897,378 1,957,379,244 1,607,168,947
(5,910,224) (7,666,658) (5,183,154)
1,218,245,936 766,096,105 357,696,773

(1,224,501,214)

(808,768,832)

(386, 266,557)

12,165,502 44,429,161 26,086,280
0 (5,910,224) (7.666,658)
2,089,897,378 1 1,951,469,020 2 1,599,502, 289
0.04 653,000,000
415,099,918
0.04 680,000,000
515,145,579
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oTC 8.2 7.5 15.7 14.5
0TC 129.1 121.7 153.0 146.5
0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0
137.4 129.3 168.7 161.0
oTC 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
0TC 59.3 69.2 58.1 68.2
0.0 0.1 0.3 0.3
59.3 69.3 58.4 68.5
0TC 11.2 11.5 12.0 13.3
11.5 13.0 8.9 11.2
22.7 24.5 20.9 24.5
oTC 2.1 2.3 3.8 4.0
0TC 5.8 6.2 13.5 12.4
7.9 8.5 17.3 16.4
0TC 2.2 1.1 2.6 1.5
0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1
2.2 1.2 2.7 1.6
oTC 10.3 9.8 19.5 18.5
0TC 207.6 209.7 239.2 241.9
11.6 13.3 9.3 11.6
229.5 232.8 268.0 272.0
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oTC (8.5) (7.8) (19.0) (18.5)
oTC (188.6) (199.1) (217.1) (226.5)
11.1) (11.9) (9.0) 9.9)
(208.2) (218.8) (245.1) (254.9)
(184.7) (184.7) (223.0) (223.0)
(23.5) (34.1) (22.1) (31.9)
oTC 1.8 2.0 0.5 0.0
oTC 19.0 10.6 22.1 15.4
0.5 1.4 0.3 1.7
21.3 14.0 22.9 17.1
1 5.6 6.4 5.7 6.5
26.9 20.4 28.6 23.6
26.8 20.4 28.4 23.5
0.1 0.0 0.2 0.1
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1SDA
2016 12 31
2016 2015
99.9 (26.9) 73.0 92.0 (19.6) 72.4
24.0 (4.5) 19.5 21.4 (3.9) 17.5
123.9 (31.4) 92.5 113.4 (23.5) 89.9
42.2 - 42.2 33.1 - 33.1
166.1 (31.4) 134.7 2 146.5 (23.5) 123.0 2
87,331 83,565
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2016 2015
51. (29.0) 22.3 43.2 (21.4) 21.8
8. .4 5.9 9.8 .1) 7.7
31. 0.0 31.9 19.4 0.0 19.4
91. (31.4) 60.1 72.4 (23.5) 48.9
5. - 5.5 26.2 - 26.2
97. (31.4) 65.6 98.6 (23.5) 75.1
64. (31.4) 33.02 70.1 (23.5) 46.62
32. 0.0 32.6 28.5 0.0 28.5
19,634 32,398
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2016 2015
12 31
! 1 ! 1
21.3 6.3 0.0 15.0 22.9 6.2 0.8 15.9
73.0 73.0 0.0 0.0 72.4 72.4 0.0 0.0
19.5 18.6 0.0 0.9 17.5 17.1 0.0 0.4
113.8 97.9 0.0 15.9 112.8 95.7 0.8 16.3
14.0 3.3 0.0 10.7 17.1 3.4 0.0 13.7
22.3 22.3 0.0 0.0 21.8 21.8 0.0 0.0
5.9 5.7 0.0 0.2 7.7 7.4 0.0 0.3
31.9 30.4 0.0 1.5 19.4 18.5 0.0 0.9
74.1 61.7 0.0 12.4 66.0 51.1 0.0 14.9

CDS
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2016 2015 2014
133 28 99
501 463 622
634 491 721
(125) 196 (321)
(68) (164) 1,005
(193) 32 684
441 523 1,405
0 0 40
©) * 4
* 14) i
1 @ 5
136 174) (375)
10 37 (11)
104 25 71
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12 31 2016 2015 2014
2,111 1,746 401
(4,377) (4,168) 3,226
(2.266) (2.422) 3,627
22 (499) (533) 798
(498) (715) 314
1 1,432 6
1,540 391 666
87 16 4
(219) (276) @72)
1) 6 (163)
145 347 151
76 (103) 1,064
218 262 (450)
(68) (258) (555)
(331) (46) (158)
441 523 1,405

2016
498
433
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1,540
983 420
52 31
25
29
219 71
58
19 11
145
139
76
308
2016
91
193
130
218
331
392 37
33
89 22

39
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2015
715
299
1,432
391 219
69
50
53
276 59
58 50
49 16
347
189 175
10
16 11
103
109
2015
88 2015
162
256
262
46
155
48 28
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2014
314
1,627
666
390 179
59

38

272 84
56
35
34
151
1,064
427 2014
662
25
450
GAAP
158
189
30
27

2016 12 31 5.4
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12 31 2016 2015
1,992 2,425
326 326
469 548
1,341 1,718
105 117
347 340
6,548 5,838
119 116
11,247 11,428
(4,188) (3,905)
7,059 7,523
(252) (211)
(29) GD
(267) (282)
(360) (449)
@ (€Y)
(238) (187)
® 18
(51) (66)
(154) (153)
(1,360) (1,398)
5,699 6,125
5,828 6,179
2,178 1,754
3,650 4,425
(129) (54)
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312
176
AOCI

3,196
3,339
2016 12 31
4.2
3.9

2016 12 31

10

11 20
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750

254

206

2015 12 31 5,515

2016 12 31 5,329

2015 12 31

1,505
3,280
9,826

5,376

19,987

17,556
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12 31 2016 2015 2014
3,905 4,107 2,705
283 (202) 1,402
4,188 3,905 4,107
20
12 31 2016 2015 2014
1 391 448 505
(110) (28) (70)
0 0 1

29
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2016 2015 1.1 1.1
85
ASU 2016-09
US GAAP
2016 2015 2014

369 389 423
52 44 2
(43) (©)) “n
17 15 39
@ 0 10
) (22) 24)
24 (54) 6
410 369 389

410 369 389
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12 31 2016 2015 2014
2 13 16
86 86 86
12
12 116
2012 2011
2010 2010 2009 2005
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2016 12 31

2017 2016
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12 31 2016 2015 2014
628 852 939
370 563 611
235 430 214
30 - -
13 16 13
1 5 22 36
2011 2 0] 2 7
0 39 92
3 0 0 ©)
2008 4 13 34 87
335 414 404
0 0 ®
1,629 2,372 2,392
42.1 44 .4 37.1

1 2013
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2016

2017

2017

565

2017

15

15.42

2016

566
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2016
445
119
109
24
181
878
1.3
PRA
37.8
2017 28 10
2014 2015 12 31
2016

2015 2014




2017

15
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37.8 28.8 37.2
566 549 642
15.421 18.621 16.94 2
50
37 2.5
2016
2016 2015 2014
2.5 0.6 1.6
37 12 36
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2016

ROE
2017

2015 12

31
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2016 2015 2014
( )¢ ( )¢ ( ) ¢
) ) )
80.3 21.58 77.1 28.64 72.9 30.09
39.7 17.47 47.51 16.67 37.6 27.60
@G37.7) 22.64 (40.3) 29.00 (29.5) 30.43
9.1) 21.87 (4.0) 24.29 (3.9) 32.20
73.2 18.77 80.3 21.58 77.1 28.64
8.1 - 4.7 - 6.2 -
65.1 - 75.6 - 70.9 -
2015
2.89
2015
ROE
2015 ROE
ROE
2016 ROE
2015 2014
2016 12 31
ROE
ROE
451 29.7
2017 28 10
15.42 2014
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2016 2015 2014
29.7 21.3 30.7
451 429 529
15.421 18.621 16.94 2
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2016 2015 2014
( ) y ) )
55.9 21.01 48.2 26.89 41.4 25.51
21.4 18.62 32.51 16.11 24.3 28.13
(26.5) 22.67 (23.4) 26.24 (16.0) 25.27
2.4 19.64 1.4) 21.75 (1.5) 26.28
48.4 19.11 55.9 21.01 48.2 26.89
6.8 - 3.3 - 3.3 -
41.6 - 52.6 - 44.9 -
12015 11 19 2015
CCA 2016 2015 2014 2017 2016 2015
CCA PRA
CCA
CCA
2017 2016 2015
CCA LIBOR
4.27 5.4 5.75
2017 2016 2015
CCA LIBOR 3.17 4.23  4.85
2017 CCA
LIBOR 3.03
2017 7 CCA

LIBOR 2.93
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2017
CCA CCA
CCA

CCA
FINMA
CCA
CCA

CCA

CCA

CET

FINMA CCA

2017 15 229
CCA CCA
218

2016 2015 2014

CCA 229 226 360

2016 (CCA) 14.57
CCA 226 CCA

15
14.45 CCA
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(2.6)
0.3)
13.5
1.0
12.5
2016
249
2016
118
2012
LIBOR
7.875
600
2016
ABS
)
100
2011
2011 2011
PAF PAF
500 500

PAF PAF
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PAF
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2021 6.5
2014 5,084
COF 168
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2008
2008
2008
PAF PAF
2008 12 31
PAF
PAF
PAF PAF
LIBOR 250
PAF
PAF 20 PAF
2017
2014

2015 2016
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2015
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2014 12 31

SEC

422/771

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn



12 31

40

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

2016 2015 2014
26t 5 10
6 21 3
Q) 0 ®)
251 26 5
82 16 55
3 1 6
€)) ® (45)
102 8 16
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FINMA

2013

12 31

QIA
QIA

FINMA
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2016 2015 2014
135 13 10
38 122 3
173 135 13
QIA
QIA
1.725 9.5
1.72 9.5
2.5 9.0
CET
CET FINMA
2018 FINMA
1.725 1.72
2.5 9.0
QIA
JJ
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2016
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80

SPE
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2013 26
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2016 2015 2014
157 182
US GAAP
2015 12 31
73 75 80 81
82 82
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7.5 25
BVG 2016
1.25 2017 1.00

2016 12
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12 31
2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014
288 298 253 20 21 19 0 0 0
141 189 338 124 129 134 8 7 7
(536)  (592)  (547)  (175)  (195)  (178) 0 0 0
(116)  (85)  (88) 0 0 0 0 () ©)
366 351 137 41 84 52 10 14 9
143 161 93 10 39 27 18 0 7
24 24 44 72 @ 0 0 0 0
(18) ) ©) 0 0 0 0 0 0
22 9 17 0 0 0 0 0 0
171 192 145 82 38 25 18 0 7
2016 2015 2014 271
228 177
2011
2016 2015 2014 18
2016 2015 2014
24 24 44 2016
2015 2014
22 17
2016
72
ABO PBO ABO
PBO
PBO
ABO
US GAAP
PBO
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179
2016
729
2017

2016 2015 PBO
2017
65
2015 2016 12
2015 12 31
140

12
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12 31
12 31 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
PBO
16,088 15,661 3,366 3,539 180 178
202 198 0 0 0 0
288 298 20 21 0 0
141 189 124 129 8 7
(179) (302) 0 0 0 0
(70) an 278) 0 0 0
@ © 0 0 0 0
22 9 1 2 0 0
134 818 476 7 1 4
737 (697) (150) (113) 11 (10)
0 0 222) (115) 6 1
15,885 16,088 3,337 3,366 184 180
15,602 15,635 3,712 3,876 0
510 134 824 62
444 409 232 19 11 10
202 198 0 0 0 0
(70) an 278) 0 0 0
737 (697) (150) (113) 11) (10)
0 0 (340) (132) 0 0
15,951 15,602 4,000 3,712 0 0
66 (486) 663 346 (184) (180)
12 al 66 (486) 663 346 (184) (180)
66 0 995 825 0 0
0 (EXD) (©)] (12 (EXD)
0 (486) (321) (470) (172) (169)
12 3 66 (486) 663 346 (184) (180)
ABO 2
14,962 15,160 3,281 3,315 184 180
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PBO ABO
PBO1
2016 2015 2016 2015
16,088 1,426 1,630
15,160 1,391 1,600
15,602 1,095 1,152
ABO1
2016 2015 2016 2015
0 1,407 1,613
0 1,378 1,589
0 1,079 1,137
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2016 12 31
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2016
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2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
(4,239) (4,629) (39) (43) (4,278) (4,672)

640 604 3 3 643 607
(3.599) (4,025) (36) (40) (3.635) (4,065)

AOCI
2017

13 ) 4 @) 0 @ 3
180 (38) 142 0 0 0 142
408 (91) 317 10 ) 6 323
(116) 24 (92) 0 0 0 (92)

82 (28) 54 0 0 0 54
567 (142) 425 9 () 5 430

432/771



2015 12 31

2017

2017 12 31

12 31

EDINETOOOO

OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

oOoOooodn

(1,312) 276 (1,036) 4) 2 @ (1,038)
302 (64) 238 0 0 0 238

435 (93) 342 14 ) 9 351

(85) 18 (67) (23) 9 (14) (81)

30 (6) 24 0 0 0 24

(630) 131 (499) (13) 6 Q) (506)

AOCI

315 5

(103) 0

212 5

2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014
0.90 1.25 2.60 4.05 3.82 4.71  4.50  4.20  5.10
0.80  1.00 1.20  3.56  4.19  4.31 - - -
1.25 1.25  2.00 1.10  1.10  1.10 - - -
3.50 4.00 3.75 5.07 6.00 6.16 - - -
0.85 0.90 1.25  3.10 4.05 3.82  4.21  4.50  4.20
0.50 0.80  1.00  3.55  3.56  4.19 - - -
0.85 1.25 1.25  0.40  1.10  1.10 - - -

433/771



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

12

PBO

PBO

434/771



12 31

BVG 2015
SAPS S2

RP-2014
1 1.25
22020
3 1.5
4 cml

GAAP

2020
2016
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65 65
65 45 65 45

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
21.21 20.8 2 22.41  20.8 2 23.01 22.9 2 2441 2292
24.0 3 24.0 4 25.53% 26.1+4 25.13 25.2 4 26.83 27.4 4

5 21.4 21.3 22.6 22.6 23.3 23.2 24.4 24.3
cmI BVG 2015
BVG 2015
cMmI SAPS  S2 95
2014 RP-2014
PBO
GAAP
2016
PBO
2016 12 31
PBO 440
BVG
2016 BVG
BVG 2015
1.25 CMI
BVG 2015
PBO 175
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12 3 2016 2015 2014

8.30 8.00 8.00

0.2 0.2 0.2
0.2) 0.2) 0.3)

4 4 5
) ) (O]

2022
8.30
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2016 2015 12 31
54 83
90 131

35

4371771



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

2016 2015 12 31
12 31
2016 2015

440 0 0 0 440 1,286 0 0 0 1,286
3,186 438 0 748 4,372 1,822 581 0 1,736 4,139
0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 11
3,186 438 0 748 4,372 1,822 570 0 1,736 4,128
6,011 0 0 0 6,011 5,597 0 0 0 5,597
154 575 1,204 0 1,933 103 543 1,156 0 1,802
0 0 1,204 0 1,204 0 0 1,156 0 1,156
154 575 0 0 729 103 543 0 0 646
329 (35) 0 2,901 3,195 168 G7) 0 2,667 2,778
0 0 0 1,107 1,107 0 0 0 1,022 1,022

0 0 0 1,293 1,293 0 0 0 1,135 1,135
329 (35) 0 501 795 168 7) 0 510 621
10,120 978 1,204 3,649 15,951 8,976 1,067 1,156 4,403 15,602
49 170 0 0 219 46 147 0 0 193
1,071 1,174 33 248 2,526 890 860 50 127 1,927
491 7 0 0 498 368 7 0 0 375
580 1,167 33 248 2,028 522 853 50 127 1,552
196 187 0 226 609 208 424 0 337 969
0 0 58 0 58 0 87 48 0 135

0 321 0 177 498 0 230 0 157 387

0 0 0 177 177 0 0 0 157 157

0 3211 0 0 321 0 230 1 0 0 230

0 90 0 0 90 0 101 0 0 101
1,316 1,942 o1 651 4,000 1,144 1,849 98 621 3,712

11,436 2,920 1,295 4,300 19,951 10,120 2,916 1,254 5,024 19,314
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2016
50 6 0 0 @ (24) 2 33
1,204 48 0 34 18 44) 2 1,262
1,156 0 0 48 0 0 0 1,204
48 48 0 14) 18 (44) 2 58
1,254 54 0 34 17 (68) 4 1,295
1,156 0 0 48 0 0 0 1,204
98 54 0 14) 17 (68) 4 91
2015
62 0 (12) ) 0 5 ) 50
1,263 0 87) 40 0 12) 0 1,204
1,146 0 0 26 0 (16) 0 1,156
117 0 87) 14 0 4 0 48
1,325 0 (99) 36 0 ) @ 1,254
1,146 0 0 26 0 (16) 0 1,156
179 0 (99) 10 0 9 @ 98
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CP

NAV

NAV

NAV
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NAV
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0TC 0TC

0TC

4411771



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

12 31 2016 2015 2016 2015
2.8 8.2 5.5 5.2
27.4 26.4 63.2 51.9
37.7 35.9 15.3 26.1
12.1 11.6 1.4 3.6
20.0 17.9 12.4 10.4
0.0 0.0 2.2 2.8
100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

2017
2017
2017
2017

10.0 0.0
32.0 72.3
30.0 12.2
10.0 0.6
18.0 12.4
0.0 2.5
100.0 100.0
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2017 1,200 12
2018 933 12
2019 919 13
2020 918 13
2021 944 13
2022 4,658 60
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2016 12 31
PRV NRV PRV NRV
8,321.9 3.3 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
13,190.0 91.0 85.5 47.5 1.0 1.0
0TC 2,164.4 43.1 41.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
522.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
( ) 468.0 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
24,666.4 137.6 130.0 47.5 1.0 1.0
1,211.6 19.2 20.8 11.0 0.1 0.0
819.4 34.5 42.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
0TC 416.8 8.1 8.4 4.8 0.0 0.0
17.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
( ) 4.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
2,469.7 61.8 71.2 15.8 0.1 0.0
1.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
191.0 4.7 5.3 0.0 0.0 0.0
0TC 206.5 7.7 7.4 0.0 0.0 0.0
41.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
( ) 355.9 11.6 13.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
796.2 24.0 25.8 0.0 0.0 0.0
2 558.7 8.1 9.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
7.2 0.1 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
20.1 2.0 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0
0TC 20.2 0.4 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0
14.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
( ) 3.4 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
3 65.2 2.5 2.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
28,556.2 234.0 238.2 63.3 1.1 1.0
2016 12 31 PRV NRV 28,619.5
235.1 239.2
1 US GAAP

2

3
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2015 12 31
PRV NRV PRV NRV
7,229.5 1.0 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
16,737.7 118.3 112.8 54.3 1.3 1.0
oTC 2,856.0 49.2 47.4 0.0 0.0 0.0
1,789.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
( ) 198.4 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
28,811.5 168.6 161.4 54.3 1.3 1.0
1,498.4 16.6 16.9 10.7 0.0 0.1
1,050.7 30.5 40.8 0.0 0.0 0.0
oTC 534.8 12.8 12.8 8.2 0.0 0.0
22.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
( ) 13.0 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0
3,119.4 60.2 70.8 18.9 0.0 0.1
1.3 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
203.8 5.1 6.7 0.0 0.0 0.0
oTC 193.1 8.4 7.5 0.0 0.0 0.0
39.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
( ) 284.4 9.1 11.4 0.0 0.0 0.0
722.5 22.6 25.7 0.0 0.0 0.0
2 831.9 17.8 17.3 0.0 0.0 0.0
6.3 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
19.6 2.6 1.7 0.0 0.0 0.0
oTC 8.8 0.4 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0
11.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
( ) 1.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
3 47.7 3.2 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
33,533.0 272.4 277.4 73.2 1.3 1.1
2015 12 31 PRV NRV 33,606.2
273.7 278.5
1 US GAAP

2

3
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12 3 2016 2015 2014
(116) i (231)
0 0 3
(116) 17 (228)
111 101 227
0 0 ®)
111 101 224
) (16) )
12 31 2016 2015 2014
AOCI
) 21 40
(©)] (32) (43)
) Qyn €)
AOCI
29 1 371 21 2
(16)2.3.4 (61)2.3.4 (8)3:
13 24) 13
2 ) (12) o
1
2
3
4
12 AOCI 13
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2016 2015 2014
(536) 440 (1,672)
(536) 440 (1,672)
NRV
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2016 12 31
10.5 0.2 1.1 11.8
9.5 0.2 - 9.7
0.3 0.2 0.0 0.5
1.3 0.4 0.5 2.2
1.5 0.7 0.7 2.9
2015 12 31
13.2 0.5 1.4 15.1
12.3 0.5 - 12.8
0.7 0.4 0.1 1.2
1.8 0.7 0.6 3.1
2.1 1.3 0.8 4.2
1
0TC
ABS
CDS
CDS
CDS
27

450/771



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

US GAAP
US GAAP a
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2016 2015 12 31 7.8 9.8
TRS
TRS
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2 BBB
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(72.4) 67.4 (5.0) 14. 0.7
(30.3) 28.1 (2.2) 18. (1.0)
(102.7) 95.5 7.2) 32. 0.3)
7.7) 25.6 .1 6. (0.9)
(75.0) 69.9 (5.1) 25. 0.6
(115.0) 113.9 1.1) 41. 0.0
(20.9) 19.5 (1.4) 9. 0.3
(135.9) 133.4 (2-5) 51. 0.3
(0.3) 0.2 0.1) 0. 0.1
(135.6) 133.2 (2.4) 50. 0.2
(187.4) 181.3 (6.1) 55. 0.7
(51.2) 47.6 (3.6) 27. 0.7)
(238.6) 228.9 ©.7) 83. 0.0
(28.0) 25.8 (2.2) 7. (0.8)
(210.6) 203.1 (7.5) 76. 0.8
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2015 12 31 4 1
2 (172.8) 164.8 (8.0) 30.7 1.4
(58.9) 55.3 (3.6) 14.1 .4
(231.7) 220.1 (11.6) 44.8 1.0)
(47.5) 44.0 (3.5) 8.4 1.2)
(184.2) 176.1 (8.1) 36.4 0.2
2 (114.5) 112.7 (1.8) 33.3 0.8)
(29.0) 26.8 3 (2.2) 9.6 0.6
(143.5) 139.5 4.0) 42.9 ©.2)
(0.9) 1.1 0.2 0.0 0.0
(142.6) 138.4 4.2) 42.9 0.2)
2 (287.3) 277.5 9.8) 64.0 0.6
(87.9) 82.1 (5.8) 23.7 (1.8)
(375.2) 359.6 (15.6) 87.7 a.2)
(48.4) 45.1 (3.3) 8.4 1.2)
(326.8) 314.5 (12.3) 79.3 0.0
2 BBB
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12 31 2016 2015
238.6 375.2
228.9 359.6
83.4 87.7
! 7.8 9.4
558.7 831.9
1
2016 12 31
24.2 72.7 5.8 102.7
27.5 84.7 23.7 135.9
51.7 157.4 29.5 238.6
2015 12 31 1
52.6 170.6 8.5 231.7
24.3 102.2 17.0 143.5
76.9 272.8 25.5 375.2
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33
1
2016 12 31
1,962 500 262 409 3,133 2,913 13 2,043
5,109 1,571 194 240 7,114 6,124 76 3,090
2 15,864 3,377 3,590 976 23,807 23,807 684 -3
3,460 888 531 581 5,460 5,456 44 3,668
26,395 6,336 4,577 2,206 39,514 38,300 817 8,801
2015 12 31
2,916 744 284 458 4,402 4,193 25 1,729
4,295 1,992 627 85 6,999 6,100 78 3,144
2 23,529 10,061 3,149 1,450 38,189 38,189 755 -3
3,958 552 447 522 5,479 5,474 52 3,533
34,698 13,349 4,507 2,515 55,069 53,956 910 8,406
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VIE

VIE
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US GAAP

6 FINMA

FINMA 2016 2017 30
0.6
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2016
2016 12 31
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2017 583
2018 563
2019 508
2020 477
2021 373
2022 3,273
5,777

155

5,622
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2016

2015

30

2014
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2016 2015 2014
550 558 572
(89) (92) (81)
461 466 491

10

10
10 10
2016
2015 80 2014 17
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1
2016 12 31
4,356 0 0 0 4,356 4,281 2,748
2 30,382 34,464 44,523 7,606 116,975 113,016 46,068
84 0 0 0 84 84 84
487 24 75 51 637 637 0
35,309 34,488 44,598 7,657 122,052 118,018 48,900
2015 12 31
4,022 4 3 0 4,029 3,935 2,468
2 33,890 45,365 44,759 13,639 137,653 133,833 63,276
48 0 0 0 48 48 48
450 124 29 169 772 771 6
38,410 45,493 44,791 13,808 142,502 138,587 65,798
1
2 2016 12 31 2015 12 31

95,743 98,495
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SPE SPE

SPE SPE
SPE
SPE
SPE SPE CP
SPE
SPE
SPE
SPE CMBS RMBS
ABS SPE
ABS

SPE SPE
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RMBS

SPE CLO CLO

CLO CLO

SPE

SPE
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2016 2015 2014
SPE
12 31 2016 2015 2014
CMBS
! (@) 1 7
3,954 9,813 5,335
69 148 102
RMBS
1 (&) 5 13
9,866 20,062 22,728
0 @ *
2 3 2
529 457 444
! 26 24 29
2,8132 1,740 1,819
8 137 0 0
2 3 17
1 SPE
2 2016 ASU 2015-02
2016 3,109
3 CLO

466/771



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
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SPE
SPE
cP
SPE
SPE
SPE
SPE SPE
2016 2015 12 31 SPE
SPE
SPE
12 31 2016 2015
CMBS
28,779 40,625
SPE 40,234 56,118
RMBS
38,319 54,164
SPE 39,680 55,833
19,7771 21,653
SPE 36,049 1 22,787
12016 ASU 2015-02
2016 3,208 SPE

16,625
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35
2016 2015 2014
CMBS RMBS CMBS RMBS CMBS RMBS
69 2,068 1,512 2,110 1,341 4,023
69 1,827 1,442 1,695 1,242 3,791
0 241 70 415 100 232
8.4 7.2 8.2 9.0 4.1 7.7
! -2 5.0-33.0 -2 1.1-30.1 -2 1.5-23.0
2.4-4.9 1.2-24.4 1.7-7.2 1.7-33.7 1.0-11.0 1.9-17.8
0.0-0.0 2.5-11.2 0.7-5.9 0.5-15.9 1.0-2.2 0.4-15.3
PSA
PSA CPR 100
0.2
0.2 30 CPR
100PSA CPR
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2016 2015 12 31 SPE
SPE
12 31 2016 2015
ChBS 1 RUBS CMBS 1 RMBS
2 2
258 1,851 443 1,007 2,274 56
70 523 32 73 581 55
7.2 8.1 5.6 6.7 9.7 2.5
3 - 2.0-26.9 - - 1.0-37.1 -
10 - (28.7) - - (30.5) -
20 . (55.9) B, - (57.6) -
. 2.3-28.8  1.7-47.2  0.8-21.2  2.1-13.3  1.5-35.5  5.7-21.2
10 (6.0) (48.1) (8.3) (18.1) (63.1) .7
20 11.7) (93.5) (16.4) (35.6)  (122.5) (1.5)
0.7-28.0  0.9-44.9  0.9-21.2  0.9-12.7  1.3-34.3  0.2-14.2
10 (3.5) (27.3) (.1) (8.0) (32.3) ©.7)
20 (6.9) (53.3) (10.0) (15.9) (63.2) (1.5)
1
2 o CLO
3 PSA
PSA CPR 100 0.2
0.2 30 CPR
100PSA  CPR
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10 20
2016 2015 12 31
36
12 31 2016 2015
RMBS
0 266
SPE 0 (266)
240 155
12 122
SPE (252) Q77)
USGAAP
2016 12 31

2015 12 31 TRS

470/771



2016

2015

32

32

556
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2016
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2015 12 31

277 340 374 556 -
277 340 374 556 2 0
395 397 398 7 7
308 378 375 546 -
703 775 773 553 3 73

2016 12 31

2015 12 31

546
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2016 2015 12 31
12 31 2016 2015
29.4 21.1
13.9 15.2
10.3 21.6
1.1 0.1
0.3 0.1
55.0 58.1
2.5 3.1
0.5 0.4
6.0 8.2
0.4 0.3
9.4 12.0
0.7 0.5
0.4 0.1
31.5 27.9
32.6 28.5
97.0 98.6
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12 31
1 30 2 31 90 90
2016
6.8 31.9 8.4 7.9 55.0
6.7 2.4 0.0 0.3 9.4
32.2 0.4 0.0 0.0 32.6
45.7 34.7 8.4 8.2 97.0
2015
7.7 29.9 8.1 12.4 58.1
6.0 3.6 1.8 0.6 12.0
26.2 2.3 0.0 0.0 28.5
39.9 35.8 9.9 13.0 98.6
27
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VIE

VIE

CP
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
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VIE
VIE
SPE
SPE VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE VIE
VIE VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE VIE
VIE
VIE

VIE
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VIE
CDo/CLO
CLO
CDo/CLO ABS
CDO/CLO
VIE
VIE
VIE

CDO/CLO
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VIE VIE CDO/CLO
CDO/CLO
CDO/CLO
CDS
CDO/CLO
CDO/CLO

CDO/CLO CDS

VIE

CDO/CLO

VIE
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2015 cp
cP cp 2015 12 31
2016 12 31
2016
cP
cp
cp
cp
cp
cp
VIE
2016 12 31 cp 103
A-1(sF) P-1(sf)
cP
cp cP
cp

CP
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VIE

CMBS RMBS

RMBS

ABS

VIE

50
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VIE

VIE

VIE

VIE

US GAAP

50
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VIE

VIE

VIE

VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE 2016 2015 12 31 VIE
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VIE
12 31
coorco P
2016
4 1 41 52 50 182 369
0 0 0 478 933 1,333 2,744
0 0 511 0 0 0 511
0 0 0 228 1,446 32 2,006
0 0 0 0 30 254 284
0 0 0 0 199 0 199
0 1 1,483 48 51 1,034 2,617
0 0 415 0 7 0 422
VIE 43 2 2,03 806 2,700 3,135 8,730
0 0 0 0 18 0 18
0 0 0 1 0 0 1
54 0 1,639 7 57 > 1,759
0 0 1 15 124 104 244
VIE 54 0 1,640 23 199 106 2,022
2015
1,351 0 21 9 93 219 1,693
0 53 0 0 0 0 53
283 49 0 941 1,001 98 2,372
0 0 1,009 0 0 0 1,00
0 0 0 0 1,553 433 1,986
0 0 0 0 27 1,285 1,312
0 0 0 0 327 0 327
10,839 123 1,671 0 83 1,735 14,451
10,790 0 469 0 16 0 11,275
VIE 12,473 225 2,701 950 3,084 3,770 23,203
8 0 0 0 18 1 27
0 0 81 0 0 0 81
12,428 0 2,128 125 136 9 14,826
51 3 3 1 135 643 836
VIE 12,487 3 2,212 126 289 653 15,770
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VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
12 31
CDO/CLO
2016
440 3,881 1,526 528 191 6,566
4 105 2,007 4,634 608 7,358
5 14 20 4 520 563
449 4,000 3,553 5,166 1,319 14,487
449 7,171 3,553 9,215 1,821 22,209
VIE 9,774 65,820 68,546 32,651 37,087 213,878
2015
90 6,021 871 425 8 7,415
36 1,508 2,734 5,053 1,723 11,054
0 11 13 0 161 185
126 7,540 3,618 5,478 1,892 18,654
126 12,986 3,618 11,866 2,570 31,166

VIE 6,590 113,530 54,112 41,824 36,865 252,921
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CP
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0TC

CDO

oTC

0TC CDS

ASU 2011-04
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2016 12 31
1 2
0 200 0 . . 200
0 25 1 . - 26
0 87,157 174 - - 87,331
619 419 1 - - 1,039
1 375 1 - - 377
30,706 750 69 - - 31,525
31,325 1,169 70 . . 32,564
29,498 32,193 3,977 - - 65,668
29,226 2,408 292 - - 31,926
180 12,326 1,674 - - 14,180
RMBS 0 14,153 605 - - 14,758
CMBS 0 2,227 65 - - 2,292
CDO 0 1,074 1,165 - - 2,239
58,490 3,795 240 - 1,346 63,871
5,631 224,142 4,305  (207,296) - 26,782
3,074 133,834 748 - - -
18 61,448 355 - - -
2,538 20,519 914 - - -
0 7,388 688 - - -
2,267 2,319 4,243 - - 8,829
95,886 262,449 12,765 _ (207,296) 1,346 165,150
294 2,034 72 - - 2,400
103 1,240 0 - - 1,343
0 287 0 - - 287
RMBS 0 425 72 - - 497
CMBS 0 14 0 - - 14
3 86 0 - - 89
297 2,120 72 . . 2,489
0 0 8 - 574 582
0 0 0 - 240 240
0 0 0 - 546 546
0 0 0 - 292 292
22 64 310 - 984 1,380
15 64 310 - 984 1,373
0 0 1,588 - - 1,588
22 64 1,906 . 2,104 4,096
0 12,943 6,585 - . 19,528
0 6,051 3,816 - - 9,867
0 4,403 1,829 - - 6,232
0 0 138 - - 138
260 8,359 1,679 (915) . 9,383
0 4,640 1,316 - - 5,956
127,790 374,486 23,390 _ (208,211) 3,450 320,905
0 0 (116) - (565) (681)
ASU 2009-17
] 0 (829) (300) - - (1,129)
127,790 373,657 22,974  (208,211) 2,885 319,095
1
2 GAAP

VIE
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2016 12 31
1 2
0 437 0 - - 437
0 3,166 410 - - 3,576
0 19,634 0 - - 19,634
619 419 1 - - 1,039
1 375 1 - - 377
30,706 750 69 - - 31,525
31,325 1,169 70 - - 32,564
4,376 3,564 23 - - 7,963
4,374 547 0 - - 4,921
0 2,760 23 - - 2,783
16,365 191 41 - 1 16,598
5,407 229,051 3,673  (217,762) - 20,369
2,946 126,422 538 - - -
18 71,006 150 - - -
2,442 22,219 1,181 - - -
0 8,350 851 - - -
26,148 232,806 3,737 (217,762) 1 44,930
0 3,545 516 - - 4,061
0 59,453 13,415 - - 72,868
0 3,217 0 - - 3,217
0 6,852 326 - - 7,178
0 39,824 12,434 - - 52,258
0 2,311 634 - - 2,945
0 5,482 1 - - 5,483
0 1,742 17 - - 1,759
0 8,823 1,684 (1,014) - 9,493
0 507 219 - - 726
57,473 329,033 19,832  (218,776) 1 187,563
1
2 GAAP
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2015 12 31
1 2
0 89 0 - - 89
0 2 0 - - 2
0 83,407 158 - - 83,565
811 493 0 - - 1,304
0 261 0 - - 261
27,141 66 0 - - 27,207
27,952 559 0 - - 28,511
27,932 48,047 4,563 - - 80,542
27,710 3,737 285 - - 31,732
13 15,762 1,745 - - 17,520
RMBS 0 22,302 814 - - 23,116
CMBS 0 3,924 215 - - 4,139
cDO 0 2,317 1,298 - - 3,615
64,210 4,195 871 - 1,685 70,961
2,625 265,014 4,831  (244,105) - 28,365
657 167,173 791 - - -
104 59,740 383 - - -
1,857 19,803 936 - - -
0 16,267 1,568 - - -
2,034 4,569 4,266 - - 10,869
96,801 321,825 14,531 (244,105) 1,685 190,737
1,538 1,318 148 - - 3,004
1,322 94 0 - - 1,416
0 285 0 - - 285
RMBS 0 602 148 - - 750
CMBS 0 259 0 - - 259
2 84 0 - - 86
1,540 1,402 148 - - 3,090
0 0 0 - 1,042 1,042
0 0 0 - 437 437
0 0 0 - 295 295
0 0 0 - 260 260
0 23 366 - 840 1,229
0 14 365 - 840 1,219
0 2 1,669 - - 1,671
0 25 2,035 - 2,177 4,237
0 11,870 8,950 - - 20,820
0 5,811 5,735 - - 11,546
0 4,102 1,729 - - 5,831
0 0 112 - - 112
687 19,002 7,087 (1,149) - 25,627
0 14,378 6,768 - - 21,146
126,980 438,181 33,021 _ (245,254) 3,862 356,790
0 ©) (119) - 473) (601)
ASU 2009-17
) 0 9,212) (3,558) - - (12,770)
126,980 428,960 29,344  (245,254) 3,389 343,419
1
2 GAAP

VIE
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2015 12 31
1 2
0 482 0 - - 482
0 3,409 254 - - 3,663
0 32,398 0 - - 32,398
811 493 0 - - 1,304
0 261 0 - - 261
27,141 66 0 - - 27,207
27,952 559 0 - - 28,511
4,100 4,289 16 - - 8,405
4,050 491 0 - - 4,541
30 3,597 16 - - 3,643
16,875 154 45 - 6 17,080
3,062 269,788 4,554  (253,918) - 23,486
671 160,181 578 - - -
82 70,381 329 - - -
2,299 22,015 1,347 - - -
0 15,522 1,757 - - -
24,037 274,231 4,615  (253,918) 6 48,971
0 3,040 72 - - 3,112
0 66,808 14,123 - - 80,931
0 4,590 0 - - 4,590
0 6,396 364 - - 6,760
0 38,066 9,924 - - 47,990
0 1,435 638 - - 2,073
0 5,476 0 - - 5,476
0 10,642 3,197 - - 13,839
0 10,224 2,491 (961) - 11,754
0 530 454 - - 984
51,989 391,151 21,555  (254,879) 6 209,822
1
2 GAAP
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2016
2016
2016
2016
12 31 2016 2015
2,012 1,698 85 187
723 1,074 566 1,257
3,404 0 4,328 24
6,139 2,772 4,979 1,468
0 1,229 0 0
2 46 108 79
108 166 85 139
4,047 29 4,552 114

4,157 241 4,745 332
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0 0 0 49 (49) 0 0

158 0 0 0 0 279 (270)

0 0 0 100 (33) 0 0
4,563 1,574 (1,487) 3,753 (4,514) 0 0
1,745 836 (677) 2,642 (2,945) 0 0
RMBS 814 587 (573) 525 (668) 0 0
CMBS 215 26 (12) 51 (169) 0 0
CDo 1,298 82 (166) 488 (578) 0 0
871 111 (136) 527 (1,057) 0 0
4,831 1,683 (1,017) 0 0 1,484 (2,972)
791 48 (60) 0 0 130 (293)
936 282 (328) 0 0 428 (473)
1,568 961 (617) 0 0 543 (1,710)
4,266 858 (1,221) 3,848 (3,644) 0 (314)
14,531 4,226 (3,861) 8,128 (9,215) 1,484 (3,286)
148 18 (38) 95 (121) 0 (124)
366 7 [®) 146 (281) 0 0
1,669 0 0 186 (353) 0 0
2,035 7 [®) 332 (634) 0 0
8,950 969 (1,942) 524 (1,443) 3,574 (4,281)
5,735 486 (583) 97 (1,007) 1,994 (2,987)
1,729 77 (348) 335 (348) 974 (701)
112 0 0 16 @ 0 0
7,087 572 (1,497) 2,464 (6,801) 898 (975)
2 6,768 355 (1,251) 2,192 (6,696) 898 (975)
33,021 5,792 (7,340) 11,708 (18,297) 6,235 (8,936)
254 0 (41) 0 0 240 (20)

0 0 0 100 (33) 0 0
4,615 1,588 (1,026) 51 (52) 1,259 (3,494)
578 87 (28) 0 0 141 (244)
329 55 ) 0 0 14 (408)
1,347 130 (293) 0 0 423 (748)
1,757 940 (689) 0 0 421 (1,806)
72 45 (30) 0 0 598 (205)
14,123 3,865 (2,393) 0 0 4,510 (7,149)
9,924 3,484 (2,166) 0 0 4,044 (3,004)
3,197 0 3) 0 0 182 (3,398)
2,491 208 (226) 219 (376) 17 (612)
454 44 (121) 142 (308) 0 0
21,555 5,706 (3,716) 370 (461) 6,624  (11,480)
11,466 86 (3,624) 11,338  (17,836) (389) 2,544
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2016
1 1 1
0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
0 1 0 0 0 0 6 174
0 0 0 0 0 0 3 70
@ (134) 0 10 0 0 213 3,977
0 42) 0 8 0 0 107 1,674
RMBS (6) (91) 0 0 0 0 17 605
CMBS @ (45) 0 0 0 0 0 65
CDo 2 2 0 2 0 0 35 1,165
(45) (38) 0 0 0 0 7 240
7 173 0 2) 0 0 138 4,305
0 117 0 0 0 0 15 748
9 32 0 22) 0 0 50 914
1 (64) 0 0 0 0 6 688
7 290 0 0 0 0 153 4,243
(32) 291 0 (12) 0 0 511 12,765
(10) 100 0 0 0 0 4 72
0 31 0 22 0 0 29 318
0 33 0 0 0 0 53 1,588
0 64 0 22 0 0 82 1,906
(43) 11) 0 0 0 0 288 6,585
(14) (74) 0 0 0 0 169 3,816
1 41 0 0 0 0 69 1,829
0 0 0 6 0 0 5 138
(46) (208) 0 ) 0 0 194 1,679
2 (59) (88) 0 (8) 0 0 180 1,316
(13D) 238 0 7 0 0 1,093 23,390
0 (64) 0 0 0 41 0 410
0 0 0 0 0 0 3 70
100 589 0 12) 0 0 119 3,737
14 (25) 0 0 0 0 15 538
2 160 0 0 0 0 3 150
32 227 0 0 0 0 63 1,181
50 162 0 0 0 0 16 851
1 17 3) 3 0 0 18 516
(64) (124) 0 0 1 240 406 13,415
(78) (403) 0 0 1 240 392 12,434
3 48 0 0 0 0 (12) 17
72) (160) D) 139 0 0 57 1,684
3) 3 0 0 0 0 8 219
(35) 258 ) 130 1 281 603 19,832
(96) (20) 4 (123) D (28D 490 3,558
1
2
(182)
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2015

77 0 (41) 0 0 259 (141)

0 0 0 4 ) 0 0

4,461 1,591 (1,465) 2,942 (2,958) 0 0

1,430 823 (469) 1,273 (1,373) 0 0

RMBS 612 492 (615) 1,064 @772) 0 0
CMBS 257 127 (83) 207 (265) 0 0
cDo 1,421 72 (252) 379 (364) 0 0
896 749 (702) 1,185 (1,010) 0 0

6,823 2,310 (1,243) 0 0 1,493 (3.875)

1,803 53 (282) 0 0 304 (719)

1,063 530 (362) 0 0 366 (680)

2,569 1,574 (599) 0 0 405 (1,776)

4,323 1,157 (894) 4,086 (4,276) 0 (292)

16,503 5,807 (4,304) 8,213 (8,244) 1,493 (4,167)

3 8 o7 320 (102) 0 (36)

549 1 ) 54 147) 0 0

1,834 0 0 201 (361) 0 0

2,383 1 ) 255 (508) 0 0

9,353 1,347 (1,153) 686 (1,055) 3,519 (3,371)

5,853 985 (365) 69 (687) 2,205 (2,072)

1,494 329 (266) 296 (213) 811 (639)

70 0 0 18 0 0 0

7,468 4,025 (3,937) 4,244 (3,691) 784 (1,309)

6,851 4,016 (3,841) 4,137 (3,410) 784 (1,309)

35,857 11,188  (9,541) 13,740  (13,604) 6,055  (9,024)

100 12 (16) 0 0 213 (28)
0 0 0 4 ) 0 0
6,417 2,515 (1,891) 63 7) 1,460 (3,098)
1,202 109 (400) 0 0 140 (343)
560 19 (36) 0 0 20 (76)
1,466 297 (796) 0 0 689 (349)
2,760 1,860 (628) 0 0 330 (2,098)
95 98 37) 0 0 371 (442)
14,608 2,603 (4,819) 0 0 7,386 (4,874)
10,267 1,117 (3,293) 0 0 5,464 (3,104)
2,952 1,197 (902) 0 0 912 (807)
3,363 249 (1,240) 184 (218) 10 (245)
616 14 (18) 132 @27) 0 0
24,583 5,477 (8,003) 251 279) 9,440 (8,687)
11,274 5,711 (1,538) 13,489  (13,325)  (3,385) (337)
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2015

1 1
0 0 0 0 4 158
0 0 0 0 0 0
(30) 218 0 0 (196) 4,563
an 185 0 0 (107) 1,745
RMBS (6) 29 0 0 10 814
CMBS 0} 24) 0 0 ©) 215
cDo (6) 51 0 0 ®) 1,298
(34) (210) 0 0 ®) 871
11 (545) 0 0 (143) 4,831
6 (341) 0 0 (33) 791
10 32 0 0 (23) 936
) (547) 0 0 (53) 1,568
) 182 0 0 13) 4,266
(60) (355) 0 0 (355) 14,531
6 39 0 0 7 148
0 (19) 0 2) (1) 366
0 @ 0 0 ) 1,669
0 (20) 0 2) (45) 2,035
1 (207) ) (14) (152) 8,950
1 (85) ) (14) (151) 5,735
0 (85) 0 0 2 1,729
0 9 0 14 1 112
®) (208) 0 ) (276) 7,087
(13) (178) 0 ®) (266) 6,768
(61) (742) [0 @n (816) 33,021
(18) 0 0 ) 254
0 0 0 0 0
20 (697) 0 (18) (99) 4,615
13 @127) 0 0 (16) 578
1 (151) 0 0 ®) 329
48 3 0 0 [¢5)) 1,347
(43) (362) 0 0 (62) 1,757
@) (10) 0 0 D) 72
(16) (801) 0 ) 41 14,123
©) (566) 0 0 46 9,924
®) (148) 0 0 ) 3,197
11 18 8 408 ) 2,491
2 (160) 0 0 ) 454
14 (1,508) 8 385 (126) 21,555
(75) 766 12 (412) (690) 11,466
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2016
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2015
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2016 2015
(116) (119) 691 (424) 267
125 26 83 15 98
5,792
11,188
2015
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VARMC
VARMC

VARMC
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CDS
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CMBS RMBS
RMBS CMBS
CDO

CDO

0TC

CDO
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0TC

oTC

0TC

oTC
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CDS

RMBS

RMBS

RMBS
RMBS

RMBS
FICO
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ASC Topic 820 NAV
NAV
NAV
NAV
NAV
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501/771

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

NAV

NAV



US GAAP

RMBS
VIE

US GAAP
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2016 12 31 1
)
1 - - - - -
174 (bp) 10 450 259
70 - - - - -
3,977
1,674
448 ) (85) 98 23
817 () 0 117 86
101 (bp) 3 1,004 308
RMBS 605
445 () 0 47 8
() 2 30 12
() 0 10 3
() 0 100 43
120 () 21 30 26
CMBS 65 () 8 9 9
) 2 27 10
) 0 15 9
DO 1,165
195 () 7 27 15
() 0 30 10
(bp) 328 328 328
() 0 5 2
) 3 100 45
851 () 208 208 208
240 EBITDA 3 8 6
() 0 100 70
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2016 12 31 1
)

4,305

748 () 20 100 65

() 1 32 16

() @) 1 @

914 () (85) 98 21

() 2 180 32

( )2 50 100 62

)3 0 2 1

688 (bp) 0 1,635 396

) 0 45 10

() 1 45 21

) 0 33 5

) 15 100 69

) 97 97 97

) 0 13 5
4,243

3,005 () 0 116 39

882 () 3 19 8
12,765

72 - - - - -

8 - - - - -

310 - - - - -

1,588 ) 2 19 6
1,906
6,585
3,816

2,959 (bp) 5 5,400 544

852 () 0 100 51
1,829

1,588 (bp) 67 952 342

149 ) 0 550 483

138 - - - - -
1,679
1,316

760 (bp) 117 1,082 334

) 6 100 74

356 ) 0 102 78
23,390

505/771



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

Ooooooog
2015 12 31 1
)
158 (bp) 350 475 361
4,563
1,745
240 ') 87 99 17
836 ) 0 128 29
285 (bp) 134 1,408 493
RMBS 814 ') 1 36 8
') 0 27 9
) 0 20 3
) 0 100 50
CMBS 215 ) 7 8 7
) 0 23 8
) 0 16 3
) 0 32 1
) 0 75 4
CDo 1,298
66 ) 0 100 96
329 ) 1 25 11
) 0 20 14
(bp) 293 336 309
) 0 10 2
) 0 100 46
807 ) 214 214 214
871
342 ) 2 253 29
471 EBITDA 3 12 8
) 0 202 %
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2015 12 31 1
)

4,831

791 () 17 100 63

() 1 36 16

() ® 0 @

( )2 5 10 10

(bp) 130 1,687 330
936

778 ) 87 99 23

() 0 253 26

109 EBITDA 4 10 7

() 97 97 97

1,568 (bp) 1 2,349 331

() 0 60 23

() 2 50 19

() 1 35 6

() 15 100 64

() 43 97 85

() 0 12 4

(bp) 61 68 67
4,266

2,859 () 0 106 45

865 () 3 18 8
14,531

148 - - - - -

366 - - - - -

1,669 () 2 20 8
2,035
8,950
5,735

3,799 (bp) 70 2,528 474

1,146 () 0 106 65
1,729

1,451 (bp) 84 826 359

109 () 0 100 98

112 - - - - -
7,087
6,768

3,594 () 0 101 97

722 (bp) 99 3,220 515

() 1 1 1

2,251 () 0 104 76
33,021
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2016 12 31 1
)

410 - - - - -

70 - - - - -
3,737

538 (bp) () 66 33

() 20 100 57

() 1 32 9

()? 20 20 20

(bp) 237 237 237
150

65 () (10) 70 49

() 22 32 27

69 () 95 95 95

1,181 () (85) 98 23

() 2 180 28

( )3 50 100 62

851 (bp) 0 1,635 163

() 2 45 21

() 0 33 5

() 20 60 35

() 15 100 70

() 43 85 63

() 0 13 5

516 - - - - -
13,415
12,434

12,008 () (85) 99 23

() 0 180 23

( )3 50 100 62

( )? 0 2 1

) 14 w (6)

286 (bp) 1 452 89
1,684
219

163 () 0 100 68

39 () 11 29 21
19,832
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2015 12 31 1
)
254 - - - - -
4,615
578 (bp) () 53 25
() 17 100 75
( )2 5 10 8
() 0 36 9
( )3 20 20 20
(bp) 218 218 218
329 () (10) 70 54
() 24 36 30
1,347 () (D) 99 17
() 2 253 26
()* 50 100 59
1,757 (bp) 1 1,687 275
() 2 50 19
() 1 33 5
() 8 60 27
() 15 100 64
() 17 95 80
(bp) 51 68 68
() 0 12 5
72 - - - - -
14,123
9,924 () 87 99 17
() 2 253 28
( )4 50 100 59
()3 0 3 1
(bp) 153 182 177
3,197
3,183 () 0 101 97
14 () 0 87 9
2,491
454
379 ) 0 106 90
68 (bp) 571 1,687 1,425
() 7 23 15
21,555
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SPIA

CMS
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CMBS

EBITDA
EBITDA
EBITDA

NAV

10
NAV
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12 31
2016
0 0 0 0
65 1,2811 1,346 0
0 @ Q) 0
65 1,280 1,345 0
215 77 292 0
2 51 53 0
0 201 201 0
217 3293 546 0
5 0 5 20
240 0 240 42
212 0 212 50
117 0 117 58
574 0 574 170
347 637 984 218
1,138 966 2,104 388
1,203 5 2,246 6 3,449 3887
1 58 30
23 30 17 45
60
2 40 30 31
60 23 30
45
3 68 60 26
30 30
45
4 87 60
30 60
30
5 2016 2015 334 464
6 2016 2015 231
7 2016 2015 88 176
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2015
2 0 2 0
79 1,606 2 1,685 0
0 ) 6) 0
81 1,600 1,681 0
184 76 260 1
0 0 0 0
0 35 35 0
184 111 4 295 1
11 0 11 17
437 0 437 115
282 0 282 76
312 0 312 141
1,042 0 1,042 349
5 660 196 856 100
1,886 307 2,193 450
1,967 5 1,907 6 3,874 4507
1 58 30
23 30 17
60
2 40 30 31
60 23 30
45
3 68 60 26
30 30
45
4 87 60
30 60
30
5 2016 2015 334 464
6 2016 2015 231
72016 2015 88 176
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2016 2015

0.1 0.1

0.1 0.1

US GAAP
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US GAAP 2006
2006

US GAAP

2007
2007

2007

2008

US GAAP

VIE US GAAP
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2016 2015
12 31
1,276 4,495 (3,219) 1,628 5,019 (3,391)
26 25 1 2 2 0
87,331 87,208 123 83,565 83,397 168
19,528 20,144 (616) 20,820 22,289 (1,469)
1 8,369 11,296 (2,927) 23,906 30,308 (6,402)
(1,120) (1,059) (61) (913) (826) (87
(19,634)  (19,638) 4 (32,398)  (32,381) Qan
(4,061) (4,017) (44) (3,112) (3,263) 151
(72,868)  (76,123) 3,255 (80,931)  (85,335) 4,404
(727) (2,331) 1,604 (984) (2,619) 1,635
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1 171,514 121,075 49,353 1,436 171,864
374,620 199,721 174,877 0 374,598
13,382 0 13,382 0 13,382
11,324 0 11,327 0 11,327
120,448 0 122,220 521 122,741
2 62,291 1,595 60,573 125 62,293
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39,485 0 39,485 0 39,485
248,326 0 250,639 6,150 256,789
1 148,491 92,547 54,359 1,893 148,799
359,614 206,475 153,545 0 360,020
14,200 0 14,401 0 14,401
5,546 0 5,545 0 5,545
116,676 0 117,321 778 118,099
2 63,921 32 63,440 578 64,050
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5,697 11,228 16,925 284 165 17,374
(3,750) (5,987) 9,737) (338) 263 (9,812)
1,947 5,241 7,188 (54) 428 7,562
3,582 7,235 10,817 27 248 11,002
@1,192) 1,562 370 @1 (36) 313

830 597 1,427 (2,684)2 2,613 1,356
5,167 14,635 19,802 @.732) 3,253 20,323
®) 221 216 0 36 252
3,235 7,410 10,645 57 (130) 10,572
4,474 5,284 9,758 (89) 100 9,770
259 1,182 1,441 1 13 1,455
209 301 510 0 30 540
4,942 6,767 11,709 87 143 11,765
8,177 14,177 22,354 (30) 13 22,337
(3,005) 237 (.768) ,702) 3,204 (2,266)
(228) 585 357 8 76 441
Q@,717) (348) (3,125) 2,710) 3,128 Q@,707)
157 (163) ®) 0 9 3
(2,934) (185) @3.,119) 2,710) 3,119 (2,710)
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0 () (€h) 0 37 36
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(4,296) (5,694) (9,990) (330) 278 (10,042)
2,734 6,133 8,867 (53) 485 9,299
3,932 7,914 11,846 18 180 12,044
(966) 2,264 1,298 28 14 1,340
508 692 1,200 (2,969)2 2,883 1,114
6,208 17,003 23,211 (2,976) 3,562 23,797

5 271 276 0 48 324
3,805 7,718 11,523 76 (53) 11,546
2,242 6,372 8,614 (110) 70 8,574

288 1,326 1,614 1 8 1,623

0 3,797 3,797 0 0 3,797

193 132 325 0 30 355

2,723 11,627 14,350 (109) 108 14,349

6,528 19,345 25,873 (33) 55 25,895
(325) (2.613) (2,938) (2,943) 3,459 (2.422)

37 402 439 1 83 523
(362) (3,015) 3.3 (2,944) 3,376 (2,945)
143 (150) (©) 0 6 @
(505) (2,865) (3,370) (2,944) 3,370 (2,944)
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@ (O] ®) 0 2 ()
24 20 44 0 (705) (661)
@14) 0 14) 0 169 155
63 (1,162) (1,099) [¢ED) (540) (1,650)
(299) 4,177) (4,476) (2,955) 2,836 (4,595)
784 (810) (26) 0 7 19)
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6,422 12,163 18,585 228 248 19,061
(3,894) (6,014) (9,908) (316) 197 (10,027)
2,528 6,149 8,677 (88) 445 9,034
4,149 8,738 12,887 7 157 13,051
142 1,648 1,790 159 77 2,026
1,431 804 2,235 1,750 2 (1,854) 2,131
8,250 17,339 25,589 1,828 (1,175) 26,242
0 125 125 0 61 186
3,510 7,872 11,382 53 (101) 11,334
2,594 6,979 9,573 (101) 62 9,534
257 1,291 1,548 0 13 1,561
2,851 8,270 11,121 (101) 75 11,095
6,361 16,142 22,503 (48) (26) 22,429
1,889 1,072 2,961 1,876 (1,210) 3,627
727 572 1,299 1 105 1,405
1,162 500 1,662 1,875 (1,315) 2,222
0 102 102 0 0 102
1,162 602 1,764 1,875 (1,315) 2,324
580 (135) 445 0 4 449
582 737 1,319 1,875 (1,319) 1,875
582 635 1,217 1,875 (1,319) 1,773
0 102 102 0 0 102
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1,162 602 1,764 1,875 (1,315) 2,324
0 @70 @70 7 0 (20)
2,195 89 2,284 (€H) 4 2,287
0 21 21 0 [©) 12
(109) 167 58 0 (1,311) (1,253)
14 0 14 0 an (63)
2,100 250 2,350 6 (1,393) 963
3,262 852 4,114 1,881 (2,708) 3,287
694 (80) 614 0 % 540
2,568 932 3,500 1,881 (2.634) 2,747
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2,491 116,482 118,973 938 1,250 121,161
3,520 (403) 3,117 5 (2,350) 772
82,363 52,765 135,128 0 (289) 134,839
30,914 1,650 32,564 0 0 32,564
48,914 116,442 165,356 0 (206) 165,150
511 1,681 2,192 4,173 (3,876) 2,489
1,146 5,342 6,488 44,753 (44,464) 6,777
12,809 246,732 259,541 126 16,309 275,976
990 3,573 4,563 0 148 4,711
756 3,267 4,023 0 890 4,913
179 34 213 0 0 213
17,461 15,968 33,429 0 2 33,431
13,119 23,616 36,735 244 (114) 36,865
215,173 587,149 802,322 50,239 (32,700) 819,861
77 22,989 23,066 2,943 (3,210) 22,800
8 344,570 344,578 0 11,256 355,833
54,900 (21,884) 33,016 0 0 33,016
30,914 1,650 32,564 0 0 32,564
10,125 34,826 44,951 0 1) 44,930
17,110 (1,725) 15,385 0 0 15,385
41,481 145,844 187,325 5,078 912 193,315
28,706 11,146 39,852 0 0 39,852
14,992 24,842 39,834 321 (300) 39,855
198,313 562,258 760,571 8,342 8,637 777,550
17,006 23,676 40,682 41,897 (40,682) 41,897
(146) 1,215 1,069 0 (655) 414
16,860 24,891 41,751 41,897 (41,337) 42,311
215,173 587,149 802,322 50,239 (32,700) 819,861
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Inc. 1 1
5,799 84,722 90,521 942 865 92,328
70 4,883 4,953 5 (4,091) 867
105,469 17,967 123,436 0 (387 123,049
27,274 1,237 28,511 0 0 28,511
59,332 131,764 191,096 0 (359) 190,737
1,009 1,689 2,698 4,092 (3,700) 3,090
3,080 3,707 6,787 46,795 (46,561) 7,021
15,433 239,482 254,915 139 17,941 272,995
899 3,540 4,439 0 205 4,644
731 3,198 3,929 0 879 4,808
152 44 196 0 0 196
17,630 16,910 34,540 0 2 34,542
26,842 31,068 57,910 228 (121) 58,017
263,720 540,211 803,931 52,201 (35,327) 820,805
62 21,398 21,460 2,152 (2,558) 21,054
1 331,699 331,700 0 11,005 342,705
77,028 (30,430) 46,598 0 0 46,598
27,274 1,237 28,511 0 0 28,511
11,097 37,957 49,054 0 (83) 48,971
45,480 (36,823) 8,657 300 (300) 8,657
39,127 152,967 192,094 5,025 489 197,608
28,399 11,053 39,452 0 0 39,452
15,615 26,100 41,715 342 174 42,231
244,083 515,158 759,241 7,819 8,727 775,787
19,396 24,010 43,406 44,382 (43,406) 44,382
241 1,043 1,284 0 (648) 636
19,637 25,053 44,690 44,382 (44,054) 45,018
263,720 540,211 803,931 52,201 (35,327) 820,805
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9,618 17,182 26,800 (22)2 @) 26,775
(3.320) 5,178 1,858 0 (1,741) 117
18,365 (25,323) (6,958) 0 (98) (7,056)

0 (88) (88) 0 0 (88)
0 14 14 0 0 14
199 72 271 0 92 363
(355) (990) (1,345) (710) 652 (1,403)
2,067 374 1,693 0 44 1,737
3,038 (8,391) (5.353) 15 1,593 (3.745)
0 2,468 2,468 0 0 2,468
(329) (826) (1,155) 0 ©) (1,164)
50 5 55 0 0 55
27 649 676 0 73 749
19,742 (27,606) (7.864) (695) 606 (7,953)
20 9,845 9,865 792 (390) 10,267
(5,781) 12,375 6,594 (300) 300 6,594
(23,838) 9,313 (14,525) 0 0 (14,525)
1 51,955 51,956 0 1,028 52,984
(2,993) (43,623) (46,616) 0 (516) (47,132)
0 0 0 725 0 725
0 0 0 323 15,844 16,167
0 0 0 (455) (15,742) (16,197)
@ ) (10) (493) 10 (493)
(143) 1,183 1,040 93 (756) 377
(32.,735) 41,039 8,304 685 222) 8,767
67 1,145 1,212 28 4 1,244
(3,308) 31,760 28,452 0] 385 28,833
5,799 84,722 90,521 942 865 92,328
2,491 116,482 118,973 938 1,250 121,161
145 41
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10,030 4,895 14,925 129 2 14 15,068
) (928) (929) ) 1,283 349
46,634 (10,056) 36,578 0 386 36,964
0 (376) (376) 0 0 (376)
1 18 19 0 0 19
68 819 887 0 21 908
(436) (119) (555) (5,310) 5,271 (594)
1,257 638 1,895 18 25 1,938
4,074 (8,015) (3,941) 210 (1,715) (5,446)
0 1,579 1,579 0 0 1,579
(322) (765) (1,087) 0 (15) (1,102)
3 10 13 0 0 13
33 369 402 0 7 409
51,311 (16,826) 34,485 (5,087) 5,263 34,661
(1,355) (27,402) (28,757) (475) 83 (29,149)
10,090 (28,238) (18,148) 300 (300) (18,148)
(35,303) 13,154 (22,149) 0 0 (22,149)
8,511 68,372 76,883 0 975 77,858
(41,953) (6,966) (48,919) (30) (416) (49,365)
0 0 0 6,035 0 6,035
0 0 0 3 18,749 18,752
0 0 0 (1,044) (18,717) (19,761)
® @) (10 (415) @ 427
(497) 5,286 4,789 608 (5,211) 186
(60,510) 24,199 (36,311) 4,982 (4,839) (36,168)
18 (596) (578) 1 ®) (582)
849 11,672 12,521 25 433 12,979
4,950 73,050 78,000 917 432 79,349
5,799 84,722 90,521 942 865 92,328
35
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Inc.

(12,071) (6,129) (18,200) 609 2 (29) (17,620)

1,221 (1,948) (727) 0 1,002 275

(8,956) 20,633 11,677 0 8 11,685
0 (1,060) (1,060) (2,217) 2,217 (1,060)

103 15 118 0 812 930

0 187 187 0 153 340
(663) (565) (1,228) (1,352) 1,316 (1,264)

1,228 291 1,519 3 31 1,553
2,712 (26,402) (23,690) 2,482 (2,396) (23,604)

0 1,255 1,255 0 0 1,255
317) (726) (1,043) 0 (13) (1,056)

0 1 1 0 0 1

(11) 612 601 (10) 15 606
(4,683) 7,707) (12,390) (1,094) 3,145 (10,339)

(168) 27,305 27,137 (669) (428) 26,040

17,791 (14,282) 3,509 0 0 3,509
(3,894) (27,107) (31,001) 0 0 (31,001)

6,607 67,543 74,150 2,217 (2,208) 74,159
(2,563) (35,308) (37,871) 0 1,400 (36,471)

0 0 0 297 0 297

0 0 0 0 9,394 9,394
0 0 0 (742) (9,455) (10,197)
(1,154) 1,070 (84) (1,125) (43) (1,252)
(790) 302 (488) 609 (1,313) (1,192)

15,829 19,523 35,352 587 (2,653) 33,286

525 5,002 5,617 20 153 5,790
® (452) (460) 0 0 (460)

(408) 10,327 9,919 122 616 10,657

5,358 62,723 68,081 795 (184) 68,692

4,950 73,050 78,000 917 432 79,349

150 113
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42
41
43 US GAAP GAAP
US GAAP
FINMA US GAAP IFRS
GAAP
FINMA 2015 GAAP
US GAAP
GAAP
US GAAP
US GAAP
AOCI GAAP
US GAAP AOCI
GAAP
GAAP
US GAAP

GAAP
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US GAAP
AOCI

AOCI

GAAP

US GAAP

GAAP

US GAAP

AOCI

GAAP

US GAAP GAAP

US GAAP

GAAP
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US GAAP AOCI
GAAP

US GAAP (i) (i)
(i)

GAAP

US GAAP
GAAP

US GAAP

GAAP 10

US GAAP

GAAP 10

US GAAP

GAAP

US GAAP
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GAAP

US GAAP

GAAP

US GAAP GAAP
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US GAAP

GAAP GAAP FER 26

US GAAP

GAAP

US GAAP

GAAP

US GAAP

GAAP
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AG
- (2013 )  CO0SO
AG
2016 12 31
1
2
3
- (2013 )
C0S0 2016 12 31
2016
2015 12 31 2016 12 31

2017 24
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2017 24
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AG
2016 12 31
@
12 31
2016 2015
186 21,146 185 21,033
468 53,207 444 50,478
176 20,009 197 22,397
830 94,363 826 93,908
747 84,926 461 52,411
55 6,253 75 8,527
138 15,689 154 17,508
22 2,501 3 341
962 109,370 693 78,787
/C ) (132) (15,007) 133 15,121
8 0 0 7 796
/C ) (132) (15,007) 140 15,917
15 1,705 16 1,819
/C ) @47) (16,712) 124 14,098
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()
2016 12 31 2015 12 31
943 107,210 894 101,639
220 25,012 204 23,193
172 19,555 249 28,309
10 88 10,005 95 10,801
1,423 161,781 1,442 163,941
11 4,253 483,524 4,140 470,677
12 48,014 5,458,712 47,327 5,380,607
52,267 5,942,235 51,467 5,851,283
53,690 6,104,016 52,909 6,015,224
13 3,201 363,922 2,721 309,350
32 3,638 4 455
14 125 14,211 137 15,576
3,358 381,771 2,862 325,381
15 5,149 585,390 4,988 567,086
311 35,358 311 35,358
5,460 620,747 5,299 602,443
8,818 1,002,518 8,161 927,824
16 84 9,550 78 8,868
23,364 2,656,253 23,108 2,627,149
1,800 204,642 1,800 204,642
25,164 2,860,895 24,908 2,831,791
17 3,929 446,688 3,929 446,688
3,929 446,688 3,929 446,688
10,500 1,193,745 10,500 1,193,745
5,344 607,559 5,220 593,462
/C ) 147) (16,712) 124 14,098
15,697 1,784,502 15,844 1,801,304
18 ©) 27) 11) (1,251)
@ (227) (11) (1,251)
44,872 5,101,498 44,748 5,087,400
53,690 6,104,016 52,909 6,015,224
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AG
12 31
50
cs
AG cs
AG  100% (i) - AG 100%
AG AG
cs
AG GAAP
2017 31

32
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2016 2015 2016 2015

1.02 0.99 0.99 0.96
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2016 2015
290 283
146 31
30 120
2 0
0 10
468 444
2016 2015
92 104
55 74
28 19
1 0
176 197
2016 2015
415 145
324 314
7 1
1 1
747 461
2016 2015
36 41
13 28
6 6
55 75
2016 2015
92 101
46 53

138 154
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2016 2015
0 7
0 7

2016 2015
212 199
8 5
220 204

2016 2015
62 70
19 18
7 7
88 95

1.0

2016 2015
4,126 3,999
1 1
126 140
4,253 4,140
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12
() ) « )
2016 12 31

100 100 AG 30.0
26 26 BSC(C) ( ) 50.0
100 100 SA 0.0
100 100 AG 4,399.7
100 100 0.2

Ltd.
100 100 I Ltd. 0.2
100 100 I Ltd. 0.1
100 100 IV Ltd. 0.1
100 100 0.0

Ltd.
100 100 0.1

Ltd.

1 1
43 0 ( Y, Inc 550.0
22 22 12,366.1
1 1 1
00 00 26 0

100 100 AG 5.0
100 100 2.0
100 100 CS LP AG 0.1
100 100 3.0
100 100 26 134.1
88 88 AQ 7.5

SECB
25 25 GmbH 30.0
67 3 50 AECS GmbH 0.1

57 100 AG
98
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13
12 3 2016 2015
2,043 2,399
258 322
3,201 2,721
14
12 31 2016 2015
54 60
50 56
21 21
125 137
15
AG
Tier CET 5.125
FINMA
AG
FINMA

572/771



12 31

16

2015

2015
2016

2015
2016
2016

2015
2016

2015

2016
2016

2016
2016
2016

300.0
115.1

12

12

12

12

12

12
12

12

12
12

31

31

31

31

31

31
31

31
29

31
31
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2016 2015
290 6.0 2013 2018 290 290
2,250 7.5 2013 12 11 2023 12 11 2,302 2,225
2,500 6.3 2014 18 2024 12 18 2,557 2,473
5,149 4,988
1,957,379,244 78,295,170
400,000,000 16,000,000
400,000,000 * 16,000,000
30,000,000 1,200,000
(30,000,000) (1,200,000) 30,000,000 1,200,000
0 0
150,000,000 6,000,000
150,000,000 2 6,000,000
128,773,601 5,150,944
131,226,399 5,249,056
(27,000,000) (1,080,000) 27,000,000 1,080,000
(75,518,134) (3,020,725) 75,518,134 3,020,725
157,481,866 6,299,275
2,089,897,378 83,595,895
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17

12015 12 31

2

18

2016
2015

2016
2016

2015
2014

2015
2015

2016 12 31

12 31

12 31

2016 13
2016

12 31

12 31

2015
2015 19
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OOooOoOoOoo
2016 2015
( (
) )
5,408,246 117 7,383,491 185
(624,043) (13) (938,896) (24)
0 0 5,408,246 117
(1,415,541) 3D (624,043) (13)
0.3
0.06% 1,244,983 :18
/)
( ( ( )
) )
11 501,978 22.82
23 (464) (34,690, 841) 14.05
455 34,331,397 13.24
23 © (359, 444)
2 142,534 13.12
: 20.10
- 12.47
7 283,167 25.08
119 (1,039) (44,429,161) 26.06
1,043 44,647,972 23.37
119 4 218,811
11 501,978 22.82
: 28.68
: 18.85
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19
2016 2015
12 31
« H» C ® «cH» O ®
1
Ltd.2 335 13 16.03 313 13 15.99
Ltd 2 113 5 5.39 —3 —3 —3
107 4 5.14 — 3 — 3 —3
2
— 3 — 3 — 3
GmbH 107 4 5.10
1 12 31 ADS
2 0.5
0.5
3
AG
20
12 31 2016 2015
74,383 66,595
1 74,383 66,595
1 2016 12 31 22,637 2015 12 31 15,121
(TLAC)
AG
AG AG
GAAP
FER 26
21
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2016 2015

938 889

216 201

172 249

87 95

1,413 1,434
4,252 4,139
48,014 47,327
52,266 51,466
53,679 52,900
3,201 2,721

24 2

50 57

3,275 2,780
3,275 2,780

2016 2015

4,233 4,106
4,233 4,106
5,170 5,009
5,170 5,009

oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

oOoOooodn
23
2015 12 31 2016 12 31
! ( ) ( )
2016 12 31
81,927 956,854 1,038,781 19,218,952 13,979,637
L 262,706 960,430 1,223,136 17,584,172 13,107,481
3,614 342,802 346,416 6,496,732 5,008,337
286,688 298,820 585,508 5,513,136 4,070,471
109,013 692,600 801,613 14,516,015 10,118,886
17,640 198,863 216,503 3,907,775 2,905,388
64,318 243,555 307,873 4,577,173 3,430,375
40,282 264,939 305,221 4,916,102 3,753,931
R 70,573 515,650 586,223 9,322,737 7,013,704
32,345 247,226 279,571 4,759,240 3,521,532
244,895 727,512 972,407 13,138,543 10,045,960
92,043 277,851 369,894 5,252,574 3,844,714
1,306,044 5,727,102 7,033,146 109,203,151 80,800,416
2015 12 31
— 677,368 677,368 14,322,470 14,692,112
L 118,982 601,098 720,080 13,448,466 13,037,816
— 73,307 73,307 1,885,249 1,590,029
219,539 122,417 341,956 2,727,390 2,655,225
— 79,034 79,034 1,843,536 1,714,247
— 98,344 98,344 2,174,771 2,133,081
13,358 99,516 112,874 2,098,706 2,158,502
R 35,063 215,170 250,233 4,793,822 4,667,037
17,099 97,982 115,081 2,124,889 2,125,230
P 29,079 579,567 608,646 13,521,795 12,570,808
5,992 406,124 412,116 9,145,242 8,808,830
29,313 158,244 187,557 3,658,283 3,432,312
468,425 3,208,171 3,676,596 71,744,619 69,585,229
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2016 12 31 2015 12 31
2016 2015
197,861 244,868
J J 35,809 26,404
38,287 25,120
70,883 52,998
7,865 —
N 81,746 60,944
96,318 75,799
19,700 4,653
226,362 209,434
7,865 —
82,803 65,601
E 225,038 194,089
140,910 107,866
1,231,447 1,067,776 2
27 2015 12 31 6,850
2016 2015
( (
) )
135 1,973 136 2,957
135 1,973 136 2,957
AG
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2016

5,344
(147)
5,197
5,197
5,197

2016

23,108
2015 (1,388)
1,644

23,364

2016 0.70 1 (1,463)
21,901

12,089.8 - - 2016 12 31
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Consolidaled financial statemenls - Credil Suisse Group 253
Conschdated financial statements

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated statements of operations

08
Congohidsted sislements of optsaloms (CHF millsoa
Bipleevenoes 20,323 T 247
Provision Sol cedid brases [ 282 T4 185
Tokal operaling e xpecses 22,337 25 s AT
[ Hbers] B £ el opeiations Belots Liaes (2268  (2.427) 1827
Incomeilars] hom < g op @men 2R 228
Hetincomedloss) 2,700 (2845 pE )
Hetincome/dloss) stributshle bo shareholde s 2.0 28 1878

e Opetation

Basie sarnings per thase (CHF |
Basie sarnings. (loish par shae 14 {1.32) {1,73) 1,08
Hiduded paanings pes share (CHF)
Diduted eminings/ilass) pei share | (132} (L7 104
Consolidated statements of comprehensive income

Mg b
Comprebensive incoms. Toval (CHT million)

i o £

Comprehensive Incomeloss) 2] (8505 1287
Comprehensive incomeeioss) atinbutable o shaehobdens (28227 (45T 2747

The accompanyng noles fo the consaldated financial slaternerts are an integral part of these statements
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Corsolidated financial staternents

Consolidated balance sheets
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Bssebs {CTHF milloai

Tetal annals

The accompanyng notes 1o the consohidated firancial statements are an integral part of these statements
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Consolidaled financial statemenls - Credil Suisse Group 255
Conschdated financial statements

Consolidated balance sheets (continued)

e
Lisbibties and squity {CHF millon
5 '
B %
ot ¥

py 2
Tote HabSnes TFT 550 TrsTay
Totsd shatehoider s’ equity AN EET 44087
Total squity 4231 45018
Toks NabSSes and sguily &18,851 &30 80N

A ditsonl st @ inlonmabon

The accompanyng noles fo the consaldated financial slaternerts are an integral part of these statements
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Corsolidated financial staternents

Consolidated statements of changes in equity
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TO0E (CHF million b

Baance st beginning of pered T4
Pt ol o
=

Balance atend of peried E-2d
0N (CRT .mﬂlon?
Balsnce st beginning of peised -1
Flichats o wirsde v Sharet from fur

LS Ll

el - -

Balance at end of periad T&

The accompanyng notes 1o the consohidated firancial statements are an integral part of these statements

11825 20,118

nan 25054

27 007 32,083

1825 20,139
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(16,6385

(18,273

(15,003
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Total

nhare.
by’ Total
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41,887 a4 423N
43808 1,082 4001
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Consolidaled financial statemenls - Credil Suisse Group 257
Conschdated financial statements

Consolidated statements of changes in equity (continued)

FON4 (CHF million)

Balance atbeginrng of persd L] 27,853
i i ANprE] ST
{ subsiclary thaies t
2]
fiFa ! .
¥ =
Balance atend of parid &4 27,007

30,261

2,083

(128

(e

Tokal
nhare-
Bepldary’
quity

£158,878) a7, 164

15,003k 43,000

The accompanyng noles fo the consaldated financial slaternerts are an integral part of these statements
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Corsolidated financial staternents

Consolidated statements of cash flows
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Op#rating scbnilies of coninuing operabana {CHF milon)
Het income brss)
v e Sarord | o ot ol 1

Income/(kess) leom conlinuing operations

Adjustmeents 10 reconcile met comeloss) 1o netcash provided bydused in)
opel sting actintes of continding operabons (CHF mallion)

Het cash provided bpifused @0 opel sty b iiaties ol continung op sations
Inveshing nctivibes of continuing operations (CHE millien)

et cash pravided byfunved in) mve sing acErities of contnaing cperatian

The accompanyng notes 1o the consohidated firancial statements are an integral part of these statements
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Consolidaled financial statemenls - Credil Suisse Group 259
Conschdated financial statements

Consolidated statements of cash flows (continued)

! TR il FORL
Financing s bvitios of comtinuing sperations (CHF mallion)

I i T ¥ 1 4 4
¥ e il 1-3a0rra e ' 5 i L
& 4 = i Sunals purchiase i
Fehia I o T o £z 1
ahied of g wok AT i
ST LTy e 1 - i i
TR R | i
Eere pi g | tragaury o & 197 ¥

Hetcash provided by/Oused in) Baand ing sctiviies of contnuing opsiabions 8,767 (36.1648) 3288

EHect of @xhang# rale Chispes on cash bl doe Do basos {CHF mdlleonl

EMpctof pachangs rate changes on cash and dos hom Sanks 1,244 (B 5,790

et canh provided hy:.-n,uudm_u dincontinued opataien (CHF millan)

et cash provided by/used in) dsconnued operatons [ [ (H50

ll.llrh..l n;u.--:dn:u.n.:ul r;l-lelull mnd due from l;....nr-: HF millien) ) B T

Mot mcreassidecreasa) in cash and due h'?lm banks 0,055 14 1087
it i e 3k Doyt i foeaind e 4 :

Cash and dus from benks ot end ol petiod 121,181 o dar s} Tadd4a

Supplemental cash flow information

¥ e kD Soid

Canh pald for mscome tanes and terest (CHF million)

JAvnehy acquired snd Eshilition d in Bayimans 3¢ quidBony (CHF sdliony

K iats and Babiktien wold in burine s dives $hi e (CHF million)

The accompanyng noles fo the consaldated financial slaternerts are an integral part of these statements

586/771



260

Consolidated financial slalements - Credil Suisse Group

Motes to the consoldated financial staternents
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Summary of significant accounting policies

The accompanying consclidated financal statements of Credd
Suisse Groaup AG (the Group) are prepared in accordance with
accownting prnciphes generally accapled n the US (US GAAP)
and are staled n Swiss franes (CHF)L The fnancal year for the
Group ends on December 31, Cerfain reclassifications hune bean
made 1o the pried year's consolidated financial statements to
confarm be the current preserdabion which had no mpact on net
incarmeaioss) af tofal sharshaldars’ squily.

In preparing the consolidated financal statements, manage-
el s requined to make astimates and assumptions including, but
reat limded o, the © fair value measuremants of certan financial
assats ard labities, the alewance for ban losses, the svalu-
tian of vamable rderas! entites (VIES), the smpasment of assels
other than loans, recagnian of defersed tax assals, tax uncar-
fandies, pension Eabildies and vanous contngencies, These eshi-
mabes and assumptions affect the repared amaurts of assats and
kabiitses and the dischsure of contingent assets and kabdites as
of the dates of the conscldated bakance shests and the reparled
amounts of revenwes and expenses duning the reporting perod,
Whila managemen! avaliates its eslimates and assumplions an
an engaing bass, actual results could difer materially from man-
agemen's estimates. Market condilions may intrease the fsk and
complexity of the pdgments applied n these asbimates,

Principles of consolidation

The censolidated financal slatements nclude the fnancial state-
ments of the Group and ds subsidaries. The Group's subsdianes
are antities i which it holds, dirsctly o indwectly, mare than B0%
of the veling nghis or whens # enercises control, The Group con-
sohdates bmiled partnersheps i cases where @ & the genesl part-
reer and the lmited pariners do nol have ether substantive lock out
rights and.far substantve participating rights o i3 a bnded partner
with substantee nghls to kick out the general partner of dissole
{he parinership and partepate in significant decisions made in the
ordinary course of business. The Group alse consolidates VIEs
whese the Group 5 the primary beneficary in accandance with
Accounting Slandards Codification (A5C) Topie 810 — Consobda-
tian, The effects of materal imtercompany transactions and bal-
ances ke been ebmirated

Whera a Group subsidiarny = a saparate agal entily and delar-
mined 1o be an imestment company as defined by ASC Topic 945
— Firancial Serdces — Ivasimant Companies, mberests o olher
enbibes held by this Growp subsidiary are nol consolidated and are
carmizd at fair vk,

Group entilies thal qualify as broker-dealer entlies as defined
by ASC Tepic 840 — Financial Sarvices — Brokers and Dealers da
ot consolidate irvestments in voting merest entities that would
alherense gualfy for consebdation when the imestment o hald on
a ternporary basis for irading purpesas. in addion, subsidiasies
hat wre stiategee componars of a braker-deabar's sparaliens are
consohdated regardless of holding inbend,

Foreign currency translation

Transactwong denommated n currencias olher than the functional
currency of the refated enfity ane recorded by remeasuring them
in W funetonal currency of the relited antity using the forelgn
exchange rate on the date of the transaction, As of the dates of
the conseldated balince sheets, monetary assels and Eabdiees,
such as recenvables and payables, ate reporled using the year-
end spel forelyn exchange rates. Foreayn exchange rate deffar
ences am recorded in dhe consabdaled slatements of aperations,
MNea-monatary a3satd and kabililies are recorded using the hastene
exchange rate.

For the purpese of conslidabion, the assets and habities of
Group comparss with funclional currencies olher than the Swiss
frane are fransted ks Swiss frane equivalants using year-end
spat foreign exchange rates, whereas revenues and expenses
are lranstaled using the weighed semge foreigh exthange rabe
for the year. Transiation adjustments ansing from consolidation
are included in accurmulated sthar comprebenshe inbomeloss)
[ACRCI) withen {elal shareholders’ equity. Cumulaive ranstation
adpstments are released from AOCH and recorded in the con-
solidated statements of operations when the Group deposes and
Iases contral of a consabdated foreign subsidary.

Fair value measurement and option

The fair value measurement gudance establishes a single st hon-
tative defindion of faif value and sets oul a framewark for measur-
iy fair value. The far value eption creates an allerrative measure-
enerd treatmeant for comain financal aasels and fnancial kabdties.
The fair vabse optan can be elected 2t indal recagnition of the
aligble iter of 3 the date when the Group anters inld an agies-
rverd which gives rise to an ehigible dem (2.g.. a fem commitment
or & writlen lean commitment) If not elecled at milal recogntion,
the far valee option can be applied to an ibem upon cerlain ing-
genng everds that give ras bo a new bass of accounting for that
e, The apphcation of the far value option te a financial assel or
a firareial labity does not chamge 13 chssbeation an the face of
the balance sheel and the election is irevocabls. Changes n fair
vathie resulting fram the electsn an recorded i frading reverues.

Cash and dus from banks

Cash and due from banks censists of curency on hand, demand
depasts with banks or ether financial nstiutions and cash equaa-
lents. Cash equivalents are defined as short-term, haghly liquid
nstruments with anginal matunties of three months or less, which
are held for cash management purposes.

Reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements

Purchases of seciglies under redale agreements (O reverse
repurchase agreements) and sacunties sold under agreements
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fo repurchase substardaly identical securies (o repurchase
agreaments) S nat constiule economic Sales and are theretare
freated a3 coladerakred finanding transactions and are carried in
the cansohdated balance sheel at the amount of cach dubursed
of recaned, respectively. Reverss repurchase agreements are
recorded as collaterakzed assets whis repusthase agreemants are
recorded as kabdites, with the urderlying securties sold corfin-
ing 1o be recognized intrading assels of mmvesiment secunties, The
fair valus of secunitss bo be repurchased and resold i3 monkored
ana daily basis, and additional collaberal i3 obtaned as neaded ta
peodect aganst credd exposue,

Aggels and kabilties recerded under these agreements are
accourted for an one of two bases, the accrual basts or the far
value basis. Under the accrual basis, inferest earned on reverss
repurchase agrements and neres! incurmed on répunchass agree-
mants are raparted in interast ard diddend income and inberast
eapenss, respectively, The far value basi of accounting may be
alacted pursuant to ASC Topie B25 - Francal Instruments, and
any resulting change in far vakue i reporied in trading revernsas.
Azerued mleresl income and éxpanss are reconded in the same
manner as under the acerual methed. The Group has elecled the
fair value basss of accounling on some of is agreements.

Reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements are netted if
they are with the same courterpary, hinee the sarme maturty date,
setthe through the same cleaning instiulion and ane subject to the
aning erforceable master nallng sipFeement.

Securities lending and barrowing ransactions

Securilies borrowed and securflies loaned that are cash-colller-
alzed are included in the consebdated balince shests al ameunts
equal fo the cash advanced or recenved, i securdies recened in
a secunties lardmg and bormowing tiansactien as collateral may
be sold or repledged, they are recorded as secunties recened as
coliateral in the consoldated batance sheet and a comesponding
lability to return the secunty & recorded, Securtes lending ftrans-
aclions againsd ren-cash collateral in which the Greup has the
nght 1o resell or repladge the colderal recened are recorded at
the Far valie of the collateral indially raceived. For sseurfbes lend-
ing transactions, the Group recetes cash or saowrilies colateral
i an amaunt generally in excess of the markel value of secun-
fhees barl. The Greup monilors the fair value of securities borrewed
ard loaned an a daly basis with addibaral colateral oblaned as
necessary,

Feas and inerest recabied of pad ane recarded in meres] and
dividend income and inferest expense, respectivaly, on an accrual
bagis. If the fair value basis of accounting is elected, any result-
ing changs in far value is reported in trading revenues, Accrued
mtarast income and axpenss ara recorded in the same manner as
under the accrual methad.

Transfers of financial assels

The Group transfers vanous fnancal assels, which may redull in
the =ale of these asseis o special purpese entilles (SPEs), which
i b gdue ecuming 1o i slors. The Group values i3 bereheial
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nderasts ab fair vahee wng quoted market prices, if such posttions
are fraded on an aclne exclangs o firancial medels that inceipo-
rate abservable and unobservable mputs,

Trading assets and liabilities

Trading assels and kabildies include debt and equily secunties,
dernative instruments, certam loans beld n broker-deales entflies,
cammadilies and pracious metals. Hems included in the trading
portfolic are carned at fair valee and classhed as held for trading
puiposes based on managemerd's mbenl, Regularway sacusity
transactans are recorded on @ trade-date basis. Unreakred and
realued gaing and losses on trading pastians are recorded in tad-
I fEvEnues,

Freastanding o dervabhe contrects ane camed af far value in the
conschdated balance sheels regardiess of whether these insiru-
riveids ane held for trading of fsk mansgement puiposes. Con-
ritments to ongnate mortgage kans that will be held for sale are
considarsd darvatives for accounting purposes. 'Whan demvalive
features embedded in certan contracts that meet the defintion
of & dathabive are nol comnsadened claarly and clasely relabed o the
host cortract, either the embedded featuwe is accounted for sapa-
rately al fair value of the enbire condract, inchding the embedded
featwre, & accounled for at far vakie, In both cases, changes in
fasr value are recorded in the consolidalad stalaments of opera-
tiens, If separabed for measuremaent purposes, the dermatve i3
rezarded in the same line ftem o the cansobdaied batance shests
as the host contract

Demvvalives classified 23 trading assats and labilfies inckids
thasa held for trading purposes and thase used for nisk manage-
e purposes that do nal qually for hedge accounting, Derrva-
trves held for trading purposes anise from proprietary trading actor-
ity and from customer-based aclhly. Realzed gains and losses,
changes in unrealized gains and losses and inberes! flows are
inzluded w trading revenues, Dervalive contiacts desyrated and
qualifying as fair vake: hedges, cash fiow hedges or nel mestment
hedges are reparted a3 clher assets o other kabilfes,

The fair value of exchange-traded demvatives is typically
dered from observable marke! prces andfer obsenable markel
parameters, Fair values for © over-the-counter [OTC) dervatives
ate datermintd an the basis of proprstary models using vanous
mput parameters. Demvalve confracts are recorded ona nel bass
per countarparty, where an anforceabls master neling sgresmen
exasts, Where no swch agreement exsts, far vales ane recorded
an @ gross basis.

Where hedge accourling @ appbed, the Group fermally docu-
mems all relationships between hedging nstruments and hadged
tems, inchding the nsk management chiectives and slrategy for
undertaking hedge transactions. A meaplion of & hedge and on
an engoing basis, the hedge relationship 1s farmally assassed
o determine whethar the dervatives that are wsed in hadging
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fransactions are highly effectie in offsetting changes in far values

o cash fiows of hedged femi altributable to the hedged nik. The

Giroup discentinues hedge accourting prospectively i the fallow-

ing elreumatantes:

() the demadon is na knger affectie in offseting changes in the
fair vakie or cash flows of a hedged fem (including ferecasiad
transacbans);

(8] the derratiie sxpres of i3 seld, bermated of exerciaed;

{m) the dernalees & no lenger dessgnated as a hedgang instrument
because it is unlikely that the forecasied ransaetien will accur;
o

(1) the desgration of the dedvalve a3 & hedging imstrment 8
olherwise no longer approgriate.

Fer desrvalives that e dessgrabed and qualify as fair vake hedges,
he carrying value of the urdetlying hadged Rems i adjusted ta
fair value for the risk being hedged. Changes in the fair value of
{hease dersative s are recorded in the same bne fem of the consali-
dated statements of operalions as the change in fair value of the
risk bemg hedged for the hedged assets or labities to the exfent
the hedge is effectve. The changs in far value represanting hedge
inaffecinvenass is recorded sepamiely in tradng revenuss.

When the Group discontinues fair value hedge accounting
becaise it determinas That the dervative no lnger quakfies as an
effective fair value hedge, the dersvatve will confinue te be carned
i the consalidated bakance sheels at s far value, and the hedgad
assed or kadildy will ne knger be adjusted for changes in far value
attributable 1o the hedged risk. (mterest-relted fair valus adpst-
ments made fo the underying hedged fems wil be amartized to
{he corsebdated stalaments of eperations sver the rermaimng Ife
of the hedged item. Ary unamartized nteresi-relaled fair value
adjustment o recended in the consobdated statements of opera-
fiors upon sale of exdingushment of the hedged asset or kabity,
raspactieely. Ary oiher fair value hadge adjustimants ramain parl of
the carrying amaunt of the hedged asset or labddy and are recog-
rzed in the consalidated stalements of operations wpon disposi-
tian of the hedged tem as part of 1he gain o lbss on disposiion.

For hedges of the varabily of cash fows from forecasiad
fransactions and floaling rmte assets or kabities, the effecinve par-
tian of the change in the fair valee of a designated dedvalsm is
recerded in AQCIH These amounts are reclassified intd the line
flem in the consalidated statements of operations in which the
hedged dem is recorded when the varable cash flow from the
hedged Bem impects sarmngs (for example, whan paradie sabtle-
menks on & vanable rate asset or Eabdilty are recorded in the con-
soldated statements of cperations or when the hedged item is
disposed of). The change in fair value representing hedge naffec-
{hvanass is recorded separately im trading revenies,

‘When hedge accouniing is discontinued on a cash flow hedge,
A ried g of bass will remain in ADC) ard be reckassified inte the
consolidated statemants of operations n the same paricd or per-
ods dunng which the formerdy hadged transaction & raparted in the
consohdated stalements of operations. When the Group disconin-
uas hadge accounting because it is probable thal a forecasted
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tranaxction will mat occur within the specified date or peried plus
twa rarths, the dervative will carlinue to be camied in the con-
solidated balarce sheets at ds far vadue, ard gains and lesses that
ware prevausly recorded in ADC] will be reeognzed enmediataly i
the consolidated stalemerts of operations.

For hedges of & nel ivestment n & foregn operalan, the
charge in the fair value of the hedgng dervalve = recorded in
ADC to the extent the hedge is effective. The change in fair value
representing hedge meffectneness is recorded n fradng reve-
nues. The Group uses the forward method of delermining affec-
treeness for net investment hedges. which results in the fime value
portsan of a foregn curtency fanward being repeded in AQC] ta the
extent the hedge & affecive

Investmenl securities

Imestmant sscuriies include dobl sacurilies classified as hald-lo-
malurily and debt and marketable equty securties clissfied as
sailable-for-sale. Reguarway seeurity transactions are recoided
on atrade-date bass,

Debl secizitios whene The Group has the pesive intent and
abiity to hold such secunties to malurly are ¢lassified as such and
are carried ol amortizad cost, nel of ary unamarized premium or
discount,

Dbt and equily secunties classified as available-for-sale are
carried at fair value, Unrealzed gains and losses, wheh represenl
the differance batween far value and amenized codt, e redorded
n A0C1. Amourts reparted in A0C) are pet of inceme taxes.

Amartization of premiums o discaunts is recorded in interast
ard dridend income using the effectne yield method through the
enalurily date of the secuily.

Recognition of an mmpaiment on debl secunties & recoeded in
the conseldated stabements of cperabing if a deckre o fair valie
below amortzed cast s considered other-ihan-lempararny, that is,
ameurts due according 19 the contractual beemd of the securly
are nob canaidered callectible, typesally due to detenaration in the
creditworhiness of the issuer. No impairment = recorded in con-
mection with dechines resulling from changes in irerest rabes to
the axtent the Group doas nol iMend o sel the vestments, nor
5 i mare likely than not that the Group will ba required to sel the
irvestments before the recovedy of their amortized cost bases.
which may be matury

Recogrtion of an mpaimeant on aqully securiles is recorded
in the consclidated statemerds of operations if a declne in fair
vahme balow the cost bass of an mestman! = consdened olhe-
than-temporary. The Group generally considers unrealized bsses
an equily securties 1o be ofherthan-temperary if the fair valus has
baen bekw cost for mare than six menths o has decreased by
mane Than 210% badow eost.

Recognition of an imparment far debl or equity secuntes
establishes o new cost basts, which i3 not adusted far subsequent
LS,

Unrealzed losses on svadable-for-sake secunties aré recog-
nized in the consalidaled stalerments of operations when a decision
has baen made to sed a security,
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Other investments

Dther imedtments include equiy method mvestments and non-
marketable equily securises such as preate equity, hedge funds,
ard restricted slock mestments, cerlain imestments in non-mmar-
ketabla mutwal funds for which the Group has neither signdicant
influance por canted over the iredies, real astale hald for invest-
ment and the ke fimance business.

Equty methad mvestments ane imastments where 1he Group
s the abdty 1o significantly influence the operatmng ard financial
palicies of an imestes. Sinficant mflusnce i typieally charete-
wed by ownership of 20% to 50% of the woling steck or in-sub-
Hance comman stock of a corporation or 5% or mare of lmiled
parimership interests. Equty methed mvestments are accounted
for under the equy melhsd of acceunting of the fair vakis aption.
Urder the equily melhod of accounting, the Group's share of the
peafit or laaa, and any impairment on the ivestes, if appheable i
reporied in other revenues, Under the far value oplion, changes in
fair vakee are reparted in other revenoes, The Group has elecled
the far value basis of acccunting on some of s equily method
ivesirnent s,

The Group's ether nan-marketable equty securdies are car-
nad at cast less othar-than-temparary impairment or at far valos
ehected under the far value option, Nen-marketable equily secu-
ties held by the Group's subsadiaries that are determined 1o be
mvesiment compares as defined by ASC Topk 348 - Financial
Sarvices — Imvesimanl Companies are carned al far value, with
changes in faxr vake recorded in other revenues

Equity methoed imestments and non-marketable squity sscu-
fies held by brokerdealer entibies as defined by ASC Tope: 940
- Financial Sesvices — Brakers and Dealars are menswed at far
wvalue and reported in trading assels when the inlard of the broker-
dealer enldy i3 ta hold the assel lemporarly for tradng purpesss.
Changes in fair value are reporied in trading revenues.

Real astate hald for i stment purposes is carried al cost less
accumubiled depreciation and is depreciated over its estimaled
wsaful He, ganerally 40 1o 6T years. Land &= camed at historeal
cosl and s not depreciated. These assets are tested for impairment
annually, oF eote Feguantly, f svenls o changes in evcumstances
indacabe that the carrymg amount may mol be recoverable. Recagni-
fian of an mpairment on such assels establshes a new cost base,
which s nat adjusted for subsequant recoveres in value,

In eannection with the ife firance businass, the Group mesis n
sngle premium immediate annuities (SPLA), which are camied ab far
ki velth the related far vakee changes epared i lEadeng mvenuss.
The Ife finance busness also imests n e ssitlement confracts.

Laans.

Loans, which the Group intends to hold until maturdy, ane carred
at aulstanding princpal balances plus aceruad miterast, nat of he
falkrwing Hems: uramorized premiums, discounts on purchased
loans, deferred lean sngination fess and direcl lsan orignation
costs on angnated loans, Inerest meome 18 accrued on the unpad
prncpal batance and nel defered premivmaduccus and fees/
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casts are amaortzed as an admstment fo the kan peld over the
bt of the retided loans

Loans ane dwided in two partfolo sagments, “consumer” and
‘eorporate & institutional’. Consumer laans we dissggregated mbo
the chasses of morgages, kans collateraloed by secunties and
cansuimer Baance. Corporale & inslilitsanal loans are disagare-
galed into the classes of real estate, commercial and indust rial
lans, firancal instilitiens and governments and publi instilutions.

Lease financing transactions where the Group i the lessor are
chassified as loans. Unearred incoma & amortzed ta interest and
dradend moome aver The leass term usng the elective intarest
eathad,

In aceordance with Graup policles, impaired lbans include mon-
perfarming lbans, non-interest-sarnng lbans, restructured lans
and potential problem kans,

The allowarce for lban lasses @ camprised of the fallowng com-
pomerts: probabde credil losses mberent n the portfalio and those
Insses specifically dentdied. Changes in the allowance for loan
lesses am recorded o the consobdated satemants of operations
i provision for credd losses and in interast meome (for provisions
on past due inferest),

The Gioup svahuates mary factars when estimaling the aflow-
ance for loan leases, ncluding the velatilty of defaull probabilties,
rating thanges, the magnitude of patenlzl less, mbernal ndk ral-
ngs, and gecgraphic, mdustry and other economic factors, The
caenponent of the alkwan: e representng probable lesses nhansrt
m the portfols is for lans not specifically identified as impaired
and that, on a pertiohs basis, s consdered 1o contun peobable
mharent loss, The estimate of this companent of the allwance for
the consumer loans portfolo invohes appling hstental and cur-
rent defaull probabite s, histoncal recovery expenence and retafed
current assumptians to homogenous bans based en mbernal rigk
rafing and product type. To estimabe this componant of the allow-
ance for the corporate & instAutional lsans portfola, the Graup
segregates bans by nek, ndustey of country rating. Excluded fram
this estimate process ane consumer and comorate & inatitubional
leans that have been spacifically dentihad as impaired or ane held
ol fair value. For lending-related commidmeants, a provisan for
kosses & estimated based on histoncal ks and recovery exper-
ence and recosded in cthes habilties, Changes in the ashimats of
losses for lending-refated commitments are recorded in the can-
soldated stalements of operations in provision for cnedit lasses.

Tha estimate of the compenent of the allowance for spe-
cifically identifiad credil lnssas on impaired leans s based on a
regutar and detaded anabrsis of each loan in the portiehs can-
sidenng collateral and courdanparty nek. The Graup considers a
lzan impaired when, based on cument information and events, it
& probable that the Group wil ba urable 1o collect the amounts
due accerding fo the conractual terms of the loan agreement, For
cartain nan-colateral-dependenl impaired lcans, an mpairment =
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measured usng the present vahee of estimated future cash flows,
excepl that as a praclical expediert an impairmenl may be mea-
sured based on a kan's observable market pree, For collateral-
dependent impaired bans, an mparmen! 5 measwed using the
fair walue of the colateral

A lsan i classified as pan-perfarming no later than when s
conlractual payments of pincipal andfor interest ane mare than
00 days past due except for subprime residendial bans which are
classified as non-parfarming ne ter than when the corfractual
payments of principal and/ar inerest are mone than 120 days past
due, The additional 30 days engune (hat thess kans are ned mcor-
rectlly assessed a3 non-performing dunng the time when Senating
of them typcally is being transferred. However, management may
determing thal a loan should be clagafied as non-performmg not-
withstanding that contractual payments of prcipal andsar irder-
es! ae less than 90 days past due o, in the casa of subprme
residential loars, 120 days past due, For nen-performing loang, a
provison & recarded n an amaunt squal o any accrued bub ungad
inberast af the date the loan & classified as non-performing, result-
g i a charge to the consalidaled statements of operabians. In
addiien, the Greup conlinues o add accrued inberest recenable
1o the ban's balance far collaclion purposes; however, & provision
s reconded resulling in no mierest income recegnition. Thereather,
e autstanding principal balines b svakualed o least annualy for
cobeclibiity and a proviseon is estabkshed as necessary.

A lean can be further downgraded 12 non-intetest-gaming
when the callection of mlerest is considered so doubltful that fur-
ther sccrual of interest is deamed inapprapriale. At that time, and
on o least a quartery basis thereafter depending on vanous risk
factors, the sulstanding prncipal balance, net of provissans previ-
cusly recorded, is evalualed for collectibdity and additional provi-
siens are astablished a8 requred.

Genarally, man-performing loans and non-inferest-earning
loans may be rastored to parforming stafus anly when debnquent
poncipal and interest are brought up fo dale in accordance wilh
e terens of the lsan agreament and when cadain parformance
crileria are mel.

Irdarast collscted on pen-parlonmng lans and ped-inberast-
earming kans i3 accounted for using the cash basis or the cost
recovery mathad or a combinaton of beih.

Loans that were madified n a troubled deb! restruciunng are
raparied as restruclured boans. Generally, a restructured loan
would have been considered enpaired and an assockled alkow-
ance for baan lasses would have bean established peior to the
restruciunng. Loans madified in a troubled deb? restructunng are
reported as restructurad leans to the and of the reporting year
in which fhe lzan was modified or for as lang as an allbwance
far lean lossas based on the tarme spacified by the restruciunng
agreemant s associaled with the restruciured koan or an inderest
concesslon made at the tme of the restructuring axdsts. In mak-
ing the determination of whather an inlerest mie concession has
baan made, market inferest rales for bans with comparable risk
1o barmawers of the same credd quality are considered. Loans that
have bean resiructured in a froubled debl restructiring and are

perfarming accordng bo the new lerms confines b accres interest,
Loan restrecturings may inchide the recaipl of assats in sabefac-
tion of the loan, the meddhcation of lean ferms (8.9, reduction of
irterest rabes, exfension of matuety dales af a siated irderest rate
lrwer than the cunrerd marked rate for new leans with simitar risk,
af reductian in principal amounts and/or acerued nlerast balancas)
or a cambinabon of beth,

Poterdial prablem leans are impaired lbans where contraciual
payments have been recered according to schedule, but where
doubt exists as bo the cobeelion of fulee contraciual payments.
Polantial problem lbans are evalusled for imparment on an ind-
widual basis and an alowance for ban lossas @ establiched as
necessary. Potential prablem leans canlnue 1o aceruee nlerest,

The amertization of nel lean fees or costs on impaired loans
& gensrally decontinued duning the pereds in which matured and
unpakl intesast of principal i outstanding. On seltlemant of a ban,
if the loan bakance is ot collected in full, an allkowance Is estab-
lighad for the umcoleclad amounl, if necessary, and the lean is
then written off, net of any deferred loan fees and cosls,

‘Write-off of & loan occuwrs when # i considered certain that
there 15 no possibilty of recovenng the autstanding pnncipal.
Recevarias of lans prevousdy written off are recarded based on
the cash or estimated fair value of ciher amounts received.

Loans, whch the Graup mends to sell n the foreseeable fulure,
are cansidened hald-foe-sale and are camied at the lowear of amor-
tized <ost or marke! value determined om edher an indradyal
rivél bead Basis, o in the aggregate for pools of similar loans i sald
or secuntized as a pool. Loans held-foe-sale are ncluded n other
assets. Gaing and lasses on loans held-for-sale are recorded in
alher reverues,

Purchased laang for whech it is probabls af acquesftion thal all
conbraciually required payments will not be recenved are recorded
o ther ret purchase prce and ne aBdwances ane camed aver.
The excess of the estimaled cash flows to be collected over the
ameunt paid i accreted inte infarest incame over the aslimaled
recovery pened when reasonable estimates can be made about
the timing and smeunt of recowery. The Graup doss rot carsidar
such lbans to be impared at the tme of acquisibion. Such loans
are desmed impared only f the Greup's estimate of cash to be
recehed decreases balow the estenale ab the tme of acquistion
Increacas in the estimated axpected recovery are recorded as a
reversal of allvances, f any, and then recognzed as an adjust-
mard of the affective yield of the lsan.

Leans and foan commdments for whath the Fi'l: value oplon is
slocted afe reported ab fair value with changes in fair value
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reported in trading revenues. The appbtation of the fair vake
aptien does nat changs the kan's dassification. Lean commit-
ments camied at faor vakee are reconded in other assets or other
kabilities, respacively,

Premises and aquipment
Premises and eguipment, with the exceplon of land, am camed at
cosl less accumulaled depracation,

Buildings are depreciated on a straghl-ling basis over Their
eshimated useful lves, genarally 40 to 6T years, and bulding
improvements ane deprecirted an a slraight-line basis over their
astimated useful lves, genaraly not excesding fve to ten years
Land is cared af historical cast and is nol deprecarted. Leasahold
iprovements. such as alterations and improvements to ramted
premises, are depreciated on a strasghl-ine basis over the shorer
of the h=ase tafm or astimated wseful life, which generally does
nat exceed ten years, Equipmend, such as computers, machnery,
furnishings, vehicles and other langible foed assels, i depreci-
ated usng the strasght-ine method over @5 estimabed useful Ivas,
ganerally thiee 10 1en pears. Ceran lasshold mprovements and
equpment, such as dala canter power gensrators, may have esli-
mated useful lves greater than tan yeass,

The Group capitaloes costs relating 1o the acquodion, nstal-
lation and development of software with a measurable acanamic
benefl, but ondy § such cosls are idertifiable and can be rekably
measuted. The Group deprecales capitalized soflware cosls on
a straight-line bass over the estimated wusaful ife of the saftware,
ganerally nol excesding seven years, taking into consideration the
effects of obsolescence, technology, compelition and other eco-
namic factors,

The Group reflects finance leasinyg actiities for which i s the
lesses by recording an assel in premises and equipment and a
comespending kabilly i ether kabilties al an ameount equal 1o the
smaller of the presant value of the minimum lease payments or far
value, and the leased asset i deprecaied over the shorer of the
asset's adtimal ed usefud life ar the leasa tenm,

Goaodwill and ather intangible assats

Goodwill arises on 1he acquisfon of subsidiaries and egquity
mathed resments. I s measured as the excess of the fair value
of the consderation transfesred, the fair vake of any noncontrol-
I inbatest in the acquires and the fair value of any previsusly held
equity mberest in the acquined subsdiary, over tha net of the acqu-
sfon-date fair values of the dentfiable assels acquired and the
labilities assumed. Goodwill is net amorized; instead it Is tesled
for mparment annually, ar mare frequently if everts or changes
in circumstances indicate that goodwill may be mpared. Goodwil
iz allacated to the Group's reporting unds for the purpeses of the
imparment lest,

Other intangible assets may be scquired mdvidually o as
part of a group of assets assumed in a business combination,
Other intengible assets inzlude bul are nol imited 12 palants,
beensas, copynghls, trademarks, branch nelwerks, mortgage ser-
wicing nghts, customer base and deposit relabisnships. Acquired
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mfaneble assels are intially measured 3 the amount of cash dis-
bursed ar the fair value of sther assals distributed. Other intangible
assels that have a finte useful ife are amorized over that period,
Otfher irdangible assels acquited afler January 1, 2000 that are
determined fo have an indefinite useful [dfe are notl amerized,
insland they ade bested foe impairmant annually, of mace frequently
i evarts or changes in circumstances indicate that the mdafinite
mfangble assel may be impaired. Martgage sennting nghls are
included in non-amorizng other mtangibe assats and are casied
al fair value, with changes in far value recegnized through eam-
mgs in fhe peried o which they cocur. Marlgage serncing nghts
repeasent the right ta perfarm specified morgage semvicing acthvi-
ties on behall of thind parties. Morgage senacing rights are edher
purchased frem third parses of retained upen sale of acquined o
ofginated bans.

Recognition of an impairment on langible fixed assels and
finite intangible assets

The Group evaluales premisas and equpment and finde inlangble
assets for impament at least annually and whenever dvents of
changes n creumslances mdicate that the carrying amouwnt may
nol be recoverable. If the assel is consadered not fo be recow-
erable, an impairment is recorded in general and administrative
expenses 1o the extent the far value of the asset is less than s
carrying amaund. Recognitian of an imparment an such assels
egtablishes a ibw cost bass, which i nal adpusted for subequent
PeCCveries in value.

Income taxes

Defarred tax assels and Eabilfies are recosded for the expacied
fulure tax consequences of temparary differerces batween the
carfying amounts of assels and lubiities al the dates of the con-
solidaied batance shests and ther respeciive tax bases, Deferred
bax assels and labdties are computed wing curently enacted
tax rales and are recorded in other assels and other habikties,
respactivaly. [neome tax expense of bereft s recardead in income
tax expanse{benaft), excepd to the extent the fax effect relates
te trandactang recorded directly in lotal sharehaldars’ equity.
DCeferred tax assels are reduced by a valustion allwance, if pec-
&sdary, 1o the amaunt that management bebewss wil mare llaely
than mat be reaized. Deferred fax assels and labibtes are adpsied
for the affect of changes n fax lews and rales in the paried in
which changes are approved by the relevant adthorty, Deferred
tax asseds and kabilties are prasanted on a net basis far the same
tax-paying componsant within the same tax junisdiction.

The Graup follows the gudance in ASC Tepic T40 - Inceme
Taxgs, which sets oul a consistent framework 1o determine the
appropriabe level of tax rasarves to maintain for uncerain lax posi-
tiens. The Group determines whedhes i is mone kkely than not that
an meame Lax postion will be sustained upon exarmation based
an the techncal memds of the pesition. Sustainable ncome fax
postiond are then measuned to determing the ameurl of banehil
eligible for recognilen in the consolidated financial stalemerts.
Each such sustairable income tax pos#ion = measured al the
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targes! amount of benefit 1hal i more laeely than net 1o be reaksed
wpon uRimate settlament,

Life sattement contracts
Life setlement corfracts are indmlly recognzed at the fransac-
tian prce and subssquantly carted ab fair value unless the Group
ebacis lo apply the mcesimant melhed. The centracts that are not
accounted far under the investmaent mathod are camied at fas
value and are recorded n frading assets

Undar the ivestmant mathod, the contracts ase initialy rec-
egnized at the fransaction prce plus any directly relaied exter-
fail costs and are recorded i obher wwastiments. Subsequenthy,
all contimang premium payments made are capilaized wnless Lhe
agaregated carrying value exteeds fair valee, in which cases an
imparment allowance i3 estabhshed so that the camying valee
does nol axceed fair valua.

Brakerage recaivables and brokerage payables

The Growp recognizes recevables and payables from fransactions
in financial instruments purchased fram and seld 1o customers,
banks, and beoker-dealers. The Group s exposed lo nsk of loss
resulling fram the inabdiy of counterpartes to pay fir or dalver
financsl mstrumens purchased of sold, m which case the Group
wiould hupve bo sall or purchase, respectvely, thase firancal nstru-
ments at prevailing market prices, To the exent an exchangs or
clearing argangation acts as courderparly 1o a bransaction, credd
nsk 5 genarally consdered fo be imied. The Group establshes
eredit limds for each customer and requies them 1o maintan mar-
gn collaeral in compliance with applicable reguisory ard imterral
gusdalines. In order o conduct rades with an exchange or & third-
party bank, the Group is requingd to maintasn a mangin, This i usu-
ally im the form of cask and depostied hia separale margn scosunt
with the eschamge of brokar. If avadable information ndecates that
# 5 probable fhat a brokerage recesable i3 mpared, an allowance
is established. Wite-oHs of brokerage recenables ogeur if the
cutstanding amounts are considered uncolkeetibl.

Other assets

Derivative mstruments ane carried at fair value. The fair values
of darvathe instruments held for hedaing are inchded as ather
assets or oiher kabiies in the consoldated balance sheets. The
accounting treatment used for changes in fair value of hedging
derwalives depends on the desgnation of the derialive 28 sither &
fair vakie hadge, cash fiow hedge or hedge of a net imestment in

a foreign oparation Changes in fair value represaniing hedge inef-
fectveness are reported n irading revenues.

Long-term debt

Total bang-term debt i comprised of dedt issuances which da nal
corain demative features (vanika debd). as well as hybnd debt
imslruments with embedded derhatives, which are issoed as
part of the Group's structured product acteibes. Lang-term debt
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includes bath Swiss franc and foseign cumency denominated fixed
and variable raté bonds.

The Group actvely manages interest rate risk and foreign cur-
renzy fisk on vanilia debt threugh the use of dervative contracts,
primarily rlerest rate and currency swaps, In particutar, fied rate
debt is hedged with recenms foed, pay-foating inferest rate swaps.
The Group elecled to fair vale ths fised rate debd upon implemen-
tation of the far value apban on January 1, 2007, with changes in
faor value recogrized as a component of irading revenues, except
for changes in fair value alinbofed to own credil nsk, which, since
2016, are reconded in other comprehensive income, net of tax,
ard fecyeled bo treding revenis when the dabl i3 de-recagrmed.
Thie Group ded Mot ebsct 1o apply the fair valee oplien to fied-
rale debl maued by the Growp since Jarmary 1, 2008 and ngtead
applies hedge accourting per the guidance of ASC Topic 815 -
Despalives and Hedging.

The Group's leng-term debl also mciudes various equity-inked
and oihes indeved msbiuments with embedded deriative featires,
whase payments and redempiion values are knked lo commod-
tiea, docks, mdices, cufencies of olher asseds. The Group elecled
te account for substantally 3l of these instruments al far value.
Changes in the fair valus of thess instruments ara recognized as
a companent of frading revenuas, except for changes in fair value
altrbuted 1o own eredd ek, which & recorded in other compra-
henswve income, net of tax, and recycled to trading revenue when
the dibl is da-recognized.

Other Habilities

I cases whare the Group acis as & guarastor, the Group recag-
nizes in cther kabddies, at the inception of a guaranfes, a kabidy
for the fair value of the chigaliors urdertaben @ issuing such 3
guarantes, mncluding ts ongoing obligation te perfarm over the
tedrm of the guarariee in the event that certan events or condi-
tions ecour.

Credit Suusse sponsars a number of post-amplayment benefit
plans fior A8 employees woddwide, which include defined bensa-
fit perion plans and sther past-employment benefts. The mapr
plans are localed in Swilzerand, the UK and the US.

The Group wuses the propcted und credf actuarial method to
determine the present value of ity projected benefit abligations
(FBO) and the current and past service casts of credis ralated
fo s defined benefl and other post-refirement beneft plans.
The measuremert date used to perform the actuaral valustion i
December 31 and i parformed by independent qualified acluanes.

Cadain key assumplions are usad in perfarming the acluar-
al valuations. These assemptions must be made concerning the
fulure avarts that wil determing the amount snd timing of the ben-
efit payments and thus require significant judgmand and estimates
by Group management, This includes making assumplions with
regard te discounl rafes, salary increéases, inferest rale on savngs
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balances, expected long-tesm rafe of return on plan assels and
mariakly (fulure life expeclancy),

The assumed discount rates reflect the rates at which the pen-
on bemfis could be sffactvely settled. These rales are deter-
mmed based on yeld curves, constructed from high-quality cor-
parate bonds curerly dalable and shaenable n the market and
are expecied 1o be available during the pened 1o maturdy of the
pension benafits. In courfries where there is no deep markel in
high-quakly corparate bonds with langer durations, the best avail-
able market information, inzluding gevernmental band yields and
fisk premiums, is used 1o construct the yield cunee,

Salwey increases ane determined by reviewing histancal prae-
fce and external market data as well as considenng inlesnal
progselions.,

The iterest rabe on savings balances @ applicable caly fo the
Cradit Suissa Swiss pension plan (Swiss panson plan). The Board
of Trustees of the Swas pensan plan sets the interest rate to be
apphed on the sceurubied spangs balance on an annul bass
Credit Suisse estimates the futwe nerest rate on savings bal-
arces, taking inbe consaderabion achions and rates appraved by the
Beard of Trustees of the Swiss pension plan and expecled futun
changes in the inferest rale ervirenment based on the yield cune
used for the discound rate.

The expected long-term rate of isturn on plan assels is deler-
mined on a plan-by-plan basis, taking inte account assed alleca-
tion, historieal mate of relurn, benchmark ndices for samde-type
pensan pian assels, long-term expectabions of fulune retuns and
mvastmant stratagy.

Morakly assumplions ane based on slandard mortaity tables
and standard models amd methodologes for projecting fulure
impresement s 1o mortably as developed and pubbshed by exderral
indepandant scluaral societies and sclual siganeationg.

Health care cost trend rates are determined by reviewing
axtemal data and the Group's own histerical trends for haalth care
coals,

The funded stalus of the Group's defined benefl post-rativement
and pension plans is recognized in the consolbdaled balance sheats.

Atiaral gaing and Bages in axcess of 10% of the greater of
the PEC or the markal value of plan assets and unrecognized prior
sarace cosls of credils are amoerized lo net periodic pansicn and
other poat-ratiremant benafl costs on a siraighl-hne basis over
the svarmge remaining senace life of sctve employess axpectad
fo raceie benefits,

The Group records pencaon axpensa for defined contributian
plans when the employes renders serace to the company, essen-
fially coinciding with the cash contributions to the plans.

Share-based compansation

For all share-based awards granted to employees and existing
awards medified on or after Jammry 1, 2006, compansation
expense is measured at grant date or modification date based
an the far valse of the rumber of avwards for which the requisde
servace o expected to be rendered and s recegnzed n the con-
solidated stalements of operations over the required senice penod
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o & siraighl-line basis. For all sulstanding urvested sham-based
wwards as of January 1, 2005, compendation expende is maa-
sured baged an the ongnal grand date far value of the award and
& recogmzed cver the remaining requiste senace pernd of aach
award on a straght-ine bass,

The Gesup uses the tax b srdenng approsch 1o detesming the
portien of the total tax expense that relates to wndiall tax banefis
that are bt be recorded in adddional pad-m capdal, In additian,
1 elected 1o use the pracical transticn oplion o determinng the
amount of windfall 1ax banefi s recardad in additional pasd-in capéal
anging on awards hat ware fully wested paor to January 1, 2005,

Campensalion expanse for share-basad wwvards thal vest in
anmsal instalments (graded vesting), whech only contain a ser-
viee conditian that afdects vasting, i recognided on a Straghl-ine
basis gver the sanvice penad for The erive vard, However, if such
awards contain a perforrmance condition, then aach instaliment =
epensed as if # were a separate award (“from-loaded” experge
tecegnitian). Fulhenmate, recogrilion of compansation expanse &
acceleraled to the date an employee bacomes elgible for retire-
riveid. Far wwards granted 1o emplayees ehgible for relirement pries
te Jamary 1, 2005, the Group's polcy & to recond compensation
expanse over the requisfe sanice panod.

Certain share-based awards alse contan a perfarmance can-
dition, whena the number of shares the employes 1o fecee &
dependent on the performance {e.q., nel mcome of relurn an equily
(ROE] of the Graup of a dhison of e Giowp, B the emplyes &
also required to provide the senace stiputated in the award terms,
the amount of compansation axpense attrbuled to the incremental
additenal ursts expected 10 be recened ab vesting due to this per-
fermance cardiban i3 estimated an the grant date and subsequant
changes in this estimate are reconded in the consolidated siate-
rmerls of oparations aver the remaining sandcs panod,

When awards comlain market cendilions, where the number
of shares the employes meaives vares based on changes in the
Group share price, the incremental amount of exira shares the
amployes 5 expacted to receive doa lo the market condilsan is
eslimated on the gran date and {he lotal compensation expense
& it adjusted thereafter for changes in the Group share prize,

Certam employees own non-substantve equily inferests in the
foern of camed inderasis in priate equty funds managed by the
Group. Expanses recognoed under these ownership inlerests are
reflacted in the consalidated dalements of oparations i compan-
sation and benefils,

The Greup has ceran oplion plans oulstarding, prmanly
retated te 1099 and pror years, which include a cash settlement
featurs. For those plans, kabidily award accounting & applied until
satllement of the awards,

Own shares, own bonds and financial instrum ents an own
dhares

The Group may buy and 363 own shares, own bonds and firan-
eaal mytrumants on owh shafes within ils normal lading and
arket-making actiaties. |n addticn, the Group may hold s own
shares bo salisfy commd ments arisng from employes share-based
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compensation awards Own shares are recorded al cosl and
reporled as lreasiry shates, resulling in areduction bo total share-
halders equity, Financial mstruments on own shares ane recanded
as assels of kabilties or a5 squlty when fhe criteda for equity
classfication are mel, Drdends recened by subsidiares on own
shares and unrealzed and realzed gains and kases on dwn shares
classified in tolal shareholders' equity are excluded from the con-
sobfated stabements of operations.

Ay holdngs of bonds issued by any Group entdy are ebmi-
rafed i the consabdated financial statements,

Mat interest income

Inferest incame and interest expense ansing from inberest-bearing
assels and liabidies cther than (hese carried al fair value or the
krwer of cost of markel are acorued, and any related et defarned
premiums, discounts, orginalion fees or costs are amortzed as an
adjustment 1o the yield over the Ife of the refaled asset and l@bil-
fly. |mbarest from dablt securibes and diadends on equily sscur-
{3 carned as trading assets and trading kablies are recordad in
interesd and dividand ncome.

Commissions and fees

Fee ievenie 18 reeognizad when all of the follswing eritena have
been met: permsive evidence of an arangement susts, services
harve: baen tendered, the prce o foed or determmable and cellect-
iility 15 reasenably assured. Fee income can be deaded inlo twe
beoad cabegories: income earmed fam services thal ane pronded
over a certan periad of ime, for which cuslomers are generally
betled on an anmual or sami-anneal basis, and necome eamed fram
providing fransaclion-type seraces, Fees samed from services
{hat aie peoveded sver & certain penod of lime are recognized ral-
ably aver the service peried. Fees eamed from providing frans-
action-lype seraces are recognided when the senace has been

2 Recently issued accounting standards
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completed. Performance-linked feas or fee companents are rec-
sgnited at any conlractial measurement date when the centractu-
aly agread thieshalds are met,

Revanues from underwriling and fees fram mengers and acqi-
stions (MA&A) and cther corponate firance adviary senvices are
recorded ot the bime the underying transactisng are substanlally
compleled and there 2re no other contingencees associated wih
thee fes.

Transactwn-rekied expenses are deferred until the ressled rev-
&niss i3 recognzed, asswmang they are deemed ditect and incre-
mertal; ctherwise, they are expensed a3 incumed, Underwnting
fees ane reported nel of related expenses. Expinsas assacaed
with financial advisery services are recorded in operaling expanses
uriless resmbirsed by the chiat,

In-circumnstances where the Group contracts to provde md-
tiphs products, senrices of ghis to & countarparty, an evaluation
i made a3 fo whether separale mvenu recogntion events have
oecurted. This evaluation contiders the stand-alons valus of tems
already debrered and if there is a right of retumn or warranes on
delvered dems and senates, and the probabilly of delvery of
remainng urdelrered dems o sarvices. This evaluation is made
on a transaction-by-tmansaction basis.

If the critena noted are mat, then the transachon is consdensd
a mulliple-delverable arangement where revenue recagnition
5 determined separately for each delverable. The consideration
recetoed on the talal arrangement 15 allacated o the muliple dedy-
erables based on the selling prce of each delverable, The seling
price usad for aach deliverable will be based an vendor-spacific
abjectve evidence  available, thed-parly ewdence if vendor-spe-
eific abjestie sidance is nol mailable, or estenaled salng price if
neiher vendor-specic objecive evidence or third-party evdence
i avadable,

Taxes collected from cuslomers and remibed 1o governmendal
authorities are accounted for on g net basis,

Recently adopted accounting standards

In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Eeard (FASE)
issued Arceurting Standards Uipdate (ASU) 2014-15, "Disclasure
of Uncerfainties about an Entily's Abiily to Continue as a Gring
Concarn” (ASU 2014-15), an update to ASC Topke 206 - Prasan-
{atien of Financial Statemanis. The amendmants in ASU 2014-15
provide guidance in LS GAAP about management's responsbilty
1o evaluabe whether there are conditions and events, considered in
the aggregate, that raise substartial deubt abeut an entity's abilty
1o confinue 43 a geang concerm and 10 provade refated disclosures
in the mabes fo the firancial stalements, The amendments reduce
dwersfly in the liming and confent of such disciosures. The adop-
g af ASL 2014-15 did mat haee an impact on the Group's finan-
cial poaition, results of operations and cash flows.

I Jure 2014, the FASE sued ASU 2014-12, “Ascourting for
Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an Award Provide
That a Parformance Targel Could Be Ackesved affer the Ragu-
sfe Service Penod' (45U 2014-12), an updale lo Accounting
Standards Codiication [A5C) Tope T18 - Compensation — Stock
Compensabian. The amendments in ASL 2014-12 require that a
parfarmancs largat that affects vesting and Lt could be achisved
after the requisite serace pemod be freated as a performance con-
ditian. The adaplion of ASU 2014-12 on January 1, 2016 did not
harve a matenal mpact an the Group's fmancal posiion, resadls of
operatons and cash flows.

I Felyruary 2015, the FASE issued ASU 2015-02, “Amendmants
te the Consshdabion Aralvsn” (ASU 2015-00), an update to ASC
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Tepk 810 - Consohdation. The amendments in ASU 2015-02
resind the indefinde deterral for certain investment furds, which
s inchuded m ASU 2010-10, Censelidation (ASC Topic 8107,
“Amendments for Cerain investmend Funds’. The amendmants in
ASL 2015-02 alse requre a re-evalmtion as 1o whather certain
legal endites requere consalidalion undar the mvised consebdabion
madel, specificaly as i retales to whether imiled partnerships and
sanmitar lgal erdites are VIES of voling nferes! entbes, the ebmma-
tion of the presumplion that a general pariner controls a partner-
ship, and the consalidalion analysis of VIES, particularly thass that
hanve fee armngements and related parly relationships. The adeg-
tion af ASL 20M5-02 an Janiary 1, 2016 dad not have a saderal
impact an the Group's financial posibion, results of operabions and
cash fiaws.

In August 2014, the FASE issued ASU 2014-13, *Measunng
fthe Financial Assals and the Firancial Liabiktles of a Consalidaled
Coliteralzed Financing Entity” (2510 2014-13), an update to ASC
Tope B10 - Consalidation. ASU 2014-12 apphes 1o repadting enli-
fies that ane required to consohdate a colbierakzed financing anfity
(CFE) undes the VIE gudance. These entdies may elect 1o mea-
sure the financial assels and the financial kabiditses of the CFE at
fair value using either ASC Tapie B20 — Fair Valus Maasuramarnts
o an atermative provided in ASU 2014-13. When using the mea-
surament allemalive provided i this update, the repafing emity
shauld measune both the financial assets and the financial liabik-
ties of the CFE, usng the most sbasrvable of () the far value of
ihe firancial assels and (i) the fair value of the financial kabires,
The adoption of ASU 2014-12 on January 1, 2016 dsd not have a
matersd mpact an the Group's financml pestion, resulls of opera-
thens and cash flows.

In Nevember 2004, the FASE issued ASU 2014-18, “Detenminng
‘Whelhes the Hosl Cortract n a Hybnd Financal Instrument lssued
n the Form of a Share |5 Mo Aln to Debt or to Equity” (ASU
2014-18), an update o ASC Topie 815 — Dematives and Hadging.
The amendments in ASL 2004-18 clardy that for hybrid fnancial
rsthaments Baued o the fomn of 2 share, an enlity (an @auer o
an irvestor) should delermne the nature of the host conbract by
consdenng all staled and implied substantive teems and fealures of
the hybed firarcal instrument, weghing each term and feature an
the basis of relevant facts and creumetances. The adeption of ASL
2014-16 on-Jarnsry 1, 2016 did rot have a matenad impact on the
Group's firmneal poction, resulls of aperations and cash flows.

In May 2015, the FASE tsseed ASU 2015-07, ‘Disclosures for
Invastroents in Cerlain Entties That Calculate Nat Assst \alus par
Share (o0 M3 Equevalert)’ (ASU 2015-07), an update to ASC Topic
B20 - Fair Value Measurement. The amendments in ASU 2015-
OF ramove the requsement o calegornze within the fair value hear-
archy all mvestments for which fir valse 15 measured using the
nat assel vales (MAV) per share practical eapedent and change
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the scope of cerain disclosuwe regurements to those imesimens
fod which an entily has elected using that practical expedient, The
adoption of ASU 2015-07 en January 1, 2018 resulted in madi-
fied disclasires b did mol have a malenal mpact on the Group's
financial postion, results of cperations and cash flows,

ASE Tanic B35~ Financial Instramsnts — Overs
In Jamary 9016, the FASE issued ASL 2016-01, “Recagnition
and Measurement of Financial Assels and Fimancial Liabilities’
(ASU 2018-01), an updafe to ASC Tope B25 - Fnanceal Instru-
meris — Chverall, The amendments in ASU 2016-01 address
ceflain aspects of recognition, measuremenl, prasentation and
disclosure of financial msiruments. The amendments primanty
affect the accountng for equity investments, fnancial labiltes
urder the fair value oplien and the presentaton and dischosure
requiremants for financal instrumants. ASU 2016-01 is effective
for annual reporting penods beginning affer December 15, 2017,
and for the irterim perieds within thesa annual reparting penods.
Early adoption of the full standard is nod permitted; however, cor-
tain sechons of ASU 200601 relatng o faif value optien-slected
financal kabilties can be sarly adepted n isclation. These amend-
mnds fo ASU 2016-01 requie the changas in fair valie relading
te instrument-specific credi rsk of fair value oplion elected firan-
cal labilies to ba presented separabely m ADCI The Group kas
early adopled these sections of the update on Jarwary 1, 2016,
A% 3 resilt of adeplion, a reclassficaton of a gan from retasned
eamings 1o ACC of CHF 475 milbon, nel of tax, was recorded.
Tha Group & currently evaluading the impact of the adaption of the
remanmg secliens of ASU 2016-01 on the Group’s firancial pasi-
tian, results of spemtions and cach flaws.

In April 2015, the FASE issued ASU 2015-03, “Simplfying the
Presantation of Debt lssance Costs” (ASU 2015-03), an update
te ASC Subbopic 835-30, “Interest — Inputalion of Inerest”, Under
ASU 2015-03, an ently presents debl ssumnce costs in the bal
ance shesl as a dirsct deduction from the retabed debt kabilty rather
than an asset, The adoption of ASU 2015-03 on January 1, 20168
resulted in @ reduction to beth tolal assets and tofal kabilties of
CHF 541 mulion, hewdvar, refrospective applicalion was deenmed
wmmaterial and, a3 such, poor penods were not restaled,

Standards 1o be adsptedin future periods

In August 2018, the FASE lssued ASU 2016-15, “Classdication
of Cartain Cash Recaipls and Cash Payments (2 consensus of
the Emerging |ssues Task Ferca) (ASU 2016-15) an update to
ASC Tope: 230 - Staternant of Cash Flows. The amandments in
ASU 2016-15 provide guidance regarding classication of cer-
tain cash receipls and papments whare divarsity in practies was
observed, ASU 2016-15 s requred 1o be applied relrospectively
te al periods presanted beginning in the year of adopten. ASU
2016-15 is eHectie for anmual reperting pemads beginning after
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December 18, 2017, and for the inferim perieds within those
annual reparting perids. Early adoption & permiled, including
adoption in an inbenm peried, The Graup i currently svahuting L
impact of the adoptien of ASU 2016-15 on the Group's financial
pasition, results of aperafions and cash flows.

In June 2016, the FASE Baued ASL 2016-13, ‘Measurement of

Credil Losses on Financial Inslrements® (ASU 2016-13), creal-

ing ASC Tapk 326 - Financial Instrumerds — Credd Lassas. ASL

2016-13 is intended fo improve fnancial reporting by requiring

limeber rscerding of credht losses on franchl assets measuied o

amarzed cost bass (nchading, but net imited 1o bbans), net rmvest-

ments i kases retegroed as lesssr and off-balance shesl credi
exposures. ASU 2016-13 ehmiratas the probable nitial recogndion
threshold under tha curenl incutred bass methodalogy far recog-
raong credt losses. Instead, ASL 2016-13 requies the measnre-
menl of all sxpected eradil lossas for firanctal assats held at the
repeeting date based on histonical expesance, currenl conditsns,
and reasorable and supportable farecasts. The Group wil incoeps-
rabe ferward-looking informaton and macrescanamic factors mbo ds
cradit loss astimates. ASL 2016-13 requires erhanced disclosunas

12 help investors and ofher firancial statement userd to better under-

stand sgnificant aatinates and judgments used in estrmating eredd

kosses, as well as the credil qualty and underwrfling standards of
an sigantation's porfalis. As the Group 13 2 US Secunties and

Exchange Commissaan (SEC) fler, ASL 2016-13 is effectve for

annual repefng petiods bagnning after December 15, 2019, and

far the intenm pencds withn those annual reporing penods, Early
appheatian will be pemitted for annual reporting panads and foe
ihe intesim penods within these anrual reparting pencds, beginning

after December 15, 2018,

The Group has established a cross-funclional mplementation
team and governance structurs for the preject. Tha Group has
decided an a currant expected credd koss (CECLY methadelogy
wihille # is adpisting far key inteqpretive issues. Furtharmate, the
Growp will contirus o moniter the nitial scope assessment, as
a basis bo determas the requirerments and data sourcing of Lhe
CECL models, and 1o design, buld and fest the modals untd the
effective date.

The Graup expects that the mew CECL methodelogy woubd
genanlly resull in increased and mare valatis allvwance for loan
losses, The main impact drivers include:

" the remaning e of the loans measwred 3 amortized cost and
the off-balance sheet credit exposures at the adopbon date
becausae of the pew requirement te measure Helime axpaciad
credit losses;

®  the point of time in the sconamic cycle at the adeplion date
because of the mew requirement 1o necrporate reasenabls and
suppartable forvard loeking infarmation and macrsecenamic
faciors; and

" the credit quality of the loans measured ol amertized cost and
the ofi-balance sheet credil exposweres at the adoption date,
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Upon adoption of the standard, the Group expects an adusiment te
be posted to relained samings for any changas in kan lossas. As
the implementation progresses, the Group will conlinue to evahate
the axterd of the impact of the adoption of ASU 2018-13 an the
Group's firancial pasiien, resulls of operations and cash flows.

Iev Jarasary 2017, the FASE wsued ASU 2017-04, *Sanplityng the
Test for Geadwil Impairment” (25U 2017-04), an update 1o ASC
Tapic BOS — Busness Combinations. ASL 2017-04 simplifies the
subsequert measurement of goodwil by eiminting step twe from
the goodwil mparment tast, ASU 2017-04 iz effective for anmial
reparling perods begnning after December 15, 2010, and for the
e penads wilkn those anful reporting pericds. Early adap-
tion is permited for inderm or annual geadwill impairment tests
perfarmed an tesling dates afler Janiasy 1, 2097, ASU 2017-04
& fo be apphed on a prospecive basis, The Group does nat expedt
the adaplion of ASU 2017-04 to have 3 matesal impact an the
financial positon, resulls of operations and cash flows,

Ies May 2014, the FASE Bsved ASU 2014-02, “Revenve fom
Contracts with Custerers” (ASU 2014-09), an update 1o ASC
Topic G606 - Reverue from Canlracts with Custamers. The care
principhy of the gudance o that an entily should recognize rev-
anise b0 depict the trargfer of promised goods of sarvices 16 tus-
tomers i an amount thal reflects the considaraton fo whach the
enlily expacts 1o be entiled m axchange for thase goods of sed-
vices. The ASL oullines key sleps that an enty should folow to
achieve the come panciple. ASU 2014-19, as amendad by ASU
2015-14 *Deferral of the Efective Date”, ASU 2016-08 “Prnci-
pal wergus Agent Consaderaliona (Reparting Revenus Grods vei-
sus Nel), ASU 2016-10 “Hentdying Perdormance Oblgaticens and
Leensing’, ASU 2016-11 ‘Rescission of SEC Gudante Because
of Accounting Stardards Updates 2014-09 and 2014-16 Pursu-
anl 1o Staff Announcements at the Baech 3, 2016 EITF Masi-
ing and ASU 2016-12 “Namow-5cope Improvements and Practi-
cal Expedierts” and ASU 2016-20 *Technical Corrsctions and
Imprevemants”, is effectve for the annual reporting penod bagin-
ning after December 15, 2017, and for the niterim pendds withn
those annual reparting paniads,

The Group has establiched a eross-functional implameniation
team and governance strutiure far the propect. The Grup's imphe-
mardation afferds inclode the deniifization of revenue withan the
scops of the gudance, as well as the evaluation of revenue con-
tracis under the new guidanes, The guidance does nol apply to
revenue assecated with financial instruments, nchading leans and
sacirites thal are accaunted for under ather US GAAP gudance.
The Group has ned ye! identifed any materal changes n the fim-
iy and amount of revenue recogrdion however ths svaluation
ramains ongomg. The new guidance ebminates indwsiry specific
guidance and 35 a resul will have an spact on the gross vei-
sus nel presentabon of certain income and expenses, for example
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a change fram net 1o gross reperling of underariting expensas,
The Group o currently assessing the impact of these presentaban
changes, ARhough mplementation eflorts are ongoing, the Greup
does ol eapact the new revenue recogniien gudance 1o ke a
materad impact on the firancial pasition, results of cperations and
eaush flawg.

In March 2017, the FASE sswed ASU 2017-07, “Improving the
Prasartation of Met Penode: Pension Coet and Nel Pemodie Pest-
relrement Beneft Cast” (ASU 2017-07), an vpdate to ASC Tops
T16 - Compensation — Retremenl Benafits. The amendments in
ASU 3017-07 require that the senice cost companent of the net
paricdic benefit cost be presented m the same income stalement
Ine tem(s) as other employee compensabion costs arging from
sanaces rendered dunng the penicd. Other companenls of the nat
periedic benefd cost should be reporled separately from the bne
deimls) that includas the servize cost and sulside of any sublotal
of operatng income.

ASL 2007-07 is effectve fod annual reporting penods bagn-

ning after December 15, 2017, and for the interim periads within
those annual reparting penods. Early adoplion is permitted. The
Growup & cunenily evakating the mpact of the adeplan of ASU
QT-O7 on the Group's financad postion, redulls of aparalions
and cash flows.
I March 2018, the FASE issued ASL2018-09, improvements
to Emplayee Share-Based Paymant Accounting’ (43U 2016-09),
an updabe 1o ASC Tope: 718 - Compensalion—Stack Compen-
sation. The amendments in ASL 2016-00 provde samplification
updated for several aspacts of the accaunting for shane-based pay-
menl transactions. inchading the ncome tax consaguences, clas-
sification of siands a5 eiher aqully of labdties, and chaadeation
on the stabermant of cash flows, The adoption of ASL 2018-00 an
Janiary 1, 2017 resubied in lhe recognitsan of predously unresarded
defemad tax asset nel oparating leas bakinces which arcge due fo
peice tas windfalls thal Jed neot remeditely resull i cash lax -
ngs. The adusimert resulted in an ncrease in relained eamings of
CHF B5 milan upoh adeplsan.
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In Oetober 2016, the FASE issued ASU DO1E-18, “Intra-Ertiy
Tranafers of Assets Cther Than Irventory” (ASU 2016-18), an
update ta ASC Tope T40 - Income Taxes. The amendments in
A 2016-16 eliminate the excephion for an inlr-entity fransfer
of an asesl other than imantery. ASL 2018-16 & requared to be
apphed on a modifed retrospective basis threugh a cumuaive-
effect adpetment dirsctly to relaimed eamngs as of the begirning of
the penod of adopton, ASU 2016-16 s effectve for 2nnual reped-
ing penods begirning sfler Decembar 15, 2017, and far the Ederm
pencds wilhin those annual reporting penods. Early adaplion is per-
enited, The Gradp o cumrently evalualeng the mpact of the adapton
of A5 2016-16 en the Group's financial postion, resuts of cpera-
tions and cash flows.

In Fabruary 2006, the FASE ssuved ASU 2016-02, “Leasas” (aSU
2016-07), ereabing ASC Topie 842 - Laases. ASL 20M6-00 sals
out the principles for the recogniion, measurement, presentation
and duclosure of beases for both Basses and leasars. ASU 2018-
02 alse mchedes duclosure requrements o provide more nforma-
tiori abaut the ameunt, timing and unceranty of cash flows arising
fram leases. Lessar accounting i subslantially unchanged com-
pared 15 the cumrent accounling gudance. Under the cumem bes-
see gocounting medel the Graup is required to distingsh batween
finance leases, which are recognioed on bakince shesl, and oper-
aling beases, whech are not. ASU 200602 will requre lessees lo
prasant @ righl-of-use assel and a comesponding lase labilly on
the bakance shest for al leases wih a lease tem of geeater than
bwehan mnanthe. ASU 001800 i effective for anmeal reporting pen-
s begnning after Decamber 15, 2012, and for the mlenm pencds
withen thode aniwal reparling penads.

The Growp has established a cross-funclional mplementation
team and goverrance sructure for the projget. The Group & cur
rently reviewing s exsling confracls to detemnine The mpact of
the adophan of ASU 20168-02. The Greup expects an increass in
total asseds and fotal kabikties as a resull of recogniing right-of-use
assets and lease kabidties for all laases urder the new gudance and
& currenily evahsating the extert of the mpact of the adeption of
ASLOHE-0D an the Growp's resalls of operitiors and cadh flaws.

3 Business developments, significant shareholders and subsequent events

The Group's sgnificant business developments for 2016 as well as
the Group's significant shasahalders are discussad below.

Businass develaprments and significant sharehalders

Az announced on March 23, 23016, we have implamented add-
tioral measwres and adjusted financsl objectives beyond those
annaunced on October 21, 2015 to further kwer sur cost base,
accelerate the nisk-weghled assels and leverage reduction

mitiatras in the restructeng of our Global Markets business and
further strengthen cur capital posiian,

The additianal measures ncluded exlng the didressed credd,
Ewrepean securilized praducts tradang and long-term lkguid firans-
g businesses and making other business reductons, The assets
froen these npected businesses were transfesed Lo the Stratege
Resclution Unit in the second quarter of 2016,

A ales anmaunted, i the secend quanter of 2016 the Graup
canschdated ds foreign exchangs sales and trading Busneas fram
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Global Markets inlo 23 trading operations within Swiss Unsversal
Bank, The resulls of the sales and trading business conlsus o
be spit betwesn Swass Unnersal Bank and Infermational Wealth
Managemend.

A porlien of the carporate loan partfobe managed by the
Global Markets and Irvestiment Banking & Cap#tal Narkels divi-
sipng was also fransferred to the Strategic Resolition Unit = the
second quarter of 2016, Thess transfers reiated to chend lending
relaticrahip exts and exposire types that we do net congider con-
sisterd with the announced siralegy.

I the second quarter of 2016, we also transterred from Glabal
arkets fo the Corporate Center a porifolis of postions contain-
ing tax nizk to the Group thal & managed by the Group's corporate
tax function

As a result of the above siralegic achions, prior peried segment
rasills have been reclassified to confarm fo the current prasenta-
fion, These rechissfications had no impact on the net income’
{la3s) o the tatal sharehalders' aquiy of the Graup.

We registered a new Swiss legal entily under the name Credd
Suissa (Sehwe) AG i 2015, This new legal enfly & 3 whally-
owned subsidiary of Credit Suesse A3,

Cradd Suisse (Sechweiz) A was established to suppart (he
realzation of the Group’s strategic abjecives, to further increase
#5 reslience and fo meed developing and fulure regulilony fequire-
ments rekated Lo the Swiss “Too Big To Fail’ regime. The anfity
recenved its bankng license as of October 14, 2016, and started
fis business operalions as a standadone Swiss bank on Novermn-
ber 20, 2016, As lieansed Swiss banks, bath Credit Suisse AG
and Credit Suisse (Schweeh AG will be subject to the same ndes
and standards inchading with respect o cham pratection, assel
segregation and Swiss banking corfidentzably,

Significant shareholders registered in the share register
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bn lire with our sirateqy, we are also planning a partl IPO of
Cradil Sussse (Schwez) AG by the end of 3017, market condi-
tiens permiting, Any such PO would imobve the sale of 2 minority
staks and would be sublact fo, ameng other things, al necessany
approvals and would be infended 1o generate/rise adddional cap-
1 for Credit Suisse A5 o Credit Suisss (Sehwee) AG.
I Nevember 2010, Credd Susse's Asssl Mansgemant busingss
acquired 3 significant noncentieling econsmic iferest in York
Capial Maragement (York), a leading ghobal event-drven hedge
furd manager, frem York's swners. The bansaction provdad for
eam-out paymenls based on the fve-year financial performance
by Werk and has been covered by the mamnce of 27 millien new
sharas of Credd Susse Group AG (approximately 1% of the ssued
share capital) cul of Credit Suisse Group's authanzed share capfial
in accordance with s artickes of association on June 27, 2016

On May 3, 2016, Credd Susse andunced the signing of a Mas-
ter Purchase Agreement to sel USD 127 bilkon of credd assels
including a parl of the Credd Suissa distressed portiche fo TSSP
the credd and special stuations platform of TPG, a global prvate
irreastmant firmn. The Credil Sutsss dislressed partfobe purchasad
by TSSP s comprised of ower 270 instruments across assel lypes
and geographees relaling bo appraximately 170 companies,

In the first quarer of 2016, the Geoup completed the fransher of
its LS demestie private banking relabianship mansgars and o
tan other staff to Wells Fargo's brokerage busness, \Wells Farge
Advisars.

Diwact dhaiabholdpis "
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In addition to the shareheldings registered in the share register of
he Graup, the Graup has oblained and reported Lo the SEX Swiss
Exchange the follwing infarmatien dwectly from #s sharehold-
&3 in accordance with the nethication requiremans of the Swiss

Fdmrairg phare capsal or 8

Fedesal At on Financial Market Infrastruciure and Market Con-
duet in Securdies ard Derivativas Teading (FMLA) These share-
holders may hald their sharshaldings in Group shares through a
POMISE,

In & dischosure nolfication that the Group published on Sep-
temsber 18, 2018, tha Graup was notfied that as of Saptember B,
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2018, The Olayan Group held 111.3 milbon shares, ar 5.41%, of
the registered Group shares issued as of the date of the nelied
fransaction

In a dischosure nodification thal the Grouwp published an N overm-
ber 8, 2013, the Group was nofdied that as of Nowmber 4, 2013,
Harris Assoctabes LP held 81.5 million shases, o 5.17%, of the
registared Group shares issued as of the date of the notified trans-
action No furher disclosiss notdcalion wad received from Harris
Assocuates L.P. relating te holdings of registered Group shares in
2014, 2015 and 2018,

In a disclosure neification that the Group published on
August 30, 2016, the Group was rotified that a3 of August 25,
2018, Capital Group Companses, Inc. hald inaggregata 99.2 mi-
ban registared shares and Amencan Depostory Shares of a ftotal
of 5061 wating nights of the regutered Group shares issued as
of the date of the nolified transaction. In a disclosuee notification
fhat the Greup published on Jamsary 28, 2007, the Growp was

4 Discontinued operations
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netified that Capital Greup Compames, Inc.'s shareholdings and
valing rghls of Group shares had fallan below the 5% threshold as
of Jarnary 25, 2017,

In 2016, the Greup recened disclasure netifications fram
Merges Bank and Calar Holding LLC that their holdngs of regis-
tesed Group shares had fallen below the 5% theeshald.

Subsequent events

Inv Wareh 2017, the Group imcreased s exsting iigatien provi-
sian by CHF 300 midlisn in the Strategic Resalution Uni ta reflact
a settiement in panciple to resche the RMBS matter with the
Hational Credit Unisn Administrabion Board (NCUA), A4 the Graup
lewel, this resulied in an after tax charge of CHF 272 milion in
respiel of the Group's prevously reported 20168 financial reduls
and i3 BIS look-through CET 1 e is 11.5%,

e Fal

There wene no operations that were discontinued in 2016 and
2015,

Fes aperations discontinued in 2014, the revenues, axpanses
ard gang from dupasals were nchuded in the results of the rel-
evanl segimens, The rechissificalion of thase revenues and

Incameloss) from discontinued operalions

Operations-related {CHF milkcn
Heliavefmes

h Gertradn privide Bt busné

i e Bae dupard e {hered i

expenses fram the sagment resulis to discorfinued operations for
Group reponing was effected through the Corporate Cenles,

The rasulls of eperations of the butnesses sald have bean
reftected in incomadloss) from disconbinued operabions in the
condolidated siatements of oparations for the relsvant penods
presented.

gl

Encomeflessl, met of tax 5
of whyth Garemilin privide barking bosnaess |

Transsctionsatated (CHF milion)

dmin on disposal 200

i

Fwfach CF .. Al

EIncoame ksl mel of bax 1o
of winth CFEs 1=

Discontinued sparations - loml (CHF millbes

necm ) hom discontinued operations, nat of tax 10
f e Colenaen prvirhe Baemie ey Domney s
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5 Segment information
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The Greup s a glabal firancal servces company domicied in

Switzediand and sarves its chents throwgh theee regunally foeused

drvisiond: Swiss Liniversal Bank, International Wealth Manage-

ment and Asa Pacie. These regienal busindsses ars supportad
by tweo ather divissons specialzed i mvesimen bankang capabili-
fies- Global Markets and Imesiment Banking & Capaal Markels.

The Strategic Resclution Urd consoldates Lhe remainmg portfckos

fram the fodmer non-stralegic units phis additlenal businesses and

postions that do net fit with the strategic direction,

The ssgment informabion reflects the Group's six repartable
segments, which are maraged and reported on a pre-lax bass,
a8 follews;

* The Swiss Universal Bank division offers comprebensae
advice and & wide range of fnancial selutions te private, corpe-
rate and nstitutioral chents primarily domiciled in fhe Group's
hame marked Switzedand. The prvate banking business saneas

> ultra-high-net-warl b indsaduats (UHNWI), © high-nat-werth
irdpaduals, © affluend and relad chanls The comportate and
nsttutional banking business serves lwge comparate chems,
smal and medium-soed anferprisas, instifutional clents and
financil insidutions,

“ The International Wealth Management division offers
comprehensive advisory senaces and talored imvastment and
financing sohdions 1o wealthy privale chents and exemal asset
managers in Europe, the hiddle East, Africa and Latm Amar-
ica. The assel managemant busness offers imvestment salu-
tions and serviced globally to a beoad range of chents, including
penamn funds, gevernments, foundations and endowments,
corparations and indanduals,

* The Asia Pacific division oHers mtegrated private banking
and imestment banking firancial sohtions to weally indeid-
uals, instituticnal ewestors and corporale clents in the Asia
Pacthe regicn, empaweared with the tools of the Group's glabal
resoureas. The diision affers instdutonal imeastors acoass o
braader financial markets and differerdiated product offerings.

* The Global Markets division offers a broad range of finan-
ceal products ard senvices to chent-driven busnesses and alsg
supports the Group's global weakh management busnessas
and ther chents, The sute of equiies. salulions and credd
prodicts and sanvices includes global sacurties sales, irading
and execution, prime brokerage and comprehensive mesiment
ressarch Chants mclude financal insldutions, corparalions,
gevernments, instidutional investors, such as pensan funds
and hedge funds, and private individuals around the warkd.

= The Imvesiment Banking & Capital Markels drsion offers
& broad range of ivesimant banking sendees to corporations,
financial instilutions, financial sponsars and UHNWI and sover-
eign chents. The range of pradicts and sarvices ineludes advi-
sory senices relaled to maengers and acquisitions, devestilures,
takeover defensa mandates, businass restructurings and spin-
offs, The drson alss engages in debt and equity undanwiiting
of public sacuriltses affenngs and privale placamanis.

* The Strategic Resclution Unit was created fo facdiate the
ineadiabe rhght-seing of the business dhisions from a cape-
fal parspecte and inchedes remaining portfolios from the for-
e rea-shistegie units plus rensfers of addilioral expadures
fram the business dvsions, The Stratege Resolution Und also
includes noncantroling inberast-ralaled revenues and expenses
resulling from the consebdation of certain prvate equty funds
amd otber entiies inwhich the Group does nol have a signifi-
cant ecenomic inerest (SEI} in swch revenves and expensas.
The eensolidateon of these antifies doss nol affect nel income
atiributable to sharehelders as the amounts recorded in nal
revenues and fotal operatng sxpenses are offset by come-
apanding amourts reported as mancontreling interests,

Caorporate Center includes parent company operations such as
Greup firanzing, experses for projects spansared by the Graup
ard cerlain expensas that have not been allocated to the seg-
ments. In adddion, tha Corporale Center includes consolidation
ard eliminateon adjustments requred to eliminabe mercompany
revanues and expansas. For the eperations discontinusd in prior
years, the revenues, expenses and gains from disposals were
inchuded in the resulis of the segments. The reclassification of
these revenues and expenses from the segment results to discon-
tinuad operations for Group repering was effectad through the
Carporate Center,

Revenue sharing and cost allocation

Respansibdiy for aach produet = allscated to a specific sagment,
which records all related revenwes and expenses. Revenue-shanng
and senvice leval sgfeemants govern the compendation recened
by ane sagment for generating revenss of providing services on
behalf of ansther. These agreements are negatiated panadically
Byt redevant segments on a product-by-preduct basis, The aim
of reenie-shanng and sarvice level agreements i o reflect the
pricing structure of unrefated third-party transactions,

Coporate services and business suppor in finance, opera-
tions, human resowces, legal, complance, risk management and
IT are pravided by corporate funcliond, and the relaled costs are
alkcated to the segments and Corporate Cenler based on their
requirerneants and ather raleant maasres.

Funding

The Group centrally manages s funding actvilies. New sacun-
ties for funding and capial purposes are weusd primarily by Credit
Suisse AS, the direct bank subsidary of the Group (Ihe Bank),
Tha Bank lends funds to As oparafing subsidiares and affiliates
on bath a senier and subordinaled basis, as needed, the latter
typieally o mee! capital requitemnerts, of 48 desved by marage-
ment to capitalize on opportunities. Capilal & dsinbuled to the
segments condadenng faclors such as requlatery capdal requine-
merds, utilzed economic capial and the historie and fulure paten-
tial retumn an capital.
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Transfer pricing, usng market rates, & used bo record ned revenues
ard expenses i each of the segments for this capial and funding
Thee Group's funds transfer prong system & designed fo allocate
furding costs ba s businesses in & way thal incentivizes thair affi-
cient wse of funding, The Group's funds transter pemng system 15
an essenial tool that allacales to the businesses the shar-tarm
and lang-term costs of funding their balance sheel usages and

Met revenues and incomes{loss) from conlinuing sperations

el emvenmey (CHF mslicn)

Mol pavaomes

ln:.:‘.mg.‘{rﬁ:lh Fom comtimuing sperations balors Exxgs {CHF millicn)

Encomme lors] from continuing operations belons Exnss

Total assels

Tokal assets
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aff-balance sheet conlngencies. The furds transfer preing frame-
wark ensunes the full furding costs alecation under rermal busi-
ness condilsans, but 4 i3 of even greater importance in a stressed
capital markats evironment where raisng funds is more chal-
lengirg and expenanve. Under this framework, the Growp's busi-
nessps are alss credied 1o the axdent thay provide long-tarm 21a-
ble funding

before laxas

20,373 HET 38243

12 208) (28220 J43T
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Neal reveanues and incomes(loss) from conlinuing eperations before Laxes by geographic location
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mis
et ravenuey (CHF milicn)
Het ievermies 20,323 23,707 PE T
Incomes bl [rom confinuing operabions B fove taces (CHF millon)
:
comes(lon sl from ing operaions B fore famet (3 heE) AT JET
- o 5 Braie] e ons D Bonk B b bl o e o fhon £ hes 08c e mecoaing The aresas tiors, This pre i wigs
o 1
Total azasts by geographic locatisn
j ol 2018 Pl
Tetsl gunels (CHF milliond
Tets! adaels 818,861 vk o]
6 Met interest income
mis
it intera s meomss (CHF mellion)
@ &
' L ¥
srcta & 2
Hetintere ! imcoms 1582 0,240 004
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7 Commissions and fees

d e 20r5 Rl

Ceanmissions mnd lees (CHE millionk
TN Das 1 1,818 1578

s e

thic iary Ensgene2 i E 2 34 SREE

Wler i)
Brokerage

e wi i) arl 3 b a0y

Cither Tervicet 1.6
Conmissions snd lees 11,082

8 Trading revenues

. e el Tosd
Traaing revanuss (CHE millios)

T " gy OO T [4¢
CHbwr ok 4 o s
Ti iy 1 va LA 3 1,240 2008

Fisgi e par dwarusan ot g ottt Bt which ate fed rapreseniation o butirsion e within segman, o Sagmses notulty i franclsl inpirumenty s i vireus prishuet hged

Trading révenues include revenues from trading financial assels  »  Loans and lsan commments: and

ardd habiltes as folows: *  Customer depasis, shor-term borrowings ard karg-term debd,

" Egukies;

= Commadiies:

® Listed ard © OTC dervabives Managing the risks

* < Dervatives linked 12 funds of hadge funds and providing  As a resull of the Group's bread evolvement mn financal preducts
firancing facdibes 1o funds of hedge funds; and markels, #5 trading Srleges are corespandngly dverss and

s Market making in the govermnment bond and asscciated OTC  exposures are generally spread acrass a daessified rangs of rsk
darnvalve svap markets: factors and lecations. The Group uses an econcdme capital kmil

* Domestic, corporate and sovereign debt, comertible and nen-  structure to limd overall risk faking, The leved of risk meurred by A
comarlible praferred stock and shori-lerm securfies such a3 divisiens s further resincted by a vanely of specifie imils, includ-
fleating rate rotes and © commercial paper (CP); ng comsaldated confrols aver trading exposures. Alse, as part of

o Mkt making and postlioning in foreign exchangs preducts; s overall fisk management, the Group helds a partfelo of sco-

*  Credit deraties on mvesimant grade and high yield credils;  nomsc hedges. Hedges are impacted by marke! movements, simi-

" Teading ard secuntizing all forms of securities that are based e fo tradng securftes, and may nesull in gams of lesses on the
on underlying poals of assels; and hedges whach ofisat lesses or gams on the porifolos they ware

®  Life sabtlemant contracts. demgned lo ecanamically hedge. The Group mandses 43 trading

risk with regard te both market and credit risk. For marked risk; it

Trading revenies alse inchade changes in the © fair value of finen-  uses fools capable of caleubiting comparable exposures acnoss i

cial assets and kabillies elected to fair value under US GAAP. The  many acthities, as well as focused teals that can spectically model

main components inchade carlain instrumants from the follewing  unkgus characteristics of cerain irstruments ar partfalios.

caegones The parcipal measuremant methodolagy for trading asssts,
®  Central bank funds purchased/sold; a8 well as moest inslrumeants for which the fair valee aplion was
= Securities purchased/sold under resale/s repurchase elecled, is © value-al-risk. The Group holds securities as collateral

Agrees; and enbers mla © ciedd defai® seaps (CD3) to mitigate the credit
s Securities barrewing/Berding transactions; sk on thase preducts.
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9 Other revenues
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mis i
Qe revenues (CHF milios)
OFer ressnues 1458 1,114 EXED]
V Py relims i i desem S s owa gl
10 Provision for credit losses
s
Prawiseen for credd kbouses (CHF milliond
Provision boi cied b sos 252 324 188
11 Compensation and benefits
mis 8
Compenwabon snd benefity (CHF rellion)
Compensabion and benafity 10,572 11,548 11,04
12 General and administrative expenses
mis
Genersl and adminis bative sipenses (CHE miliond
#
g
feners and adminis bative sxpemses B
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12 Restructuring expenses
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In connection with the sirafegic review of the Group, restruciur-
ing expenses of CHF 540 milkan and CHF 355 millan ware rec-
agnized in 2016 and 2015, mapectvely. Restructunng expenses

Restructuring expenses by segment

Deslruchuring axpanaes By segrment {CHF millkisn)

Tokal resine: Bsring e ey

Restructuring expensed by type

Bestruchiring szpenses by Iype (CHF milions

Total ieitis: beiing dxpiniad

Restructuring provision

Bestruchuring peovision (CHF milian)

Halance st eginremsg o perkod

HBlalance at end of pericd

pnrrnnl].- include ferminabon cosis, expanses in connection with
the accelaration of cartain deferad campancalian awards and real
estale conlbract Eerminalion cosls,

F‘ili

0 I55
2008 LIy
s bl a5%

I
ot i ahich & g
e Totsd i Tatsl
187 12 L] ] L] o
18 3 I
7 i I a7 i3 i
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14 Earnings per share
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Dasic mel mcomeiloss) stiributable ko chareholders [CHF million)
i flkris) Iram conlinuing operations

NEome B0 SO (e It o o B
Hat inccmad b al¥ibutakles to shareh olderi

et T L drevden

Heli By ibubably fo ihareholdeis for basis i pei shais

Duried nel income (besi) stk @ulsbls o ikar eh olderd (DHF mallion
Mot incoame less] atiributabls fo shareholders foe dilubed #onisgs per share

Availabis for wiresied 1here-based paymend m

W piphited-ave iage vthares outstandeg imiliond

Weighted-areeing e shares outitandiog lor Basie
ings per shiws availsble for shares

v Ehale oper e

. L W
Welghted-average shares oufstandeg lor diluted

wanings per shae available lor common shares '

W e e - e B & Ehares outslandesy lor Basic/dduied mnings
por shas e available for enveited shae-based payment awards
Baiic satningilosi] g shais available lod comsnsn iharss ICHF)

Easie. Sd T ful i Tren O Ea bl (i

Basic sarningsiloss) per shme availabis fo common shares

(Huted smmingsTioux) per share avaidabls lor common shaes (CHF)
BT P SR o cor e oot

Diduied eaininga/ilead) pei share avelable lor esmmon ihades
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15 Securities borrowed, lent and subject to repurchase agreements

Securities hoorowed of puichaced under sgreemants b resell (CHF million)
: kT 1 anic] SEEUTES pureh
a8 By ormaTd

eposie fakd for TeCLrme horiowe

Contral bank hands sold, securites purchmsd umdss
sesabe Bgfeamants and seoumilies Bl iowing Banssebons

Securitien lant of vobd unded agresments o repuichans (CHF millan

il

Central bank funds puichased, seomibes sobd undes
sepurchase agreements and seouwities landing bansebons

o Reépurchasa and © raverse repunchass agreaments repea-
sanl colalaraioed ﬁrnncmg trangachions used bo eam nel irler-
el inomne, ncrease bgudy o factate trading acthaly. Thasse
natrumenis are collsteralzed principally by govemnment securities,
maney makel natruments and corpoiate bards and have terms
rangenyg frem everright be a lknger or unspecified pencd of tims

16 Trading assets and liabilities

134 &30

p=Fa0d A5

I e event of counterpanty defaull, the reverse rapurchase
agresment of secunties lending agreement provides the Group
with the righl o gudale the coliateral beld. In the Group's ned-
mal cowrse of business, substantally all of the collateral recened
thal may be $obd or repledged kas been sold of repledged as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015,

ol
Trasding avsets {CHF milkon)

Thadeg adieli
Ti sl ey Hshibebe s (CHF mullioni

1jpoe

Trandiinsg linbs

Cash eallateral on derivative instrurments
Cath collateial - malite & (CHF méllionh '

ashe o aferal pasd
ok ol 0l e

Caih collataial = ot fited (CHF milian
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17 Investment securities

EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

bnwes Ima et sacunities (CCHF million)
L

Todal inves eent sac urilies

Investment securities by Lype

Irvwms Emaer] @ cutifies by yge (CHF millian)
Reder
oA P T

Sacuritios available:-foi-iala 2414

Proceeds Trom sales, realized gains and realized losses from available-Tor-sale securities

Addessnal infosimalion (CHF mdlionl

Amortized cost, fair value and average yield of debt securities

el vl
2008 CCHF million b

Tetal debl de<uriben

-
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18 Other investments
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283

Ot imvestmants (CHF milion

gy
Tokal offve invesimeati

Nen-marketable equity secunties held by subsidiaries that are
consadared imediment companies are hald by separate legal endi-
fies that are within the scope of ASC Topee 846 ~ Financial Ser-
wizes — [mesiment Companies. In addion, non-marketable squily
securfies held by subsidiarses that are considered braker-dealsr
enldies are held by separate legal entiies thal are withn the 32ope
of ASC Topie 940 - Frnancial Services — Brokers and Dealers,
Non-markatable squity secunties include investments in entdies
that regularly calculabe NAY per share or d3 equivalent

"

Subsiartially ol nor-markelable equily secunlies ane camied # © far
vahie. There wire no non-marketabks equty securties not carmed at
fair valog that Fenve bewn i a contraious urneakied loss pastion

The Group parfocms & regubar imparmeant anabesis of real astate
partfelics. The carmang values of the impasred properies were wri-
ten down lo Eheir respaciive far values, establishing a new cosl
base, For these properiies, (he fair values wene measured based
on aither discounted cath flow analyses ar axternal market apprais-
als, Impasmerts of CHF 31 millian, CHF 21 milan and CHF 10
rnilln were recorded in 2008, 2015 and 2014, respactively

The accumulated depreciation relaled Lo real estale held for
ivastment amounded to CHF 386 mibon, CHF 385 millivn and
CHF 354 milbon for 2018, 2015 and 2014, respectiely
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19 Loans, allowance for loan losses and credit quality
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Loans are dvided n twa portfoho segments, “consumer” and “cor-
porate & institutlenal’. Consumer bans are disaggregated ints the
classes of monigages, lans collaterakzed by securities and con-
gurnar finamce, Corparale and malitubional loans are disaggregalad
inte the classes of real estale, commercsal and industral koans,
francal gl liond, and gavemmants and publc mstdutions.

The determination of the ban ckasses is pamanly dmen by
{he custaemer segmantation in the preale banking, corporale and
insdiiutional as well as rvestiment banking businesses across the
Group's core butmess doisons, all of which are engaged in lend-
ing acthities.

Loans

':ﬂ-H':l ICHE prabbios]

Het loans
Cross loahi By ke e (CHF millon)

Grawd laan

:Im;u- H.‘I Ir|:m portolia (CHF milkon)

Cros impased [nans

The Greup assgns bath counterparty and transaction rat-
ings to s eredd exposieas. The courterparly raling reflacts the
> probabity of default (PD) of the counterparty, The transaction
g reflects the expected loss, consdering collalarml, on a ghen
transaction i the counterpartly defaulls. Credd risk |s assessed
ard manfored on the single abligor and single obigation level as
well a5 on (he credd portfolio lavel 23 represented by the classes
af leans. Credit limds are usad to manage courtarparty cradil risk.

2THOT6 272008

11E 2=,

BIT 043 T4 D0

2,872 1873
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Allowancea fer loan losses

218
' Teasd T ) ol Tt o frati oo Totuwl
ABowance for losn loses (CHF millias)
Balance wt b eginring of perd 26 B50 B3 251 S0O7 "] 267 [ve AR
Balsnce st end of period pal ] 214 Eald L2 A FLY sar ]
ircan bossers hald at amiorized el (CHF mallion)
Balance st esd of pariod 145 070 112445 25875158 T4 BES 108,331 253,188 142,826 107 SET 50508
1 i |
o e
Purchases, reclassifications and sales
a8
Totnd ) b Totsl £y it o Totul
Loans Beld st smortired cost ICHF million)
N 2 e 3,438 = 4 o 4,547 151 3,157 4208
3 ’ . 125 158 U7 97
ET are el for-naie 4,400 T 2,376 1,048 . 1861
L 7 r 3,159 ¥ a7 2T are
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Credit quality of loans held at amartized cost

htanagement morters the credit quakty of leans thraugh A3 credd
nsk managemen protessas, which are structured to assess, mea-
sure, monibar and manage risk on a consisten] bass. This process
requres caretul consaderation of proposed extensons of credi, the
selling of specibe limlls, mordenng dising the Iife of the expesure,
actve use of credit miligation teols and a dsciplined approach fo
recegnining credit imparment,

Management evaluates many facters when assessing the
eredit qualty of loans. These factors include the volatity of defaul
probabites, raling changes, the magndude of potential loss, rier-
raal riahe Fatangs, amd geegraphic, industry and cther scomamic Bae-
lors. For the purpose of credil qualty daclosures, the Group uses
detaied miernal risk ratings which ane aggregated to thi credd
qualty ndwcators mwestment grade and nan-imvesimant grade

The Group empleys a sat of eradit ratings or the purpose
of interrally rating counterparties. Creddt ratings are intended
to reflect the fgk of defaull of sach eounterparly. Ratings are
assigned based on ntemally developed rating models and pro-
cessds, which are subject bo gesmance and infémaly mdepen-
dent validaban procedunes,

Irlarnal ratings are assigned fo all leans reflacting the Growp's
inbermal view of the credd qualty of the courderparty, Imermal rat-
ings may differ from a courderparty’s external ratings, f such rat-
ings are avadable. Inlerral ralings for consumer leans and for cor-
podsles maraged an the Swigs platform ane regulary reviewsd
depending on loan lype, chant segment, collateral or evert-driven
developments. Infarnal ratings for all other conporate and irstitu-
fioral credd faciises ars reviewed af least annually, For the calou-
tatian of interral sk estimates and © nsk-weighted assats a PO is
assigned lo each loan. For consumer koans, comparates managed
on the Swis plitferm and the majerty of all sther carperale and

EDINETOOOO
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institutional counterparties, an internal rating or @ PD is caleu-
Eated dractly by propeistary stalistical rating models. Thase models
are based an internally compiled data compnsng both quantta-
tive factors {primanly balancs sheal infarmation for carposates and
lan-to-value ratie and the borrower's income level for mortgage
lerditg) ard qualtative factors (e.g., credd msdores from credit
repering bureaus). For madels calkulating a PD, an equialent
rafling basad on tha Standard & Poor's rating scale is assigned
bazed on the PD band asscciated with each rating, whach 1s used
fer dischoaure purpases. For the remalrng corporale and nstilu-
tioral facillies. the PD is determined through an mbernal rafing
asagred an the bads of a structived expert appreach. The PD
for each intemnal ralng s calbraled 1o hstonc defaull expenence
using internal data and axternal dala from Standard & Poor's.

& Reverse repurchase agresments ae fully collateralzed and
in the evant of counterparty dafaull the reverse regurchass agree-
ment provades the Group the rghl to bquidate the colialeral held.
Group gk management manages thess mstiuments on the bass
of the valwe of the underdying collateral, as oppased to loans,
which are risk-managed on the abilty of the counterparty to repay.
Therefore the underying collateral coverage o the most appro-
priata credit gualty indicater for reverse repurchase agreaments.
In additien, the Group has elecled the © fair value opbion for the
eapadity of its renerse repufchase agreements, As such, reverse
repurchase agreements have not been incleded in the following
tablas.

The fallewng tables present the Group's recorded imesimeant
in lears hald al amorlized cost by aggregated internal counterpary
credit ralngs mesimeant grade and non-imvestment grade thal are
used as eredit quahly indwalars for the purpasa of this disclasure,
ard a related aging analysis.
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Gross loans held al amortized cost by internal counterparty rating

e
PONE (CTHF mallion
T

iperate & it dkng
Greas lowns hald ot smorzed ool

2018 (CHF million

Dttty i Bad Kyt

diron losny hlld_ at smortized coal

I the Group's prvate banking, corporate ard instdutional bis-
messes, all collateral values for boans ame regularly reviewed
according to the Group’s sk management palicies and direttives,
wilh maximum review perieds determanad by collaberal type, mar-
aad bquidity and market transparency. Far exampla, traded secun-
fies are revalued ona daly bass ard property values are appraised
avel a penod of mase tham sne year considerng the chamelerslcs
of the borrower, current developments n the relevant real estale
markal and the current level of credil exposure 1o the borawer
If the credin exposure 1o a bomower has changed sgnificarly, in
wolalile markels or in limes of ncreasing gensral market risk, col-
lateral values may be appraised maore frequently. Management
judgmend is apphied in assassng whether markets aie wialds o

s

genefal market risk has ncreased 1o a degree fhat warrants a
mare frequent update of colateral vaiues, Movemenls in monitared
risk medrecs thal are stalstically different compared to hstorical
experince are considesad i addiion 1o amalysis of exlemally-
previded forecasis, scenanie lechniques and macro-economic
rasearch, For impaired loans, the far value of collalaral s defar-
rired within 90 days of the date the mpairment was ienthed
and thereafler regularly revalied by Group credi rgk managasmenit
within the impairment review process.

In the Greup's imestment banking businesses, few loans ane
colateral dependent, The collaleral values for these loans are
appraised on 3 least an annual basis, of when a lsan-ralevant
event oocurs,
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Gross loans held st amortized cost - aging analysis

O0E (CHF million b

i Pl ] & 1
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Cirgin loamy held 2t amcstioed conl 51812 4,000 11 w07 1885 5003 357515

FONE (CHF wnilian) '

waln & it

'l;l_lml loam held atl amertioed conl LD 40T 06 108 1001 4207 253088

¥ Prir pasrioe P T4an comenes

Impaired loans

In accordance with Group polices, mpaired kans mclude non-
performing lbans, non-inlerest-earning loans, restructured leang
and petendtal problam loans,

A3 of December 31, 2016 and 2015, kans held-to-malurily car-
red at amortized cost dd net include any subprime residential
martgages, Accordingly, mpaired kans dd nol include any sub-
prire resdanial morlgages. As of December 31, 3016 and 2015,
the Group dad nat have ary materal commilments o lend add-
tioral funds e deblars whose loan lerms had been moddied in
troubled debl restruciurngs.
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Winke-off af @ laan coours when it 15 consadersd certain that there
i fod possibitly of recovering the sutstandinyg principal. In the
Group's imesimant banking busnesses. a loan & written down to
#3 il book valis cnce the lan provisian s greater than B0% of
the lan potional amound, unbass repayment of the ban s arei-
paled fo seewr within the nexd twe quarers. In the Groups pei-
wabe banking, corporale and inctibut ione] businesses, wite-offs are
made, based on an indsvidual counterparly assassrment parforrnad
by Group credit nsk management, if it is cerlain that parls of a
lsan will not be recoverabla, For colateralioed leans, the collateral
is asgassad and the unsecured axposwre 18 wrillen off Wite-offs
an uncallateralzed loans ase based on the bomowar's abilily lo
pay back the culstanding loan out of frees cash flow, The Group
evihates the recoverabllity of the loans granled, f a borravwer 8

expecied to dafaull wholly or pasily on fis payment obligations ar to
meed these anly with third-pary support, Adjusiments are made to
eflect (he astimated reakrable valiee of the kaan of ary cellatetal.
Trggers to assess the crediwerthiness of a borrower to absork
the adverse develapimens include | 3 defaull o0 mleres of pan-
cpal payments by mede than 80 days, i) a waier of rlerest or
principal by the Growp, i) & dewngrade of the lbban o non-imarest-
earning, i) the collection of the debt through sezure order, bank-
fupbey procesdings of reakzation of collateral, or o) 1he insahency
of the barrower. Basad on sech assessment, Group credi risk
maragenert evaluales the need for wite-offs indmidially ard on
an engoing basis.

Recevaries of loans previously wrillan off are recorded based
an the cash or estimated fair value of cther amounts recened,
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Gross impaired loan details

Girove impaited loan detsil (CHF million)

Giraim impasied loand with a ipecific allomance

(0 A8 O

Cross impased loans without specific slowance
firows impabed loans

617/771
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Gross impaired loan details (continuad)

v

Grows kmpainad loan detall ICHF milkon)
Lo B3

mardt gnd pubsc rehhhons L
Comonie & ritbtio 1 5

1.45¥3 18

{Giroid impaited loans with & specific sllomance
T 3
R ail -
il e
sa
L)
:
Comparate & rnbhulons 348 B
o impaied loans withoul specific allowance 488 i

Gross impased loans 2,288 F2

f witwlh Sdefrisaog

The Group consders a laan impaired whan, based on curerd irfar-
matian and evams, | & probable that the Group wil be unable fo
cobect the amounts due accordng to the contraciual larms of the
lomn agreamant. The Group perfarms an in-depth review and anal-
ysis of impared kans congidenng factors such as recovery and
axit aptions 23 well a3 coliateral and cownterpaty rigk. In general,
all impaied leans are indiedualy assessed, For consumer bans,
the tigger to délect an mpaired loan i non-payment of iner-
25t Nen-payment of inferest o alsa a tngger to detect mpared
earparate and instfutiaral loans. In additian, loans ta corparates
managed on the Swiss platform are regularly reviewed depending
on laan type, cherl segment, collateral or svent-diven devalop-
merts. Al olhar corporate and institutional loans age reviewed at
least arnually based on the batrower’s financaal slatements and
arry mdications of difficullses they may expenience, Loans that are
nat impased, bul which are of special cancem due lo changes
n covenants, downgrades, nagalne financial news and other
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i i
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1 - i
3 1A
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i i L] ] i 13 i3 i

1 1,504 18 1 1,484 14 8

g I 3 ] n

adverse developments, are included on a watch kst Al loans on
thee weabich kst are reviewed ab leag) guanterly te debermme whelhes
they should be moved to Group recovery management, al which
poml thiy ans mviewed quartery for wnpaiment, Il an Bdiadual
lsan specifically iderified for evalubon (s considerad mpained,
the allswance is detarmined 23 a reasonable estimate of cradit
losses existing as of the end of the reporing period. Thereaf-
ted, the allvwancs B revaload by Group eredit mk maragemen al
least annually or mose frequently depending on the nsk prafile of
the bormower of credi ralivant events. For cerain man-colateral-
deperdent mnpared leans, an mparman i measured usng the
present vahue of estenated future cash flows, except that as a
pracical expedient an imparmend may be measured based ona
lman's observable markel poce. If the present value of estimated
future cash flows is used, the impared loan and relsled aiowance
are revalued af least quarterly 1o reflact the passage of time. Fer
collaberal-dependent impared loans, an impairment & measured
using he far valua of the collataral
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Restructured loans held at amortized cost

e L= )

Bestructured laam (CHF million, srcept whide indicated)
1 1
i § " ars 3y 1 -
Tetsl 18 k] 201 1] 22 225 " 204 4T
A 2015, (he Gn‘.\-u.p rep-arted the defaull of one Ban wikin com- I 2016, the lsan moddcalions of tha Glaup wic lpded exdanded

merczl and irdustial leans with a recorded imestmeant amount of  ban repayment and interest payment terms includng the sus-

CHF 65 milian, which had bean resfructured within the previous  pention of annual comractual credit kmil reducisons, cash mangn

12 momhs. In 2016 and 2014, the Group dd nof expenance a  requirements on new trade finance (ransactions, wanver of cov-

defaull of sch loars erants, release of cash colirleral and comporale guarantess, waler
aof inferest and margin reductions

20 Premises and eguipment

Fed ol 2008 Pl
Premizes and squipmant (CIEF mdiion

Premises and equipment 13,484 Ll ]
Raled S pe peialen =TT -

Todsl premises and equipment, met £ A 54

Dapreciation and impairment

d mie e
CHF enidlion

619/771



EDINETOOOO
OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
oOoOooodn

21 Goodwill

Consolidaled financial statemenls - Credil Suisse Group
Maotes to the consoldated financial statements

Goodwill

Jane
dirgis amomni el goadwill {CHF millan)

Balance atend of pericd
J;tmmmnu;;ml;l:lrmm [CHF milliers)
Balance atbeginrnsg of pericd

BB ook vahia {CHF millksr

Hetboak walup w23 1612 1548 e 656 0 111
-
Qs mmount of geod will {CHF millsn)
Dalance atbeginning of perkd 3 1,581 Tasé a8 1,000 12 L1
AT e 7 e - 1 T
e { m (i1 ¥ (k1] [+ [zj!
Balsncs wiend of period Bl 1,673 e 3183 1,027 12 B8 jEen
e i Ll : : g i
Balance st b eginmng of perkd o a 1] [ B 12 4
[ e I:l-':-ll l. 3 .- ' ) T ) %] -h' '.‘;. :’": L} r ":'
Balance wiesd of period (1] 1] e iy |- | 388 1% J.A881
Hetbook valus {CHF milkon) o i
Hetbook valus e 187 15 T B30 0 Aa

I aecordance with LIS GAAR, the Group conlmualy sasasses
wihethear or rat there has baen a irggening event requinng a review
of goodwil, As of December 31, 2018 and 2018, the Group's mar-
ked captalization was below book vake,

On March 22, 2016, {ha Group announced a number of strate-
ge measures aMectng i3 Global Markets and Strategic Reschibian
Urst sagments, including budiness exits, and sther busness redue-
fiens in Global Markets. During the second quarier of 2018, thasa
strategic measures were implemented tagethes with addiional
actions that alss impacied the Group's clher busingss segmants,
The Greup determined that these changes canstifulad trggenng
evnts. The Group's reporting unils wers not changed as a nesul
of this anncuncament and remain defined as fallows: Svdss Un-
wersal Bank — Private Banking, Swiss Universal Bank — Corporate
& Ingtautianal Banking, Inftematoral Wealh Managament - Pr-
wate Banking, Intemational Wealth Management — Assed Manage-
ment, Asia Pacific - Private Barking. Asia Pacific — Investment
Bankmg, Global Markets, Irvestment Banking & Capital Markets
arel Sleatege Resckition Unit,

The carrying value of exch reporling unit for the purpose of the
goodwill imparment et 3 detesmined by consadering the regort-
ing urs’ © risk-wexghled assels usage, leverage male expasure,
deferrad fax assels, goodwill and imMangble aszels. Any resdual

egisly, after cansidarng the fotal of these slements, i alocated to
the reporing units on a pre-rata basis.

In & stimating the © fair value of ks reporing unils, the Group
apphed a combination of the market approach and the ncome
approach. Under the market approach, consserabion was given
to price to projected earnngs multiphas or phce to book value
eulliples for smdady taded companies and prices pasd in recant
transactans thal have eccurred in its industry or in relabed indus-
tries. Under the incoma approach, a discount rate was applisd
that reflects the risk and uncertamty realed to the reporling unt's
progeciad cash flows, which ware determined fram the Group's
financial plan.

Irn deferruning the estenated far value, the Graup rabsd won
its updated fee-year stratege business plan wihich ncluded sgnifi-
cant manageman assumptions and esimales based on its view of
current and fubure ecancme: candtions and regulatory changes.

Goadwill 5 fested far imparmeant befars and immediabaly after
a reorganizabion or restruciuring of reporting units, As a result, the
gosdull Impasment et was parformed a3 of Mareh 31, 2016,
urder the old business structure as well as under the modified
aructure thal was amneunced on Masch 23, 2016, The gasdwill
mpairment anabysis performed as of Jume 30, 20168 considersd
the impact from the addiwonal actions in the sacond quarter of
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2018 and the Group concluded that the estimated fair vahue for
all of b3 reporting uns with goedwil substarialy excesded thes
related carrying values and that no impairment was necessary

Baged an s goodwill impairment snalysis performed as of
December 31, 2016, the Group concluded that the estimated
fair vabie f27 all of the reporling unds with geodwill substarially
exceeded thair relaled carrying values and no impairment was
rbcessary a5 of December 31, 2016,

The Group engaged the services of an independent vahuaticn
spacialel ba assit i ihe valeation of the Global Marksds reparting
unit as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2016 and in the val-
uaitian of the Irvestment Banking & Capital Markeds reporting und
as of Decamber 31, 2016, The valualians were also parformed
usng a comberabion of the markel appeeach and Peome approach

22 Other intangible assets

EDINETOOOO

OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

The results of the mparment evabuaton of sach reporting
unit's goodwill would be significantly impacted by sdverse changes
in the undarling paramaters used m the valation process, I
setual outecanss adversaly differ by a sgnficant margin free s
best estmates of the key economic assumplions ard assocated
cash flows apphed in the vakiaton of the repenting und, the Greup
could potentially vcur matenal mparment charges in the fulure.

A5 a result of acquistions, the Group has recorded goadwil
ag an assel in 15 consobdated balance sheets, the most sgnifi-
cant companent of which arass fram the scqusiban of Daraldsan,
Ladkin & Jenrette Inc. in 2000,

Ofver intangible wssats (CHF million)

Tiekr bl g i b %

B which maid g e

Tetsl othed intangible astels

e
A e AL i
(i il Het = a1 Het
i Ll dariyieg P amo R ing
npurt 1aton B bl 4T wnaian
- ) oy
14) i
a4 {43} L 145 {87} A&
T 138 - e 1e - 115
258 433 3 283 w7 188

Additional infermation
IR 1 14
HAggeegate smertisation and impaxmanl (CHF miliand

Estimated amortization

[ 'l-h";'m;!d -mnran;mn ACHF .mllhnnl
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Otfsen Fneats (CHF milllion)

Difses o il
Difps hiabAie s {CHF milken)

18,885
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24 Deposits
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2014
Tesad . Tatal
Deposits (CHF milkong
- g f
14, e, L i A wa - b
223,739 1S4B04 3785330 22m080 138678 33
¥ o & . e
’ : . winn g
e
1 e } ¥ - W ] o=l ¥
25 Long-term debt
fol ELIT] 18
Lomsg-term debf {CHF milkon)

2 b8 alaigy 4 ¥ ] 4,508
Long-team debi LLEET LR et
Struetured nobes by product

ol ELIT] 18
Bt kaiad neden (CHF milionk

LY -1

Tetsl strueired nobes BOSAE S48

Total kang-term dabt inclhudes debd ssisnces managed by Trea-
sury {hat do not contain dervatee fealures (vandla debl), as wel
as hybrid debl nstrumenls with ambedded © darmatives, which

are issved a3 parl of the Group's structioned praduct acthaties
Long-term debt inchudes both Swiss frane and foreign exchange
denaminated fixed and vanabla rate bomds.
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The mterest rate ranges presented m the table below are
based on the contractual berms of the Group's vanilta delbt, Interest
rabe ranges for fulwre coupon payments on structured products for
whaeh = fair value has been eleciad are nat included @ the able

Lang-tarm dabt by maturities

1'-|.-c\.l-;[;=r.l.l-v.ln1:n.n:| nur-r.il:-'lﬂ- rn;ﬂ-.p-m j
Suboedinated debl

nleeent rales {fange in %) "
fubmtal - Gaowe parent company
5H;II‘|.I-II'| 1I'."Hl'm|l.l‘rq|'|.l )
Sanior debt

Friceast Felai (hahas i 51

Sk dinated dalbl

32,468 35,182 TIATZ
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below as these coupons are dependent upon the embedded dete-
#ive and prevailng market conditions 1 the time each coupon &
paid, bn adddian, the effects of dernatives used for hedging are nat
inclidead in the inerest mle ranges on the assecited dabl.

Sarg K Tharma it Tl

& 200 Q L] o 4. Teb 20748

Subinkal - Subsdisies TBA2IT
okl fong o Y CEL
- truct 1F, The 311 L) “LFT]

The Group and the Bank mantan a shelf regisirabon statement
wilh the US Securdies and Exchange Commisaion (SEC), which
allews each enlity 1o (ssue, from time to time, senor ard subaed-
naled dabl securibas, warrants and guarantesas.

* Fad ¥ v Cruid AL

The Group maintaing a eurs mediom-term note pragram that
alaws the Bank 1o Wdue sener debl secunties and thal abinws
Credit Suisse Group AG and cerlain finance subsidianes (guaran-
tead by Credit Suisse Group AG) b ssue sacuribes, which can-
tan certan features that are designed to allow for statutory bail-
in by the © Swisa Feancial Market Supervsony Authanty FINB
(FlktA) urder Swiss banking laws and regulateons,

The Bank maintams a JPY 500 bdlien Samurai shelf registra-
tion staternent ihat allews it bo isswee, from time o Lime, senior and
subardmated debt sacurifies.
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26 Accumulated cther comprehensive income and additicnal share information

Accumulated other comprehensive income

a Accume-

¥ v labed oiler
i . " A ensive
b Faralyis n e 2 atrg % mcomes
P i scbitiriin il s ol e Frik Abenaf
FONE (CHF millisnk
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Balafcs abend of paciod (25} (12,0005} B 8 2THN B43 {558 (18,2723
POAS (CHF milion
Balance st beginning of pericd 3y (1 ATE (2] [EEiLiH] a53 = {15,000
LSt e T el 4% Ok 1 oty it Akt s | i
B o\ Ak " sk £ .
Balances atend of period (15 (135155 B0 #8672 BOT = {18,835)
2004 (CHF millien)
Balance atbeginning ol perdod 11 (13ET) 52 (2, T8T) L1k = (15,8753
Balwnce abend of pariod [E} (11478 (2] 4,00) 452 - 15,0030
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THIE s e

1557370,244

157 B1R 154

1,607,168,847

S0, a0

TOERARTITE

el

D G

Balance st seed of poried FHENADTITE 1,051 889,020 1, 50500 28
1t g walm CHF 0 wasch, fulfy pad. By adidiion B B rasry shaows, @ mopnemeam of &85, 000 000 wrimsssd shares [condion - | worced captal) wws peslabis for
s witoul it apgroved of e g 0010 of theus whares wi

shie CHE 0 0 swch, Sty pe i Tawry chites
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REnG s without harie apgeonl of e aretal 558,148,

commryon Bl seonged caghell wene sealabls dor
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27 Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

The disclosures set out in the tables balow include © dematives,

o peverge fepufcthase and © repurchase agreaments, and secii-

fies berdding and bormowing transactons thal;

o are aftaet m e Group's comsalidated balance ahaets; o

* are subgeet to an enforceables master netting agreement or
simitar agreement (enferceable master nelting agreements),
wrespective of whelher they are offsel in the Group's consob-
dated balanes shasts

Samilar agreaments include dervatie claanng agreements, glabal
master repurchass agreements and ghobal master securties lend-

ing agresments.

Darivatives

The Group transacts bilsteral & OTC dematves (OTC derva-
tves) maindy under Intematioral Swaps and Dervatives Assecs-
fian (FS0A) Master Agreements ard Swiss Master Agreemeants
for OTC dervatve instruments. These agreements prowde far the
et settlement of all fransactons under the agreement threugh
a sngle payment in the event of defaull or termination under the
agresment, They allow the Group to affset balances from derna-
e asests and babdlies as well as the recenvablas and pavables
o relaled cash collateral transacted with the same counterpary.
Colateral for OTC denvalies i recedved and provided in The form
of cash and marketable securles. Such colltenal may be subject
fo fhe standard industry terens of an S04 Credit Suppart Anres
Thee berms of an |30 Credit Suppart Annex provide thal securdies
recened o provided as collaleral may be pledged or seld durng
ihe tarm of the transactions and must be returned upon maturity of
the iansactian, Thess lemns alss give each courderparty the nght
fo terminabe the relsled transactions upon the other counterparly's
failure to pest collaberal. Financial collataral raceived or pledged

for OTC dernatives may atso be subject fo collaleral agreements
which rastricl the use of firancial collateral

For dernvatives transacted with exchanges (exchange-traded
dervatives) and cenfial cleanng counterpartes (OTC-cleared
dervatives), positae and negalve replacement values (NRV) and
related cash coBaleral may ba offsat i the tarms of the rulas and
reguiations governng these exchanges and central cleanng coun-
tedpasties parmil such natting and effset.

\Whare no such agreements exisl, fair values are recarded on
a gross basis,

Exchange-traded dervalves or OTC-cleared dernalses, that
ane fully margined and for which the daily margin payments con-
stitute setflament of the cutstanding exposure, ane nal inchaded in
the offsetting disclosires because they are ol subject te ofiset-
ting due to the dady settlemant. The daily margn payments, which
are mat seltled wnlil the rest selllement cyele 18 conducted, are
presented in brokerage recehables of biokerage payables. The
notional amaount for thase daily selled denvatses is included in the
fax value of dervative insiruments fable in “Mate 32 - Dervatives
and hadging sctiities”.

Under US GAAP, the Group elected to account for substan-
thally all firmncial instruments with an embedded dervative that &
not considered clearly and clasaly refated to the host conlract al
far valua. Thame is an axception for cerlain bfurcatabls hybeid dabl
meiruments which the Group did not elecl 1o account for al fak
vahie. However, thase bifurcated ambedded dervalies are gener-
ally nat subject to enfiarceabls master netting agreemants and are
net recorded &8 dervale insltuments under (rading assats and
Eabilties or olher assals and cbher kabilties. Information on biur-
caled embedded dermathees has theraisoe nol been included n the
offsetting disclosunes.
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The fellowing fabke presants the gress amount of dematives  dematves ot subject fo enforceable masier netling agreemants
subgect 1o enforceable master nelling agreemems by contract  and the net amounl presented in the consalidatled balance shesats
and fransactmon type, the amownt of offselting. the amount of

OMsetting of derivatives

dof e
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Reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements and
securities lending and borrowing transaclions

Reverse repurchase and repurchase agresments are generally
eovered by global master repuichase agreements. In cerain situ-
ations, for example, m the event of defaull, all contracts under the
agreaments ane terminabed and ae sallled net in ane Snghe pay-
ment. Global master repurchase agreements alse inchude payment
of sefllament netling provisions in the nonmal course of business
that state that all ameunls in the same currency payabds by each
pary to the other under ary transacton of otherwass wdar he
giobal master repurchase agreement on the same dabe shall be
st b,

Transactions under such agreements are natlad in the consob-
daled batance sheats d they are wilh the same courterparty, have
he same matunty dale, satihs through the same cleanng instibu-
fisn and are subpecl bo the same masier netbing agreemant. The
amounts affsed are measured on the same bass as the underlyng
fransaction (Le., an an accrual basis or far value basis)

Securflies lending and borrowing transachions are geneally
expeuled under global master secunties lnding agresments with
netling berms simiar bo ISDA Master Agreaments. In cerain ait-
ualions, for example in the event of default, all contracts under
ihe agreemert ane lerminaled and are sellled net in one Sl'iﬁﬂ
payment. Transacliors undar these agreemants ane natted in the
consolidated balance shests if thay meet the same right of offsel
erilea ag for reverse repuichase and repurchase agreaments. IR

Maotes to the consoldated financial statements

genaral, mest secunties lending and borrowing transactions do not
et the crbenon of having the same selflement date specifiad al
ncegtion of the transaction, and 1heredons they ane not elighle for
nelling in the consolidated balance sheals. However, securfes
lending and bormawing transactions with explicil matunty dates may
be abgible for netting @ the consohdated balance shasls,

Reverse repurchass and repurchase agreemeants ane collater-
alzed principally by govemmant securibies, maney market insir-
et and corparate bonds and have ferms ranging from ewerright
te & longer or unspecfied pensd of lime. In the avent of coun-
terparty default, the reverse repurchase agreement or securites
lerding agresrment provides the Geoup with the nght 1o hgudate
the colisteral hald, As is the case in the Growp's normal cowrse
of businass, substantially all of the collabaral received that may be
sald or repladaed was seid or repledged as of December 31, 2018
and December 31, 3015 In cartain cireumstances, fmancal col-
teral received may be restncted during the term of the agreement
(&.4., = iri-pany arangements).

The follwing fable presents the gross amourd of securites
puichaded under resale agreements and Jacurties baffawing
transachions subpect te enforceable master netling agreemants,
the amaurt of offsatting, the amount of securities purehased
urder nesabe agreemants and securfes bormowing transaclions
nel subjeet bs enforceable master nelling agreements and tha nat
amourt presanied inthe consolidated balance shests.

Offsetting of securities purchased under resale agreements and securities barrowing transactions

g o

Lacurilies perehaned wadpi e iils agieamenls shd
securities baniawing tramactons {CHF bilkon)

Securilas purrhased under FELEe ageETEnd s

s T B i) 1 o
Tatdd #ubject b enfodc eable momied nathing bois smesls
Tokal not subject b sndoiceable master meltng agreements '
Tokal

18

Hisating Hat w Hasttong st
T 0 4.5 B 214 (35} :u' )
1238 {31.4) B2.5 1124 123.5) gan
4.2 =: 422 331 = I

W1 LA 1T s 23 1.0t

VR Rt A [Tl i LT D
BT v B B0t
735 mllon ard CHF 53,505

CHF 2

The follewing table prasants the gross amound of securities sold
under repurchage agreements and securies lending transactions
subpel to enforcaabls master natling agreemants, the amsunt
of offsatting, the amount of securties sold under repurchase

A A P D] Wi el 1

3 whaa i WS SR DD e il it ity Gl ATl by B deied 0 b Pl &

BB el SO, g iy P Pt 0 s vt

agreaments and securities lending lransactions mot subject 1o

erforceable master netling agreemends and the nel amounl pre-
sapied in the condalidated balanee sheats
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Offsetting of securities sold under repurchase agreements and securities lending transactions
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Thee fabovwing table prasents the mel amaund prasented m the con-
soldated balance sheets of financial assels and kabilfles subpct
1o enforceable master rellng agresmants and Lhe gross amount
of firancial instruments and cash collateral net offset in the con-

soldated balance sheets. The fable excludes deriatives, reverse  collateral
repurchase and repurchass agreements and secunties lendng and
Amounts not offset in the consalidated balance sheets
wred ol F0IE
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Net exposure (s subject 1o further credil mitigabion theough the
transfer of the exposure to other market courterpartieas by tha
uge of = COS and credd nyurance contracts, Therefone the net
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botrawing transactions ot dubgact to enforceable master nelling
agreaments where a legal apinen supporting the enfarceabilty of
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expodure presented in the table above = not represantalive of the
Group's countarpany axpasure.
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28 Tax

Details of current and defarred taxes

mie
Cysrant and delwriesd e (CHF milhon)
Cudreal Heome lax Sxpenie B34
Delened income lax sipanie|Benelil (153}
income lax éxpense ] ul
i
Reconcilialion of taxes compuled al the Swiss statulory ratle
e
Income ol bom contmumg operahiony belons Exnes ACHF milksn)
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Consolidated financial slalements - Credil Suisse Group

Motes to the consoldated financial staternents

2016

Foreign lax rate differential of CHF 403 milon reflected a for-
egn lax beneft manly drven by losses made in igher tax prisde-
tiars, such as the US, pantialy affsst by fareign tax rate differen-
{iml related to profis earned o lower fax nsdictions, manly the
Bahamas. The foreagn tax rde expensa of CHF 433 miban vwag
reat onlly impacted by the foresgn tax benefit based on staliudory tax
rabet bud alse by tax mpacts retided to addifional recancing dems
as explained bekow,

Other non-deductible expenzea of CHF 1,540 millan
wciuded the mpact of CHF 983 mllion retated to the non-deduct-
ide portiom of the Migaton provisions and sattlement changes,
CHF 420 milkon relating to non-dedwctible interest expenses,
CHF 52 milhen retated to non-deduclible bank levy costs and
other ren-deductible compengation eapenses and management
costs, CHF 31 milkon retated ta non-deductible fareign exchange
ksses, CHF 25 mallion related to onercus leass provisaans, and
ather various smaller non-deductible expancas of CHF 20 mdian.

Lower taxed income of CHF 219 million incheded a tax ben-
&t of CHF 71 milkan reiated ta non-tasable He indurance income,
CHF 58 milion related o non-laxable dividend incame, CHF 19
milion in respect of income taxed ai rales lkewer than the statitory
{ax rale, CHF 11 millon relabed 1o exempl income, and varous
sryaliar fams.

Changes in tax law and rates of CHF 145 milion reflacled
a tax expensa of CHF 139 milion caused by the reduction of
deferred fax assels from the enactmen of UK corparation tax rale
changes, and CHF & millon related fo changas in othar cowuntras.

Changes in deferred Lax valuation allowances of CHF 76
milion included the mel mpact of the increass in valuation allow-
ances on deferred lax assels of CHF 308 milon, mainly n respact
of four of the Group's opataling enldies, twe n the LK, ene in
Hang Kong and ona in Swizerand, Addisanally, 2016 included
an accrual of vakmton alowances of CHF 91 milian for previously
recognued defermed tax assels in respect of one of the Group's
operating emiles in Hong Kong. Alse included was a fax ben-
efil from the release of valuation alkowances of CHF 193 millon,
mairly in respect of ane of the Group's apesabing emities in Lhe
UK. The change in UK corporation tax rates coused a release of
waluation allowances of CHF 130 milan in respact of four of the
Group's operaling anfities m the LK,

Change in recagnition of outside basis difference of
CHF 218 millon reflacied a ax expensa relsied o the expected
reversal of the outside basis diffesences relating 1o Swiss subaid-
fary emesiments.

Othar of CHF 331 millon included a tax banefit of CHF 392
milicn relating 1o the re-assessment of deferred tax balances n
Switzerland reflacting changes in forecasted fulure profitabilly,
CHF 37 millian from own credf valuation gains and CHF 33 millicn
frain paaot year adjustements, partially affsed by CHF B9 millan bas
Itigaton expense and asscciafed intesest and penalies relating lo
twe Halian income (2x matiars which have bean resobed as parl of
an agreemant with the Halian fax authenties, and CHF 22 millian
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relateng to the increase of lax contingency accruals. The remaining
balarce included varows smader tems.

2015

Foreign tax rate differential of CHF 716 millon reflacied a for-
aign lax benehl mainky drven by lksses made in hgher tax jus-
dictions, such as Brazil and the US, partally offset by forsign Lax
rale differeplial ralated to prafits earmed in bower fax prsdictions,
raainky Guemasy and the Babamas, The forsign fax rate benefit n
rakalaan 4o bodal foreign tax expense of CHF 290 milisn was mate
than offset by tax impacts related to adddional reconciling tems as
axplungd bekw,

Hon-deductible amortization of other intangible assats
and gaadwill impairerant of CHF 1432 million reflected the
non-deductible nature of the geadwill mpairment,

Other non-deductible expenses of CHF 3891 million
included the mpact of CHF 219 mdlian relating te non-deductible
irlerasl expanses, CHF 63 milon relabed 1o ran-dedutible bank
levy costs and ather non-deductible compensatinn exgenses and
management cests, CHF 50 milkon related to the non-deductile
portion of the liligatien provisions and settemant charges. and
ather vamaus smalker non-deductible axpenses of CHF 53 milkan

Lower taxed income of CHF 276 milon included a fax ben-
efl of CHF 59 milkon relaled 1o non-tioable duidend income,
CHF B2 million related 1o non-taxable |de insurance income,
CHF 50 milan relaled fo exampt income, CHF 49 milian relaled
te non-laxable foreign exchange gaing, CHF 16 milken in respedt
af meame taxed af rales bivwer than the slatubory tax rate, and van-
ous smaller items,

Changes in tax law and rates of CHF 347 millon reflacied
a tax expense of CHF 180 milion relfated to the change in New
York Cily tax lw, CHF 175 million causad by the reduction of
deferred tax assels from the emctment of UK carporation Lax rabe
charges and infreduction of the bank corpormtion lax surcharge,
and CHF 10 milion related to changes in olher countries, partially
affsel by a tax benefit of CHF 16 millon from a change in the
Brazd tax rale and CHF 11 mellion related to a change in Mew Yark
slate tae baw,

Changes in deferred tax valuation allowances of
CHF 103 milien included the netl mpact of the raleass of valu-
alion allewances of CHF 109 milien, mainly in respect of two of
the Graup's operating entities, one in the LK and one in Hong
Hong, relating to curent year eamings. Additionally, 2015 ncluded
a releasa of valuation allewances of CHF B8 milian for pressously
recognized deferred tax assels in respect of ane of the Group's
operating anfitiez in Hong Kang. The change in UK corperation
tax rales and intreduction of the bank corporation tax surcharge in
3015 caused a release of valuation alowances of CHF 162 md-
liem i respect of four of the Group's aperating enlities o the UK.
Alss meluded was a b dopenss of CHF 256 miban resulting from
the increase in valuation alowances an deferred tax assels manly
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from theee of the Group’s cperaling entilies, twe in the UK and one
n Swllzerland,

Change in recognition of oulside basis difference of
CHF 262 million reflacted a tax axpense relaled to the axpeciad
reversal of the cutside bass ditferences relating te Swiss subsd-
ary imasimants

Other of CHF 46 milkon inchuded a tax bereft of CHF 155
milban relating bo the re-assessment of deferred lax balinces
in Swiizerdard reflecting changes in forecasted fulure proftabd-
fy, parialy offsed by & bax axpense of CHE 48 mdbon relating to
the mcreass of lax contingency accruals and a tax expense of
CHF 2B mdlian frem prior year sdjustiments. The remairing bal-
ance included vanows smaler tems

2014

Faraign tax rate differential of CHF 314 midban reflzcted a for-
eign tax expense in respect of profils eamed in hgher tax juns-
dietiens, mairly Brazil and the US, partially affsel by foresgn bax
rale diffarential relafed {0 profits eamed n lower tax jurisdictions,
iy Guerndey and the Bahamas, The total foreign Lax expends
of CHF 1,627 milian was net enly impacted by the foreign tax
axpense based on slatulery tax rabes but also by tax impacts
refated 10 adddional reconciing dems a3 explaned below,

Other non-deductible axpendes of CHF GEE& millen
incleded the impact of CHF 300 millien relating to the non-
deductible partion of the [bigaton provisions and selilament
chargas, non-deductible mberest expenses of CHF 179 mibon,
nan-deductibla bank levy costs and elher non-deductible compen-
sation expensas and managemant cosls of CHF B9 milion, and
ather various smabar non-daduclible expensas of CHF 3B million.

Lower taxed income of CHF 272 milion included a tax ben-
afit of CHF 84 millien related to non-taxable dividend meome,
CHF 56 million related fo mon-laxable Be nsurance income,
CHF 36 millan in respect of income taxed at rates lower than
the slalutory tax rale, CHF 34 mallion reldled 10 eamplt offshors
ncome and various smaller fams.

Changes in tax low and rates of CHF 151 mibon reflected
a bax expense rekited 1o the change i New York stale tax b

Changes in deferred taxz walustion allowances of
CHF 1,064 eiban included the fat impact of the mersase of vaki-
alsan allwances of CHF 427 milien, mainly i respect of six of
the Group's eperating entitbes, three in the UK and one in each
of Germary, Raly and Switzerland, relating to currerd year eam-
ings. Addtienally, 2014 meluded an increage n vakaton allwance
for preveously recognized deferred tax assels in respact of two of
the Graup's operating antilies in the LI of CHF 682 milien. Alse
included was a tax beneft of CHF 25 millan resuling fram the
release of valuation allkvwances on dafered lax assets from ona of
the Graup's cperating enlties in Spain.

Change in recognition of sutside basis difference of
CHF 450 milion reflacted a tax benefit related 1o the enactment
of 3 Dwiss GAAP changs impacting the expected reversal of the
outside basis differences relaling to Swiss subsidary imestmeants.
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Maotes to the consoldated financial statements

Other of CHF 158 milken included a tax benefit of CHF 189
rillean followirg audt cldures and tax setlement s, logether with
a benefl of CHF T mallion relating to the decrease of tax confin-
geney seciuals, parlialy affset by CHE 30 millan et 15 acerual
adjustments and a tax expense of CHF 27 milion relating to nan-
eeevarable foreign and withhelding 1axes. The remaining balance
ncluded varicus smader items.

As of December 31, 2016, the Group had accwmulaled wndis-
tributed earmings from ferelgn subsidiaries of CHE 5.4 bilken. No
deterred tax Eabidy was recorded in respect of thase amounts
a8 thesd earnings afe considered indefinkely reimasted. |t 13 nal
practicable 1o estimate the amourd of unrecognzed defemed 1ax
kabiltias far these undistibuted foreign earnings.

Deferred tax assats and labilitas

wred o 2008 o
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The decrease in net deferred tax assets from 2015 to 2016 of
CHF 426 milkon was prmaridy dus 19 the mmpact of CHF 750 md-
ban in connecton with the establshment of Credit Susse (Seinneg)
AG and the tax impacts direcily recarded n equity and other com-
prehansive deome, mamly relaed 1o the net mpact of share-
bazad compansatian, penson plan re-measurement and cther lax
recorded directly in equily of CHF 312 milan. Thesa decreases
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were partially offsel by an increase of deferred lax assets of
CHF 178 milban from the re-meaurement of deferred tax bal-
ances n Swizedand and Hong Kong, CHF 254 millon retrled to
currenl year aarings, and foreign exchangs transaton gans of
CHF 206 millen, which are included withn the currency frans&tion
adjustinents recorded in AOCI

The most sigrdficant net deferred tax assets arse in the US
and Swilzerland and these decreased from CHF 5515 milien,
rel of @ valuatean alowance of CHF 3,198 milien as of the end
of 2015, to CHF 5,328 millisn, net of a valation albwance of
CHF 3,339 million a3 of the end of 2016,

Due 1o unceramly concarmng #3 abilly 1o generate the mec-
essary amourl and mix of tasable income in fulwe penods, the
Group recarded 3 vahabion alowance againgt deferred tax assels
in the amourd of CHF 4.2 bilion as of December 31, 2016 com-
pared to CHF 3.0 billian as of Decambar 31, 2015,

Amounts and expiration dates of net aperating loss
carry-Tarwards

and st 2018 Totat

190,087

1T 55

Total nell opeialing lows can y-fodwaady a7 543
Movements in the valuation allewance

" 6 i ir
# [CHF emillic

4107 2,708

= 100 1,407

Balances atend of period 4,188 1,908 4,107

s part of 83 normal practice, the Group has eonducted a dalailad
evaluation of s expected future resulls, This evaluabon & depen-
dent an management astimates and assurmptions in developing
the expected fulure resulls, which are based on a strategic busi-
ne3s planning process influenced by current econamic canditians
and assumplions of fulune economa; conddions that are subect fo
change. Ths svalistion teak inte accsurd beth posilie and mega-
ihve evidence related to expected future faxable mcome and alsa
considersd slress scerarns This avaluation has indicaled (he
expeched fulure resulls thal are likely to be earmed in prisdictions
whera (he Group has signficant gross deferred fax assets, pri-
maily = the US, Switrerland and UK. The Group then compared
{hase expected fulure resuls with the applicable lnw governing
wilization of deferred tax assets. US tax bw allows for a 20-year
cany-farward pencd faf ned aperaling laases, Swiss bax lw allews

EDINETOOOO

OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

for @ seven-year canry-forward panad for net operating lbssas and
LI tax law allows for an unhmiled carryforward periad for net
operating losses,

Tax benefits associated with share-based compensation
. mis 1] FonE
Tazx banafls sdiodated with share-hauad E“l.l;l]lit:ﬂ (CHF milion) .

a0 b x Baard SR AP P Lie & Psted)
redorded m addSorl paikS-am capta

H, upon safilement of share-based compansation, the tax dedue-
tion excesds the cumulathve compensation cost thal the Group had
recagnized in the consebdated hnancial Statemants, The ulilzed
tax benefit assecated with any excess deduction i3 considered
a “windfall’ and recognized in sharehaldars’ equity as adddional
paid-n captal and reflscted as a francing cash inflow in the con-
solidated statements of cash Bows. I wpon satlament, the tax
deduction & lower than the cumulatie compansabian cost thal the
Greup fad recegnited in the consehdated firarcial statedvents,
the tax charge assocated with the lower deduction & consadered
a “shartfall’. Tax charges arising on shortfalls are recognized in
shansholders’ equity 1o the exdent that any shortfalis are kwer than
the eumtalae windfalls, sthervize the tax charge B recognized
in the consolidated staterments of operations, However, windfal
deductions and dvidend equivalents aggregating CHF 1.1 ilbon
ard CHF 1.1 bilkon at the end of 2016 and 2015, respactively, did
net result @ a reduction of income taxes payable becauss certan
enilites s wene in & nat operaling loss positian, VWhen the income Lax
banafl of these deductnans = realized, an estimated CHF 85 md-
liem fax beneht will be recorded in retamed eamings.

v Bl by "o =)

Uncertain tax positions

US GAAP requires a lwo-slep process in evalusting uncerain
ncome tax positions. In the firsl step, an ererprnss delermings
whether # 5 moee lkely than ned thal an meame tax padisan will
be sustaned upon examination, ncleding resolulion of any relaled
appeals or iigatisn processes, baged on the technical marits of
the pastion. Income tax posibans meeting the mane-keby-than-
nol recegnition thresheld are then measured fo delarmine the
amgurit of bereft ehgible for recogndion in the consobdated finan-
cail stalaments. Each meome lax positean is massired af the lrg-
est amount of tax benefit that is more Bkely than not to be realzed
upen ultemabe sablemert.
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Reconciliation of the beginning and ending ameunt of gross unrecognized Lax benafits

orpments in greas ureecognired tax bensfds (CHF milian
Halance st eginrey ol pelied

¥l e ogrioed tar benefils o @it of Tax posfiaos 1eken dut § i period

Ol e bk Tod e CLT ey B EReiban
Dalance atend of peried

which_ il 1 1 wiondd wlfect s etfechhve Lax rale

Interest and penalties
shib
Entpra et and peasibe s (CHEF mallicn) a

5 hecarinkd i

Inberest and penalies aré reported as lax expenss, The Group 18
curmantly subjest be engoing 1ax sudils, nguiries and Rigatian with
fhe tax authorites n a number of jurisdictions, ncluding Brasd, the

e
368 R 473
T i
b
"
24 =] £

410 Tiep Bl

MNetherdands, the US, the UK and Switzertand. Alihough the timing
of complation is unceriain, il s reasarably possbils that some of
these will bo resabed withn 12 months of the reporing date,

I is ressorably possible that there will be a decrease of
betwean zero and CHF 118 mibon in unrecognized tax benefils
within 12 months of the repading date

The Group remains open lo examinaion from federal, stale,
presancial or similar loeal junsdictions from the fallowing years
ormwarnd in these majer courtres: Japan - 2012; Swilzerland -
F011; Brazil — 2010; the US - 2010; the UK - 2000; and the
Methetdands — 2005
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29 Employee deferred compensation

Paymart of deferred compendation lo employess is defermingd  Deferred compensation expense

by the ralue of the business, role, location and perfarmance of TS
the employes. Linless there i a contractual obbgation, granting  paswred compansation sapensa (CHF million)
dederred compensalon is solaly al the discretion of semar man- = ooe P e =y
agement, Special deferred compensation granted as parl of a
comtractual obligation i lypscally used fo compensale new Senior
employess n a sangle year for forfeited awards frem previous
efphysrs upon pinng the Group. M i the Grauwp's palicy nol s
ke mulli-ygar guarantess,

Compensation expende recogrzed in the consobdated state-
menf of operations for share-based and olher swards that weme
granted as deferred compensation is recognized n accordance
with the specific terms and conditions of each respectve award
and s primarily recognized suer the fulure requisite sendce amd o L " it
vesting penod, which is determingd by the plan, reliremert edgi-  Ci e oo ster F
bulity of employess, two-year moratarium penods of eatly (M- Topal dateried companistion sxpanss 1829 2372 2190
ment and cerfain other termas, All deferred compensation plans are 1o eares desivesad (million ’ )
sidhject 6 mof-cefmpete and on-solict provisiens. Compensatien T,
enpense for share-based and other awards that were granted ag | P
deferrad compansation alse includes the curent estimatad aut- E ifatmritan
come of applrable performance criera, estmated fulure forfe-
tiges and mark-to-markel adjustments far eartain eash awards
{hat are still cut standing. e

The follewing tables shaw the compansalion expenss far  *
defemed compensalion awards granted in 2016 and prior years  °
thal was recognized in the consoldated statements of oparations
during 2018, 2015 and 2014, the 1otal shares delivered, the esti-  Estimated unrecognized deferred compensation
mated Lnrecognized compensation axpensa for deferred compen- T
salion awards granted in 2016 and prior years outstarding as of  gopnae unrscognized compentation sxpenss (CHT milion
Decembar 31, 2016 and the remaining requiste senate pensd - >
over which the estimated unrecognzed compansalan expanse
will ba racognized. The esfimated unrecognized compeansation
expanss was based an the © fir value of each award on the grant
date and included the current estimated oulcome of relevant par-
farmance critena and eslimated futwe forfeitures bul no estimate
for futire mark-lo-marksl sdjusiments. The recognition of com- Lo e | maining weighted-avarage raguinits serrice pariod (ressh
pensation expense for the deferred compensation awards granted & o i g merind mmigh regeste siite e 1=
in Fabriary 2017 bagan in 2017 and thus had no impact on the = .

2018 censoldated fnancial stalements.

37 ]

roc e o areimated Ui ogrioedd comparaaion e g o gran e made

Deferred compensation awards for 2016

In February 9017, the Groug granted share swands, parformance
share awards and Cenbingent Capial Awards (CCA) as deferred
compansaticn Defarred compansalion wag swanded to employess
with 1otal compensation above CHFE/USD 250,000 or the bacal
currency equialent.
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Share awards

Share awards grarded o Febouary 2017 are simitar to those
granted in January 2018, Each shate award granted enfithes the
halder of the amward to recane ona Greup shane, subject o sarvice
conditans, Share awards vest over thiee years with one third of
the share awands vesting an each of the thvee annvessanes of the
grant dale (ralable vesting), with the exceplion of awards granled
1o indhiduals classfied a3 rdk managers of semor Managsrs undef
the LUK PRA Remunsration Code, Share awards granted fo nsk
managers vesl avar fve years with one fifth of the award vasting
an each of the fve anniversaries of the grant date, while share
avwards granfed 1o SaniF Managers vesl sl fue Years comment-
ing on the third anmeersary of the grard dabe, with one fifth of the
avard vesting an each of the third 1o seventh anniersanes of the
grard dale. Share awards ame expensed ower the senace penod of
the seards. The valee of (he share awards is solely dependen an
the Graup share price at the time of delivery,

The Group's share swards include ather awards, such as
blocked shares and special awards, which may be granted to new
amployses, Othes share dwards entile the holder to recenve one
Group share, are subject lo continued employment with the Groug,
eontamn resirictive covenants and cancallation provisions and gen-
eraly west batween tero and fve years,

On Fabruary 15, 2017, the Group gramed 378 milksn share
awards with a tolal valee of CHF 588 millian. The number of
share wwirds grared Lo emplyess was delermingd by dading
ihe defered component of varable compensation being granted
as share swards by the average price of a Group share over the
fen business days ended February 28, 2017, The fax value of
aach share smard was CHF 1542, the Group share price an tha
grant dale. While share swards granted between January 1, 2014
ardd December 31, 2018 did net inchude the fghl 1 recene dii-
dend equwalents, share awards granted after January 1, 2006
nchsde the right to receie dividend equivalants, upon weeling. Tha

Share award activities

Share srowdi
Balance atbegirewsg of persed

F wih i tling

of which unsaiad

LT
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estimated urrecognoed compensabion expanse of CHF BSE mil-
bon was determingd based on the far vale of the award an the
grant date, includes the current estimate of future farfedures and
will b recognoed over Lhe vasting pencd, subel to aarly relie-
ment nules,

Share awards grantad for previous years
Pl Gt yrat 018 ey
Shmie awards wl.r;lld dzx provious pemy o . )

Thagben e (el ITE o8 B TR

In aedar o comply with Capital Requiramants Direclae IV require-
mens, employess whe hold ey reles in respect of certain Group
suibiadianes fecehe shares that ane subjlaet bo transier rastnictions
for 50% of the amount that would have been pasd to them in cash,
These shares are vesbed at the tme of grart but remain biocked,
that s, subgect to irarsfer resincbians, for six months to three years
fram the daie of grant, depanding an the location

Qn February 15, 2017, the Greup granted 2.5 milion blocked
sharas with a total vahes of CHF 37 milion that vestad mmmedately
upan grant, haee no fulure serace requrements ard were atirb-
uled fo sannces parlarred in 2016,

Blecked share awards granted for previcus years
Pt comppraaon v i HEh Eaikly

Blached

are areards granted foi peovicus paars

803 2134 i1 M4 ms 0
0 1TAT & \EET 17 £ o7
(¥ & Ty 1) - ',- ik
M1 g T i el i) = o
?3! 1877 EJ.:I 21588 J‘J'._l e 100

(8] hE 1nL]

i of 3o dhare ret g e S il O e apye o] of

7o ) T elrontid Ahdbwd wirs P bdrte 44 T

Fardan
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Performance share awards
Members of the Exetutve Beard, maraging directors and all
2 matenal nsk takers and controBars (employess whase actrlies
are considered o b & potentaly matesal impact onthe Group's
risk: profile] recesed a portion of their deferred variable compensa-
tigi i the o of parfermance share swards, Perfsimance shane
awards are simiar to share awards, excepl that the full balance of
cutstanding perfarmance sharé dwards, intluding those awarded
i pOr years, ane subject 1o perormance-based malus pronsions
Perfermance shire swards granted wildl 2015 were subleet to 3
regateee adjustment i dhe evenl of a negatve dmtege ROE of
e Graup, wheeh was ealcutated based an Core Results, adpsted
far the goodwil mparment charge related 1o the re-crganzation
of the formes Imestment Banking deasion. However, fellswing the
change in owr fnancial reporing strectune n 2015, the sirate-
gic ROE i mo longer calculated, and consequently, any nagathe
adjustment 1o performance shane awards i subpect o the discre-
tian of the Compensation Committes, For 2016, the calculatian
was based on adpssied resulls, which the Compensation Comenit-
tee consadaned a3 the mosl accurabe reflection of the opesating
pericimance of the businesses. There was no negatie adjusiment
apphed to parfarmance share awards granted in 2015 and 2014
given that the 2016 dhvasional adjusted results and adjusted ROE
of The Group were bath pockie,

Perfarmance share swards granted from 2018 are subject fo
a pegatiie adjisstmert (m the svent of a divisaaral less by the divi-
sien in which the amployees worked as of December 31, 2018, or
a regative ROE of the Group, whathever resuls in a larger adpst-
ment, Far employees n corporate funchions and the Sralege Res-
alutian Unit, the negative adustiment anly appbes in the svemt of 3
regaie ROE of the Group and is nof linked te the performance
of the dhvigsors. The basia for the ROE cakeulabsn may vary from

Parformance share award activities

Perfarmance dhars sraidd

year o year, deperding en the Compansation Commiliee’s deler-
rrsation for B year in which the perfermance shares am granted.
On February 15, 2017, the Group gramed 20,7 milion per-
formance share awards with a total value of CHF 451 milkan.
The number of perfarmance share awards granied 1o emplayees
was determingd by divading the deferred component of varable
compensation being granted as performance share awards by
the average prce of a Group share gver 1ha ten busness days
ended Febouary 28, 2017, The fair value of each performance
share wward was CHF 1542 1he Grouwp share price an the grant
date. While performance share awards granted batween Jany-
ary 1, 2004 and December 31, 2015 4 net inchade the nght te
racane dvidend equvalents, performance share awards granted
after Jamuary 1, 2018 include the nghl te recene dwvidend equna-
lems, upan vesting, The estimated unrecognzed compensation
expanca of CHF 448 millisn was determined based on {he fair
value of the award on the grant date, includes the current esti-
matad aueame of The ralevant performance eriera and eslimaled
future forfedures and will be recognized over the vesting pericd.

Perfermance share awards granted for pravious years
Fa <rparumons yost o = .

Prednamunr s l..hp-u. .l“"ﬂl. granied b previou

i el P (rmllior

Yk of pelefimmance dhgrd
recarciad (CHF frillan) &5 420 RO

comriied for fahure swpedied

sa8 L0

EIENCE
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Contingent Capital Awards

CCA were granted in February 2017, January 2016 and Jami-

ary 2015 as part of the 3016, 2015 and 2014 defered varsble

compansatien and have ighls and risks similar bo thase of certain
contingent capdal mstrumerts issued by the Group in the market

CCA are scheduled bo vedt on the thid annnersary of the grant

date, ather than those granted lo ndeidials clissfied as sk man-

Bgers of senit managers under the UK PRA Remuneration Code,

where CCA vest on the fitth and seventh anniversanes of the grant

dale, respectively, and will be axpensed over the vesting pericd.

CCA provide a conditional nght to receve semi-annual cash pay-

menils of mered! equivalants umtil sallied, with rates baing dapen-

denl upon the vesting peried and currency of denominaticn:

o CCA granted in 2017, 2016 ard 2015 that are denamindded in
U3 doltars and vest three, fve and seven years from the date
of grand recahe interast rale equivalents at a rate of 4 37%,
5.41% and 5.75%, respectiely, per annum over the si-month
US deliar & Landan Intesbank Offered Rate (LIBOR);

= CCA granled in 2017, 2016 and 2015 that are denomirated
i Swigs francs and vest thiee years from the date of grant
recene inberesi rate equialents ab a rate of 3.17%, 4.23%
and 4.85%, respectiely, per annum over the st-meath Swiss
frane: LIBOR;

o CCA graried in 2017 that ane dencminsled in Swiss framnes
and vast fie years from the dale of grard recene ntarest rate
equinabents at & rate of 2.03% per anturm sver the six-morth
Swiss franc LIBOR; and

® CCA granied in 2017 that are dencminaied in Swiss francs
and vest seven years from the date of grank recene nberest
rale equivalents at a rale of 2.03% per annum over the so-
menkh Swiss franc LIBOR.

The rabes were sal in line with market conditions al the time of
grant and axgsting hagh-trigger and bw-trigger conlingent capial
nstruments that he Group has issued. For CCA granted m Febru-
ary 2017, employeas whe recehed compensation in Swiss franca.
recaived CCA denominaled i Swiss francs and all other employ-
ey meaned OCA denomirated in US daollars,

As CCA qualfy as going-concern bss-absarbng capital of the
Group, the timing and form of distribubon upen setilament is sub-
et fo approval by © FINKA. AL settlernent, employees wil recens
aithar a commngent capital instrument or 3 cash payment based
on the fair valee of the CCA. The fair value wil be delermined by
the Group. Im the case of a cash sebtlement, the CO0& award cur-
rency denamination will be corverted imo the local currency of
each raspaciive amployes.

CCA have less-absorbng features swch that prier to selile-
mant, the principal amount of tha CCA weuld ba written down o
zera if any of the follewing trigger events wers to ocour:

" e Growgy's reporled camman agquly ter 1 (CET) mtis falls
balew T or

»  FIMMA detarmines that cancellation of tha CCA and other
simitar conlngent capital instruments i necessary, or that the
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Group requires pubbe seclor capfal support, in efher case lo
preverd @ from becoming msahent ¢f elherwse faiing,

On Febrsary 15, 2017, the Group awarded CHF 220 million of
CCA that will be expensed over the westing penod from the grant
date, CCA were awarded as defesred varmble compansation to
managing directors and directers, The estimated unrecognized
compendalicn expenss of CHF 218 millon was delermined based
on the fair value of the awand on the grard date and ncludes the
currerl astimated aulcame of the risan perdormance erflana, the
estimated future forfedures and the expected semi-annual cash
payrnants af nterest and will ba recogrzed ever the vesting panad.

Centingent Capital Awards granted for prévious years
ot o aton year e bl e

Contigant Caprinl Awards granied fos prasious yems

résan) ] ] T

CCA gwaited (CF

Centingent Capital share awards

Im Barch 2018, the Gioup executed a vohmitary schargs offer,
under which employees bad the nght 1o volstarily convert all or
a portian of their respecive CCA info Contingenl Caphfal share
aecasds al a cornersion prce of CHF 14.57. CCA holders ehected
te corveit CHF 228 millisn of thes CCA inle Comngent Capl-
tal shang awards during the election pencd, This fair value repre-
sened an approamate corversion rafe of 15%. Each Contingent
Capdal share award had a grant-date far value of CHF 14.45 and
containg the same confraciual term, vesting penod, performance
cribedsa and ather terms and conditions as the onigiral CCA,

Centingent Capital share award aclivities
e
Contmgant Cupelal thars sesrds {milkani .

Fox fasiasd

Balance at and of pevicd 135
ol et v D] L]

SR e —" [

Other variable compensation

Ir 2016, the Grewp granted deferred share and eash retention
awards of CHF 240 milion redating to the rmorganzation of the
Global Markets and Investmant Banking & Capfal Markets busi-
neasas. These awards will be expensed over a penod of up 1o
seven years from the grant dabe. Amorization of these awards in
2016 of CHF 118 milien was recognized in the Corparabe Cenfer,

Plus Bond awards

Maragng drectors and dreclons n the fommer Inestment Banking
division received & porson of 2012 defered vasable compersation n
the Barm of Pius Bond awands. The Phus Bond award was essentaly
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afoed mcome instrument, denaminated in US dollars, which provided
a coupan payrent thal was commensurate with makel-based pric-
ing, Phus Band award holders were entilled te recele semi-anraal
cash payments on thae sdpsted svard amounts 2 the rate of LIBOR
phas TATE% per annum wild settlermant. The Phs Bond settled in
July 2016 based an the ameunt of the wdal wward leas sy por-
fobe kosses n excess of a first loss portsan relaned by the Group of
USD 600 mdlon. The value of the Pius Bond awards was based on
the perfarmarce of a portfoks of urated and sub-mmestmert-grade
assel-backed sacurties (ABS) that ware hald in invenbary by vanow
{rading desks, The Pius Bord award plan contrbated to a reducion
of the Grewp's © nsk-weghbed assets and constiluled & rab mrter
froen the Geoup to the Plus Bond award hokders. Fral payout upen
setliement of thase awards was 100% of the ameurt awarded.

2011 Partmer Asset Faclity
A4 part of the 2011 annual compensation process, the Group
awarded a porban of deferrad vanable compansation for S&nioe
emplyeas in the form of 2011 Pariner Assel Facility (FAF2)
isnits. PAFD unds are essanally fived income structuned notes
1hat are exposed 1o a porlion of the credd nsk tha anses in the
Group's © dereative activities, includng bath current and possibla
future swaps and other denvatve transactions. The value of the
awand (Jar bolh the imterest acenzl and the fnal redempbian) will
be reduced if the amownt of realzed credil losses from a specific
reference portfobs axceeds a pie-defined thieshol, The Group
will bear the first USD 500 milkon of such losses and the PAF2
haldars will baar any losses in axcess of USD 500 milkon, up ta
fhe full amount of the defered compensation awarded. As a resulf,
{he PAFD plan & a transfer of sk from the Group to amployess,

Emgloyens af the managing dirsctor and drector kavels, inchud-
ing eartain members of the Exsculive Board, recened PAFD
awards. The PAFD swards vested in the first quarter of 2012,

PAF2 awards were linked 1o a porthalio of the Group's credd
exposwres, providing risk ofiset and capdal relief, Due 1o regula-
tory changes, this capdal relief would P longer be svallable. As &
result, the Group restructuned the awards in March 2014, requanng
PAFD halders to reallocate the axposure of their yeards from the
pool of courdarparty cred® risks n the oniginal PAF2 structure lo
one of the following optiens. of a combinalion thereat: | Cagital
Cpperunity Faclity (COF) paricipants elect for their award to
be raferanced to a COF. The COF i3 a ssven-year facily that is
Inked to the perfarmance of a portfols of risk-iransfer and cagital
mitigation trangactions o be entered inls with the Group chesen
by a COF managemant team. The value of the COF awards will be
reduced if there ane losses fram the COF pertfalio, up to the ful
amaunt of the award. Participarts wha elect the COF will racehe
sarmi-anneal LS dollar cash distributions of 6.5% per annum wndd
seltlement in cash in 3021, and such semi-annual distributions will
reduce the cash satilameant amewrnl payable in 2021, and &) CCA:
participanis alect to receie DCA, with similar berms 1o the insfru-
ments grarted as panl of the 2013 compansation iwands,

In Magch 2014, 5,084 emploiees comerted their PAFT hald-
ings of CHF 884 millian inte CCA (CHF 518 milkon) and COF
{CHF 168 milion), Setlemard of the PAF2 CCA accurred n the
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first half of 2018, fallowing regulatory approvals. Fnal payout upan
sattlemanl of thase swards was 94% of the amevint swarded.

2008 Partnar Asset Facility

A% part of the 2008 amual compensation process, the Group
granted emplovaes i the former Inestment Barlong dhasion with
the corporate fitle of managing direclar or deector the majordy
of the deferred compeniation in the form of 2008 Pariner Asssl
Facilty (PAF) awards, denaminated n LS dobars. The PAF awards
are indesed o, and reprasant a frst-loss interast n, a specified
pool of ilquid assels (Assel Pool) that orgmated in the former
Irmestmant Basking divisaan,

The noticnal value of the Asset Pool was based on the fair
marked valise of the assats within the Assst Paal on Decembes 21,
2008, and these assels will remain stalic througheud the contrac-
tusal ferer of the awarnd or until hquidated. The PAF holders will par-
ticipate in the pobentaal gams on the Assel Pool f the assets within
the poal are quidated af pricés abeve the inital far madket vakes.
I the assets within the Asset Pool are bquidated al prices below
Ukt irstial fair marked value, the PAF holders wil bear the it lass
on the Assat Pool As a result, a sianificant partien of risk pasi-
tions assocated wilh the Azsel Poal has bean transfered 1o tha
emplyess and remaved from the Group's nsk-weighted asssts,
reaulting in a reduction in capial usage.

The PAF awards, which have a confractual term of eight years,
are fully vested, Each PAF holder will receive a semi-annual cash
inferast payment of LIBOR plus 250 bass poirds applied 1o the
notional value of the PAF award granted theoughout the contrac-
tual term of the award, Bagnning in the ffth year after the grant
date, the PAF halders will recahe an arnual cash paymen egial
te 20% of the rational value of the PAF awards if the far market
value of the Asast Posl in that year has nel decined below the
initial fai marke! valee of the Asset Peal, In the final year of the
contractual lerm, the PAF holders will recene a final seitlerment in
cash equal 12 the nelional vakes, less all previous cash payments
rinade 15 the PAF hobler, plus any related gans of less any relaled
lasses on the bguidation of the Asset Pool Settlement is expacied
be ecur i the first hatf of 2017

Other cash awards

Other cash awards consisl of voluntary deferred compensation
plans, systemalic rmarket making plans and employes inve stment
plans. The compensalion expense related o these awards was
pritearly deven by mark to market and performance adpstments,
as the majority of the awards are fully vesied,

Deliverad shares

I 2014, the mapdity of the Group's share delvary obbgations
was covered theough market purchases and in 2015, the Group
delvered all of 83 shaves thesugh marke purchazas. In 2016, the
Group’s share debary obligations were covered mainly through the
ssuance of shares from condianal capdal, with a pertien coverad
by shares purchased m lhe markel, The Group inbends bo cover fis
fulure share debvery ablgations through market purchases.
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Farties are consdered to be refated o one pary has the abdiy
o eonitral tha sthar party or axescise signeficant influence aver
the olher party i making firancial or aperational decisions, or if
ancthar party conlrols both. The Group's related parties include
key management perscnned, close family members of key man-
agement personnal and enfibies that are conlielied, signtheantly
infiserced by, of for which signdficant voling pawer & held by key
management parsannal or thar clase family members. Key man-
agement personnel are those indrvidials having authonty and
respensdiity for planning, deecting and controlling the activities of
ihe Group, thal &, members of the Exacutive Board and the Board
of Diretors,

Banking relationships

The Group 5 a glebal financil senaces provider, Many of the mem-
bers of the Execulive Board and the Board of Direclors or com-
parses associabed with them maintain barking relatonships with
ke Group, The Group of any of 15 banking subssdiaries may from
fime o time erder Mo financmg and clher banking agreements
with companias in which curan members of the Exacuiive Board
of the Board of Cirectors have a sgnficant influsnce as defined
Iy the SEC, sueh as holding exseutive and/ar board level rales in
ihese companies. Wilh the exceplsan of the transactions described
balow, retalionships with members of the Exsculhe Board or the
Beard of Dwectoss and such comparnies are in the ordnary courss
of businzss and are anfered irfo on an arm's lengih basis. Alse,
unless olherwise noted, all leans 1o members of the Exaculive
Board, membars of the Baard of Dweclors of companias assa-
ciabed with them were made n the ordinary course of businass,
wete made on substantialy the same lerms, includang interest
rales and collzteral, as those prevailing af the time for comparable
fransactions with olher parsens and dud nol Fvebe mare than the
narmal risk of colectabaily or present other urfavorable features,
Az of Decambar 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, there wese no kan
exposmres to such relabed parties that were nol made n the ardi-
nary course of bussess and o prevailing markel canddiana.

Related party loans
The magrity of lans sutstandng to mambers of the Emeudie
Eoard and the Board of Direclors are mortgages of leans aganat
secumties,

All mortgage koans to mambers of the Executive Beard are
gramied efher with variable o fived interest rates owr a certain
pericd. Typcaly, morigages are granted for perieds of up to ten
years. Inferest rales apphed are based on refinancing costs plus
@ margin, and mterest rabes and other ferms are consistent with
those applicabls 1o ather employess. Loars against securlies are

granted at mieresd rates and on termns apphicable fo such lans
granted to cther amplyeas. The same cradd approval and rigk
assessment procedures apply 1o members of the Executve Beard
as for ohher amployess, Linkiss otherwise nated, all leans bo mem-
bars af (e Exaculive Board were made in fhe ordnary cowse of
bismess and substantially on the same ferms, meludng inleres!
rates ard collateral, a3 those prevading ab the tme for comparable
tramsactions with ather persans and in consderatesn of the terms
which apply fo all Group employees, Thess loans dd not mohe
enane than the normal sk of colactabdity of prasent ather wifane-
able features. The teghest loan cutstanding to an Executive Board
member was CHF T milien 1o Themas Gollstein as of Decem-
ber 31, 2016

Mernbera of the Board of Dirsctars with bans do not banefit
fromn employes conditions, bul are subject 1o conditions appied to
chents with a comparable credd standing. Members of the Board
of Direclars wha were previously employees of the Group may
2ill have sutstanding bans that were paovided a! the lime that
employes condibans apphed fo them. Unless otharwise nefed,
all lbans te mambars of the Baard of Directors are made in the
ardirary course of butiness and substantially on the same ferms,
ncluding imMerest rates and collteral as thase prevailing at the
time for comparable transactions with other persans. Such lans
do nat imahe mode than the narmal nsk of collectabifly or present
olher unfvorable features,

Exgcutive Board and Beard of Directors loans

n 2018 s Py
Loans to membery of the e ostive Boad (CHF miflion)

Ealance at bapnning of pariod F -] 1@
arAnir & on 1
P Bor m i i
Balance at end of pesicd 254 il 5
Loani to membais of the Bosid of Deectors (CHF milllan)

S e T e =
FRT— 3 1 B
[ [l ) 4
Ealance at end of pevicd 10" & %

A oF ncbacdull wilh ouiatirsdng leang o1 tha Begarerereg s T sl of B it
i W g, reipee sy,

B T mamist of ncvedalil wih sRbInanang ks a1 B g wnd T nd of B e

w il Fros B S0, regacively

Equity method investees loans
The Graup of 83 subsihanes gramt kans 1o equily method rvest-
&g inthe pormal course of businass,

640/771

313

oOoOooodn



314

Consolidated financial slalements - Credil Suisse Group

Motes to the consoldated financial staternents

Laans made by the Group or any subsidiaries to equity
method investees

E L) el el |
Loaen o squilty mafaod investees {CHF milicn)
ﬂ;;;(&ﬁ&ﬁﬁ;iﬁi}ﬁi“ il 135 1 i
TP Ty r——— - = :
Balanee st énd ol pericd 173 135 13

Other related party transactions

Begsning in February 2011, the Group erfered inla agreements
with entities affiliated with Catar Investment Authonty (Q1A) and
The Ol Group, eath of which has sigreheant haldings of Group
shares ard ather Group fnancal products, The agresments wene
amended in 2012 and 2013 and, 28 a resull, QLA and The Olwyan
Group agreed bo purchase new tier | high-trigger capital ingdru-
ments (rev Ther 1 Capital Nobes) i exchange for their haldngs of
previausly ssued noles
Thies felkowing new Tier 1 Capital Males were outstanding as of
Decamber 31, 2016:
= USD 1.725 billien 0.5%, held by an affikate of The Olayan
Group;
= USD 1.72 bilhon 9.5%, held by an affilate of OL&; and
= CHF 2.5 bdlion 9.0%, held by an affiliate of Q8.

Umnder their terms, the new Tier 1 Capilal Nates wil be comerted
inte Group crdinary shares f the Group's reported CET1 ratia,
a3 determined under © Basel Committes on Banking Supenasion
{BCBS) regulatians as of the end of any calandar guartes, falls
kel 7% (or amy lewer applicable minimum thresheld), unless
O FINNA, o the Group's request, has agieed on oF phat to lhe
publication of the Group's quartery resufts thal actions, circum-
slances of evenls hiove reslored, of will immnénlly réstons, the
ratie to abowe the apphcable threshold, The new Tier 1| Capial
MNates will alss be comeriad i FINMA datermines that comars
Slen is necessany, or thal the Group requines public sacter capital
Suppedt, 1o prevent the Graup Trem becaming maohenl, bankagl
of undabde 1o pay a malerial amourd of the Group's debls, or olher
similar cicumatlances. In addion, comersion of the naw Tier 1
Capial Motes issued 1o the enities affikated with The Olayan
Group will be triggared o, in the svent of 3 request by FINMA
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for an intenm repart prior {1 the end of any calendar quarter, the
Group's raported CET1 ratio, as of the and of any such inferim
pensd, fals below 5%. The comversion price will be the higher of
a gien floor price par share (subgel to customary adiistments)
ar the daily volume welghted average sales prce of the Group's
ardrary shares ovar a fe-day pancd pracedng the notice of con-
varsion. The new Tier 1 Capial Metes are deeply subordinated,
perpetual and calable by the Group no earber than 2018 and in
cerain dher crcumstances wih FINMA approval. Inderest, which
& pavabls an the USD 1.725 bilion and the USD 1.72 billan pew
Tiar 1 Capital Metes at a fied rate of 0.5% and on the CHF 2.5
bilban new Tier 1 Capdal Notes o a foed rafe of 0.0%, will ressl
after the first call date. Interesl payments wil genssally be discre-
tionary (unless triggered), subjact lo suspension in carain crcum-
stamces and non-¢ umulabve

Ab tha time of the original fransacton, the Group deler-
mired thal thés was a malenal fransaction ard deemed ObA and
The Olsyan Group to ba rebaled parties of the Group's curent
Boand of Direclors member Jassim Bin Hamad .J..J. Al Thar and
the Group's then Beoard of Directors member Ang R.D. Syriani,
respectnvely, for purpeses of evahuabing the terms and corparate
goverrance of the ooiginal transaction. Af that time, the Baard of
Diiraclors (except for Mr. Bin Hamad .J1.J. Al Thani and Mr. Synan,
wha abstained from participating in tha determinaton process)
detarmined that the terms of the orgnal fransaction, given ils size,
the nature of the contingent capital inslrument, for which thare
was no established market, and the ferms of the noles issued
and hald by 014 and The Clayan Group, were fair. As of Apnal 26,
2013, Mr, Syriani retired from the Boasd and no ofher persen affik-
ated with The Olwyan Graup has bean alecled as a mamber of the
Boand of Directors.

Liab#lities due te own pensien funds

Labditee g due to the Group's own defimed baneft pensicn furds
a3 of December 31, 2018 and 2015 of CHF 521 million and
CHF 1580 milion, respactively, were reflectad in vanous kabi-
ty accourts n the Group's conscldated balance sheats, Cerfain
ureehsahdsted SPES wholly owned by the Group had habifibas te
the pensian funds of {he Group with notional values of CHF 53
mullsan and CHF B0 milkan 3z of December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respaciively
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The Group spansers defined contrbidian pension plans, defined
banefit pansion plans and olbar posi-retiremant defined banefit
pians such as post-refirement health care,

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PEMSION PLANS

Defired contributean plans pravide each participant with an indnid-
wal account, The benefits 1o be provided te a padepant are sclaly
baszad on {he cordributions made te that amplyes's account and
are atfected by income, expendas and gans and kaases alocated
o the account. As such, there ars no shipulations of a definad
annufly benefit at retirement and the participants bear the full
aciuaral as wel as mesimant k.

The Group contrbuies 1o varous defined confribubion pension
phans pramarily in the US and the UK as wel as slher couniries
threughout the world. Durng 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Group
contributed to these plins ard recagmzed as expanse CHF 161
milion, CHF 157 milion and CHF 182 million, respecinely.

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POST-
RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Defined benefit pension plans

Defined bansfil pension pluns are pension plans thal define spe-
cific bengfils for an emplkyes upon that employee’s relirement
Thess benefils are usually determuned by taking inte account the
employee’s satary, years of service and age of refiremand. Reir-
was bear paither the actuarial ridk (for example, the rak thal the
rebrees of the plan e longer than expected), nor the imvestment
risk: (hat is, that plan asssts invested and assocaded retums wil
e insatficiend fo meel the expocted banefits due to kw or nega-
e rebums on comrbubiang). The Group's fundng palicy for these
phans is in accordance with kocal lews and tax requiremant s,

The Graup's most sgnificard defined banefil pensien plan, the
Credi Susss Swas Penson Plan (Swiss pension plan), is beated
ard eovers #3 employess i Swilzerbind and B sed up a3 & trust
damiciled in Zunich. The Swiss panson plan provides bensfits in
the svart of retrement, death and disabilty and meels of excesds
the mimrum berefils sequired under the Swiss Federal Law on
Oeeupatonal Retiremeant, Survivers’ and Disablity Penson Plans
(BVG). Benefls in the Swiss pension plan are determmned on the
basss of the accumulated emplaver and employes contnbulions
and accumulated inerest credited. Although the Swiss pension
phan 5 [argely defned contribubion in nafure, i i treated as a
defined benafit plan under US GAARP, mairly due ta a guarantesd
minimum return an confrbulicns and quarantesad paymend of lfe-
time pensans, As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Swiss
pansion plan compndad T3% and TE%, respectively, af all the
Group's employess partizipaling in defined banafil plans. B0% and
B1%, respectialy, of the © fair walus of plan asas1s, and B2% and
2%, respacively, of the pension benefil obligation of the Group's
defined benafit plana.

Emplyyee confributions in the saings sechion depend on ther
age ard are determined as a percartage of the pensienable salary.
The employeas can select between theea different levals of conri-
Bidiens which vary betwean 5% and 14% deperding on (hai age.
The Group's centribulien varies balween 7.5% and 26% of the
pensonable sabiry depanding on the employes's age.

The Swiss Federal council sets the mmnmum stabutory inlznest
rade on savings balineas on an anmeal basis that apples to the
EVE minamum pensionable salary (1,26% as of Jaruary 1, 2016
and 1.00% as of Jarisary 1, 2017), The stabidory inbesest rale on
sanvngs balances does nat apply 1o exdra mandatory banefits. The
Board of Trustess of the Swiss pentan fund ssts the inferest rte
to be apphed on the accumulated soings balance on an anmual
basis.

Whan empioyees retine, (heir sangs bakance is comverted into
an annudy and the comerssn mals i the pereentage used lo can-
vt ihe assels accrued in the Swiss pension plan bo an anmel life-
tirrse retiremard pendion. The level of the comersion rate depands
o the e expactancy of fulure retiress and on the keag-lerm
potential for raturns in the capital markets. The Board of Trusteas
of the Swiss penmon phen hag the responsbilty 1o et the conver-
son rales for the pan. In Decembar 2016, the Board of Trusteas
of the Swiss pension plan decided in favor of further decreases in
comarson rates. In the fidure, decisiong on comeraon rabes will
be 22t for a planning horzon of at keast eight years.

‘iarlous defined benafit pension plans cover the Group's emphoy-
ees oulside Swilzertand. These plans provde benefits n the event
of relvement, death, disabilly o termination of empleymant.
Retiremant benafits under the merrational pension plans depend
an age, coninbutians and satary, The Group's prncipal defined
benaf pension plans cutsde Switrerand are beated in the US
and in tha LIK_ Bath of these plans ane funded, closed fo new par-
ticipants and have ceased accruing new benatis, Smaller defined
benef pansian plans, bath funded and unfunded, are operated in
other lcations.

Other post-retirement defined benefit plans

In the US, the Group's defined benefit plans proveds post-retire-
ment benefits other than pension benefits that primardy focus
an health ard welfare benafis for cartan retired amployees. In
exchange for the curent sarvices provided by the employes, the
Group promises 1o provide health and welfare banefts afler the
empioyes refires. The Group's obligatsn for that compensation &
ncurved as employess rander the sericas necassary 1o sam thei
posd-rel rement benefls,

Benefit costs of defined benefit plans

The el perodic benefil costs or defined benefil pengion and
other post-retirement defined benafit plans are the costs of the
respective plan far & pendd during which an emplies rénders
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senices, The achual amount te be recognzed & determined using
{he standard actuansl methodalegy which comdiders, ameng other
factors, current senvice cost, nlerest cost, expected return on plan

Components of total benefit costs

Todsl beaehl costs (CHF mlion

Seatm ol
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assels and the amortization of both poor service costfered) and
actuarial losses/gans) recognized in ADCL

2014 018 B018 B e 2088 a1t

irber et Coute on beneft cbligation 141 =39 134 1 14 E

;_.;:a_\.._h.l i fdan gl

Amdrtization of necogrized pior serioe cosl et} == ] o I

Arceor iEahony ol dCograged o S il I gaen e =51 3T a1 a4 [ I 1a

Hel periodic bene St costs (oredits) 43 11 ] L] ] w L] 2 ¥
Sl Derrmn loTie g 0 o [Tl 0 m P o } [
Curiafmes gk 14 & o} "

Spe-clal Sorrrired e Drerarlif s 1] 7 = =] + 1] =
!nﬂhmﬂwﬂn‘tnlﬂhl 1m 192 145 a2 kL b 18 12y ¥

Tolal benet costs reflected i compensation and benehls - other
for 2016, 2015 and 2014 were CHF 271 milion, CHF 228 milion
and CHF 177 milkan, respactively.

Snce the second quarter of 2011, as pan of As strategic plan,
the Group has bunched a number of codt efficiency measures,
inchuding headcount reduction, This resuled in curfailment gaing
of CHF 18 milban, CHF 2 malian and CHF O mdlien in 2016, 2015
and 2014, respectively, reflecting the immediate recagnition of a
eredit relating bo the years of sarvice no longer axpacted to be
rendered, Additional costs of CHF 24 mallion, CHF 24 milien and
CHF 44 millen in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respactively, related o
the settlemamn of the pension cbligation for employees in Swizer-
tared whose emplayment has affectively baen terminaled o wha
harve: left the Group due to a sale of ther business, Special fenmi-
reatian benafl costs of CHF 22 milban, CHF © milien and CHF 17
milken have been recognized in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respec-
tivaly, relating to sadly retiemants m Switserend in the comext of
{ha cost efficiency measures,

Duning the second half of 2016, lump-sum seltiament offers
wee made to terminated vesbed membars of the pension fund in
{ha LS. As a result of members sccapling this offer, there was an
additienal cost of CHE T2 milkon relating 1o-the settiement of pen-
sien ebbyalans o ihese mambars.

The beneit obbgation is expressed as edher accumulated beneft
ahbligaton (ABC) or PBO. While the ABD refars 1o the actuarial
present valus based on emplopse sanaces rendered prior 1o that
dabe and takes inbo accounl current and past compensation levels,
tha PBO also apphes an assumplion as to fulure compensation
bl
The table “Oblgations and funded status of the plans’ shows
fha changes n the PBO, the ABO, the fair value of plan assets

and the amounts recognized in the consabdated balance sheeis
fer the defired benefd pension and other post-relrement defined
benafi plins.

US GAAP reguires an employer to reccgnize the furded status
of the defined benefit pansion and olbwer past-relrement defined
benefd plans on the balance shest, The funded stalus of these
plans is determined as the difference bebwesn the fasr value of
plan assels and the PEO. The funded status may vary from year
te year due to changes in the fair valus of plan assats and varia-
tions of the PBO follawing changes in the urderlying assumplions
ard census dala used to determene the PBO. In 2016 and 2015,
the curtalments, setilsments and special termination benefs in
Switzerland, which impacled the PBO, related fo the headoount
resduction in {he context of the cost efficiency measures,

In 2015, the Board of Trustaes of the Swiss pension plan
changed a number of refirement benefits, reflecting the plan's
abilty to firance baneBls on an ongoing kag-temm bass, which
became affective as of January 1, 2017, These changes reflact
thee prospecta higher costs of praviding retrement benefts due
to boweer expacied assel relurns, lower inbeses! rabes and increased
life expectancy. These cansideratsnns have resulled m incremantal
reductions of comversion rates, the inroduction of the reference
age G5 for all inswed parsons, changes 1o the bidgng pensien
related to the Swiss Old-Age and Survivers Insurance, enfarced
lump-sum withdawal sptisns on retirament and the reduction
af the masximum relrement pension Furthermare, the Board of
Trustees of the Swiss pansion plan alss agreed fo improve death
ard disabilily benefits and to miroduce a cohabiling partner's pen-
s, In 2016, the Board of Trustees of the Swias pension plan
made addilional amandments to plan conditians leading to furdher
decreases i fubire corversion rates, These changes resulled in
a CHF 302 milkon and CHF 179 milion reduction in the PBO for
the Swiss pensisn plan in Dacembar 2015 and 2016, respactiealy.
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The total ned amount recognzed o the conschdated balance In 2017, the Group expecis to coninbule CHF 430 milion
sheels as of December 31, 2016 and 205 fod the defined bensft  bo the Swiss and intemalicnal defined benatd penwon plans and
pansan plans was a net overfunding of CHF 729 milion and a net  CHF 12 millon to ofher post-radirement defined benafit plans.
undarfunding of CHF 140 millan, respectialy.

DOeligations and funded status of the plans

2018 2005 FL ] 25 p ]

PO (CHF mllion )
i ginning of Sio meassemant gericd 16,088 15881 3,388 3,530 180 178
; 9

ppri 14 1 1

-
¥ ¥ wl L

" il : _|
i I o E

End of Be meassement pesiod 15,888 16088 3337 3,386 184 180
Fat wohet of pdan nzsets {CHF millan) T S T o T
B gnning of S1p messsemant pericd 15807 15E35 3012 3878 0 o
Al rebm on plan asast &1 ] 7] ]

¢
i, 4T
End of #e meassiement period 188 InE 4,000 3,72 o o
Fumed stuhus scoqnized (CHF mllion) )
e i e e Pry ragE) [ . 3
Fussd status recognized in the consclidated balance shesias of December 3 66 (488 5 245 (184) (180
Tokal tlﬂﬂl.lf.ﬁlf( agnized (CHF milliony

el aidet W i 5 ] i
Tokal secognized in e cons balance sheel o of December 31 B [L1:13] [ 145 {1BE) {180
J-F.EUI_I.'.JH mlfiank ?
End of ®é menimsmant paiiod 14082 15180 7,281 3,315 184 180
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The folowing lable shows the aggregate PED and ABOD, a3 wed
a3 the aggregate fair value of plan assets for those plans with
PBO n excass of plam assels and thase plans with ABO in excess
of plan assets as of Decernber 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively

Defined benafit pension plans in which PEC or ABO exceeded plan assels

g ik i 008
CHIF milion

The fallowing table shows the acluaal gainsiksdes) and prias
service cradit/foost) which were recorded m AQCI and subse-
quently racognized as companents of nel pericds: banafit costs.

Amounts recognized in A0CH, net of tax

Arsounts iecognized i ADCHHCHF millon)

Thor e £

Total

The foliovng tables show the changes in other comprehansive
inceme due 1o acluariad gaing/lesses) and pror senace credits
{casl) recagnized in AOC] during 2016 and 2015 and the amarli-
zatan of the aforemertioned fems as compenants of net periedic
benefil costs for thass penods as wall as the amourds expecied ta
e amort zed in 2017

b 018

Al L]

(3 54)
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Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income

i " Total el
BN (CHE million)
hi
Toksl ) ) (142 428 ] 4 ] 410
2N (CHF million)
AL S {5} a
i
Ar i ] 0
i : it 4 M
Total (&30 121 (&0 (13 @ i (506
Amaunts in A0CH, net of tax, expected to be amartized in 2017
EIH s
CHT pralllicen
Torsl 712 5
Assumplions of which indandually represents the best estmale of a pareula
The measurement of both the net penadic benefit costs and the  fulure svand.
benet t\'hhgalrun e debermmed usng exph;-t asgsumplions, each
Weightad-average assumplicns used to determine net periedic benefit costs and benefit obligation
- N
a0n 2018 2 i

Helpeiicic bene Sl cost (%)
271 fae
Hamehl ohlipation (%)
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The assumplions used to delermina the bernefit oblgation as of the
measuremart daba are alse used lo cakeulabe the net peradic ben-
efit costs for the 12-morth penod following this date,

The discount rabe o ore of the factors used to determing |he
present value as of the measurement date of the fulure cash oul-
flows currently expected to be requined to satisty the benefit abli-
gabiang when due.

The assumplion partaining to saley inereases s used o ealeu-
fale the PBO, which i measured wing an assumption as to fufure
compensation levels,

When Credf Sulsse estimates the inferest rale on savings bal-
ances, expected fulure changes in the interest rabe emaonment
arg taken into consaderalson, Specifcally, Credi Suisse uses lhe
cash flow welghted average of the yield curve wsed for the dis-
count rale as the best estmate for the inberest rate on savings
baleneas for these long term preectisns.

The expected kong-term rate of retum on plan assets, which is
uded 10 caleulals the expected relufn on plan 234815 23 4 compa-
reerd of the et periedic benefit costs, reflects the merage rae of
ratums axpectad on the funds imeasted o to be irmested to pro-
wide for the benefits ncluded i the PED. In estimating fhat rate,
appropriate considaration i ghen 1o the relutng beng eamed by
tha plan assets and the rales of return expected to be avafable
far reiveestiment, The expected lag-term rde of return on plan
assets i based on tolal return fovecasts, expecied volalilty and
corralation astimates, reflacting mterrelationships beatwean and

Martality tablas and life axpectancias far major plans
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within assel classes hald, Where possible, simbar, if not related,
appeoaches are follvwed fo forecast retums for the various assat
clasdes

The expected long-term rabe of relumn on debl sacunities
reflects both accruing infterest and peice returns. The prebable
long-term retilionship balween the botal return and certan aiog-
enous vamables is used, which knks the total return forecasts on
dabt securities to forecasts of the maceseconamic eminonment.

The expacted long-term rate of return on eguily securites
s basad on a two-stage dvidend discourd medel which consad-
ers econamic and market forecasls to compule a market-impled
egisty gk presvum. Dwidards are estienated uding markel con-
sansus earnings ard the histoncal payaut ratio. A subsequent sce-
nagia arabysis s used lo slress tast the level of tha relurn.

The expacted long-tenm rale of redurn on real estale is based
o ecanamc models that reflect bath the renlal and the capdal
markel side of the direct real estate markat. Thes allows for a reph-
cable and robust ferecasting methodalegy for expectad returms om
real estale equity, fund and direct marked indices.

The expacted long-tamn rate of reburn on pevate equity and
hedge funds is estimated by determining the key factors in their
higterical performance using private equity and hedge fund banch-
marks and indices. To capture thesa factors, mulbiple lnear regres-
saai mindels with Bagged retirns are used.

Morakty assumplions are based on standand mortally tables
and standard models and methodalogies for pregcting fulure
impraverments to maortalty as develaped and published by exfernal
indepandant actuarial societies and actuanal crganzatisns.
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Umndar US GAAP, the assumpbans used to value the PBO shauld
abways represent the besl esfimate as of the measurement date.
Credd Suisse regularly reviews the actuasial assumplions used
{0 value and measure the defined beneft obligation on a penedic
basis as required by LIS GAAR

el "Mcla

B part of 83 revieew in 2016, Credit Swisse concluded that addi-
taral refinements fo the assumplions for the Swiss pension plan
wene requited 0 order 1o reflect the besl estimate, As & resull,

Credd Sutsse enhanced 23 methodokay for delerminmg the aclu-

artal assumplions for the Swiss pension plan as follows:

" Far estmaling the discount rabes ussd for dacounting expacted
future cash fiows when valsng the FEQ, Credit Suisse ntro-
dueed a more standardized appeoach for satling this assump-
fien and mproved the construction of the yeek curve where the
enarkel for Pagh-qually Swass corparate bands wilth leng-1anm
maturilies was nat suffickenily deep. The indaadual spot rates
an the yield cune were apphied for dacounting each respectng
year's cash flow in measunng the Swiss pension plan's benefit
obbyation as of Decambar 31, 3018, Thase mprovemants and
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refinaments in estimales resulted in an incremental decreasa
fo the: PBO of apprommataly CHF 440 millian,

“ In Swzerand, the mortaily tables used for the sccupatsral
pensin fumd are the BVG sanes, which are eunmently reviewed
every fve years, Pror 1o 2016, Credt Suisse used the pen-
adic BYGE 3015 table with alowances for fulue mprovements
in e expectancy unlil 2020, winch was basad on the apph-
cabla currenl BVG generatonal table iwpiovement scale. For
2016, Credit Suisse refined s methodelegy to mcarparate
futire mprevemants in ife expectancy on & continuous basis
by apphang fulure expected mprovements to the pencds: BVG
2015 table using the Continusis Mettakty Irestigation (CMWI)
modal with a leng-term improvemant rate of 1.25%, The mewe
1o the generabianal table resulted inan neremental increass 1o
1he PBO of CHF 175 milan,

Health care cost rend rates and sansitivity
niwas
Bepith cate coal band rabe (%

Arisl et Jverage it Care ol lend rate '

Encreasedecisasel in post-rebrement sapenses (CHF milkon]

Increasedducieanal in postreticement benedit obligstion [CHE millon)
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= I setting the assumption for the fdue inerest rate on sav-
inga balances and fulure comsersion rates, management took
o consderation the expected lavel of fulure nberest rates
based on the yiald curee used for the discount rabe in addition
te the begal minmum requirements, current rates approved by
the Board of Trusteas of the Swiss pensan fund and heetonzal
trends.

The health care cost trend is used fo defermine the appropriate
olhar post-retrement defined bensefit costs. In determining thase
cagts, an anmal weghled-saerage rate & assumed n the cost of
covered health care benafits,

The hallswing table provdes an evervew of the agsumed
health care cost trerd rales and the senst vty of a one percertage
poinl increass of decrease of the rate.

g ia Nl s OO e

@ ntiumten b e e b Aty

The anmal health care cost trend rale used to determine the
dafined benefit cost for 23017 & 8.30%.

Plan assets and invesiment strategy

Plan assets, whach are assels that have been segregated and
restricted fo prowide for plan benafits. are measured at their far
value as of the measurement date,

The Group's defined benefit pensisn plans amphoy abetal relun
iwesiment approach, whereby a dversified mix of deb! and equity
secutibes and alerrative imvestments, specifically badge funds
ard prevale equty, are used fo maxmize the lang-term retun of
plan assets while incuring a prudent level of k. The intant of
this strateqy is fo meet or audperform plan labdites over the leng
term. Risk lolerance i established thisugh eardul considemtian
of plan Eabities, plan funded stalus and corporate financial con-
ditien. Furtharmore, squily securiies are diverstied across dif-
ferem gecgraphic regons as well as across growth, vake and
small and large capialzsfion stocks. Real estate and aHemathe
invesimerts, such as priate equily and hedge funds, are wed o
anbance lang-term reiuns whis impraving porfalie dversfieation.
= Derivatives may be used to hedge or increase markel espo-
sista, bl are ol used Lo leverage the partiobe beyand the maskel

3t s Tod by

il

ReTT: o o b i T £ i S b T

vakie of the underlying ivesiments. Imesimant nsk is measured
and monllared onan sngoing bass thiough panadic assel Eabilty
shudes and quanterly investment portfolio revews. To bmil evest-
ment risk, tha Group pansion plans follow defined slrategic asset
alacaton gudelnes, A times of maor marke! uncertairies and
shress, these guidalnes may be further restrciead.

A3 of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the 1otal far value of
Group debl sscwies included in plan assats of the Group's
defined benefi pensien plans was CHF 54 midlien and CHF B3
eifllan, redpectively, and the tedal fair vakie of Group equly setu-
rties and oplions was CHF 00 millen and CHF 131 mdlion,
regpaciiely.

Fair valus hisrarchy of plan assats

Fair value of plan asasts

The fallewng tables presant the plhan assels measored at fair value
an & fecurhng bass as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 far the
Geroup's defined benafit pension plans,
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Plan assets measured ot Tair value on a recurring basis

Plan aasets ol fadi valus (CHF eillion)

internabonal
Todsl plan ass#is ot Falr volee

o120 a7a
1LE 1,843
1438 2,820

ELLL)
- Total
&
1304 3,848
Ll 851 A,000
1788 4,300 19,851
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Plan assets measurad at fadr value on a recurring basis for level 3
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e Futn
Beliis i ik 'I'-\- 1 L Balmmce
bebegiriiriy Teariern Trana e NG Lo # il
ol pethondd i ] 1) = of pariod
3818 (CHF million)
ridnis —— = - .
T & ay 44 1,088
i B
4 £ 143 (£ 1] ) =
Tokal plan assets at fair valse 1254 54 L] T4 Lk L 4 12495
0wl 2ariad 1,154 48 [a] S0,
oF whety Rt 11 {141 i i
P88 (CHF million)
Dishi sociibes = corporabe: [ n T -
1,963 T 4l 15 2 1,004
1aé [
o which waess b 117 a7 i & 0 iF;
Tols plan sisets al b veles 1324 o 6] 18 o Lyl (431 1254

of which It

Qualitative disclosures of valuation technigues used ta
measure fair value
Cash and cash equivalents includes money markel instruments
suth as bankers’ acceplances, cerificates of depesd, o CF, bogk
chaens, freasury bills, cther rights and commingied furds, Vak-
ations of money marke! instruments and commingled funds are
generally based on obsenable inpats.

Dokt securfies inchede gowernment and corperate bonds which
are generally queted in actve markets or as units n mutual furds,
Dbt secwties for whch market pricas ame not avalabls, are val-
wad based on yields reflscting the percenved sk of the issuer and
the maturty of the securty, rean dispasals o the markel of othet
madakng techniguas, which may involve jdgment, Unsts s mutual
funds which are not dieectly quoted on a pubbs slock exchangs
ared/or far which a far value & not readily determinable are mea-
sured 3t far value using WAV

Equety securities hald mnclude common equity shares, cormertible
bands and shares in irvestmert companies and unds in mutisal
furds. The commen equily shares are generally traded on publhc
stack exchanges for which quoted prices are regularly available.
Comerible bonds are generally valued using cbyenable pricing
sepurced. Shares in vestmant companies and units in mutual
funds, which are not direclly quoeled cn a puble stock exchange
areddor far whech &t value 13 mol readily determinabla, are mei-
sured 2 fair value usng NAV.

Real estate moludes direct real estale as wel as imesiments in
real astate irvestment companies, Trusts or mulual funds. Direct
real estate is indially meacured at s transaction price, which is the
best estinade of fair value, Thersalter, deect real astate & indi-
vidually measwed of fair vake based on a number of factors that
inzlide ary recent raunds of financing weling third-party imes-
ters, comparable company fransactions, multiple analyses of cash
flows of book valises, of distounted cash flow anabises, The aail-
ability of informatson used in thase modeling lechniques = offen
Emded and mokes significant pdgment n evaluating thase Jd-
feserd fackors over ime. Real estate irvesiment compankes, brusts
and mudusl funds, which are nat direclly qualed ona puble stack
exchange andfor for which a fair valuwe @ not readily deferminabie,
ane iveasufed al fair valee using NAV.

Private squty includes direct rvast ments, reesiments in pariner-
ships thal make preale equily and related irsestments in vanous
portfok companies and funds and furd of funds pardnerships. Pri-
vate equty consists of both publicl traded securiles and pevate
sacuriies. Publicly traded mwesiments that are resincied or thal
are nol queted in acbive markels are valued based on publicly mead-
able quotes with appropriate adustments for hquidaty or trading
restriclions, Private equily = vaheed taking inte account a number
of factors, such as the mest recent round of financng irmoling
unsalaled mew irvesbors, earmngs mibiphs anabses usng Compa-
rable companies or discourted cash fiow analyses. Privale equily
fod which a Tair valiss & el readily determinable b measuned 2 faw
vahue using NAY provided by the general parines,
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Hedga funds that are not deectly quoted on a public stock
exchange, and/or for which a tar wvalue is not readily defermin-
able, are measured af far vake using BAN provided by the fund
adminstrated.

Derralves inchede bath © OTC and exchange-traded dervalives,
The tair value of OTC dermatives i determingd on the basis of
inputs thatl include those charmcienstics of the dervative That have
a bearing on the economics of the instrurent. The delermnation
of 1he fair value of many dervatives inoves anly a imiled degree
of sibjectivily dnce the required nputs are generally sbservabla in
the maskelplace. Other more comphex derrvalhes may use unob-
servable inputs. Such inputs inthide leng-dated volatity assump-
fions on OTC aplion transactions and recovery rate assumplions
for eredd derative transactians. The fair valee of exchange-traded
dernalres is typicaly desneed from the obsenabls exchange prices
and/far absenabls mpuls.

Plan asset allocation

The fallewng table shaws the plan assel allcation as of the
measuraman date caleulsled basad on the far value at that date
inciuding the parfermance of each asse! clags,

Weighted-average plan assel allocation
bt 1 i il T Ak

Weighted-average plan assel allocation 1%}

100 1000 00 10000

The follewng abla shows the target plan assel abscation for 2017
n aceordance wilh the Gioup's imvestmenl strategy, The targel
plan assel albocabion s used 1o determing the expected refurn on
plan assads 1o be consderad in the nal periodic benefit costs for
2017,

Weighted-average target plan asset allocation for 2017
AT (%)
il & ash mqunabenty

b e i e

Estimated future benefit payments fer defined benefit plans
The fallowing table shows the eslimated future benafl payrents
for defined benafit pension and ofher post-retirement defined ben-
afit plans.

Estimated future benafit payments fer defined banafit plans

Digtmad Batel® Cffesr geatt elvemant
e L factraed Bt pl

Extemalnd katuis banehf payments (CHF millon)
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= Dervatioes are genarally edher privately negotiated < OTC
corlracts or slandard contracts transacted (heaugh regulated
exchanges. The Group's most frequently used freestanding
dervatig preducts, sntened Iinle for trading and ek manage-
menl purposas, inchde interest rate, credit defaul and cross-cur-
ey Swaps, mlenesd mate and forsign echange epbtons, farsgn
exchange forward conbracls and foreqgn exchange and inlerest
raite Tutises.

The Group alss enters mla contracts that are nol consdered
dernalives @ ther entirely bul include embadded derhatie fea-
fures. Swch {ransachons primanly nclude tssued and purchased
structured debl instruments whare the relum oy be caleutated by
reference fo an equly sacurdy, index or thid-party credit nsk, o
that have nen-standard rlerest of fareign exchange terms,

Cn the date a dernalive cantract & erlered into, the Group
desigrates i as belargng to one of the follovang calagonias:

" irading acthities;

" a fek management transaclion thal does nol qualify as a
hedge under accounting standands (referred 10 as an economic
hedge);

* abedge of the © fair value of a recognized assel of Eabidity;

" o hedge of the vanabdty of cash flows to ba recaied o pad
relating to a recognoed asset or kabdity or a forecasted trans-
action; o

" a hedge of a net irvestment in a foregn oparation

Trading aclivities

The Group is active i mast of the principal trading markets and
fransacts in many trading and hedging products, As nated above,
this meludes the use of swaps, fulures, options and strectuned
products, such as custom transactions using combinations of
darivalied, m connechian with A5 salas and trading actaites. Trad-
ng activities include market makng, postioning and arbirage
aclivitias. The maprly of the Group's dedivatives were used for
irading actities

Econemic hedges

Ecargdie hedges anse when the Gioup enters indo dedvalieg con-

fracts for ds own nsk management purposes, bul the comracts

anterad into do net qualy for hadge accounting under US GAAP.

Thesa econcms hedges inchude the fellowing types:

o inberest rabe dervatheed o manage nat inferest rabe rek an car-
{am core banking business assets and Eabilties;

“ foreign exchange dervalives to manage foreign exchangs risk
on cerlan core banking busness revenue and expanse lems,
as wel as an core banking businass assals and liabidjes;

= credit derivatives to manage credit risk on cerlain loan
portiohas;

»  futures lo manage msk onequity posiions inchiding comvartibhe
bands; and

" equity dervatives fo manage equiy/index rsks on cerfain
structured preducis.

Dertatives used in economic hedges are included as trading
assels of rading kabiltles in the consebdated balinee sheals.

Hedge accounting

The Group desigrales fair value hedges as part of an sverall infer

est rale risk management siralegy that incorparates the wse of

dersative irstruments to minimize flustuations in eamings that ane

caused by inferest rate vollilly, In adddion to hedging changes in

fai wvaloe due 10 imlerest mis ek assocaied with fued rate leans,

> repurchase agreements and leng-term debd instruments, the

Graup ubss

" crass-currenty swaps to corverl foreign-cumency-denomi-
nated fised rabe assels or kablities to floating rate funchonal
currency asseds of liabilties; and

» foreign exchange forward conlracts ba hedge the foreign
exchange nisk assocabed with available-for-sale secunties,

The Group dedignales cash flow hedges as pant of 23 slrategy to
rritigate its nek to varmbdily of cash flows on loans, deposis and
olher debl abbgatiens by usng mlerest mis Swaps lo comvert var-
able rate assets or Eabilties to fiued rates, The Group alio uses
cigsd-curenty Swaps 1o caren forsign-currancy-denominated
foeed and fleat ng rale assets or labities 1o fived rate assels or k-
bitthes based on the currency profie bo which the Group elects lo
be exposed, This inchedes, bul & ned bmited bo, Swiss francs and
US dallars. Further, the Group usss dermalies 1o hedye ds cash
fiows associated with forecasted fransactions, As of the end of
2016, the maxenum length of time sver which the Group hadged
its exposure o The varablity in fuluee cash flows for forecasied
trangactions, excluding thoss farecasted transactions related to
the payment of vanable interest on existing Bnancial instruments,
wias five years.

The Group designates net imestment hadges as parl of A3 stral-
&gy 1o hadge selected mel mvesiments in forgign operations
against adverse maovements in foreign exchange rates, typially
using farward fareign exchange contracts.

The Group assesses the effecinvensss of hadging refationships
beth prospactively and relraspectively. The prospecive asosss-
e i3 made bolh af the inceplion of a hedaing relationship and
anan ongeing basis, and requites the Group to justdy s expecta-
tion that the reltionship will be taghly effectve over fulure pen-
oda. The retraspective assassment i$ also parformed o ah ango-
ing basis and requires the Group to determing whethar or not fhe
hedging reketionship has actually been effectie. f the Graup con-
chudes, through a refrospective evaluation, that hedge accourting
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is approprade for the current penod, then £ measwes the amount
of hidge inethectinnads to bb recognited in sarmmgs

Fair value of derivative instriments

The tables below present gross demative replacement vahses by
type of contract and whether the deratie & used for trading pur-
poses or in a qualifying hedging relatienship. Matienal amounls

Fair value of derivative instruments

and of 2018

[rerrvnbee npbumanty (CHF Bilten)

s o i
1,

Interest afe products

[perap—

it ol s s

A e s YR L s (T,

Fonwign exchange products

s g and sokd feooshandge- raded|
Ew.in-"md!lx-l-hw paodocti
Coadit does fvabives

paorE B drd |
Odel producis
Tetal derivalive instruments
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harve also bean provided as an indicabon of the velume of derva-
Uit B ity within the Grnup

Information on bifurcated embedded dernathes has nol been
ineluded in thasa fables. Under US GAAFR, the Group electad to
accound for substantally all firancal netruments with an embed-
ded dersaties that i mal conddared claarly ard clossly related lo
the hast centract at far value,

!f,;ﬁ\.r 11?:-5 |ﬂ(;.|-3 I?! 1..1:| 10
:'.IB.:I.? [ 71.; ‘I!In.!. [N ] [i¥s]
A S
MEI.T I.'! |- *-3 [LXv] o oo
B :
ﬂﬂn.:: ? 5 ) i L] D.El

Fal b 8.3 1.1 1.4
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Fair value of derivative instrurments (continued)

Dieaivates masumsnts (CHF Béllion

Wl i - 4

- . Prad | i 1\

Bnleisal iabs products 28,8115 888 161.4 543 13 1o
- s

Fongign sxchange products 3904 [k o8 168.9 [iTs] (% |

s a of i
Opory Boughe mrd B0k achange raded = A :
Equitp/index-alated picdwstn TILE TrLe 257 L] LR =X
Cradit derivalives” B3 7.8 7.3 0o Li1e) oo

.
g ahe g L

Difses products” 477 33 .2 oo L] (]
Tots derizative inshements 355310 ITLA FE e Bl 1.3 1.1
! Rl as N puadity & 3 Fe
Fair valua hadges
i mie
Bismnlorims) recogriced i income on derteatives {CHF millicn

St Ty oObiLt 1%
Toks (R R} LA [E2E)
dimns/losses) (e ogmzed @ income on hedged fems (CHF milion)
Total 11 101 234

Drwtaile of badr wwlue hedge s (CHF milkon)
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Cash Mow hedges

IR el rell
ﬂ‘ll.ﬂl.l'(l-v-l.l!'ll recopnized in K0CH on 4lllllM:l. l I-CH.I mullicni

Forsiqn e bareps prodar s .':‘ 7 (42
Tetal 14 11k 3
Alaaned) i petainiBed hoen AOACE inks incamae (CHF milion)
o o |
(g R iy
13 (24 13

Y ke e 0 RONEN) W uleas

The net loas agseciabed with cash flow hedges expacted 1o be
reclassiied from AQCH wiahin the nesd 12 months was CHF 13
million.

Nat investment hadges

s i itk — —
Gainiilosias) recognized in AGTE on dertwatives [CHF million)

Forsign e Farae produc iy (] 4 dai 1 BT

Total (538 A40 AT

Eapresrss gard fiovis s on e b porbon

The Group nchuides all derative instrument 3 not included in hadge
aceaunling relabanships in f3 irading scthities.

Contingent cradit risk

s o

[
Condngant sreditdink (CHF bilian)

e 0

Corerd ned sapo

Add bons! collirleral mequered in a the oe -naolch dowrgrn

Credit derivatives

Credit derwatives are conractual agreements m which the buyer
genarally pays a fee m exchange for a contmgent payment by the
seler f there B a credd svent on the urderlying referenced enfity
or assel. They are generally privately nagotisted OTC confracls,
with numérous settlement ard payment larms, and moes! are snue-
tiged =5 that they apecify the sceummence of an Mentifable credd
event, which can include bankreptey. inschency, recenership,
mabesoal adverse restructuring of debl o faikire 1o meel cbligationg
when due,

Disclosures ralating to contingent eradit risk

Certain of the Group's demvalve instrumants contain provisions
that require it 1o malntain a specihed credit raling from each of
the major creddt rating agencees. If the ratings fal babow the level

arv specihed in the conlract, the counterpartias lo the agreements
iapae could request payment of additianal collateral on those dervaloe

Instrumants that are ina net kabilly pastion. Cefain of the dariva-
thee contracts also provide for fermmation of the confract, gener-
aly upan a downgrade of siher the Group o the counterpadty, al
the exisbng mark-lo-markel replacement value of the dersalie
contrach.

The falkewng table provides the Graup's current net exposure
framn contingand cradd risk relating to dervative contrachs with bilat-
eral counlesparties and SPEs that mclude credit support agree-
manls, the related colladeral posted and the additional collatesal
required in a ona-notch, bwo-notch and a three-natch dovwngrade
svent, respectively. The table alse includes dervative conlracls
with corfingent credd nsk features withoul credil suppen agree-
mards that have scceleraled termination evart condfions. The cur-
et nel exposure Tor dervvative contracts with bilaberal counterpar-
ties and comemets with accelarabed fermnation event conditions is
the aggregate fair value of dervatove instruments that were in anat
liabildy postien. For SPES, the current net sxposure is the carre-
fual amound that is used o determine the collateral payable in the
evert of a downgrade. Tha contractual amaunt could include both
the MRV ard a percentage of the netioral value of the dervatme,

2008 bl

m e ated Faymrn

tar s Tabal c oo

b S o Total

o2 & e 1ag B 14 (ER]
[Pl ar 123 g - 125
o3 0.1 [18-] o L] at 1.3
4 L 2 g 7 & 31

28 2 12 18 42

The Group enters inlo credd dervalie confracts in the narmnal
course of business, buying and saling prolection to faciltate cb-
arl lransactions and a3 a maskel maker. This neludes providing
structured credit products for s clienls 1o erable them 1o hedge
thair cradit risk. The referanced insfruments of these sfructued
credit products are both investment grade and non-imesiment
grade and could melude corporate bends, savereign debt, ABS
ard loans. These mslruments can be formed as single bems (sin-
ghe-ramned sgdruiments) o combingd on a partiobs bashs (mulli-
named instruments). The Group purchases profection te eco-
nomically hedge vanous forms of credit axposure. for exampls,
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the ecomamc hedging of koan portfalics or other cash postions,
Finally, the Group alse takes proprstary pestions which can take
he form of edber purchasad or sold prabecton,

The eredit dernativas mos commanly transacted by the Grup
arg = CDS and credit swaptions, CDSs are cantractiual agres-
mierils i which the buyer of the swap pays an upfront and/ar a
pericdic fee n return for a contingent payment by the seller of the
svaap folowing a credit event of the mlerenced enlity or assel
Credt swaptions are options with a specibed maluily to buy or
sall pretection under a COS on a spacific referenced credit event.

In additian, 1o reduce i3 credit risk, the Group enters indo
legaly enforceable © netling agreements with B demalive coun-
{erpartes, Coltaleral on these desvalive contracts is usually posled
ara nel counlerparty basis and cannck be allbcated to a particutar
dernvatve contract,

Credit protecton seld B the maxmui pobential paysul, which
is based on the nolional value of dernatves and represemts the
amaunt of fulure payments that the Graup would be reguired o
make a5 a result of credit nak-related events. The Group believwes
that the maxmum polential paysut = not representalve of the
aclual loss exposure based on hislanical expenence, This amount
haas mot been reduced by the Group's nghts to the underlying
assets and the relaied cash flows. In accordance with most credi
deriative contracts, should a credit event {or satblement Ingges)
oceur, the Group is usually kable for the difference between the
emedil protection sold and the recourse it halds in the valee of the
undedying assets, The manmum polential amount of fulue pay-
moarils s pot been reduced for any cash coltateral paid 1o & gven
counterparty as such paymants woukd be cakulated afler netting
all defvalive exposiures, indhading any credit dérnatives with that
ceunterparty in accordance with a related master netting agree-
manl. Dua ta such netting pracesses, determining the amaurt of
coliateral that comesponds to credit dertvative exposunes only is
il poasible,

To reflect the qualty of the payment risk on credd pratection
4o, the Greup assigns an internally generated ralmg 1o those
instrumens referenced o the contracts. Internal ralings are
assigned by expenienced cradd analysts based an sxpert judgment
that ncorporabes analess and evabiation of bath quantialse and
quaktative factors. The specifie tackars aralyzed, and their raka-
ine mportance, ame depandent an the type of counterparty. The
arabysis amphasites a feraard-locking apprasch, cancanirating an
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economic rerds and firancial furdamentals, and making use of
peer analysis, industry cemparisens and othar guantitative toals.
External ralngs ard markest information are alse used in Lhe analy-
L5 process whene svailable.

Credit pratection purchased represents these instruments where
the undeilyng reference inddrument & dentcal 1o the referance
metrument of the credit pratection sold, The maxmum polental
payoud amount of credit prabection purchaged for each indaidual
dentical urderying reference mstrument may be greater or lower
than the mabonal amaunt of pratection sald.

The Group alse consders estimated recoveries thal & would
recenve ff (he specthed cradit event sccurred, inchuding both the
anticipated vake of the urderlying refererced asset thal would, in
maosl instances, ba transfarred to the Group and the impack of any
puchased protection with an dentical reference instrument and
praduct type.
In 1he: normal course of business, the Group purchases prolection
bo affsad the risk of cradd protection sold thal may have similar, bul
net dertical, refersnce instruments, and may use smilas, Bt nol
denlical, products, which reduzes the telal credd demative sxpo-
sung. Cither prabechian purchased is based on the noticnal value of
the instrumants,

The Group purchases s pratection from banks and broker
dealers, sther financul natiubions and clbes counterparins.

The fair vahets of the credit protection sold give an ndicaton of the
ameurd of paymsenl rigk, as the negatie far values increase when
the potential payment under the dernalive conbracls becomes
rane prababile.

aoit pralacilan §old/pL 10 a4

The folkwing tablas do rot inchude all cradd dernvaties and didfer
froen the credit dematies in the *Fair value of dervadbe instru-
mends” table, This s due to the excluson of certan credit darha-
tre inatrurmnents under US GAAR, which definas a credit desvalive
as a derhatve instrument (a) in which ane or mone of 15 urderly-
s are ralated to the cradt risk of a specified entity (ar 2 graup of
eriitss) or an ndex based on the credi sk of a group of ertites
and (B) thal exposes the saler to potential bbas fram eredid risk-
retated evenls specified in the contract,
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Total relum swaps (TRS) of CHF 7.8 bilkan and CHF 08 bil-
bon as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respactively, were alss
exchided because a TRS does nod expose the saller to polential

Credit protection sold/purchasead

kass from credil nak-ralated events specified in the contract, A
TRS anly provides pretection agamnsl 2 bass in asse! value and nat
agamns! additional ameunts as a resull of specehic credi everts,

Batradi Hat cradit Fuir vaks
Crage k! paolectios 1=t probactica i P
Woion  proiech dnaldi’ ¥ [LE1F (E Pestacaor
-.-.-"H“I"ﬂ i Freiy 5! purdhesd ¥ i
Single-nsme mabuments (CHE B8on)
s utment o gce ¥ X A4 50 A i i t
f vl o e &g, AR =4 141 2
Todsl singte - nams inshements IR B .20 124 0.3 2317 200 (AR R &8 £1.00
& Wt s 7 on g 5 EE L 7 4.0 3. & i
¥ wWhbCh Frone SveTean oT ey % 1 8
Mali-name nviements (CHF billon)
e ——y 3
Horvrve e oy 195% 1 i 3 (2.0 AT 2 E
Tetal masli-names i Bumenls CTERE) 1354 (2.5 510 0.3 {143.5) 1185 (£ X} 1.0 [4 1541
F WPt P e L3 1R o 4 34 4 &
Total inwtruments [CHI billion)
P —— T L LT 4 181 X
DT T 51,3 75 57 6 o g 537 :
Todsl instrum snks CFMUEY 1200 B 814 iy {A78.2) pL-T (TREY arr in2h
APy ™ o, = T AR 4 3 g4 K
b e u il b [T

The following table reconcles the notional ameund of credd derra-
frves included i the table *Far valie of dermal e indtruments” ta
{he lable *Credd prolect ion sold/purchased”,

Credit derivatives

The segregation of the fulure payments by maturdy range and
underlying rdk ghes an indication of the curent status of the
polential for performance under the derhative canbracts.

Meturity of credit protection sold

P EL1 ] wharity gt Maturity
Cradin dasivatives (CHF ballisn) s
= red] crolmetion. ok 7 ’ 2 Tatsl
| Btehsddind. sa ' [ 000 (CHF billion)
6 JFfel el LT L ik
i Wekbrmints 78 A MAuit-rare Feturent 07! 24 1359
Torsl crait dniivatives 54,7 BI19  Totshinibuments 8T 157.4 5 1A
B S
—_— P ———" [T [ 3] T
LT ey bty S F2 43K
The FET Y 15 aTaa

Total instiuments
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Guarantees

I the ardirary cowse of businass, guarnteas are provided that
contingenily abligate the Group 1o make payments bo thid parties
if the courdarparty fais ba fulfil its obbgalon urder a bariowng of
other contractual amangement, The telal gross amount declosed
wilhin (he Guaraniess fable reflects the maximum pobential pay-
ment under the guarantess, The carmying value represants the
highar of the inilial fair vakes (generally the relaled foe recened or
recenable) lass cumubalve amartuaton and the Group's current

Guaranteas
) (L) .-.-:

Shan

Cihét o i ies) 346

Tobsl guarsvises
BOIE (CHF maillion)

e S —— TE

e oua e es

Tokal guarantees

e R 1 450 Sl e

13,348 4,507 EE

best estimate of payments that will be required under existing
guarmntes arFangemants.

Guarantess provded by the Group are classified as follows:
ciedil guarantees and sivelar msliumerts, parfsimancs Guatan-
tees and similar instruments, dervatives and other guarantees,
The Group no longer providés guarantees for décuribes lending
mdemnificalsons,

i'm " Han . rst g lamerw

LT a7 87 5,475 5.4Ta

LR 10 A6

¥ & RS

AR TN bk ) W

Credt guarantees and smilar smatruments are contracts that
requre the Growp 1o make payments should a thed parly fal to
do 50 under a spacified exsling credd obligation. The peosiion
inciudas standby lafiers of credit, commarcial and resadant ial mort-
gage guarantess and olher guaraniees associated with VIEs,
Standby lelteds of craddt are made in connechion with the car-
porate lendng business and olher corporate activlies, where the
Group provides guaranbees te courdarpartias in the form of standby
letters of creds, which represent cbigations to make payments fo
third pasties if the court erparties fail 1o fullil ther obligatisns under
a borrowng arrangament or cther contractiual ebligation.
Commercial and resderiial mergage guarariees are made
i cenngchon with the Group's commercial mortgage actvales in
the U5, whens the Group sells cerlain commearctal and residential
morigages fo Fannie Mae and agrees to bear a percertage of
the baases triggered by the barewess fallng 1o perform on the
morigage, The Group alse isswes guaranteas that require it to
reumburse Fanmie Mae for losses on carlain whels band under-
hing mengage-backed securitss issued by Fanme Mae, which

S ot CoumtepRI e, IS Soch COnEChY ONt D CRNT ST e el o0 OO Pl P e

W LA FATLTIEN

are triggered by borewers falling to perform on the urdarhying
mortigages,

The Group alse provides guaranteas to VIEs and olhar coun-
terparties under which i may be required 19 bay assets from such
entilens upen the cccurance of certamn tnggenng svenls such a3
raling downgrades and/or substantial decreases in the © fair value
of thoss assats.

Performance guararees and Similar instrumends are arrange-
manls that requite comingent payments to be made when cer-
tamn performance-related targets or covenants an not mel. Such
covenants may include a customer's oblgation to delver certain
products and services of to perform under a construchon conlract.
Perfarmance guaraniess are freguently executed as parl of proj-
ect firance lransactions, The postien ncludes prvate equily fund
guamnbeas ard guarantess related bo rasidential mesgage sacu-
ritzatlon ach iithes

Far procate equity fund guarastess, the Growp has provided
irvestors in private equity funds sponscred by a Group enlity
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guarantess on patentzal ebligabons of certain gensral pariners fo
retismn amounts previdlsdy paid as carmed merest 1o these gensral
partmers f the performance of the rermaining mmestments dechnes,
To manage &3 exposure, the Group generlly vithhalds a par-
fian of carred mierest dstrbutions te cover any repayment oblga-
tiang, I additian, pursuand 1o cenain contractual arangements,
the Group is ablgated lo make cash payments to certain imestors
in cartan private equity funds i specified parformance thadholds
ara ol met.

Fuirther, &3 part of the Group's residental momgage secunliza-
fion actabies n the US, the Group may guarantes the collection
by the senmcer and remdtance 1o the securilization tiust of pre-
paymert penakies. The Group will have to perfarm onder these
guarantees in the svenl the senicer fals to remd the prepayment
peralies,

© Dernvatives are ssmd in the cedinary course of busness, gen-
eraby in the form of writlen pul oplions, Dsclosures abaut derva-
i comfracts ar nol requeed under US GAAP # such conlracts
may be cash saliled and the Group has no basis to conclude 1 is
probable that the counterparties hald, at inception, the undery-
ing insbruments retated to the dertalve contracts. The Group has
conchded that these cendiions were met far certan aclve com-
mercial and imeesimant banks and cerain olher counterparties,
and accordingly, the Group has ol meluded such conlracts a8
guarantees.

The Group manages ds exposure to these dersatives by
engaging In various hedgng strategies 1o reduce ils exposure,
Fer same contracts, sueh as wiitlen ilerest rate caps of foneign
exchange oplions, the maxmum payout s not determinable as
inberest rales of exchange rates could thearstcally nse without
lmit. For these contracts, nobional amcunts were disclosed n (he
table above it order b provide an ndicalicn of the underlying axpo-
sufe, Inadditan, the Group carnies al dervatives at fair valus in the
consoldated balance thesls and has contidered the perfarmance
frggers and probabdibes of payment when determining those fai
walisas, It ks more likely than not that wiitlen pul aplicns that ane
in-1he-money to the counterpasty will ba exarcised, for which the
Group's expedure was imited 1o the carmying valus reflected in the
lable.

Other guaranless melude bankers' scceplances, resdual vakie
guarantess, depostl insurance, confingant conssderations i busi-
nass cambiraleons, the minimuem valce of an inestment in mufual
funds or prevate equiy funds and all sther guarantees that were
nat allacated lo one of the categories above.

Deposti-taking banks and securilies dealers in Swilzertand and
certain slher Eurapean countrias are requred lo ensure the payout
of privileged deposits in case of specded restnclions o compul-
soiy bquidation of a depest-taking bank, In Swibrerland, depast-
fabang banks and sacuriies dealers pinly guaranise an amount
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of up te CHF & bilion. Upon sccurrence of a payoul eventl Ing-
gered by & specified reatnchion of business mpased by © FINMA
or by the compulsary bquidation of analher deposi-taking bank,
the Group's contribution will be caleulated based on s share of
priviieged depasits in propedion 10 total prvileged depoails, Based
o FINMY's estimate for the Greup's banking subsidmnies in Swit-
zerland, the Group’s share in the deposi insurance guaraniee pro-
gram for the penad July 1, 2016 te June 30, 2017 & CHF 0.6
bilien, These deposd insurance guaraniees were reflected in other
guarantees,

Representations and warranties on residential martgage
leans sold

In eonnechan with the former Inestment Banking diision's salke
of US residential mortgage lboans, the Group has previded cer-
lan representations and warranlies relaling bo the leans sold. The
Group has provided these representations and warranties refating
te sakes of bang to: the US gowrnmant-apansored enlarpnses
Fannle Mae and Freddie Mac: instiutional mwesiors, pramar-
ity banks; and nor-agency, of prvate label, securlzativns, The
ans ald are primanly leans thal the Graup has purchased from
othar partias. The scope of representations and warranlias, if ary,
depends on the transactan, bul can mchade: ownership of the
origage bang and legal capacily to sell the lbans; lean-to-value
ralos and olher characteristics of the property, the bormower and
thee loary; saliddy of the hens secunng the ans and abssnce of
delnguent taxes or related hiens; confermity 1o underwnbing stan-
dards and complelanass of decumentation; and arignation in com-
pliarce with brw, i s determined that representations and war-
ranties wede breached, the Group may be regured to repurchase
the related boans or mdemnify the investors 1o make them whaole
for kosses \Whather the Group will incur a lass in cornection with
repurchases and make whale paymants depends onc the exent b
which claims are made; the validity of such clhans made within the
statute of imdations (inckuding the likelbeod and abdty te enforce
claima) whethar the Graup can successfully claim aganst parties
that sold lans fo the Group and made representations and war-
rarties 1o the Group; the resdental real estate market, Peluding
the number of defaulls; and whather the cbligations of the sacunft-
zabion vehiches wre guaranbeed of insured by thd parties,

Dunng 2016, the Group recened repurchass chaims for res-
dential mertgage leans that were nol signficant, and loans repur-
chased dunng this penod and relied losses were nol material,
The balance of sutstandng repurchase elaims as of the and of
2016 was not significant,

Repurchase clams on resadential margage loans sold that are
subgect to arbitration or Rigation praceedings. o become so dur-
ing the reparting perad, are not inchuded in this Guaranteas and
commatments dischosure but are addressed m ifigation and rekated
lags conbingencies and provigiens. The Graup B imabed in Biga-
tion relating 1o represaniatons and wasrranties on residaniial med-
i Sold.
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Disposal-ralated contingencies and other indemnifications
The Group has certain guarantees for which #3 maximum on-
tingent Eabildy cannet be quantified. These guaraniees ae not
refleciad im the “Guarantess’ table and are dacussed below.

In cannection with the sabs of assels or busnesses, the Group
soretimas provides the acquater with certain indemnibcation pro-
wamns, These ndemndication provisions vary by countérparly in
seape and duralion and depend upon the type of assals or busi-
nesses sald, They are dessgned fo transfer the polential rak of
eertain unguanifabis and unknowable las cortingencies, such as
Migateon, tax and inteliactual property matters, from the acquirer
o the seller, The Group clesely mondors all such cortraciual
agreements in order to ensure thal mdemnificatian previsions
are sdequataly provided far in the Growp's consalidated financial
slatemants.

The Greup prevides indemnificalions to certain coumarparties
in conndctian with it normal operating activities far which 4 s
mat possble 1o estmate the masmum amount that i could be
abligated fo pay. A% a normal part of issuing ds own securilies,
the Group typcally agrees to reimburse hollers for addiisnal bax
withhalding charges or assessmants resulling from changes in
appheable bax bws of the inerpretation of (hass laws, Securifies
that nclude these agreements to pay addiional amounds genarally
alsa include a melabed redemplion or call provision if the cbliga-
fion to pay the additional amsunts results from a change n ke
of i3 inberpretation and the ablgation cannal be svahded by the
wsuer taking reaserable teps 1o avord the payment of additsarmal
amounts. Smea such polemal sbbgatisns are dependent on fulure
changes n tax kws, the relabed Eabilties the Group may incur as
@ result of such changes cannal be reasorably estimated. In hight
of the related call provissans typically nchuded, the Group dees nat
anpect ary polential kabdites in respect of lax gross-ups to be
mabersd

Thee Growp is a membar of numeinus secunties aehangss and
clearing houses and may, as a result of ils membership arangs-
ments, be required 1o perfarm f ancther member defaulls and
available amaunts as defined in the releant exchange's or clear-
mg hause's default waterfalls we nol sufficient to cover lbsses
of ancther member's default, The exchange's of charng houss's
default maragement procedures may provide for cash calls 1o
nan-defaulting members which may be bmited to the amount {or
a muttiple of the ameunt) of the Group’s centribution 1o the guar-
aree fund, However, if these cash calls are nel sufficient 1o cover
lazses, he default watarfall and defaull managemanl procedures
may foreses fuher loss allecation, Furthermare, some cleanng
haiise arangements require mambers 15 assume & proportion-
ale share of non-defau® lesses, if such losses excesd the speci-
fied resaurces alocated for such purpase by the clearing house.
Non-default lasses result from the cleanng house's investment of
guarariee fund comributions and nfiial margin or are other losses.
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unirelaled 1o the default of a clearing member. The Group has
determaned (hal 1 15 not possble 1o reasenably estmale the ma-
mum patentzal amount of fulure payments due under the mem-
bershy amangements. In addition, the Group bebeves that any
petential requrement to make payments under these membesship
arfanghments & ramole.

Lease commitments

'.;-lf commetmenty 1GHF milkoed

] EFE

Thest 31988 3075

Futur g hease d 37T
Lest mesmign for-catcallalle dutleiie rertaly 1]
Tatal cel hultsaa mini lpaas S451

Rental expense for eperating leases

- P oy Pry
Restal expemes for uwmmu(CHlen;lm ) )
[T T——pr— [T
S b ranila | o e {15 ¥5 [BY)

Total el saxpamies lof operatng leases &3 £l ag

Cperating lease commitments
The Greup has eomractual commitments under operaling lease
amangements for cerain premises and equpment. Linder oper-
aling leages. the leased property @& nel feparted &a the balance
sheet of the lessee, Lease paymants raquired by the contract are
generaly expensed on a straight-ing basis over the term of the
heage The rebaled commilments for fulure renlal expenses unders
oparaling leasas are included in the fable *Leass commiimants”.
From time to tme, the Group may enter iro sale-leaseback
transactions, in which an assel |3 sold and immediately leased
back If specific crierm ane mel, such assel = derecognaed fram
the batance shest and an cperating leass & recognized. If the
present value of the lease payments i equal 1o or higher than
10% of the fair valsa of the proparty sald, amy resulting gans up
te an ameunt equal 1o the present vakie of the lease payments are
deferied ard recegnized in the statement of operations over the
team of the lease as a reduction of rental expense. Gamns on sake-
leaseback transactions for which the lease paymems are lower
than 10% of the fair value of the preparty scld of gains in excess
of the presant value of the laase payments are recognized in the
statements of operalions upon completion of the sale,

Disring 2018, 2015 and 20014, the Growp entered inte saveral
srnaller sale-leaseback transactions in respect of own property,
which weee al recograzed as operating lease armangements with
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lease terms of between one and five years, between two and
ten years and between fve and ten years, respectnely. The fatal
conlraciual rental expenses wese CHF 30 milban for the 2018

sale-leaseback transactions, CHF B0 millian for the 2015 saks-
leassback fransactions and CHF 17 million fes the 2014 sale-
=aseback irnsactons,

Cther commitments
1 Mgtur Ty
e o, R P Total |
[ Vi oy Sk e e
wred ot W s - e & Ly i il T 1 P g
e L} i T 42
SR 44,07 (5 11 1
s 3 i AL L
FrTeTY 457 L - : &7
Totnl other comeeiments 38308 34488 44508 TEAT 122082 11801 48800
FORS (CHF million)
T ¥ et Lt aturrnriany tredt =] SN 465
T L] Il 5, £ I3 533 T

TP

'!n_hlnﬂ'm commEtmenty

JaAN0 Af400 44,701 15808 142503 136,567 &5, T8

Tortal rat @monnt @ COTEAURND I B ros Burh e 6T

ey, i ruoed e e s Wobat Qe

it tha Groug's pole diosaton Wb rotor

Irmevezable commilments under documentary eredis include expe-
sures from frade finance relxled 1o commercial lelters of credd
wided which the Growp guarantess payments 1o exparbirs againgl
presartation of shippeng ard cther dacumerts.

Irevecable loan commitmenls are imevacable credit facilities
extended to clherds and mchede fully or parially wdrawn com-
mitmsarts that am legally binding and cannat be uncendianally
cancefied by the Group, Commitmeants 1o ongirate mengags kans
{hal will be hald for sals are considered dervalives for accounl-
g purposes and ane nol inchided m this disckosure, Such com-
milrnards are reflected as dervatives in the consolidated balance
shesls.

wd CHF 22 495 mifon of wremed Crd t ime an of December 31, 2005 and 20T, ses pectimdy

Farward teweise repurchase agreaments mpresent trarsachions i
which the initwal cash exchangs of the © reverse repurchase trans-
actions fakes place on specifed hulure dates. The Group enleds
irfe forward reverse repurchase agreements wih courterparties
that rmay have exsting funded reverse repuschase agreements.
Daeperding on the details of the counterparty contract with Credit
Suisse, bath a courderparly's easting funded reverse repurchase
agreement and any forward reverse repurchase agreemants under
contract with the same counterpary afe conudered,

Orther commilments nchude prvate equity commbments, firm com-
mémants n underarting secunlies, commitmenls arisng fram
deferred payment letlers of credit and from acceptances in ci-
culadion and kabditees dor call ard put oplons on shares and olher
equity matruments.
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34 Transfers of financial assets and variable interest entities

In the normal cowrss of business, the Group erters info Iransac-
fiois with, ard makes use of SPEs An SPE & an enliy in the
form of & frust or other legal structure designed 1o fulfll a spe-
eifie ended reed of the company thal organced & and 4 gendr-
ally structured to isolate the SPE's assets from creditars of other
enldies, wehiding the Greup, The preipal uses of SPES afe 1o
assst fhe Groug and ds chents m securtzing financial assels and
ereatirg imestrment praducts. The Group alss uses SPEs far ather
cliend-drvenactity, such as to facitate firancings, and for Group
tax & regulxlary purpsdas.

TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Securilizations

The rajonty of the Graups sscurfization sclvities ivalve mort-
gages and mortgage-related securiies and are predominsntly
transacted using SPES. In a typesal sscurdization, the SPE pur-
chasas assels financed by proceads received from the SPE's issu-
arce of debl and squily matrumerts, certficates, © CP and other
nates of indebledness. These assels and kabdites ame recorded
an ihe balance sheat of the SPE and ot reflecied on the Grown's
consolidated balance sheet, unless either the Group sold the
assels o the enlity and the accounting requissments for sale were
mat met or the Graup consolidates the SPE

The Group purchases commearcial and resdentsal mortgages
for the purpese of securitzation and salls thess martgage leans to
SPEs. Thesa SPEs issue © commercial morgage-backed secun-
fies (CMBS), © resdential morigage-backed securtms (RMBS)
and ABS that are collaberaloed by the assels transfered bo the
SPE and that pay a relurmn based on the retemns on those assels.
Imestors m these mafgage-backed secunties or ABS typically
Thane recoursa o The assels in the SPEs, unless a third-party guar-
ares has been recened 1o further antancs the craddwarthingss
of the assels. The eveslors and the SPEs have no recourss lo
the Group's assels. The Group & typecally an underwiiter of, and
makes a marked n, thess securies,

The Group alss transacts = re-secunlizations af previausly
issued RMBS securities, Typically, certificales issued out of an
exsting secuntizaban vebicle are 3ol inte a newly created and
separate securitization vehicle, Often, thess re-securtizations
are mitated in onder fo repackage an exdsting sacurly to ghe the
imvestor 2 higher rated ranche.

The Group also uses SPES for other asset-backed financings
relating to chenl-drven activly and for Group tax or regulatary
purposes. Types of structures included in this category include
maraged © CLOs, CLOs, levweraged finance, rmpack and athes
types of transactions, ncluding Ide nswance structuras, emerging
market structlures sel up for financing, lboan parlicipation ar laan
efigination purposes, and athar akermalye structues crealed for
the purpase of immsting n venture capital-ike imestmeants. CLOs
are collateralzed by bans iransfeered to the CLO vehicle and pay a
reduirn based an the rebisms on the lsans. Leveraged firanes strue-
tures are wad to assist in the syndication of certain lans hald by
the Group, whils repack siructures are designed te ghe a chent
collaberakred exposure o specilic cash flows or credil risk backed
by collataral purchased fram the Group. In these assel-backed
financing structures, ivestors typically only have recaurse {g the
caollateral of tha SPE and do nol have recourss to the Group's
assels,

\Whan the Group transfers asseis infe an SPE, it must assess
whether (hal transfer s accounted for as a sale of the assals,
Transfars of assats may not meel sale requirements & the assels
have not been legally iselaled from the Group and%r i the Group's
camtinuing imelement B deemed fo give it effective cartral
over the assels, If the transfer (s not deamed a sale, # ks instead
atcounted for a3 a secuned borgwing, with the transtarred asseld
as collateral.

Gamns and kssas on securitzation transactions depend, in
part, an the carryng values of morgages and boans imalved in
the transfer and are allscated betwaen the assats sod and amy
bemeficial imlerasts retained according to the relalive © fair values
ol the date of sale.

The Group does nal refain materal servicing responsibdiles
from sacundization acthdies,

The foliowing tabie provides the gaing of loases and proceeds
framn the transfer of assels relafing o 2018, 2015 and 2014 sacu-
ritzations of financial assels that qualy for sale accounting and
suibsaquenl dersesgriion, akng with the cash Rows batwean the
Group and the SPEs used i any secuntezations mwhich Lhe Group
stil has contimzang mvobament, regardiess of when the sacuritiza-
thon atcurred
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Securitizations

IR (F
ﬂ‘llﬂl and cavh Bowe (CHI mdlianp )
cuBs
Kot gardest) ! I
EpoT r & e

Tt pacangsd on ol

Tl ok B B e 25 iy 284

Qe axset-backed fmanscings

P e, et g v
aka o Tl ©oflgheng

& ke prese o

rdlion o el ey, o

ons prcieag date el

Thee Grewp may kave continang mwohemant in the firancal assels
that are transferred to an SPE, which may take several forms,
mcliding, bt pet lmded to, servicing, retourse and guasantes
arangements, agreemants o purchase or redeem transferred
assels, dernalive nstrumans, pladges of colateral and benafictl
interests in the transfered assets. Benefical mterests, which are
wailuad af fak valie, nelude oghts ta recere all a2 portans of spee-
ihed cash inflows recaned by an SPE, including. but not Imited to,
send and subsidinaled shaies of inlerest, prinzipal, or olber cash
inflows te be “passed through® or “pasd thraugh®, premisms dus to
guarantors. OF obligations, and residual interests, whethar in the
farm of debt or equiy,

The Growp's exposue resulling fram coplmiing mahement in
fransfarred financal assss & generally bmied to beneficial der-
ests ypeally held by the Group in fhe form of instruments eued
by SPEs that are senmy, suberdinated or residual tranches. These
instrimnents are hald by the Greup typically i cannection with
underwriling or markat-making actvities and are ncluded in trad-
ing assets i the consobdated balanee shasls, Any charnges in Lhe
fair value of these baneficial inferests are recognized in the con-
sobdated statemerds of operalions.
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Irveslors wually have recourse o the assels n the SPE and
olten benaft fiom olher credt enhancements, such as collabesal
accounts, of Tram bquidity faciities, such as lines of credd or bquid-
ity put spbon of assel purchase agreements. The SPE may alse
erder imo a dernal ve confract n order 1o comert Lhe yield o cur-
rancy of L undarhang asssts to match the needs of the SPE
irvestors, of 1o imi or change the credd nsk of the SPE, The
Group may be the prowder of cartain credd enhancements as wel
as the courterparty bo any retaled desvative confract,

The fallowng table provides the autstanding principal batanes
of assets 1o which the Group corfinued o be exposed after the
transfer of the fnancal assals 1o amy SPE and the total assafs of
the SPE as of Dwcamber 31, 2016 and 2015, regardless of when
the franster of asssls sccurred.

Principal amounts sutstanding and total assets of SPEs
resulting from continuing involvement

- 2018

CHF milkan

CMES

Pl armeayss cyidtaning oH TTH 40 E7E
RHBS
Tokal astets of SPE 1,500 B S

Other sneet-backed Bnancings

Farcipdl drrsaged oylitandsg

The fair value measuremant of the benabcial interests beld at the
time of trangher ard ag of the reporling dabe thal result from any
continuing irvohement is delermined usng far vahe estmation
techisques, suth as the predent valos of estimated futire cash
flows that incorporate asswumptions that markel participants cus-
tomarily wse in these valuation lechreques. The fair value of the
assets of labilzies that resul from any conbinuing imahement does
nel irciide any benefis dom financil instrsments that the Greup
may utdze o hedge the inherent risks.
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Key economic assurmplions used in meassuring fair value of beneficial interests at ime of transler
s s o it F T

CHF mallion, srcept wheis indicatled

The fallowing table providas the sansitvdy analysis of key eco-
namic assumplions wsed in measunng the fair value of bereficial
nterasts held in SPEs as of December 31, 3016 and 2015.

Key acanomie asdumplions used in maaturing fair value of banaficial intarasts hald in SPEs
A TR e

CieF prufiican, #acept whise indicated
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These senstvities are hypothetical and do not feflact ecenomic
hedging actaibes. Changes in far value based ona 10% or 20%
variatien in assumptions generally canncd be extrapolried because
{he retationship of the change in assumplien to the change in fas
walue mary rod be brear, Also, the effect of a variation in a particular
assumplon on the fair value of the benaficial mlarasts i3 calculatad
withoul changing ary other assumplion. In practice, changes in
one assumphion may fesull m changes in oher assumphons (for
example, increases in market imerest rates may result m kawer
prapayments and increased cradd lasses), which might magnfy ae
counteract the senstnaties,

The follkewing table prewides the camyng ameurts of transterred
financal assels and the relxled kabites where zale treatment was
rat achrved as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Carrying amounis of tranaferred financial assets and
liabilities where sale treatment was not achieved

and ol ; . - o e 1t iy
CHF endlion

BMBS

Listsily B3 SFE. inchuded in Tthee &ikdiie e

Qther avset-backed fimancings

TONE (CHF million}

Transfers of financial assets accounted for as a sale

UE GAAP requires the diclosaire of a transacton ascounted for
ag a sake et comprises both of the follawing: a transher of finan-
cail assets 1o o transfaree and an agreament entered o i con-
templaticn of the niml ransfer with the lransferee thal results n
thee trarafierar relaimmng substantialy all of the exposise o the sco-
nommes refum on the transfesred financad asset theoughout the fem
af the transachian, In the srdinary course of busness, the Group
transfers a financial assel accounted for as a sake and, in some
Instancas, arlers inta an agreement in conbemplation of thal inffal
transter with the same counterparty to rétain substantzally al of the
eeanommes af that transfered financial asssl. As of Decembes 31,
2016, the Group had agreements n the form of kngevly swaps
on e insurance policies, compared Lo agreements in the frm of
TRS on equity securfms and longevily swaps on life msurance
pobeies as of Decembar 31, 2015,

The follawing table preserts rformation about the lransfers
of firancil asseds accourted for a5 sales with agreements that
resull in the Group refainng substantaly all of the exposure 1o the
scanamat telurn on the transdemed agsats af the date of sale and
remain cutstandng as of December 31, 2018 and 2015, respec-
tvaly, gress cash proceads recesmad for assels derecognizad at
the date of sake and the fair valees of transferred assels and the
aferemenbaned agresmments as of Decamber 31, 2016 and 2016,

a3 with borsgeetty Bwap

Yokal lymactions oets e i

DA% CHF mmllionh
i with 3l R g
Saey wilh lorwgesty Twaps

Toal Banssctions owls anding

iy P 2T — Dt L e Pligireg e by

665/771



Securities sold under repurchase agreemants and
securities lending transactions accounted for as secured
borrowings

Far securities sald under repunchase agreements and securfies
lending transactions accounted for as secured bomowings, LIS
GALP requires the duclauns of the colreral pledged and the
associaled nsks fo which a transferer continues 1o be expased
aftes the transfer. The provides an understanding of the falure
and nsks of shert-lerm coltterakoed financing oblained theough
these types of transactens,

Secunties 30l under repuchase agreements and Securdies
lerding transacbons represent colateralizad Bnancing transaetons
used fo eam nel mieresd income, increase liquidiy ar facditate
frading actaities. These transactions ane collateralited prncipally
by governmeni debl securias, corporale debl securities, asset-
backed sacurfies, aquity secwrities and slher collateral ard hoave
ferms rarging from on demand fo a konger penod of time,

In the evenl of the Group's defaull or a dechne in far value of
coliteral pledged, the repurchass agreement or securty lending
transaction peovades Lhe courderparty with the aght be hgudate the
coliateral held of request addiional collaberal,

The folicwing lables provide the gross obligation relafing fo
secunties sold under repurchase agreements, securies landing
transsctions ard obbgation to relurn secinties recehed 28 colal-
aral by the class of collaberal pledgad and by remaining contract ual
ratigity a3 of Decamber 31, 2016 and 2015,
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Securities sold under repurchase agreements, securities
lending transactions and aobligatien to return securities
receivad as collateral — by class of collateral pledged
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Securities sold under repurchase agreemants, securities lending transactions and obligation to return securities received

2% collateral - by remaining contractual maturily

A ol

7016 (CHF billion}
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VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES
As a nofmal part of B3 business the Gioup endgRges it wardus
fransacticns that include entiles that are considered VIES and are

" 1! L Totml
.4 4

20 4 A [51x) el -
457 347 B 5} &0

2 i 194 TR

g a5 .8

greuped inlo theee primary caleganes: © CDOYC CLOs, CP can-
duts and financial inbermediation, VIEs are SPEs that typecally
ailher lack sufficient squity to finance thas actvities withaut addi-
tional subordmated fimancad support or are structured such that
the holders of the voting nghls 4o net substarliely parteapate in
the gains and losses of the anlity. VIEs may be sponsored by the
Group o third partes. Such snlfties ane required to be asesssed
for consakdaton, compeling the prmary benaficary to conschdale
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the VIE. The censolidalion assessment requres an enlfy 1o deler-
fing whether i has the power 1o direct the actvibies Lhal most
significantly affect the economics of the VIE as well as whether
{he reporting enily has patentilly sgnficant benafits of losses in
the VIE. The primary beneficary assessment must be re-evaluated
&t AR ohgaing bass.

Application of the requiremants for consobdation of VIEs may
requee the exarce of sgnificant managament udgment. In the
event condabdation of a VIE & required, {he expasure o the Group
ts Bmited ta that partion of the VIE's assats attributabls (o amy
wariable interest held by the Group prior to any risk management
activilins ta hedge the Group's nel expasune. Ary ierests beld in
tha VIE by third parlies, even though consobdated by the Group,
will il bypicaly snpact s resulls of oparations.

Transactions with VIEs are generally executed fo facitale
sacunfization activiies or lo mesl specific chapd needs, such as
provading bouiddy or imvesting opportundies, and, as part of these
acthaties, (e Group may hold interests in the VIEs. Secumtcea-
fion-related transactions with VIEs imvobre sefing or purchasing
assets as wall as possbly entednng into related © dervatives with
thase VIEs, providing bguddy, credit of other suppart. Cther frans-
achians with VIEs include derivalive transactions in the Growp's
capacty as the prime broker, The Group atso enfers into lending
arrangements with VIEs far the purpese of firancing prajpcts o
tha acquisfion of assals, Typically, the VIE's assets are resiricted
i ralure i thal they are held prenarly 1o sabishy the obligationg
of the entity. Funther, the Group is imvolved with VIEs which were
farened for the purpose of offering alberrative restmant solutiong
{0 charls, Such VIEs relate prmarily to private equiy svesimants,
fund-lnked vahiclas ar funds of funds, where the Graup 2cts as
stuciurer, manager, distrbutor, braker, market maler or liquidity
provider

As a consequence of these acihities, the Greup holds varl-
abla iteresis in VIEs. Such vasiable inlarests consist of finan-
cial irstroments issued by VIEs and which are held by the Group,
certain derivaties with VIEs of bbans 1o VIEs, Guarariess ssued
by the Greup 1o or an behalf of VIEs may akso qualify as vanable
iberasts For such guarariess, including dervadies that a2t a8
guarantees, the nobonal amound of the respective guarartees is
presanted to reprasant the axposure. In ganaral, imestors B con-
soldated VIEs do not have recourse 1o the Groap in the svend of
a defaull, e epl whare a guarares was provided to the mestars
of where the Group is the counlerparty 1o a derivaiive fransaction
anaskireg VIEs,

Tatal assels of consolidated and nan-consolidated VIEs for
which the Growp has imobament repsesant the tolal assels of the
WIEs even thaugh the Group's svelemend may be significantly
lass dus to merests held by thisd-party Pvestors. The assai bal-
ances for non-conschdated VIEs where the Group has significant
imeshamant represent the most current information availabla fo the
Growp reganding the remaining principal balance of assets owned,
Im most casas, the asset balances rapresent an amorized cost
basis wilhout regards to impairments in far value, unless far vahee
infarmation is readily available.
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The Group's maxmem exposure 10 bss s dffererd fram the
carying value of the assels of the VIE. This maxmum axpesure
te loss consids of the camying valie of the Group varable infer-
ests hkd 2s trading assets, dervatives and leans and the notional
amount of guarantees 1o VIEs, rather than the amount of tolal
assels of the VIEs. The maximum expasire 1o lsss doas nol
reflact the Groups risk management activities, inchading effects
from financial instruments that the Group may wilze o scorami-
cally hedge the nisks nherent m these VIEs. The economic nisks
associated with VIE exposuras hald by the Group, together with all
ralevant © risk mitigation infliathes, are nchuded in the Group's risk
rrarmgemen framswark

The Group has nol proveded firancial or abher supped to con-
safidated er non—consokdatad VIEs that it was not contractually
required lo provade.

Collateralized debt and loan abligations

The Grewp engages in COOCLO transactions o mest chant and
irvaster needs, earn fees and sell financial assets and, for CLOs,
loans. The Group may a2l as underwriber, placement agent o
assst manager and may warehouse assels pricd 1o the closing of a
transachion. As parl of = structred finance business, the Graup
purchases lans and other debt obigations from and on behalf of
cleris for the purpese of securdzation. The lsans and ether dabl
obbgations are seld 1o VIEs, which in turn issue CDOYCLOs to
furd the purchase of assets such s irmestment grade and high
yield corparale debl instruments.

Typically, the colaleral manager n a managed CDOSCLO is
deemed to be the entdy thal has the power to direct the aclvties
that pnost affect the sconamics of the ertity. Ina state CDOACLO
this “power” robe i mare difficull to anatyoe ard may be the spon-
sar af the entiy of the & CDS counterparty,

COO/CLOs provide credd risk esposure to a porticke of ABS
ar leans (eash COOACLOS) or a refarence portfele of securties or
lsans (gymthetis COOYCLOS), Cash COOVCLO transactions hold
actual securities of loans whereas synthatie COOYCLO transas-
tions use COS to exchange the undedyng credd nsk nstead of
ugingg cagh assets. The Group may alss acl a8 a demvalie £ouf-
terparty to the VIEs, which are typically ned vanabhe inlerests, and
gy il in partions of the noles of eqully issued by the VIEs
The COOVCLO entites may have actvelr managed portfolos or
stabe parfolas.

The secunties sdued by these VIEs are payable solely from
the cash flows of the rekted colaberal, and thed-paty crediors
of these VIEs do nol have recourse to the Group i the evend of
defaul,

The Group's exposure in COO/CLO fransactons i typically
limited fo interests refained in connection with 83 urdanwriting or
rarket-making actities, Uniess the Group has been deemed to
hiwie “powar” over the antity and these inlerasts are poteniialy sg-
nificant, the Group s not the primary baneficiary of the vehicle and
dois rat conscbdale the enldy, The Group's samum expoiile o
nss does nol include any effects from financal instrumerts used
o economically hedge the risks of the VIEs.
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Commarcial paper conduit

Ii ke fowrth quartes of 2015, the Growp elected to slap issung CP
from an existing assel-backed CP conduit, Alpine Secuntization
Coap, (old Alping), and all sutstarding CP was fully repaid as of
December 31, 2015, As of December 31, 2016, old Alpine did nat
harve ary thid-parly agsels.

In 1he sacond quarler of 2016, the Group establshed Alpmne
Securtlization Lid (Alpine), a mulb-salier assel-backed CP condist
ugad for client and Greup financing purpases. The Group acts as
the admnistratar and provder of liquidiy and credd anban: ement
faciities for Alpine. Alpine discloses 1o CP mvesters cedan port-
foha and aaset data ard submits 23 portiabe be rating agencies far
publc ratings. This CF condut purchases assels such as kans
and recesables of enders wlo reverse repurchase agreements and
firances such actvilies through the ssuance of CP backed by
these asssls. The CP conduit can enter inbo bguidity facilties with
third-party arifies pursuant 1o whch it may purchase assets from
thease antfes to provide them with liquiddy and credf suppan.
The financing transactions are structured to provide credid suppart
13 the CP condul m the form of ewver-collateralzation and ather
assel-specific enhancernents. Alpne i3 a separate legal entity that
s whally ewnad by the Group. Hewever, its assets are avalabla lo
satisty only the claums of 83 creditors. In additan, the Group, a4
admnlstrater ard quadity faclily provder, has sgnificam expesire
o ard power over the aclvites of Alpne. Alpine is considered a
VIE for accounding purposes and the Group i3 deemed the phmary
beneficiary and consobdates this entity.

The cverall average maturty of the conduit's outstanding CP
was appraximately 103 days a3 of December 31, 2016, Alpne
was rated A-1(zf) by Standard & Poce's and P-1(sf) by Maady's
and had expasures in a reversa repurchase agreement, credd cand
recenables, student bans and car kbans.

The Group's cammitment lo ths CP condull conssis of abk-
gations undar kyudily agreaments. The lquidity agreamants are
assel-specific arangements, which require the Group 1o purchase
assels from the CP condufl in certain crcumstances, incleding a
lack of bquadiy in the CP market such thal the CF conduil cannat
refirance Aa obbgalions of, i dome cases, & defaolt of an urderly-
ing assel. The assel-spectic credil enhancemant s provided by the
client saller of tha asseis mmain unchanged as a result of such a
purchaze, In entering inbo swch agreaments, the Group reviews the
cdit risk assacwmbed with these fransactions an the same basis
that would apply fo other exlensions of credi.

The Group's sconamic rsks assactated with the CF condut
are meheded in the Group's risk managemant framewerk mciuding
counterparty, scenomic risk capital and scenano analysis.

Financial intermediation
The Greup has sgnificant imohemant with VIEs i s role as a
firancial inbedenedary on babalf of chents

The Growp consders fhe lkalibood of incurming a loss equal to
the FaRium expeaire 1o be rimote because of the Greup's rak
matigation effers, including, but not limied to, econamic hedg-
ing sirategies and colateral amangements. The Group's ecenomic
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risks associated wilh consabdated and non-cansalidated VIE
expodures ansing from francal infermedsation, fogether with all
refevant sk mitigateon nitatves, are schuded in the Growp's risk
mnanagemer framewed.

Financal stermediation consists of securtizations, funds,
lsans, and ather vehiclas.

Securtizatans are pamanky © CMBS, © RMBS and ABS vehicles.
The Group 2285 a5 an undenwriter, market maker, byuiddy previder,
demvative counterpary and/or provider of credd enhancemeants b
VIEs retated 1o certmn secuntizalon Lransactans,

The maxmum exposure 1o kbas s the camying value of the lban
securfies and dematae poeadions that are varable inlerests, d ary,
phus the expasure arsng from any credd erhantements the Group
pravided. The Greup's maximum expasue to loss doas nat include
any effects from Bnancial instruments wed b ecenomically hedge
the risks of fhe VIES.

The activities thal have the most smnificant impact on the
securfzation vehicke are the dedimans retating be defauled leans,
which are corfrolied by the seracer, The party that condrols fhe
sarvicing has the abdily bo make dacisians that sigrficantly affect
the resull of the actviles of the securdzation vebicle, If a sscu-
fitzation vehichs has muliple parties that conlial servicing oves
specific assets, the Group determines it has power when i has
conlial ver the servicing of greater than 50% of the assets m the
securiization vehcle. When a sarvicer or ils related parly alse has
an aconami: inlarest thal has the petential 1o absarb a synificant
portian of the gains and.or losses, i will be deemed the primary
bemefary and consobdate the vehichs. I the Grewp determines
that i condrols the relevant servicing, it then determines if it has
thee abhgation 1o absor lassas frem, ot the nght to ieeene beredls
of, the securitcation vehicle that could potentially be smynificand to
the wahicle, premanily by evaluating the ameunt and natura of sacu-
rithes issued by the wehicle that it holds. Facters considered in ths
analysis inchade the level of subsedination of the secunties hald as
well as the size of the positson, based on the percentage of the
clasa of secunties and the total deal classes of sacurdies msped.
The maore subardinated the level of securfies hald, the more (ke
it s that the Group will be the primary baneficiary. This consalida-
tian analysis is performed each reporing pencd based on changes
i irwenbory and the bevels of assats remairang in the sacurlization.
The Growp typically consclidates secuntizalion wehicles when it &
the servicer and Fas heldings stemming from 18 rele as under
writer, Shorl-term market making holdings in vehicles are ned typi-
cally consxened to be polentally significant for the purposes of
this assessment,

I the casa of re-sscurilzations of previsusly issued RMBS
securiies, the re-securntization vehicks are passive m nadure and
do nat ke any sigifieant sngoing activilies that requee marage-
manl, and decisians relating to the design of the secwfization
tramsmp:lian al 83 incephion ane tha key power netabing 1o the vehi-
che, Actrates af inceplion inclede selecling the asssts and defer-
miming the capal siructure. The power over a re-sacurdization
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vehecle i typecally shared between the Group and the investor(s)
inephitd in Ehe design ard creation of the vehicke. The Growp con-
cludes thal & is the primary beneficiary of a re-secuntization vehicle
when it ewns substantially all of the bands saued from the wehicle.

Funds inchude irmesiment struclures such as mutual furds, funds
of fundls, praate equily funds and fund-haked products where the
imvestary’ mberest s typically m the form of debt rather than equty,
{hasaby making them VIES. The Geoup may haove various relalesn-
ships with such VIES in the form of struclurer, investment advisar,
nislenenl marage, adminislralor, usladian, underarded, plate-
ment agent, market maker and/or as prme broker. These actvilies
meide the use of VIES in structurng fund-linked preducts. hedge
funds of funds o proate equily mvastments o provide chents wilh
imeastrment oppartunitees in alarmalie mvesimants. In such frans-
actions, a VIE holds underying invesiments and ssues securfies
1hat provide the irastors with a ratuen based on the perfammance
of ihose investments,

The maximumn exposide 10 loss condists of the far value of
insdruments isswed by such structures that are held by the Group
as a resull of undareriling or market-malking actndies, financ-
ing pravided o he velucles and the Group's exposune resulting
fram primcipal pratection and redemptions featires. The inves-
fors typically retain the risk of boss on such {ransactions, but far
eertain fund types, the Group iy pravide pincipal protectan on
the securfies (o hmi the imestors’ expasune o downskde market
risk. The Group's maximum axpasure to lass does nod include amy
effects from firancial instruments used to economically hedge the
rick af the VIE=.

Arather model is used to assess funds for conseldation under
US GASP. Rather than the consahdatian model which incarpasales
power and the poterial 1o abserd sgndficant nisk and rewards, a
previous conselidation model is used which rasulls in the Group
bering 1he prmary beneficsary and consobdating the funds f & holds
raene than B0% of ther autstanding issuantes.

Loans are single-financing velecles where the Group provides
firancirg for specifed a5sels of budmess venlunes and the respsc-
ine awner of the assels or manager of the businessas provides
1l equty inthe vehizle. Thase tadsred handing adrangsments ane
establshed 10 puchase, lease o olherwie Bnance ard manage
clienits' agsets.
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OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)

The maximum exposure |2 loss & the camyng value of the
Group's laan expasure, whath 15 subject 16 the same credit risk
maragement procedures as loans issued directly to clients. The
cleris’ craditwerthinass is carefully reviewed, laan-lo-wakee ratios
are strictly set and, n addtion, chents provide equily, adddional
collateral or guarantees, all of which significantly reduce the
Group's exposure. The Group considers the kkekhood of incuming
3 loss equal to the maamum exposire 1o be remele becauss of
the Group’s nsk milgation effedts, which includes ever-coliateral-
izatien and affective mombaring to ensure that a suffichant lands-
vithie ralio B mairtained,

Thee Ahird-party spanges af the VIE will typzally have conteel
over the assels during the ide of the structume and have the polen-
tial 15 absedh sgaficant gams and lesses; the Group i typically
nel the prmary baneficiany of these struclures and will not have
o consabdate tham. Howeved, a change in the structues, such as
a default of fhe sponsor, may result i fhe Group gainng contrel
cver the aasels. B the Greup's landing i signifieant, i may Lben be
required lo consolidate the anliy.

Other includes additional vetecles where the Group prowdes
financing ard frust preferred ssuance vehicles, Trust preferred
Bauanee vehicles are wlilzed Yo asslal the Group i raisng capial-
efficient firancing, The VIE ssues preference shares which are
guaranteed by the Group and wies the precesds 1o purchase the
debt of the Group. The Group's guarantes of A5 own dabt & not
consdered a vamable ineresd and, as i has ro holdngs n these
vehiches, the Group has ro maximun expodure fo bbas. Non-con-
salidated VIEs mchude anly the botal assels of trust prefermed Bsu-
arce vehickes, as the Gooup has no vanable interests with these
el e,

Consolidated VIEs
The Greup has sgnificard mvehement with VIES in ds role as a
financial mbermadiary an behalf of chents. The Graup eonsolidates
all VIEs related 1o francsl indermediation for which it was the pn-
reary benaficary.

The consobdated VIES tables provide the carrying amounts
and elassifications of the assels and labitlies of consabdated VIES
a3 of December 31, 2006 and 2015,
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Consolidated VIEs in which the Group was the primary benaeficiary

PaLd | CHF million)

Tokst Bsbiitey of conscldeied VIES
818 (CHF million)

il S e O 0T (i

Faivd. fu k] Lradin

Tokal apnets of comolidated Wik

T

Tofsl liskiligss of consobdsied VIES

Hon-censclidated VIEs

The man-consabdatad VIES tables prevade the carrpng ameunls
and classification of the assels of variable iMerests recorded in lhe
Group's consehdated balance sheels, maxmum expodure 10 less
and tolal assets of he nen-canschdated VIEs.

Maximum expasuse 1o lass represents the variable inferests
of nen-consckdated VIEs that are recorded by the Graup {for
exampls, diect holdings in vehizlas, leans and other recenablas),
as well as nobonal amaouris of guarandees and off-balance shest
commiments which are varable irerests that e been sxdandad
o nen-censchdated VIEs. Such amouwnts, partcularly nolional
amaunts of dervalives and guarantess, do nol rapresant the

[l ¥ St

43 2 2D Ll c) 2,708 FE [ B ]

(¥ (¥ 18 [}
| ! ] o 1
5 L 1840 n 190 108 072

]

(¥ L] [} ']

: ik
12,473 e 2.0 pi) 3,084 3,7 2203
2,428 [ A 134 14, B0
12,487 3 2212 12 288 L] 15,7

anticipaled losses in conneclion with these transactions as they do
nalt take inls consdaration the affect of collateral, recoveries of the
prababilily of loss, In adddion, they exciude the affect of affsatiing
financial mstruments that are held te milgate these risks and have
not bean reduced by wrealzed losses previously recarded by the
Graup in connaction wilh guarariess or darialbes.

Hen-consoldated VIE assets are related to the non-consal-
ated VIES with which the Group Fas varable imMerssts, These
ameuris represent the assels of the enlities themsebes and are
typicaly unrelaled 1o the exposuras the Group has with 1ha enliy
and thus are rod amaounts that ane considered for sk managemsent
pLIpOsas,
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Certain VIEs have net been mchuded in the foliowing fable,
incleding VIES dructured by thed parties in which the Group's
inberast i o the foam of securiies held n the Group's imvenrlory,
certain repurchase fimancings 1o funds and single-assed financing

Maf-consalidatad VIEs

vehchas nol sponsored by the Group to which the Group provides
finarcing but has very Bile risk of loss due 1o over-colatpralization
ard guasantees, faded sales whene the Group does not bine any
ather hollings and other antites oot of scope.

Finantie! nlsrmadion

ol # " & Tatal
FO1E (CHF million} '
Tra |.'|:| ety 44 1808 oA 151 ] (1= ]
ety 3% 5eds 8 14 br. 1 a e ] a5
Tetal vasisble inlese st asnely 449 4,000 1583 5188 1,319 14487
Maximum sxposans e loss FTT 7an 1,883 5218 1821 BHe
Hon-comunlidated VIE sunats 0774 85820 EAS4E 32881 37,007  TIRATE
014 (CHF mBlion) '
Trading arsot e e &5 T AE
# 1,508 7734 NG B SR AR Y
i atseds 1 132 151 !-\.‘_:
Tetsl vasiabie inteda st avials 128 7,540 JE18 5478 1,682 18,654
Mamimurm sxposse b kess 126 13888 1618 11866 2,570 0,186
Hon-comalidaled VIE assats 8500 115530 S012 41824 3085 25000
35 Financial instruments

The disclosure of the Group’s financial nestruments balow includes

{he foliawing sections:

= Concenbration of credi msk;

*  Far value messwement (including fakr value hierarchy, frans-
fers between lvels; kel 3 reconcilabion; qualitalive and quan-
thatve dclasures of valuation lechaigees and manfeumng
fair value changes);

" Far value oplan; and

= Disclosures aboul © far value of financsl instruments nol car-
ried at fair value.

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK
Credit rsk concentralions anse when a number of countesparies
are engaged in similar busingss actrlies, ane lacated i the same
geagraphic region or when these are smilar econemic features
that would causa thewr abilty ta meet contractual shligations to be
simitary impacted by changes in econcmis canddions

The Graup regulazly menitars Uhe credit sk pertfobs by caun-
terparties, industry, country and products to ensure that such
potenial concentraions are denlifed, uting a comprehendie
range of quanidalve tocls and metnes. Credit brnits relalng fo
counterpartias and products are managed through countesparly
lenits which sat the maximumn credd exposures the Group i will-
ing 1o assima o spacifie counterparties over specifed parods.
Country limits are established 1o aveid any undue country nsk
eoncentratian,

Freem an indusiry point of veew, the combined credit expasure
of the Group is dversified. A lasge portion of the credit sxposure

& with indnadual charts, particulary (hrough residental mergages
in Switsartard, or retalas 1o fransactions wih firancial natidtions
In both cases, the customer base is exenshe and the number and
vanaly of fransactions are broad. For trancactions with financel
nstavions, the business s alse gecgraphically dverse, with oper-
atans focused i the Amencas, Europe and, 1o a lesser axdent,
Asia Pacific

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

A sgneficant paion of the Graup's financial nstruments am car-
ried ab o fair vakee, Deterioration of financil markets could sgnifi-
canlly impact the fair value of these Tmanclal instrumants and the
resulls of operalions,

The far value of the majedty of the Group’s Snandal instie-
merls is based on quated prices in acive markels or chaervable
inputs. These instruments include govemment and agency secuf-
ties, certam ¢ CF, mos! immstment grade corporate debl, certain
hikgh yield debl sacurties, axchange-traded and certain o OTC
demnaive nstruments and most listed equsty securities.

In additien, the Group holds financial instruments far which na
prices are pvadable and which have [dtle of no ebsenable mputs.
Far thasa instruments, the dabeemination of fair vakee requines sub-
pctve assessment and pdgment, dependng on liquiddy, pricing
assumplions, the currenl sconamic and compelites amananment
and the nsks affecting the specific instument. In such cireum-
slances, valualion i delermined based on managemen's owi
judgments abeout the assumplions that markel participants would
usa in pocing the assat or kabdity, including assumplions sboul

671/771



nsk. Thesa mstruments include certain OTC demvalives, inchud-
ing equily and credit dervatives, cerlan comporate squiy-nked
secunties, mofgage-related and © CDO securitsy, privale aquity
invesirnents, cetain bans and credit produns, incloding leveraged
firance, certain syndated loans and certan tugh yield bonds, and
e Snance nsdruments. The far value messurement disclosures
axclude dernative transactions that are daily sattied,

Thee fa vahsa of firancial assels and labibies i impacted by
factors such as benchmark inberest rabes, prices of financial nstru-
meenils ssued by thind partss, commodily prices, foreign exchangs
rates and rdex prces of rates. bn additon, vakation adusiments
are an integral part of the vakation process when maskel pres
are not indacalive of the credit quality of a courlerparty, and are
apphed to both OTC dernatves and debt rstrumants. The impact
of charges in a courderparty’s credd spreads (known as & credd
wailiathon adjusimens) s conslarad when measwing the fae valie
of assets, and the impact of changes i the Group's own credi
speaads (known as © debil valuation adjustments) & censadered
when measurng The far valus of ds labiities. For OTC dernatives,
the wmpact of changes in both the Group's and the counterpar-
ty's credit standing 15 consdered when measuring their far value,
basad an current © COS prices. The adjustments alse take ina
accourt canfractual factors desagned fo reduce the Group's credd
axpasune bo a counterparty, sueh as collateral hald and masiar
= netting agreements. For hybnd debt instrument s with embadded
dernative fealises, the impact of changes in the Group's cradit
standing 15 considered when measuring their fair value, based an
currant furded debt spreads.

A5 2011-04 permits a repeding entily to measure the far
walos of a group of fmancial assals and financal labilties on the
basis of the prce that would be recesed te sl a net long position
of pad to transfer a net shor pasition for a padicutar ek exposun
in an ordedy ransaction betwean markel participants at the mea-
suwement date. As such, the Group continues lo apply bid and offer
adjustments lo net portfolios of cash securfies and/or dernathe
inatruments (o adpst the value of the nat postion fram & med-mar-
ket price 1o the approprate bid or offer kevel that would be realeed
under narmal magkel conditions for the ret lang or nel sheat posi-
fion for a specific markel rek. In addtion, the Group reflects the
ned mxpasure to credit sk for As dervative instuments whara tha
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Group has legally enforceable agreements with 85 counterpartes
that miigate credit risk axposure in the svent of defaull. Valstion
adjustments are recorded n a reasonable and consastent mannes
theal resuts n an abscatian 1o the relevart dasclasures in the noles
to the financial statemands as if the valation adjustment had been
alacated bo the mdriduald unit of accound.

Fair value higrarchy

The kevels of the fair value higrarchy are defined as folows:

# Level 1@ Qusted prices {unadusted) in active markels for
identical assels or Eabities that the Group has the abilly to
aceess, Tha level of the Bair vakus higsarchy providas the mest
rekable evidence of fair vakie and (s used to measure fai value
whangver dvalabls,

= Level 2: Inpuls eiber than quoted prices meluded within level
1 that are observable for the asset o kabdily, aither directly
or indrecily. These inputs inchude: (1) quoted prizes for smikar
assals or kabiies B active markels; (B) quoled pricas for iden-
tical or similar assets or labditees in markets that are mot acthe,
that s, markets in which thess are few transactions for the
assel or labiily, the phces are ned current or prce quatations
vary substantally afthar over lime of among mankel makers, of
i which Etle infarmation 5 publichy avaibable; (i) inputs ciher
than queted prees tha aee obsesvabla for the assel or bty
ar (w) imputs that are deried principally from or cormaborated by
obsendable markel dada by coralalion of olher means.

= Level 3: Inpuls that are unobservable for the assel or labil-
ity. Thaza inputs reflact the Greup's own assumplions about
the assumplions that market participants would use in pricing
the assat ar kabdity (inchuding assumplions about rek). These
inputs are developed based an the best information avalable
in the cireumstancas, which mclude the Group's own dala.
The Group's own data used to develop unabservable inpuls &
adjustad if infarmation indicates thal market parscipants would
use differenl assumplions.

The Group recards nel open posions at bid prices if long, or al
ask prces if shol, unless the Grouwp & a marke! maker in such
postiens, inwhich case mid-pricing & utikzed. Fasr valee measure-
riverds ans il adjusted S transaction costs.
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Assals and labilities measurad al fair value on a recurring basis

#nd of TRIE
Kunwby (CHF millicn)

Tetal aaesls 1 lal valis

Ausets ot bt valug suchiding

]

end avsebs not k- weighbed

under the Basel framework

127,790 T4 488 23,390 (FOEXIT)

127700
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Assals and liabilities messured at Tair value on a recurring basis (centinued)

wnd of 2006 " - W it 11 e g Fokad
Liabitipn ($0F mallion)

Total liskdne s ot fab valus STATI M3 AT CHATTE) LR
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Assals and labilities measurad al fair value on a recurring basis {eontinued)

Kunwby {CHF millicn)

Tedsl aisels 1 lai valus CHS 54D

128,080 AZE, 181 33001
L ol e U 17
Bedats ot b valud sxchuding fing inte
and awzets notisk-veighted under the Basel ramework

126080  L2B060 24,344

Pt g e L sl P!

(5254
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Assels and liabilities measured at Tair value on a recurring basis (continued)

Liabitipn ($0F mallion) )

555 CI4ATE) & MaAx:

Transfers between level 1 and level 2

All trareters balween level 1 and level 2 are reparted theaugh the
tast day of 1he reporling penod,

In 2016, trancfers to leval 1 ol of level 2 were from trading
assels and trading labities, The fransfers from frading assets
wete prenarly B exchange lraded dervatives and debl securllies
as pnces became observable. The transfers fram trading kabilties
e pﬂm:rﬂ:lr i e»:l-mnge traded demalives as preced bacams

Avants (CHF million)

()

obsenable. r..d 5 u 3.1:19 2,172 .uu |..|;
I BO1E, transfers oot of leval § to leval 2 ware primarily from g 4iad ;
Inwe sbmenl securities 1] 1,220 Qa Qa

frading assets and imvestment securties, The transfers fram frad-
ing assels were pramarily in debl and equity securities far which
suitable closing prices were unchblainable as of the end of 2016,
The fransters fram vestment sacurlies were m debl securties . :ieas o :

far which suftable closing prices were unchtsnable as of theend " " s ' S :
of 2016. L) B R

Lishifithen {CHF millen)

Dol 9 &5 £ 1]
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Assals and labilities measurad at Tair value on a recurring basis Tor lavel 2

-]
Rigets (CHF millios)

303

Todsl sde1s 0 I value
Linhililies (CHF millony
gab
¥ i
w
W M,
o
wh = H
£ wiich Lafad taie iR
Totsl liabilifies ot Fair vabes 1,555
11 406

Het asuaty/Eahilites) at fair valus

& Ta2 (7, 2400

&
5,708 (2,718)
B [ f r L]
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Balimce
o i sl Baid b i E W o el
it H gt o ol L ] ol pailed

1
£B,838) LRk 238 o T L] o 1,083 ol ]
{11,480% (35} 258 {1 130 ] 781 [ 19,837
2 544 (s {200 i 1 (1 {241} 400 sk
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Assals and labilities measurad at Tair value on a recurring basis for level 3 (continued)

Azgebs (CTHF milliom|
ik Vo e LRl

Tl 1l ] ol el b wen]

Tetal adsats 54 Iab valus 35857 11,188 5815 13,740
Linbilibies (CHF milion

5
Tetal Rabiksisd al Fair vakes 24,547 5,477 00 5

Het pnaste Rabdite ) b Fair vabus 1z B i1.53ap LR ]
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B s

L ol B i ' e Frgee |

e . = il e Pk o peitisd

13,8040 BES 19024 LLa k] (TE2N (2] 27 {8183 iy ]
(279 LR E ] {8 E&T) 14 (1.508) ] IS5 {128 M558
13,320) (2,380} TRy LE- ] TG (K4} {41} {G8) LRI
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Gains and lo2ses on assels and liabilities measured at fair value on & recurring basis using significant unobservable

inputs (level 3)
A 0 e
Trading e Total Tradng e Total
Lot o rEvemEEN (e resn e revenmen
P.‘iu!m.l e o v e B TR ) . i “ _ ARRH, ia vl e .
. 1185) (115 (238)' = =] T
o 111 a3 o8

Beih observable and unobservable inpuls may be used to delar-
fming the far vakie of postions thal have been clisahed within
beved 3. As aresult, the unrealmed gaing and losses for assets and
kabifes within level 3 prasanted in the fable above may nelude
changes in fax value that were altributable to both cbssnable and
unobsenable inputs.

The Group employs vamous econcmic hedgng technigues in
oider to manage nsks, miludng fsks o level 3 pestions. Such
{echniques may include the purchase or sale of financial nstru-
ments that are classified in levels 1 and/fer 2. The reakzed and
unresilized gang and kosses for assels and habites n level 3 pre-
santed o ihe table above do nel reflact the related realzed o
unrealized gans and losses arisng on economas hedging instru-
ments classified in levels 1 andfar 2.

Translers in and oul of level 3

Transters iro lvel 3 assets duning 2018 wene CHF 5.792 milbon,
prirnarily from trading assels and bans. The transfers vere pri-
magily in the corporate credit, emerging market and fined income
budimeases dis bo imided abserabily of prieing data and reduced
pricing information from external providers. Transfers oul of level
3 assets during 2016 wers CHF T.340 millien, primarily in trading
assets, bans ard lcans held-for-sale, The transfers oul of level 3
azsels wars primarly in the corporabe cradt and emanging market
businesses due to improved shsenabiity of pricing data, increased
avalabilly of prcing wfarmation from extermal providers and due 1a
a mode granular assessment of the leveling process.

Transfers inte level 3 assets dunng 2015 wese CHF 11,188
milicn, prmardy from irading assets and loans hekl-for-sale. The
{ransfars ware primanly in the corporale credi, equily derhealives
and emerging masket businesses due fo mited cbserability of
preing dats and reduzed preting indarmation fram exterral provid-
ers. Transfers aut of level 3 assels durng 2015 were CHF 9 541
milban, primarily in Irading assats and lbans held-for-sals. The
transfers oul of level 3 assels were prmardy in the corparale
cradf, aquily dervalives and alternaties irvesimeanl businsssas
due to improved obsenabiity of pricing data and increased avail-
abilty of pricing information frem axbermal previders.

Qualitative disclosures of valuation techniques

The Group has implemented and mairains a valtion centrel
framawedk, which i3 supported by pelicies and precedures that
defing the princsples for confreling the waluation of the Group's
firmrcial instrments. Praduct Cantral ard Risk Maragemenl cre-
ate, review and approve significant valuation palicies and proce-
dures. The framewsdk intludes thres mamn irernal procasses: (1)
vahuation governance; (i) indepandent prce verificabion and sgnifi-
cant unobsendable inputs revev; and (i) a cross-functional pricing
model review, Through this framewark, The Group determines the
reasanablensss of the far value of #2 firancal Betruments.

On a manthly bass, meetings are hald for each business line
with samar repredantalias of the Frorm Office and Product Con-
trol o discuss indepandent price vanfication resulls, valuation
adjustments, and ather sgnificant valation issues. On a quanary
bazms, a review of signficant changes in the far value of financzal
Instruments is undertaken by Produet Condrol and conclusions are
reached regarding the reasonableness of thase changes. Addi-
tionally, o 2 quanterly basis, mestings ane held for each busingss
lire with senior representatives of the Front Office, Praduct Cen-
tred, Risk Management, and Financial Accountng 1o decuss nde-
pendent price verification resulls, valualon ssues, business and
earkel updates, xs wal as a revew of significant changes in fair
vatlue from the prior quarter, signficant uncbsenable imputs and
prices usad in valuatien lechmgues, and valuation adustments.

The results of these meetings are agaregated for prasenta-
thon 1o the Valiatan Risk Mansgement Commitiee (VARME) and
the Audit Committes. The VARMC, whech i3 comprisad of Exscu-
tive Board members and the heads of the business and comial
funcions, meets 1o review and ratdy valuation review conchisions,
and to resabee sgnifican valustion @sues for the Group. Oversght
of the valuaten contrel framework s threugh speciic and regu-
kxr reperting on valuation directly to the Group's Executee Beard
thrarugh the VIBRMC,

One of the key componanls of the governance process s the
sagregation of duties between the Front Office and Product Can-
trel. The From Office s respensble for measuring irnvenlony at
fair value on a daily basis, while Product Contral i responsible
fer independently revievang and validiating thase valualions on
penadic basis. The Frant Office valees the imentery wsing, wher-
evar possibla, ebsanable markat data which may include axsculed
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fransactions, dealsr quotes or breker quobes for the same of simi-
tar instrumenls, Product Comrol vahdales thes inventory using rde-
pendertly sounced data thal alsa includes exscifed Iransactions,
dealar quobes, and brober quolas.

Preduct Conftrel wblipes independent pricing service data as
part of its review process. independent pricing service data i
analyzed to ensure that @ s representative of fair value, incled-
ing confirmmg Ihal the data corresponds 1o erscided transactions
o exaculable broker quotes, rewew and assessment of contrbu-
fors to ensure they are active market pardcipants. review of sta-
tistical data ard uldzalon of prcing chaBenges, The analysis alse
includes understarding the daisces of the preig sarvice data and
ary models or assumplions used i delerminng the resulls. The
purpose of the review 15 1o judge the qually and reliabilty of the
data for far vales measurement purposes and s approprte level
of usage within the Praduct Comteal indepandent valuation revesw.

Fer certain financial nstrumends the fair valee 5 estimated in
full ar o part usmng valistion techmques based on assumplions
ihat are not supported by markel observable prices, rales or
ather inputs. In addian, then may be untertainly aboul a vaki-
ation resulting from the chaice of valuaton lechnique or madel
usad, the assumplions embedded in those madels, the extent 1o
which mputs are not market obsenable, or 23 a consequence of
alher elaments affacting the vakiation technigus of madal Madel
calbratian is performed when significand new market infermation
becomes maakable of ab & miramum of a quartecly bass ag part of
the business review of sgnificant unobservable inputs for level 3
matrumneanis. For models that have been deemed 1o be signeficant
fo the overall tair value of the financal inslrument, model vaidation
is parformad as part of the pencds redew of the relaled modal.

The Group performs a sensitivily analysis of s significant
evel 3 fnancial meliuments. This seratvily analis edtimates &
fair value rangs by changmg the relabed significant unobsenable
inpulls vales. This sensitsily analysis is an nbarnal mechanism o
mandar the impact of reasorable alematve inpuls or prices for
leval 3 firancial nstrumends. Whare a medal-based lachnique is
used to determine the fair value of the level 3 financial instrumeant,
an alemative nput value i3 ublized 1o dese an astimated far value
range. \Whene a price-based fechnigues is used to determine the
fair valsa of tha kevel 3 financial ingdruments, Front Offica prafas-
sanal udgment & used to estimate a fair value range.,

Thee fallowang infesmation an the vakeatan techragies and siy-
mificant uncbservable inpuls of the varicus financial instrumants,
are he senstiily of fai vakie measurements ta changes in sagnif-
icant unchservable inpuls, should be read in conpnclion with the
{ablas "Cuantd afive informalion about level 3 assets at fair value”
and “Cuanditative infarmation aboud level 3 labiiies at far value®,

Securiies punchased under resale agresments and securities
sl urder © repuichase agresments afe measured al far value
using discourted cash flow analysis. Fulure cash flows are da-
counted using obsarvable market ifered! rale repurchase/resale
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curves for the applcable maturty and underlying collateral of the
instrumants. As such, the sgnificant mapnty of both securies
purchased undes resale agreements and securities sold under
repurchase agreements are intluded n bevel 2 of the fair value
higrarchy, Structured resake and repurchase agreements inchude
embedded dernatives, which are measured using the same téch-
niques as described below for stand-alone derivalive comracls
held for trading puiposes of used in hedge accounting relatian-
ships, If the value of the embeddad dervatne & delermined wing
signefieant unsbsarvable inputs, those struclued resate and repur-
chase agreements are clsshied within level 3 of the far value
Feerarchy. The sgnbcant unabservable inpud @ funding spread.

Secunties purchased under resale agreements are usually
fully collateraloed o over-collaberalzed by government sscurties,
manty market natrements, corparale bonds, or ather debl imstru-
mends, |n the avend of counterparly defaull. the collateral sandce
agreement provides the Group with the right 1o bquidate the col-
Eteral bheld.

Government debl sacurties typically have quated prices in actve
markels and are categorzed as level 1 instruments. For debd
sacuirfies far which market prces are nol seailable, valuations are
based on yields reflecting credt rating, hastorical performance,
debnguencies, loas severly, the matuity of the securty, recen
transachions in the market or other modeling techniques, which
ey iwobe judgiment. Those securbes whene the price or model
inpuls are observable in the markel are calegorized as lavel 2
melruments, whis those securfies whare prices are nol absary-
able and sgnficant model inputs ane uncheenable are categonzed
as bl 3 of the fair value Fieraschy,

Comporate bonds are priced bo reflect current market levels
eilber thiowgh recent marke! transaclions of broker of deales
quates, Where a markel price for the parfcular securdy & nel
duectly svailable valustions are obtained based on yiekds reflacied
by ofher irstruments in the specific ar smilar entdy's capital struc-
tufe and adpesting foe differences in senianly ard matunty, banch-
marking 1o a comparable securily where markel data & avaidable
(aking inbe consderation detferences in credit, bqudly and matu-
rityh, of theough the apphcation of cash fiow modelng technigues
utilzing ebserable inpuls, such as curvend imerast rate eurves
and obserable COS spreads. Significant unchsenable inpuls may
inclide price and cormelann. Far secwities ulayg markel cempa-
rable price, the diferentiation between level 2 and level 3 s based
upan {he relitve signficance of any yield sdpstments 29 well a3
the accuwacy of the companisan characlenstics (Le., the obssry-
able comparable secundy may be inthe same courdry bul a differ-
ert industry and may have a different seniority levsl —1he lower the
caenparability the mosne Baly the secunty will ba leved 3).

Fair values of © RMBS, © CMES and CDO may be avalable
thiough quited prices, which are offen based an the prices al
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which similarly structured and collaleralzed securffes frade
between deabers and b and from custemars. Farvalues of MBS,
CMBS and COO for which there are significant unebservable
inpids are valued ueng capitalizalon rale and discount rale. Price
may rat be obsenable for far value measwement purposes for
many feadons, duch a3 the length of lime snce the last execulad
fransaction far the relaled secunly, use of a price from a simitar
ingdrument, of use of a price fram an indicatre quole. Fair values
deterrined by market comparabla price may nclide diccuried
cash fiow models using Lhe nputs prepayment rabe, default rate,
koss severily, decourd rale and credit spread, Prces from simidar
obaarvable natruments are used ta caleulite implied inpuls which
are then used to value unobsenable inslruments usng discounted
cash flaw. The disccurted cash flow prce is then compared Lo the
unobsencable prices and assessed for reasonableness,

Far most struetured debl sacurfies, determination of far value
requaes subsective assessment dependng on bqudily, ownarship
concentration, and the curtent sconamre and coampelithe amisan-
ment. Valuation is delarmined based on the Frord Office’s own
assismptions abaid how marke parlcpants would proe the assel.
Celiatzralzed band and lean obligations are spit info vanous sioue-
{iwed tranchas and each lranche (s valued based upen its indi-
widual ratang and the undertng collateral supparting the structure,
Walustion models are used bs value bath cash and syrthetle CDOs.

The majprty of the Group's pestions in equity securities are traded
en publc slack exchanges for which quated pricas are readily
and regutarly avaitable and are therefore categorized as level 1
insfrumeants, Level 2 and bneel 3 equities include fund-linked perod-
wets, corvertible bonds or equity securdies with restnictions that
afe et teaded in actve markels. Signiicand unobservable mpots
may include market camparable price and eamngs before mteres!,
faxes, deprecation and amerzation (EBITDA) multiple.

2 Dernatives beld for trading purpoases of used in badge account-
iy relationahips include bath OTC and axchange-taded derva-
invas. The far values of exchange-iraded dervalhves measured
uging obaervable axchange prces are mtluded in kel 1 of the far
value higrarchy. For exchange-traded derratives wheare the vol-
e of trading i low, the obserable exchangs prices may not be
consdened executable af the reporting date, These demalives ane
waluad in ihe same manner a8 similar absanable OTC derates
and are included in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, i fhe simiar
OTC dervative used for valuing the exchange-traded damative is
et abservable, the exchange-lraded dervative & ncluded in lavel
3 of the fair valus hisranchy.

The fair vakies of OTC dernatives are delermined on the basis
of either industey standard modals of internally developed propri-
elary models. Both madel iypes use vanaus obsendable and unob-
serable inpuls in arder to determme far vahet. The nputs mehuds
thase charactenstics of the demvalive that have a bearing on the
econamics of the nstrument. The determanation of the fair value
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of mary dervalves imvobes only a bmfted degree of submcinity
because the required inpuls are chaenabls n lhe marketplace,
while mare comples dermalves may use uncbasrvable mputs that
raly an specdic prapristary modeling sssumpliong. Whee abasr-
able inpuls {prices from exchanges, dealers, brakers or market
consansis data pravidars) are nol sailable, sltempls ame made to
infer values frem chasnvable proes threwgh maodel calbration (spot
and forward rates, mean reversion, benchemask intesest rabe curves
ard volatility inguts for commandy traded option products), Fer
inputs that canmol be derked from other sawrces, eslimalas from
hislorical dala may be made. OTC derbaines wheana the majonty of
thet walisn 8 dernad feom market shasrable npids ane cabegorzed
as bavel 2 matrumants, while those whare the magaity of the value
& derived fram unabsenable nputs are calegoized as level 3 of
the far value hisrarchy,

The valuation of derialives includas an adjustment for the cast
of funding uncoltateralzed OTC demataes,

OTC vandls inderas! rade products, such as inberest rale Swaps,
swaplwns, and caps and floors are valued by discaunting the
articipated future cash flows. The fulure cash flaws and discaurt-
ing are dermved fram marked standard yield curves and ndustry
standard volitility inputs. Where applicabls, aschange-traded
prices are abio wied to value sxchange-fraded fulunes and apfions
ard can be used in yield cunee condtruchion. For mare comphis
preducts, inputs inchede, but are not mfted to comelation, velatdity
sk, prepayment rabe, basis spread, gap risk and funding spread.

Fereign exchange dermatves include vanilla products such as
spal, farward and option confracls where the anticipatad dis-
courled future cash fiows are determined from foreign exchange
forward curves and industiy stardand eptienality madeling tech-
niquas, Where appicable, exchange-tmded prices are also used
for fulures and oplion prices. For mare complex producis inpuls
include, but are not limited to prepayment rate, corekation and
conlagant prababdiy.

Equity dernatives include a vanety of preducts rangng from vanils
options and swaps to exolie struciures with bespoke payoff pro-
files, The main inpuls m the valuation of equiy dervatives may
inelude valaliity, buyback probabty, gag rek and cometation.

Genarally, the interrelationship between the volalilty and cor-
riskalsan i3 postivaly corretaded,

Ceedt dermatives include index and single name COS n addition
o ot comphax structured cradit praducts. Vanils products are
vaheed using industry standard medels and inpufs that ame gener-
aly markel abservable inchiding credit spréad and rezovery rate.
Complex structured credit derivalhe s are vakied using propn-
atary models reqisring unobsenvable mputs such a3 recovery rate,
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credil spread and correlation, These mputs are generally mplied
from avaitable marked cbienvable data, Far vilues determined by
price may nelude discounted cash flow models using the inputs
prepayment fale, default rabe, bass severily and discount eala.

Other trading assats primanly mclude RMBS loans and life setthe-
mart and premium finance malruments, Life selilement and pre-
mwurm firance natruments are valued using propretary models with
several imputs. The significan! unobesspable inguts of the fas value
for Ife setflement and premam finance ins ruments i the estimate
of market snphed e expectancy, while for RMBS leans # & -
ket comparable price.

Fer He seltlement and premium fnante indrufments, mdndual
e expectancy rates are fypacally oblained by muBiphing a base
martalty curve for the seneral incured papulalion pesvided by a
peetessional actuarial seganization tegether with an indnadual-spe-
eifie mulipler. Indhidual-spaciic muBiphers are defermined basad
on data from fthird-party life expectancy data prowiders, which
acaming the ndured mdhviduals medical condilions, farmdy history
ard eiher factors bo e a1 a He expectancy estimate,

Far RMBS loans, the use of market comparable pace var-
#3 dependng upon each specthc ban, For some loans, similar
o unabservable RMBS securfies, prces fram simiar obsanvable
mstruments are used Lo calculafe impled inputs which are then
used to value unobsarvable mstruments uding discounted cash
flow. The discounted cash flow price is then compared to the
unobsanable prices and assessed for reasonablaness. For athar
RMES leans, the loans are categorized by specific charactenstics,
such as banto-value ralle, sverage socount balanee, loan tyge
fsinghe or muki-famaly), liem, seasaning, coupen, FICO score, local-
Ay, delinguency satus, cash flow velocily, roll rates, lban puiposs,
occUpancy, servicers advance agreement type, medification sta-
fus, Federal Housing Adminsstration inswrance, propedty value and
documentation qually. Leans with unobserdable prices are puf infe
eonsstent buckels which ane then comparad o market obsapcable
comparable prices in onder te assess the reascnableness of those
unobsarable prices,

Oiher aquily swesimends principally includes aquily irvesiments
in {he form of a} direct mvestments in third-party hedge funds,
pinvate equty funds and funds of funds, b) aguly-mathsd inest-
ments where the Group has the abiity to signficartly mfuence
the operating and Snancial policems of the mestes, and &) deect
invesiments i non-markatable equty securlies.

Direet mveesimands in third-party hedge furds, private equity
funds and funds of funds are measured af fair value based on
thear published MAV: a8 permited by ASC Topie B20 - Fak Vahe
Measureman. In some cases, NAVS may be adjusted where there
it sufficient evidence that the NAY publshed by the mmestment
manager is not m e with the fund's observable markel data, &
is probabla that the investment will be sald for an amount ather
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than BAY or there exsd olher crcumstances that would require
an adpstment to the published NAV, Although rarely adjusted,
signehcant judgment i3 irvoled in making any adpstments to the
publishad Mads The incesiments for whach the fair vales is mea-
sured using the NAY practical expedent are nat categonsed within
thee Tair value Fieraschsy.

Dirmct smvesiments in non-markelable equdy securlies consist
&f bath real estate meestments and nan-real estate imeslments,
Equity-method imestments and dirsct imesiments in nan-mar-
ketable equity secunias are intaly measired ol ther trancaction
price, as bhas o the besl estimate of fair valus. Therealter, these
irnvestrments are indnvidially measured o fa value based upon
a number of facters that include any recent reunds of financing
ivahmg Lhed-party imestons, comparable company Lransaclions,
rultiple anabyses of cash flows or boak values, or discounted cash
flew analyses. The asvallabdily of nformation used in these modal-
ing techniques i3 often limited and mvobes significant judgment
n evakialing these different factors over time, As a result, these
mvestments are included in leved 3 of the fairvakie hisrarchy,

Lite finance natrements nchude SPIA and ather peammiom fnance
nstruments, Life firance instrumants are valued in a smitar man-
nee a5 desenbed for life satblement and premusm finance imstr-
mens undes the ather trading assels secton above

The Group's laan partbalic which is measured at far value prevarily
consists of commercial and industrial loans and loans to financtal
mstititions. Wilhan these categarios, leans measured at fair value
mehade cammercial leans, real estate loans, corporate kans, kver-
age firance lans and emerging marke! lbans. Fas value & based
an recent fransactions and guoled prices, where avalable. Where
mecent lransachons and quoted prices ans ol available, fair value
rary be delermined by relalive value banchmarkng (whath ncludes
pricing basad upan another pastion in the sans capital structure,
ather comparable loan issues, genenc indusiry credit spreads,
mphed credf spreads dered from COS for the specific bodmower,
and enterprise valuations) or calculabed based on the exit prce of
the coliteral, based an current market condibons.

Erath the funded and unfurded porfion of revobang credit bnes
on the catporate lending portfalio are valued using a loan pric-
ng model, which equres estimates of significant mputs inchid-
ing credit spreads, recovery rates, credit cornversion factess, and
weighted average Ife of the lean. Signficant utnebsenable inpuls
ey inchade credd spread and price.

The Geoup's other assats and kabilties inchude merigage bans
hald in canjunchion with sscuntization acthdies and assels and
kabilties of VIES and mortgage securfzations that do nat meet the
cribes for sale lreatment under US GAAR The fair value of mon-
gage leans held in comuncton with secuitzation actiiies is defer-
mined on & whale-ksan basis and (3 conssten wilh the valuation
of RMBS loans dscussed n "Other trading assets” above, Whle-
lzan valuations are caloulated based on the exit price reflacting the
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cunrenl marke! condilions. The fair value of assels and kxbdies
of VIEs and mofgage secirieationg thal do rof meel the crte-
raa for sale trealment under LIS GAAP are determined based on
{he quated prices for securted bonds, whare available, ar an
cash flow anatrses for securticed bonds, when quoled prices are
nat anailable. The fair valee of the consoldated financial assets of
RMBS and CMBS securitzation vehicles, which qualify as CFEs,
ana measured on the bass of the mare obsenvabls far valie of the
VIEs® financial kabilties,

Aserual based bans n the Group's private, comporale and insti-
lutional bankng busnesses, for whch an estimated fair vl is
duclosed = the table “Carrying value ard fair valis of financtal
insteuments ned camred al far valee® below, Include consumer
kaans relating te mergages, bans colaferalized by securdies of
consumer finance, as wall as corporale and instdulional laans
ralaling to real estale, commercel and industrial loans, and laans
1o financial institulions, govemments and public instautions, Far
wiilises for Lhese lbans are delemmened by using a discounted cash
flew model. Future cash flows are decounted usng risk-adjusted
distaund rates which are dered from cbaarvable madkel inferest
rabes for the apphcable matunty and curmency and from courder-
party-related credil spreads.

Accrual based deposis with a staled maturty, for which an esti-
mated fair valu i3 dischosed in the tabls “Carrpng vake and fas
walue of financzal instrumenis not carned 2 fair value® balow, are
generally fair valued by using & ducoued cash fiow model meor-
poraling the Group's credd spreads. The estimated fair valee of
acerual aceounled depasis withaut a staled matunty approsmates
the carmying amount; hewewer, the value does rod include an asti-
mate aof the value atiributed to the leng-term relaliaships with
As customers that in the aggregate adds significant value to the
Group's $labla depasd base.

The Group's shart-term borrowings and long-term debt include
stiuclured notes (hybad Bnancal irslruments that ae both bifur-
calable and mon-bifurcatable) and vandla debt. The fair valee of
stiuclured notes o based on guated prcas, when salable. When
quoled prces are nol available, far value is determined by using
a discounted cash flew model mearparating the Group's credd
spreads, fhe value of dermalies embedded in the debt and the
residual term of the Bsuance based on call eptions. Derralives
struclured ino the isseed debl are valued consistently with the
Group's stand-alane dernatie contracts hald for tradng purpases
of used in hedgs accaunting relatanstups as discussed above. The
fair valee of struciured debit s heavily influancad by the combined
call optiors and performance of the underlying dervative refurns,
Significant unobservable inputs for leng-term debl inchide buy-
back probabilty, gap msk, comelation, volatlity, credit spread, mean
Peersann and price.
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Genarally, the inlerrelalionships babween wolatility, comelation,
gap risk and credd spread inputs are postively correlated.

Thess Eabities represent the firancing of assets that dd nat
achive sale accounting freatment under US GAAP, Failed sales
are valued i 3 manner consistant with the relaled underlying
firancial instruments,

ks T kel B o o
Cenatn shert-term financial instruments are nal carried o fair
value on the balance sheet, but a fair value has been disclosad
i fhe tabke “Canying value and fair value of Snancal mdtruments
nol camied al far value” below. These instrumenls inchade; cash
and due fram banks, cash colaleral receivablas and payables
and other recanables and payables anging in the ordimary course
of business. Far thess financal nstruments, the carrying value
approximates the fair valve due to the relatiely shart peried of
time between their angmation and expected realzation, a3 well as
the minmal credit rsk inharen inihese instruments.

Far beval 3 assets with a sigreficant uncbsenable input of EBITDA
multiple, marke! imphed He expectancy (for life finance natru-
ments), buyback probabilty, correlation, contingent probabity,
price, volatilly, volatilly skew of funding spread, in genesal, an
increase in the sgnificant unobsenable inpud would ncrease the
fair value. For kevel 3 aasets with a ssyrficart unabsarvable input
of market imphed e expactancy (for ide settlement and premium
finance instruments), capdalization rale, ducount rate, prepay-
rverd rale, gap nsk, recovery rale of credil spread, in general, an
mrease in the sgrdficant uhobsenabls npid would decrease the
far valug,

Far kevel 3 liablities, i general, an ineresss in the relsted sig-
nificart unchserable npuls would have the inverse mpact on
far value. An increase inthe sanificam unabservable mpul mean
reversan would increase the far value. An increase in the sig-
nificarl unobsendable mput basy spread woukd decreass the fair
value,

Except a3 fated abows, there are no materal infermebonahips
batween the significant wnobservable inputs for the financial
nstruments. As the sgnificant unchserable inputs meve inde-
perdently, generaly an increase of decrease in one signeficant
unebserable inpul will have nd impact on the ather significant
urishservable inguls,
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The fqlbwng lables pedvide the reprasentaleeg rangs of mifmum
and maxamum values and the assacaled weighted averages of
aach significant unchserable input for level 3 assels and habilties
b'.r' the retaled vabadion lechmgue most 5151'||I'|-:a-'i ta the related
firancal instrument.

Cuantitative inlormatlion aboul level 2 asseéls at Tair valiie
wnd of DEME Fair s . - o ._.I- . i v, “: ‘

CHF eralllicn, #xcept wiers indicated

it . i wilk

686/771



360

Consolidated financial slalements - Credil Suisse Group
Maotes to the consoldated financial stalerments

Cuantitative infermation about level 3 assels al fair value (continued)

wad of 2016

CHF rrailion, sxicep! whme ndicabed
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Cuantitative infermation about level 3 assels al fair value (continued)
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Cuantitative information about level 3 Rabilites st fair value

and of 7016
CHF rrullicn, #acept whisa mdicaled

Total lewel 3 Habilities at fain value LY A
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CQuantitative infermation about level 3 liabilithes at fair value {continued)

CHF rrailion, sicep! whme ndicabed

Tedsl level 3 Rabilibes wiloe valus

The follewing saclions provide further infarmation about tha
ranges of significant unobsenable inputs nchaded in the tables
abeve. The level of aggregation and deersity wilhin (he finaretal
instruments disclesed in the tables abyve resulls in certain ranges
of signeficam inpuils being wide and unevenly detributed azross
assel and kabdity categores.

Vighsarts s e e Barimas Mgman P

e o
(P i ! [ 1 2]
o []
1~ o
Furh L
i e e
N . 3
whe Coreaor ]
. “ [
yEs v
b
1 iy
[}
AT %
Tl v 1
o
VDAY 2 2
. .
£ 4
¥
)
s 153
i
4
1t
it F £
i oy 3
i =f b £ P iy i Fevat

The discount rate s the rate of inberes! used lo caloulste the pras-
arl vales of the sxpacied cash flows of a financial smstrument.
There are mullple Tactors that will impact the dscourd rabe for any
green firancel insttument including the coupan an the instrumment,
the term and the urderlying nisk of the expected cash flows. Teo
instruments of sirndar berm and expected cash Bows may ke
sgnificarily differant descount rales because the coupans on the
instirmants an diffarent.
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For fmancil ingtruments backed by residentl real estate or other
assels, diversty inthe portiohie i3 reflected in a wide range for loas
seventy dus 1o vanying levals of default. The lower and of the range
represants high perfarming or government guarartesed collateral
with a lkew © PD oor guararieed temely payment of pancipal and
interest, whie the higher end of the range relates to colisteral with
@ greater nisk of default,

Far financial matruments where credd spread is the signficant
unabserable inpal, Ihe wide range represents posiions with
warying levels of risk, The lower end of the credi spread range
typically répresents shoder-dated instrsments and/er thase with
better percened credi risk. The higher end of the ange typacally
cofmprises lnger-dated firancial nafruments or those referencing
rean-performing. distressed or impaired reference credits, Swnitarly,
the spread bebween the referapce credil and an ndex can vary
significandly based on the nsk of the instrument. The spread will be
paditee for matrumants that have a highar risk of default than the
index {which i3 based on a weighted average of its components)
ard negalive for mstruments thal have a bwer nsk of dafault than
{he irdex.

Sienitarly, recovary rates can vary significantly depending upan
ihe spacific assels and ferms of each fransaction. Transactions
with hagher sanloaly of mode valuable collateral will have higher
recovery rabes, while those transactions wheh are more subard-
naled or with kass valuable collateral will have lower reeovery rates.

These are mary different types of correlation inputs. including
eredd comelalion, cross-assel cormelaticn (Such a3 egusty-inter-
est rale corelalion) and same-assel correlation (such as infer-
&4t rafe-interest rabe comelatian), Comelation inputs are gensrally
ugad to vale hybod and exstic instruments. Due 1o the complex
ar ursgue nature of these instruments, the ranges far comelation

nputs can vary widsly across portfobos.

Prapaymen] rates may vary from collaberal poal to callataral posl,
ared are diven by a vanety of coliveral-specific factors, meluding
the type and locabon of the underlying barrewer, the remairing
1enar of the obligation and the level and type le.g., fed or floating)
of interest rabe being pasd by the bormwer,

elatility and ds skew are both impacted by the underlying nsk,
farm and sinks prce of the demeative. In the case of inderest
rale dernaties, volatify may vary significantly belween different
undadlying currenchs and expiration dates an the aptiana. Simi-
larly, in the case of equily demvalhes, the vaolatdity attributed to a
shruchine may vafy depending upen the whderlying referancs mme
on the dermvative.
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Maarketl snplhed life axpectancy is the primary sgnchcant unobsany-
able input an such products as ke setllement, pramium fnance
and SPLA, and represents the estimated mertalty rate for the
urderlying insured for each confract. This estimate may vary
depending upan muliple faclers intluding the age and specific
heallh characteristics of the insured.

Bond equialent price ts a prmary sgreficant uncbsarvable input
for multiphe preducts. Whene markel prices are not avaitable for an
nslrument, banchimarking may be ulilized to denlify comparable
msues (same industry and simiar product mixes) whie adjustments
are condideded for differances n deal larms and perfarmancs

Buyback probabdity @ the probabity assigned fo sruciured notes
Beryg urweurd praar b thai legal maturily.

Gap nek is the primary sgnificant uncbsenvable nput for fund-
nkied Constanl Proportion Pertfolis Insurance praducts and strue-
tures where the payef! may be sensitve to discontinudy in the
hedging partioke,

Mean reversion is the primary significant unobsenable inpul for
callable constant maturdy swap (CMS) spread excless and rep-
resants fhe dea that prices and returns eventually move back
tesweards the hastoncal sverage.

Furding spread s the primary sgnificant unobsenable input for
special purpode vehicle funding faciities, Synthetic funding curves
which represant the assels pledged as collaberal an used to value
shructured financing transactions. The curves provide an astimabe
of where secured funding can be sourced and are expressed as
a badis poird spread in relition 1o ke referenced benchenark rabe.

Capitalzation rabe s the primary significant uncbsenable inpul for
CMBS bbans and is usad to astimate {he potential relurn on irreest-
e, This is done by danding the yeary income by the tatal value
of the proparty.

Basis spread is the prmary significant unobservable input for nan-
callable constand maturily treaswry-CMS preducts and o used to
determine inferest rate nak as  resul of differing lending and ber-
reaing Fates,

EBITDA multiple i a prmary significant wnobservable input
for some equily deals which are benchmarked wsing mdustey
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comparables. The EBITDA multple may be preferred over ofher
measures becauss A & normakzed for defferences befwesn the
aceowning pokties of smedar companies,

Centingent probabdity 8 the primary signficant unsbaanable nput
far contingent foreign exchange forward trades where the dakvry
of exarciss and the premum payment ane corlingenl on an évent
such as completion of an M&A deal or regubitery approval for a
produet.

Fair value measurements of investments in certain entities
that calculate NAV per share

Imvestments n funds held in tradng assels and habilfies prmar-
ity inchede positions held in equity funds of funds as an ecenomic
hedge for struclured noles and demales ssoeed to chents that
reference the same underlying rsk and bguidity terms of the: fund
A majonty of (hese funds kave limilatons mpesed on the amaount
of withdraveals fram the fund durng the redemplion period due 1o
iliquidiy of the westments, In other indtances, the withdrawal

amgunts may vary depending on the redemplion notase peried and
are usually Brger for the kager redemplion relke penods, i addi-
tion, penalies may apply f redemplion is within a certan time
penad from indial invesirment.

Irvestment in funds held in cther mwestments prnsipally
irvalves prvale securiies and. bo & lesser axtent, publicly traded
sacuribes and fund of funds. Several of thase mesiments have
fademplion resinctions subjact 1o the discretoon of the Baard
af Dweclors of the fund andfar redemglion s permdted withoul
rasthiction, but is limfed to a carlan parcantage of tolal assais ar
only after a certan date,

Furtharmare, fos these imestments hald in bath rading asssts
ard other imvestiments that are nonredesemable, the underlying
assets of such funds are expecied 1o be ligudated over the ke of
the fund, whath is generally up to 10 years.

The folswing table pertains 1o imestemants o cartain anfities
that calculate NAV per share o 43 equnaledt, primarly privabe
egisty and hedge funds. These immesimants do nat e 3 readily
determinabls fair valee and are measured af fair value using NAY,

Fair value, wnfunded commitmeants and term of redemplion condilions

ELL Eall
Untunded Untaaded

Fion Totul commiE- Fion Tetsl  commE-
redeemabie FadesTatls i walus mamby  redenabs  Redesmabls i vmlum menty

Tz smlup 3nd prdunded commegments (CHF miltkoni

y Tured =]

Exz
Equaty funds sold short
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Nonrecurring lair value changes

Certain asdels and labilties are measured at fair valvé on a non-
recurring bass: that i3, they are not measured al fair value onan
angong bass bul are sublert o far vablue adjistments in cartain
sircumstarces, for coample, when there i evidence of mpair-
menl, The Group Lypiealy uses nonfnancil aisels meadured ab
fair value on a recEnng or NoMRMeCurting basis in a manner that
reflects ther highest and best uss. Monfecuifing measuremmnls
are completed as of the end of the paricd unless otherwise stated

Nonrecurring fair value changes

o o 18 418

CHF Billion o

Ansein held-for-sabe tecorded at fal value

on & nanrecurring basis o1 (i8]
F whse® e 7 O [:R]

FAIR VALUE OPTION
The Group has availed tself of the smphficalon n accourting
offered under the fair value opteon, primarily in the imesiment
banking busmessas and International Wealh Management's Assat
Managerent busness. This has been accomplshed genarally by
aleeting the far value spbon, bolh af irdial adaption and for sub-
sequent transactions, on tems impacled by the hedge account-
ing requirements of US GAAP That i, for matrumants for which
there was an mabilty to acheve hedge accountmng and for which
the Group i economically hedged, the Geoup has elected the far
walue option. Simiarly, where the Group manages an acthily ona
o fair vales basis bl pravisusly has bean unable to acheve far
valug accounting, the Group has ulleed the far vahee option to
aligi s Hak mansgament rapadting bo 15 brantal secatining.
The Group elected fair value for cerlan of s financial stabe-
i caplians as follows:

Central bank funds sold, securities purchased undar resale
agreements and securities borrowing transactions

The Graup kas slected to sccourt for structured fesale agres-
ments and most matched book resale agreements at far value.
These aclvilies are mardged on a fir valiss basis; thus, fair value
accountng is deemed mote appropriate for reporling purposas,
The Group did nel elect the fair value aplion for fem firancing
resale agreements as these agreements ane generally cvernight
agreaments which appracemate fair valoe, bt which are ret mn-
aged on a fair value basis.

Other investments

The Graup has ebacted 1o account for cartain aquity maethod insest-
manls o far value. These actviies are managed on a far vake
basis; this, fair value accounting B deemed mote appropriate fae
reparting purposes. Cerfain simdar instrumenis, such as those
relaling b equily method swestments in strategie relationsheps,
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for example, the Group's ownership inberest n cerlain clearance
aiganzations, which wene aligible fer the fair valse oplicn, were not
elected due fo the strategec relationship.

Loans

The Group has elacted Lo accaunt for substantally all commertial
loans and kxan commiimants from the mvestment banking busi-
resses and certain emening marke! kans from the imvestiment
banking businesses al faw value, These activites are managed
an & fair value bass and far valie accounbing was desmed mare
appropriabe for reporing puposes. Addtionally, recogamon ona
fai value bass ebminates the mamaleh thal exsted dus to the
ecancmic hedging the Group empleys to manage these boans,
Certam simdas loans, such a3 propet fnance, lkase nance, cash
collaterakzed and some bridge leans, which were ehable far the
fai vabue eption, wens nol elected dis to the lack of currantly
aaaitable infrastruciune 10 fair value such lans andfar the mabildy
te econamically hedge such loans. Additionally, the Group ebeched
net 1o account for loans granted by is private, corperate and nsti-
tutienal bankirg businesses af faif value, Juch as domeste can-
sumer kending, mergages and corparate leans, as {hese leans are
not managed on a far value bass.

Other assats

The Group elested the far vake aption for lsans held-for-sale, dus
b the short penad over which such loans ane beld and the nban-
tion 1o sall such loans i the rear ferm, Cther assels also include
assels of VIES and mortgage secuntizations which do not maeet the
crder for sabe freatment under US GAAR, The Group did elect
the fair value aption for thase lypes of trarsactions.

Due ta banks
The Group alected the fair value aplion for certam time deposis
assocated with 13 emerging markets acthlies.

Customer deposits

The Greup's customer deposds include furd-linked deposats, The
Group elected (he far value aplion for thesa fund-Snked depos-
its, Fund-firkad products are managed on a far value basis and
fax value accourting was desmed mare approprale fr rporting
plrposes,

Central bank funds purchased, securities sold under
repurchade agresments and securities lending transactions
The Growp has elected to sccount for struclured © repurchase
agreements and mast matched baok repurchase agreemerts al
fair value. These acthities are managed on a fair value basis and
faxr value accounling was deamed mare appropriale for reporting
puipases. The Group did nod elect the Tair value option for fem
finanting rapurchase agreaments o3 thase agteaments are gansr-
aly owvernight agreements whach approxmate fair value, but which
are mal mandged on & fir vakee Eadig
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Shart-term borrowings

The Greup's short-term bomowings inclide hybnd debt instiu-
ments with embadded dernatee featises. Some of thase embed-
ded desnealive fealures creabe bifurcatable debl instrumeants. The
Growp elected the far value optien for some of these nsfruments
as of Janusy 1, 2006, in aceordance with the provisians of US
GAAPR Mew bifurcatable debt instruments which were enlered il
in 2006 are carned ot fair value, Some hybnd debt mslruments do
ral rasull in bifurcatable debt natruments. US GAAP permds Lhe
Group te slect fair value accounling for non-bifwrestable ybeid
dabi instruments, With the exception of cerain bifurcatabie hybrid
debl netruments which [he Group dad nat slect ta account far al fas
walue, the Group has elected to accourd for al hybrid debt nstru-
ments held as of January 1, 2007, and hybnd debt instruments
enginated after Jarary 1, 2007, at fair value. These actvilies
are managed on a far value basis and far value accouning was
deemed appropriate for reporting purposes, There are bwo man
poputstns of sndar iatiuments for whch faw value accounting
was not elected. The firsl relates to the lending busness trans-
acled by the Group's prale, corporale and instditonal banking
busiresses, which mcledes struciured deposis and smilar inest-
ment praducis. These are managed on a bifurcated or acerual
bass and faw value accounting was nol conskered appropriate
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The second & whers the nstruments were or wil be maturmg n
the mear tasm and their faer value will ba realivad ot that time.

Long-term debt

The Group's long-term debl includes hybrid debt mstruments with
embedded derative fealumns as described abowe in Shart-tem
bomawings. The Group's long-term debt alse moludes debt ssu-
arces managed by s Treasury depariment thal do net cortain
dematve features (anila debl). The Group actively manages the
irterest rale risk or these instruments with dervatives. In particu-
b, fued-rale debl is hedged with recetve-fued, pay-floaling inter-
as! rale swaps The Growp alected to far value this fiasd- rate debl
upan implamentation of the fair value oplion on Jancary 1, 2007,
with changes n far valus recognoed a3 a companent of trading
revenues, The Group did nol elect 1o apply the fair vakee optian b
fived-rale dabt msued by the Group since January 1, 2008, and
instead applies hedge accounting per the gudance of LIS GAAP.

Other Habilities

Othear abdities include Rabidiees of VIES and modgass decurza-
tions which do not meet the criteria for sale treatment under US
GAAR The Group did alect the fair value aptian far thase types of
trandactions,

Differente between the aggregate fair value and the aggregete unpaid principal balances of loans and financial

instruments
aref ol 2004 i
Sqaegt Aggrenate Acgregute .
wr npad r
oa = o whin privcipa o
Learm |CHF mullion)
Horrnfe e t-AarTeng boar o I 4 ]
Fimanas sl ins puments (CHF mallion)
ool e - B T MEeCrED S AL L ¢
il b i, securies pathaed e
e hdle boT i ] R TS DO [N 1Tami i g F1.3 = e = 3 355 T8E
i LR 2 4654
> e o G 5 451
11 e o
at 4 T =
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Gaing and losses on financial inslruments

v

Financiad instrements (CHE million)

b e 1 el W D011 AT Card

-F which relafie] 10 Cred? pok

Maotes to the consoldated financial statements

Inkerest moome and expense ane cakulaled based on confractial
rales spechiad im bhe lrarsactions. Interest income and expenss
are recarded in the consobdated siatements of operations depend-
ing on the natung of the instrument and retabed market commn-
fian, When mterest s mcluded as a compenent of the change
m {he nstrument’s far value, i s included in trading revenues.
Othersise, it is nchded ininterest and dividend income of inberest
axpense. Dradend income = recogized separately from trading
TEVENUBS,

The impacts of credd nisk on debt securties held as assels pre-
sanled m the table above e been caleubded as the componanl
of the tetal change in far value, excluding the impact of changes
i base of rmik-ree menest rates. The mpacts of changes = own
credd risk on labildies presenbed m the labls above have been cal-
cutafed as the difference bebween the fair values of thoss instr-
ments as of the reporting date and the theorstical far values of
thada ingtruments calouated by wsing the yedd curve prevaling al
the end of the reparting pencd, adjusied up of dewn for changes
i the Group's own credd spreads fram the Irarddion date to the

repartng date.
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The follewang table prowides addtional nformation regarding the  in instrument-specific cradd risk. In additian & incledes the gains
gans and losses attribidable 12 changes i instrument-dpecific  and losses relaled 1o nslrumenl-apecific credit rigk thal was pre-
credit risk on far value apton slected kabilties which are recorded  viously recorded i ADCH that have been transferred dunng the
{hveugh ADCH The table inchides both the amourt of change dr-  panad bo nel incoma.

ing the periad and cumulativety thal i attriufable te the changes

Own credit gains/(losses) on fair value option elected instruments recorded in ADCI

016 Cumwlstive iy 2006

Fiasncial i Bumants (CHF mallion)

Tetal {1451 (03 Q
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MOT CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE  mstruments such as lease transactions, real estabe, premises and
The fallewing table provides the carrying value and © faif value of  equipment, equity methed imestments and pénsion and benahl
firancial instruments whach are nof camed 3 fair value in the cen-  oblgations

solidated bakance chast. The disclosure excludes all non-financial

Carrying walua and fair value of fnancial indtruments nol carried at Pair value

T018 (CHF million)

Financisd avgein
Conira banks y Tl ] e
BT HFCUTTAT & wing frarmacton i
a &4 FrE [
b : ! : 12 1
ra
" e 1l 1) kol
3 i3 3 Securied ending T arcaiion i 30
s b ¥
1 L o
tther trancial babdtes 1 [ :
TRIE (CHF million]
Frnancisl 438414
serdral banks funds sold, securities porchated under

e asymerments and seousities bonrowing b armic tor 3 B8 3 RRE

Wil T Db ] el T ek

36 Assets pledged and collateral

Assels pledged Cellatersl

The Growp pledpes asssls manly for repurchase agreements and  The Group receives cash and secunties m connschion with resale
olher secwities financing. Certain pledged assels may be encum-  agreaments, securftes barroswing and loana, deriathe transae-
bared, meaning they have the rght to be sold or repledged, The  tions and margined broker lbans, A substanisl portian of the col-
ancumbered assels are parenthelially disclosad oa the consok-  Bleral and secumties recahed by the Group was sold o0 repladged

dated balance sheat, m connectan with repurchase agreements, sacurilies sobd nol yet

purchased, securdies borowings and lang, pledgas 1o claaring
Assels pledged efganzations, segregalon requiremerts under securties laws and
018 sorn  tegulatisns, derkative transactions and bank bans.

Aoty pledged (CHF million)
T L ey T
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Collateral
wred o 818
Collstral [CHF milliam

Other information
e of e
I:)Ihl:r milgrmabon {CHF milkan o

iy ] Ses Dee R bad

i o ot papledge et formign barkinng rall i) o 000
# wbich Sodd or rdpladoed ERT, 48 Switd W abhong! Bari redquised mafenm Rty i o 2 o a4
a7 Capital adequacy

The Growp & subjpel to reguiabian by © FINMA. The capdal lavels
of the Greup are subgect to qualiative pdgments by regulaters,
wchuding FINBA, absut the compenants of capial, risk weight-
ings ared ether factors. Since January 2013, the Group has oper-
ated under the internatvonal capial adequacy standards knawn
as o Basel I, as issved by the o BCBS. the standard setfing
committes within the o Bank for Inbarmational Setflements (BIS).
These standards have affected the measuremerd of bath telal
ehgible capital and © rakweighted a3sets, The Group has based
fis capilal adequacy cakulabions on US GAAP, as parmitied by
FiMNA Circutar 2008734,

fecording to FINMA and BIS caphal requiremards, otal regu-
balany capial is compasad of the following categanes: CET1 eapl-
{al, tier 1 capital and tier @ capital. CETI capilal consists of fotal
sharehalders’ equity, reguiatory adustments, meluding a cumida-
fve dividend accrual, and certan adjustiments subject 1o phase in,
including an adpustment for the accounting trealment of pensian
phans, Tier 1 capital consists of CET1 capial and adddtional tier 1
capial which includes high-trgaer and khw-trigger capial instru-
menks, certan instruments subect fo phase out and deductions
from addibianal ber 1 capdal. Dedoctions from ber 1 capial dur-
ing the phase-m peried nclude, among other fems, goodwill and
intangibla assais and the net regulatory mpact on gainaflosses)
on o far vahed financal kabites dus to changes in own credi
risks, which will be deducted fraen CET1 capilal ance Basal ll
is fully implemanted. Tier 1 capital is supplamentad for capilal
adequaty purpsses by lias D capital which canaists primadly of
unsecwed, subordinated msirumeants that are senior only 1o tier 1
wgiumants, The sum of er 1 capatal and 1ser 2 capital equals fatal
ehgible capial

Risk-wesghted assels include consobdated balance shast
assets, nel postiors in securties not beid in the trading portfolio,
off-balance ahesl transactions corvered inlo credil aquivalents,
market pasdions in the frading portfolo and cperational risk from
procesas s, pecple, syslams and axtemal sverts

As of December 31, 2016 ard 2016, the Group was ade-
qualely capfalred under the regulatary provisions sutlned under
bath FINMA ard BIS guidelines.

BIS statistics — Basel I

Esgible capital {CHF mitkom

Addsoral e 1 capis o S
Tiat 1 capitsl . 03, CES
Toer O & apwi Y [ 1-117]
Tﬂhtm:'ili“ . ] 58,720 2502
Blak-rwaighied sxen by (CHF milion)

176 T

i e &

il sl 5, 5 5, 435

P ol Pty il % 550 "
Rllk:'l"_!_h‘-ﬂ_'id“l“lh IMAT:  FMEED
Capital tatios (%)
CETH ratia T TR
Tier 1 eatics 180
Tetal e il vty i} 3
Brokar-dealar ﬂb&fﬂuﬂﬂl

Cartam of the Group's brokes-dealer subsidaries are alse subject
te capital adequacy requeements. As of Decamber 31, 2016 and
2015, the Group and Hs subsadaries compled with all apphcable
regulstony capital adequacy requiremeants.

Dividand restrictions

Certain of the Group's subsadianes are subject to legal restric-
thens goverring the amount of dvidends they can pay (for exam-
phe, pursiard to corporate bw as defined by the Swiss Code of
Oblgations).

Urnder the Swiss Code of Oblgations, dividends may be paid
ol anly if ard o the axdemt the corporation has distibut able profits
from previous business years, of If the frea resarves of the compo-
ration are suthicient 1o alow dadributian of & dvidend. In addiion,
ol least 5% of (ke annual rel prafils must be relained and booked
as general lagal resarves for 20 long as these resarwes amount to
less than 20% of the paid-in share capital The reserves currently
exzand this 20% thresheld. Furhermers, diidends may be pad
aul only after shareholder approvad at the Annual General Meating.

As of December 21, 20168 and 2015, the Group was Aot sub-
pect to restnciions on i3 abilty to pay the proposed dvadends.
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The fellowing daclosure previdas infarmatien regarding client
astels, assels under mansgement and nel new asssls as regu-
Tated by © FINMA.

Assels under management

Assels under managemert inclade assets for which the Greup
prosades rvesiment advisory of dacrelionary assel management
services, imesiment fund assets and assets wvested n other
ivesiment fund-tke pooked rvestment wehicles maraged by the
Group. The clasufieation of asasts under managemant 5 con-
ditienal upon the nature of the servdces provided by the Group
and the chienls’ intentions, Assels are indaidisally assessed on the
bams of each chem’s ntentwns and obeeciives and the nature of
the banking sarvices provded to that chend. In arder ta ba class-
fied as assets under mamgement, the Group must currently or
in {he foreseasbls fulure axpect 1o provads a sepace whers the
mvobement of the Group's banking or mesiment axperlise (e.g.
A% assel manager of imes stmel advisar) i net purely exscuteral
of cusiodial in nafure,

Asgels under custody are cliend assels held mainly for execu-
fien-refaled or safekespng/iustody purpases only and therefors
are not consadered assets under management since the Group
daes nol generally provide assel alacation or financial advice

Basels of corporabe chers and publie netitifons that are wsed
premarily for cash management or transaction execubianal pur-
pasas for which ne imestment advice is provided are classifisd as
commercal assels or assels under custody and therelons do mat
qualfy as assels undes managemeant.

Fer the purpose of classifying assels under management, ck-
anls with muBipls accounts are assessed from a holstic chend par
specive. Accourds that are clearly separabe frem the remainder of

Changes in assels undar managament

Aveets unds maansgemant (CHF billond
Assels wided managersenl ot beginnieg of peod ©

o LRSSt et fSow

the cherd retabinshp and represant assets heid for custody pur-
poses only ame el ncluded a3 assets under management.

The initial chassification of the assets may not be permanert as
the matiire of the chent relationdhip 4 reassbssed oR AR SR-GHING
bass. If changes m chient infent or activity warrant reclassifica-
tion betwaen chenl assel categones, the requined tecbhsadfication
adjustments are made immediately whan the change in intent or
acthily sceurs,

Reclssifications between assets under mamagement and
asssis hald for iransaction-related or custodial purposas result in
correspanding net asset inflows or cutfiows.

A pertian of the Group's assels under managemen] fresdls
frem double counting, Double counting arses when assets undes
managemen] are subject to more than one level of assat man-
agemenl Seraces. Each ssparale adwdary of discrelionay ser-
viee provides adddional benafits (o the chert and reprasans addi-
tianal mcamea for the Greup. Specifically, doubls counting prmarily
retuls from the imesiment of asgels under managemanl n calles-
thee invesiment instruments managed by the Group, The extard of
double counting is disclasad in the following table.

Assets under managermant
el - o 006
Awants undar management (CIIF Billion)

i Trgar Erar it
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- e
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Nel new assets
Mot rew assels measure the degres of sucdeds n acquinng assets
under management of ncreasing assets under maragement thiaugh
wadranted rechissifeabions. The calkulation is based an the dinset
mathad, takng mio accourt ndiichal cash payments, securiy deliv-
eies and eash flows reguiting fram kan Pendases o fepayrnes.
Irderest and deviderd ncome credded 1o chents and commis-
sians, inferest and fess charged for barking senates as well as
changas in assets under maragement due to currency and market
watatlity are not taken inba sccount when caleubiling net new asssals,
a3 such charges or market mowements are net dirsctly rekated to
the Group's success i BLqUFnG assels under managerant. Sii-
barly cther effects mainly relle b asset nilows and cutflows due to
acqieston & drastiune, exl from businessss of markels o ey
du to new reguistony rsquements and are not taken g acoount
when ealeulalng nat new asssis. The Group reviews rebsvand pol-
cies regarding clend assets on a reguiar basis and made refine-
menls dising 2016 25 # rekates to ather effect coraideratinns.

39 Litigation
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Divisional allecation

Aszets under management and el new asdels fof prvale bank-
iy businesses in the Swos Unnersal Bank, Intermabanal Wealth
Maragement and Asia Pacifie dvisiens, the Corporate & Instilu-
tional Bankmg busingss in the Swiss Uneversal Bank divason and
the Stratege Resokitssn Lind are abocated based on the manage-
rverd areas (business areas) thal effectively manage the assels.
The distribution of nel new assels resulting from mtemal referal
amangemants is governed under the net new asael referal frame-
wark, which includes pressi parcentages for the allecation of nat
rir assls bo the businesbes.

The allbeation of assets under managemern and nel new
assats for Assel Management m the IMernal Wealth Management
divisien reflacts the location where the imestment vehicls are
maraged and whers 1he costs of managng the funds are incurred,

The Group s imahed N a number of udictal, reguiatory and arbi-
traton procesdings concerrang matlers ansng n connectian with
the conduct of s businesses, inchuding those disclosed below
Same of these preceedings havs been beaught on behalf of vari-
ous chagses of claimants and seek damages of maleral and/ar
ndetanrmnaté amounts,

The Group accrues loss conlimgency Ifigation providaons and
takes a change Lo income o connaction with certn praceadings
when losses, addfioral losses or ranges of keas are probable and
reaganably estircable. The Group alse accrues Migation pro-
siena for the estimated fees and axpenses of exiernal lwyers and
ather sendce providers in retilan to such proceedings. inchiding
in cases for which it has not accrued a loss contingency provissn,
The Group acerues these fee and expanse Rtigatien provishiang
and lakes a charge o incomé in conneclion themswith when fuch
fees and expendas are probable and reaserably sstirable. The
Growp reviews its lagal proceedings sach quaner to determne Lhe
adequacy of B3 Rigabon provisions and may intréase of releade
provisions based on management's pdament ard the advice of
counsal. The astabishmenl of sddfional provisions ar relaases of
Migatien provisions may be necessary in the future as develop-
ments i sech praceedings wanant.

The specdic matlers described below mchude (a) proceedings
whers the Group has accrued a loss contingancy pravision, gven
that il is probable that a loss may be incured and such hoss s
raasonably astimabls; and (b) preceadings whers tha Group has
nat accrued such a lss contingency provision for vanous reasons,
including, but nol imfed to, the fact that ary related loases are not
reasanably estimable. The description of certain of the matfers
balow meludes a stabernant that the Group has established 3 loay
contingency provison and declsas the amount of such provissan;
far tha ather matbers no such stalement is made. \With raspect ta

the matters for which no such stalement & made, edhar (a) the
Group has nel establehed 3 loss commgency previsan, in which
case the matter is trealed as a conlingant labilty under tha apph-
cable accounting standard, o (B) the Group has established such
a pression bul bebeves thal disclasure of that fact would violate
confidantiality abligations 1o which the Greup is subjecl or other-
wiss Compromise attarney-chend prvilege, work praduct protection
ar ather probections aganst discloswe o compromme the Group's
management of the matter, The future outfiow of funds in respect
of any matler fae which the Group has aceroed loss conlmgency
previsions cannat be determined with certainty based on currently
aweailable informalion, and accordingly may ultimately prove to be
substanimlly greater (or may be less) than the provision that is
raflacted on the Group's balancs sheat,

i &5 mherently diffcull to determine whather a loss is probable
aF gven feasarably possble of to astimate the amaunl of any laag o
less range for many of the Group's legal proceedings. Estimales, by
their nature, are based an udgmenl and curmanily available informa-
tion ard irvohes & vanety of Tactors, including, but not lmted fo, the
type and ralue of the poceeding, the progress of the matber, the
advice of counsal, the Group's defarses and its experience nsmilar
mgtters, as well 2 ts assessment of matlers, including selllements,
mrveharg alher defendants in simslar of related cases or proceedings.
Fachual and legal detarminations, marmy of whech are comphes, must
be made before a loss, adddional losses o ranges of loss can be
reasanably astimated far any procesding,

Mest matters pending against the Group seek damages of an
indaberrmirate amaunt, Whis certain mattars specify the damages
clamed, such claimed amount may nol represent the Group's rea-
sonably possible lasses. For certan of the proceedings discussed
below the Greup has disclosed the amount of damages clamed
and carain other guanifable information that is publicly svailabla.
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The fallewng table presants a moll ferward of the Group's
aggregate iwalion provisions

Litigation provisions

CHF erallicn

B_H_-_lml-tﬁtmﬂﬂlhl !.ﬂ_if
ncreane in g bon aconush 3.0

Thier it i bt

sharge iranalor i

Balance slend of pericd 5830

The Group's aggregate lgaban provisions include estimates of
lasses, additenal losses or ranges of lss for procesdings for which
such loases ane probable and can be reasonably estrated. The
Group does ncd believe that § can estimate an aggregate range of
reasarably padshle lbases for caman of i3 pracesdngs beeause of
iheir complexdy, the novely of some of the clams, the early stage of
ke procesdings, the imited amount of discevery that has occured
arelser chher factors. The Group's estimals of the aggregate range
af reasanably possible kosses that ase not covered by exisling pro-
wisions for the precesdings discussed below for which the Growp
bedersas an eslimate is posabla (s pero to CHF 1.1 bilion.

After laking infe account ds Migation provisions, the Group
believes, based on curently svalable informabion and advics of
counsel, that the resulls of &s kgal procesdings, in the aggregate,
wil not have a mafenal adverse affect on the Group's financial con-
dilion. However, in light of the inherent uncertairties of such pra-
ceedings, inchaling those braught by reguistors of olhed govenn-
mertal authorfies, the ullimate cost to the Group of resohing such
procesdags may sceed cumenl bigation provisadng ard any eceds
may be materal to ds oparating resulls for ary particutar pensd,
deparding, inpart, upon tha opersting resulis for such panod.

Enran-relatad litigatisn

Twe Entan-retated actions reman pending aganst Credit Suisse
Securties (USAY LLC (CSS5 LLC) and cerain of A3 affilates, sne
in tha US Distnct Court for the Seutharn Disinel of Texas and
one in the US District Courl dor the Southem Distnct of Mew Yok
(SONY), In these actions, plaridfs assert they relied on Enron's
fimancial statements, and ssek to held the defendans respansible
for any maccuracies m Enven's financial statements, In Connecti-
cul Rasaureas Recovery Authadity v. Lay, ot al., the plardiff seeks
o recover fram mullple defendands, pursuant o the Conneclaut
Unfair Trade Praclices Act and Connecticut slale common law,
approxemately USD 130 mdlien to USD 180 milien in losses &
allegedly sufferad in a business fransaction & entered into with
Enren. & motion 1o dismiss is panding, In Sikercreek Management
Iz, v Citigroup, [ne., ab al., the plaintiff seels to assen faderal
and slate bw claims relating to ds alleged USD 280 millon in
lasses relating to #s Enven imvestments. On Movembar 9, 2015,
the plainkiff moved for the court 1o suggest to the Judcial Panel an
Multidistrict Litsgation (JPBAL) that the JPML remand the case lo
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the SDNY. On June 2, 2016, the JPML entered an order grant-
g plamtdfs” mation to remand the Sikercreak Management Inc.
v. Cllgroup, Inc,, 8l al. case to the SONY for further proceed-
nga. Credt Suiasa and the other deferdants Feve filed & reneved
malion to dsmiss, which is pending.

Merigage-related matters
Varieus fimancial insttutions, ncluding C55 LLC and certamn of #3
affilkates, hawe racaned requasts for information fram, andfar have
been defending cail actions by, certain regulators and/or govern-
et entilas, neluding the US Depantmant of Justies (DOJ) and
othar members of the Residential Mortgage-Backed Securiws
(RMBS) Warking Group of Lhe US Finarcial Fraod Enfsrcemaent
Task Force, regardng the crignatian, purchase, sacurdzation,
sapvicing and trading of subprime and mon-subprime nassdential
and commercial mortgages and related issues, C55 LLC and i3
affikabes sre coaparating with sueh reguests for mfarmation

On January 18, 2017, C535 LLC and ds curerd and former US
subsddianes and US affstes reached a satliament with the DOU
relsted 1o As legacy RMBS business, a busmess conducted
thraugh 2007, The settlament rasobied petartal ehil chaims by
the DO related to Credit Suisse’s packaging, marketing. sinuc-
tuing, aangemenl, uhdeswiibing, lBsuance and sabs of RMBS,
The sstilement required the above manboned enlties o pay a
LISD 2,48 bilion enal manetary penally and, withn fae years of
the settlerent, bo provide USD 2,80 bilbon in consumer relel. The
il manetary panally under the terms of the settlemant was pad
te the DO inJanwary 2017, The consumer rebef measunes include
afferdable hausng payments and loan forghensss. The DOU and
Credit Susse agreed to the appairiment of an mdependent moni-
bor 1o avrsae the complation of the consumer rebel regquirema s
of the setflement. As previously disclosed, Credd Susse recorded
a kbgation provizesn of USD T bllion in the fowrth quarter of 2018
maddition be 43 existing provisions of USD 550 milion recerded for
thes: rratlar i pror penods.

Feliowing an inveshigation, an Movember 20, 2012, the New Yark
Aftesmsy Gararal (NYAG), on behalf of the State of Mew Yok, filed
a coal action n the Supreme Court for the Stale of New York, New
ek Counly (SCNY) againgt C55 LLC and afffated entiies in their
roles as sssuer, sponser, depositer anddor underwmier of RMBS
transactions priar fo 2008, The actian, which references 64 RMBS
msued, sponsored, deposfed and underwriten by OS5 LLC and
2 affilsles in 2006 and 2007, aliages that C55 LLC and its affil-
ates misied imestors regarding the due dilgence and qualty centrel
perferrned an the morigage leans underlying the RMBS at sus,
and s2eks an unspecified ameunt of damages. On Dacember 18,
2013, the Mew Jersey Altorney General, on behalf of the State
of Mew Jersey (NJAG), fled a chal action in the Superior Courd of
Hew Jorsey, Chancery Dasion, Mercar County (SCHJ), against
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C55 LLC and affliated entiles o ther roles as ssuer, sponsor,
depesttor and.or underwiter of RMBS lrardactions pasd bo 2008,
The actien, which referencas 13 RMES issued, sporsored, depos-
fed and underariien by C55 LLC and ds affliabes in 2006 and
2007, alsges that C55 LLC and its aifiabes maled rvestons and
engaged nfraud or decelt in connection with the offer and aals of
RMES, and seeks an unspecfied amount of damages. On August
21, 2014, the SCM dismissed without prajudice the acton baought
aganat C55 LLC and s affiates by the NJAG. On Seplember
4, 2014, the MUAS fled an amended complaint aganst C55 LLC
and &5 atfikates, asserting addbaral alegations but not epanding
the rumber of clums of RMBS referenced i the onginal complun.
Both actions are at early procedural poirts.

CES LLC andfor cefain of its affilates hawve also been named
as defendants in various civil Migation matters related to ther
rokes as isswer, sponsor, depoator, undenwtter and/or sarvicer of
MBS transactions. These cases inchxde o have incleded chss
action lwsuts, actions by ndnadual wwestars in RMBS, achians
by moraing insurance companies thal guaranteed payments of
principal and imerast for cartain RMBS, and repurchasze actions by
RMBS trusts, frustees andfor investors. Although the allegations
wary by bvesull, plaintiffs o the class actavng and indaidual mes-
tor actions have generaly alleged that the offerng documents of
secuities isued by vanous RMBS sscurdzaban trusts contamed
matesial misrepresartabons and omissions, incheding statements
ragarding the underwriting standands pursizant o which the undar-
hying morgage loans were ssued: manolne nsurers allege that
lbans that collsteralize RMBS they insured bresched reprasenta-
fions and wamantbes made with respect (o the leans at the ime of
securdizalion and that they wers frauduartly induced 1o enter mda
the transactons; and repurchase action plaintifis generally allege
breached representalions and warrarties o respect of morigage
koans and failure to repurchase such modgage loans as required
under the appicable agreaments. The amounts disclosed below
do rot reflect actual realzed plaintdf losses fo date or anticipated
fubisre tigaleon exposune. Rather, urleis slherawise stabed, thege
amounts refiect the cnginal unpasd princpal balance amounts as
alleged in these actions and do ot include any reduction in prn-
cipal amouns since Bsuance, Fudher, unless olherwise stafed,
amounts attributable 1o an "aperatie pleading” for the indhadual
imveslor actions are not alened for settlements, dismissals or ofher
sccumances, i amy, thal may have caused the amounts to change
subsaquent 1o the oparative pleading. In addition to the morgage-
rebrted achons decusted below, a rumber of slhar antifees hove
{hreatensd to assert clams aganst C55 LLC andfar ils affiiates
in connacthon with vanious RMBS issuances, and C55 LLC and/
of &5 affiates hive enlered nlo agreements with some of those
enlfiea to toll the reloant stalutas of Emitations.

C35 LLC and cerain affilates and empliyess ware defendants
i 3 class action bwsud in the SONY, New Jersey Carpenters
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HeaZh Fund v. Home Equity Morlgage Trust 20068-5, relating to
twi RMBS offerngs. totabing appromately LISD 1.6 bdlicn, spon-
sored and underwritten by the Credit Suisse defendants. On May
10, 2016, the SDMY granbed fs final approval of 3 LISD 110 md-
lign sefthement and entered a fnal pdgment and order of dsmissal
with prajudics in respect of this matber

C55 LLC and, in some instances, is affisates, as an RMBS
ssuer, underamier and/or other participant, and in some instanc es
its employess, along with ather defendants, have been named as
defardants inc () ené action beought by the Federal Depost lngii-
ance Corporaton (FOIC), as recener for Cilizens National Bank
and Strategic Capdal Bank i the SOMNY, n which ¢lams against
C55 LLC and s affites retate to approximately USD 28 milkon
aoff the RMBS at issus (approsimataly 0% of the USD 141 millon
at issue against al defendards o the operative pleading); such
chaims were dismised in ther enfirely on March 24, 2015 by an
SDNY arder, which was appealed an Aprl 7, 2015 by the FDIC;
an January 18, 2017, the US Couwt of Appeals for the Secard
Circut (Second Circuf) reversed the SDNY's ruling, renstaling all
previously-dismissed clims brought by the FDIC as recaier for
Citizers Mational Bank and Sirategic Capital Bank in the SONY
agamst CS5 LLC and it affikates; (i) twe actiorg brought by the
FDIC, as recenver for Colonial Bank: one action which, fallowing
thee United Stales Supreme Court's denal of defendants’ petiion
for wiit of certierar on January B, 2017, will reswme in the SONY,
in which claims againsi C55 LLC ralate to appreomataly LISD 92
rillsan of the RMBS ol ssue (appresmataly 23% of the USD 304
eillian ol issue agawat all defendants in the operative plaading)
and ane action in the Crcuit Count of Mantgomery Courdy, Ala-
barea, in which ¢lims againsl C55 LLC and s affiliales relabe
to approamately USD 153 millon of the RMBS at issue {appros-
mataly 45% of the LSD 311 milion at ssue against ad defendanris
n the cperalve pleading); on February 14, 2017, the Circut Court
of Mantgamary Courdy dismissed with prejudise climms peraining
to one RMBS affering an which C55 LLC and is affilales wem
sued, reducing the RMBS at isses for CS5 LLC and s affilates
from appeoximately USD 153 milien lo approgmately USD 139
million (appreodmabaly 4.5% of tha LISD 311 millian at ssue against
all defendants in the aperaive plaadingl (in) ane action brought by
the Fedaral Hamea Loan Banks of Seattle (FHLB Sealils) in Wash-
inglon state court, in which claims against C55 LLC and its affik-
ates relate to appracamately USD 240 millon; an May 4, 2046, the
Washinglon stale court presading in the action granted C55 LLC
ard s affiliates’ metion for partial summary judgment, dismiss-
ing wilh prepdice all claims related to ceain RMES, thus reduc-
ing the RMBS at s=sve agansi C55 LLC and #s affilkates from
appeooamataly USD 249 million to approcimatedy USD 104 milien
on Augudt 9, 2016, a shpulition of velurtary damasal with prej-
dice was filed with the Washingfon state couet, which was entered
by the court on August 10, 2016, demisung the action brought by
the FHLE Seattle aganst C55 LLC and its affikates; on August
30, 2018, FHLB Seattle appealed ihe Washinglon state courl’s
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August 10, 2008 firal judgment and arder of dismissal seekng
teversal of the courl's May 4, 2016 order; the appeal & pending;
(i) one 2ction brought by the Federal Hame Loan Bank of Bestan
in the LIS District Caur far the District of Massachusaits, in which
claims agansd C35 LLC and #3 atfiales relate 1o approamately
USD 333 milkon, rediused from USD 373 millisn fallwing the
October 27, 2015 stipulaban of wolurtary demissal with prejudice
of claims pedaining 1o certain RMBS offerings onwhth CSSLLC
and s affiliates were sued (apprommately 6% of the USD 5.7
billian at msue agamet all deferdants in the sperabive pleading),
on February &, 2017, the Federal Home Lean Bank of Boston's
elaims weda remanded 1o the Suffsl Coundy Supener Court; W)
two actions by Massachusalis Mutual Life Insurance Company in
the US Destrict Court for the Dastrict of Massachusatis, in which
claims against C55 LLC ard i3 employeas relabe (o approxmalely
USD 107 millian of the RMBS at issue [approximately B7% of
the USD 110 milien at issue against al defendants in the opera-
e plaadings) and for which a tral & scheduled 1o Bage in July
2017; (vi) cna action brought by Waterown Savings Bank in the
SONY, in which chams againg! C55 LLC and i3 affilales retate
1o an unstated amount of the RMBS al issue; and (vil) one action
brought by the Tennesses Consolidated Retiremant System in
Tennessae state court in which clims against CS55 LLC relate
o approwenately LSO 24 millisn of RMBS a1 lssue aganst C55
LLC (appraximately 4% of the LSO 644 milkon af ssue against all
defendarts i Lhe speralve pleading).

C55 LLC and certain of 82 affiksies and/or employees are the
only defendants ramed n: () one acton breught by CMFG Life
Insurance Company and affilaled entties m 1he LIS District Court
fior the Weatasn District af Wacansin, inwhich elams against C55
LLC relale to approximately USD 70 mibon of RMBS and which
hens a teal szheduled (o bagin in Octebar 2017, on December 16,
2018, the US Distncl Couwrt for (he Westem Dustrict of Wisconsin
dismissad i part the action breught aganst CSS5 LLC, redicing
the RMEBS af ssue for 55 LLC from approximatedy S0 70 mi-
ban to appeooimmately LSD B2 mellion: (i) ome actan brewght by
Dewuische Zentral-Genessenschafisbank AG, Mew Yark Branch
ifi the SCNY, in wheeh chemns againgd CS5 LLC and 83 afffabes
relate to approwmately USD 111 mdlan of RMBS; (n) one acton
brought by B Deutsche Industrisbank AG and affiliated anti-
fies in the SCHY, in which claims agairst C55 LLC ard i3 affik-
ales relale lo appresirnataly USD ST milien of RMBS: (n) one
action brought by the Mational Credit Unian Administration Board
(NCUA) a3 ligudatag agent of the US Central Federal Credit
Unian, Westemn Cosporate Federal Credd Union and Southeast
Corporate Federal Cradd Union in the US District Courd for tha
Dhslrict of Kansas, o which claims against C55 LLC and &5 affik-
ate relale bo appradmately USD 311 milkan of RMBS, for which
ihe LIS District Cowrd for the District of Kanzas issued an order
on May 2T, 2015 vacaling A poior pantial dismissal of the action,
ncreasng ihe RMBS at issue for C55 LLC and #s affiliates from
approximately USD 311 millen te USD 715 milien and which has
a frial schaduled to begn in Aprl 2007, on March 23, 2017, C55
LLC and is affiiale reached an agreamant in principhs to resohe
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the action with the NCLA; (v ane action braught by Phoenix Light
5F Ltd. and affiliated antities intha SCNY, in which claims against
CS55 LLC and its affilates relate 1o approamately USD 362 millon
of RMBS, which was dismissed in its entirely on Apeil 18, 2015; on
Movember 17, 2016, the SCNY, Appellsle Dhision, Firsl Depari-
e, issued an crder renstaling all prevously-dumrussed ¢lams
brought by Phoenos Light SF Lid. and aflikated entilies aganst C55
LLC and its afffiates; and () one acton brought by Royal Park
Irveestrments SANWY i the SCHY, inowhich chims againgt CSSLLC
and s afflsle relate to approimately USD 380 milien of RMBS.
These actions are al vanous procedural stages.

As disclesed n Cradd Suissa's quarerly Financal Reporis for
2016, mdwadual imvestor actions discontmued dunng the course
of 2016 incleded the follewing: () on Aprl 22, 2018, tha SDNY
ertered udoment without any admissson of kabildy againgt T35
LLC and s affiliabes in faver of the Natiaral Credit Uinion Admin-
istration Board. as bguedating agent of the Southwes! Corporate
Faderal Credd Unon and Membars Unitad Carporate Federal
Credit Undon, = the amewnt of USD 50.3 milian (plus alfomeys’
feas and costs), resshing all claims ralated to approcimately
USD 229 mellion of RMBS al issue; () on June 1, 2018, follow-
g a setilement, 3 slipulation of dermisaal with prejdice was filed
with the US District Cour for the Middle Distrsct of Alabama,
whikeh wias entered by the count an Jume B, 2018, discontinuing the
action braught by the FDIC as recener for Colantal Bank relating
to approximately USD 34 milon of the RMBS at tssue (approx-
rately 12% of the IS0 283 milken al msue against all deferdants
i the operatie pleading); (&) on June B, 2016, following a satlie-
mant, tha US Court of Appeals for the Ninh Circuil, presiding
i the appeal of the sction braught by the FOIC as recewer for
Colenial Bank in the US Dhstrict Court for the Central District of
Calfarnz (COC), granted the stpulstion wikhdrawing the FDIC's
appeal of the CDC's dismissal with prejudice of all clams against
C55 LLC relafing 1o approximataly USD 12 milisn of the RMBS al
ssue (approcimately 5% of the LUSD 258 millon al isswe against
all defandants in the aparative pleading); thus the enlite action &
dismissed with prejedice; and (&) on July 28, 2018, felowing a
satllament, the Taxas state court presiding in tha acton brought by
the Texas County ard Distrct Retirement System demissed with
prejudice all claims against C55 LLC: thase claims relafed fo an
unstated amount of the RMES af ssue.

I addiien, an Jarvuary 27 and January 30, 2017, fallowing
a seltlemand, the Calfornia slale cour presiding over the aclions
brought by the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco dis-
rmissed with prejudce all claima against C55 LLC and ds afiilates,
i which claims against C55 LLC and ils affliates relaled to approe-
mately S0 1.6 bilkon (approsimatedy 17% of the USD 9.5 bilken
af lssue sgainst all deferdants in the eperalive pleadings, reduced
to reflect dismissal of actions relaling to cerdain cerificates)

C55 LLC ard certain of 15 affilates are defendants in ons mons-
lire insurer action pending in the SCHY, commenced by MBLA
Ingirance Conp. (MBLL) a3 gusrantor for payments of prncgal and
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interast related bo approximately USD 770 milien of RMBS issued
i gHferings sponsorsd by Crédd Suisse, One theory of labidily
advanced by MBIA o that an affate of C55 LLC must repurchase
certain martgage bans fraem the trusts ab ssus. MELA clims that
the vast magrdy of the urderhing merigage kans breach certan
represantabons and wartanties, and thal the affilate has faded ta
repurchass the allegedly defectve lboans. in addition, MBLA alleges
clasms far fraud, fravduent inducement, matefial Missepresenta-
fins, breaches of warranties, repurchase oblgations, ard resn-
bursement. MBLA submited repurchase demands for bans with
an enginal prcipal batance of appresmalely LISD 548 mifion

Discevary i complele, and the parties argued hair respeclie sum-
mary prdgment metiens in November 2006, which reman pending,

DL Martgags Captal, Ine_ (DLJ) & 2 defandart inc (i) one action
brought by Asset Backed Secunties Corporation Home Equiy Loan
Trugt, Senes 2006-HET, s which plaintff aleges damages of aot
bess than USD 341 miben, wheh was dismissed wilhout preju-
dee by order of the SCNY on March 24, 205, which onder was
appealed, and which aclion was re-filed on Seplember 17, 2015
(stayed against DL pending resokion of all panding appeals), (i)
one acton beought by Home Equiy Assel Trust, Senes 2006-8,
in which plainliff aleses darages of net leas than USD 426 mi-
fon; (i) ona action brought by Home Equity Asset Trust 20:07-1, in
whach plaintff alisges damages of net less than USD 420 milion;
) one acteon brought by Home Equly Assel Trust Senss 2007-3,
in which plainiff alages damages of not bess than USD 206 mi-
ko, whech was damissed without prepedics by order of the SCNY
on December 21, 2015 wilh leave 10 restore within or year and
which plintiff moved to reslors on December 210, 2016, which the
court granted on March 15, 2017 by resternng the case to actve
status; () one action brought by Home Equity Assel Trust S007-
2, in which plaintiff alleges damages of nol less than USD 495
rlbary; and (w) one achion brought by CSMC Assel-Backed Trust
2007-MCI, in whith no damages amourd is alleged. DLJ and #s
affikate, Select Portfolo Servcing, Inc. (SPS), are defendants n:
one action brought by Home Equily Mortgage Trust Sanes 2006
1, Home Equity Morgage Trust Senes 2006-3 and Home Equiy
Modgage Trust Seres 2006-4, in which plairtiffs alege damages
of pat less than USD 730 millon, and alage thal SPS absiructed
the Fvastgation inbo the full extent of the defects in the morgage
pools by redusing to atford the frustes reasonable access 1o cer-
talf engination files: and ene sclon broughl by Heene Equity Mart-
gage Trust Senes 2006-5, inwhich plaintiff alleges damages of not
lesg than USD 500 milion, and absges that SRS Bely dacoversd
DLJ's aleged breaches of representations and warranies bt did
it matfly the trustes of such breaches, in alagad viohtion of ds
conlrachuml obligations. These actions are brought in the SCNY and
are af early o nbermediate procedural points.

As declosed in Credit Suissa's fourth quarter Financial Repod
of 2013, the fallowing repurchase actmng wane dimissed with
prepadice in 2013: the three conscbdaled actions braught by Home
Equiy Azsel Trust 2006-5, Home Equity Ascel Teust 2006-6 and
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Home Equty Asset Trust 2006-7 against DL, Those demissals
are on appeal.

Ralea-ralated lilgation

Iny Mearch 2008, €55 LLC was ramad, akng with other financal
saruices fitms, accourtands, bwyers, officers, dinsclons and con-
troling persons, as a defendant n anaction filed in New York state
court (later remeved 1o the SDNY) by the Jaint Official Liquida-
ters of vancus SPhnX, Funds and the trushee of the SphinX Trust,
which halds claims that belangad to PhaFunds Growp, Ine. (Plis-
Furds), the imestment manager for the SPhink Furds, The opera-
the amandad complaind asseed clas aganst CS5 LLC for aid-
ing and abatting treaches of fduciary duly and aiding and aballing
fraud by Rebeo's insiders in comnéction with Refea's August 2004
netes offenng and August 2005 indial public affenng, Plamtiffs
saught to recover fram defendants more than LSO 800 million,
consisting of USD 263 milion that the Sphink Managed Futures
Fund, & SPhunX fund, had en deposd and lost al Refeo, several
huredred milbon doltars in alleged additional “lost enlerprse” dam-
ages of PlusFunds, and pre-judgment mberest. | Nowember 2008,
C55 LLC filed a motion 1o dismiss the amended complaint, In Feb-
ruary 2012, the couwrt granted in part ard derad in part the motion
te dmmiss, which left intact part of plairtiffs’ claim for aiding and
abetting fraud. In August 2012, C55 LLC filed a motion for um-
rary pdgmeand with respect bo the remaming part of plantiffs” aid-
iy aied abetting fraud elasn. In December 2012, the cout granted
the molien, this dismassing C55 LLC from the case. The court
ertared a firal pdgment dismissing the chims aganst CS5LLC on
August 16, 2014 ard, on Seplember 16, 2014, plant#ts appeaked
to the Second Crewt. On Jume 15, J016, folwing a selflement,
the Second Ciecufl granted a stipulabon withdrawing the appeal
Thizs, the antire action agurad CBS5 LLC i dumizsed vwilh prajdee.

Bank |aan liligation

On January 3, 2010, the Bank and ciher affilaes were named as
defendants in @ st fled inihe US Detrct Court fior the District
of idahe by current or former homeowners in four real estate devel-
opments, Tararack Resarl, Yallowstons Clb, Lake Las Vegas
ard Ginn Sur Mer, The Bank arranged, and was the agent bank
for, Syrlicated lans provided to barmowers affiated with 3l four
developmands, and who have been or are now in bankruplcy or
ferechaire. Plaindfs genarally alage that the Bank and ethes affi-
efes commited fraud by wiing an unaccepled apprazsal method
te ovenvalue the propertias with the infention of laning the boi-
rowers take out loans they coukd nat repay because it wauld allow
the Bank and siher affilates bo kber push the borrowers inle bank-
rupicy and lake cwnership of the properties. Plaintifis demanded
USD 24 bilian in damages. Cusheman & Wakefield, the apprasar
fof the properlies al issue, i3 alse named as a defendant, After the
flng of amended complanls and motisns te damiss, the ckims
were significantly reduced. On September 24, 2013, tha cour
densad the plaitifls' molson for class certificatson 5o the case can-
nel procesd as a class aclion. On February 5, 2015, the cour
granted plaintifis’ motion for lesve fo fls an amendad complaint,
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adding additional indnadual phainkiffs. On April 13, 2015, the court
grarted plantifls’ mation for leave to add a chim for punithee dam-
ages. On Mevember 20, 2015, the plairdffs moved for partal
surenary judgment, which the defardams oppasad on Decambar
14, 2015, On Decemnber 18, 2015, the deferdants filed molions
for surmmary judgment. On July 27, 2016, the US Dwtret Caurt
for the: District of ldahe granted the defendants’ matians for sum-
mary pdgmant, dismnang the case wih prapdice. The plantifts
are appealing.

The Bank and other affilates are als the subjpet of cortain
ather retated Ifigation regarding certain of these loans as wel as
ather aimilar real estale developmants. Suth ligalion includes twe
cases brought in Texas and Mew York stale couns against Bank
atfkates by enlities rebited to Highland Capital Mansgement LP
{Highiand), Inthe case in Texas state court, a ury trial was held in
Decamber 2014 on Hightand's claim for fravdulent inducameant by
atfirmalee misrepresantation and omisson, A verdict was issued
o the plairtiff o s claim fa¢ fravdulent inducement by affirratie
misrepresentalion, bul the jury regcted ds claim that the Bank's
affiates had commdbed fraudulert inducement by emssaon. The
Texas pdge held a bench tral on Hghland's remaining <laims
n May and Juna 2018, and anfered judgment in the amaunt of
USD 267 maban (nchding prepdgment intenest) for the plaird i
on Septermbar 4, 2015. Both parties fad nabees of appeal fram
that judgment and brefing was complated on March 10, 2017,
Irs the case in Mew York stale courl, the court granted in part
and densed in parl the Bank's summany pdgment medion. Beth
parties appealed that decisien but the appelate court affirmed
the decision m full, Bank affilales separately sued Hyghland-man-
aged funds on related trades and recehed a favorable judgment
awarding both principal owed and prequdgment mberast. Highland
appeaked the portian of the jwgment swarding prejudgment inler-
est, however the orgnal decisian was affirmed in s enlwely. The
parties subsequently agread o seftle the amouni ewed by tha
Hightand-managed funds under the judgmen.

Tax and $ecurities |aw matters

On May 10, 2014, Credil Suizse AG enterad inle selilement
agreament s wilh several US reguisters regarding s US cross-bar-
der matbers, ntluding the New York State Department of Finan-
ctal Senaces (DFS5). As parl of the settlement, Credd Susse AG,
amang olher things, engaged an independent corpoeate mentar
that repons to the DFS (a separate pesition from the independent
consultant agreed to in the seltlement with the SEC) and prevdes
ongong reparts 1o various agencies. Credil Susse AG (s paying
for the cost of the montar.

Rates-ralatad matters

Regutatary authorilies in a number of jurisdictions, including {he
US, UK, EU and Swilzartand, have for an extended pariad of time
been conducting imestigations into the setting of LBOR and other
refesence rates with respact to & number of cisrencies, as wiell as
the prcing of cerfain related dernalves. These angoing imestia-
Hioers: heaner ncluded nfarmation requests fiom rguitalors rgarding
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LIBOR-selting practices and reviews of the activities of varicus
firancial mstdutions, mchidng the Group. The Group. which i5 2
member of three LIBOR rate-setting panels (US Dolar LIBOR,
Swisa Frane LIBOR and Eure LIBOR), & cooparating fully with
these irvestigations, In particutar, i kas been reported That reguta-
ters are sty aling whither financal natitifions engaged o an
effort to manpulale LIBOR, eithar indradually or in concerl with
clher nigtilutions, in ofder 1o impeove markel percephon of these
nelitutions’ financial heakh and/or to increase the value of their
prapristary trading pesiions. In responsa bo regilftary inguares,
Credfl Susse commissoned a review of these issues, To date,
Credil Suisas has seen no sndencs lo suggest that i i Bkely b
haree any maleral exposure in connection with these issues,

The reference rabes imestigations hine alse inthided infarma-
tiam requests from regulaters regarding frading acloedies, infar-
ratian sharng and the satting of benchark rales o the fareign
exchange (ncluding ekectronic trading), supranational, sub-sover-
elgn and agency (S5A) bands, and cememadilaes (meliding pre-
ciaus metals) markets. On March 31, 2014, the Swiss Competi-
tign Commissien annsinced a formal imestigation of numensus
Swiss and milernational financial instfutions, including the Group,
in retation to the setting of axchange rafes in fareign exchange
trading, The Group is cooparating fully with these imestigations,
The investigations are engeang and i & too soanto predict the Bnal
oulcame of the imestigations.

Inn adddion, members of the US Dellar LIBOR parel, incld-
g Credit Suisse, have been named in variows civil lwsuts filed
in the US. AN but two of thesse matters have been consobdated
for pre-tral puiposes inte a multi-district [igaten in the SORY,
On Mareh 29, 2013, the court dismissed a substardial portion
of {he case aganst the panel banks, dismissing the claims under
the Racketeer Imluenced and Cosrup! Organzations Act and the
Sherman Anfdrust Act, as well as all state law claims, leaving
only certain claims under the Commoddy Exchange Acl based
af LIBOR-relaled instruments entered inlo after May 30, 2008
(efanded ta aflar April 14, 2009 0 a subsequent ordar). Plenliffs
appealed paei of the decisien. On May 23, 2018, the Second Cir-
el pevarsed the decislen of tha SDNY damssing plintiffs' Sher-
man Antirust Act claims and remanded the claims to the SONY
for addiional briefing on the issues of whether such claims have
been adequately allzged. Brefing was complated in August 2018
and, in 4 sanes of rulings between Decembear 2016 and Febru-
ary 2017, the SDNY dismissed all of plaintifis’ anitrust claims
againet Cradd Susse. Between April 2013 and Mavember 2015,
the SONY has issued a rumber of decssions namowing and defin-
g the scope of the permissible claimans and clams. On August
23, 2013, the SDNY rejected phintdfis’ requests Lo replead the
dismissed cawsas of action escept for cartain of plaindifis' state
lww claims, which plaintiffs assarted in amended complaints. In
June 2014, the SDNY denled most of defendants’ metion bo dis-
miss. On August 4, 2015, the SDNY ruled on certain of defen-
danis’ additional motions 1o dismiss claims brought by plaintiffs
nel subget to the March 28, 2013 arder, and dismissed some
of these plaintiffs” claims, including claims under the Rackeiser

706/771

ars

oOoOooodn



380

Consolidated financial slalements - Credil Suisse Group

Motes to the consoldated financial staternents

Influenced and Cemupl Crganzations A2t and the Sherman Anli-
frust Act, while allowing certain Commadity Exchange Act claimds,
fraud, breach of contract, and urpst ennchmant clams 1o sumve,
On Neovember 3, 2015, the SDNY further dismissed purporied
classes brought by studert loan barewers and lending matiu-
tians and allswed carlain over-lhe-courter plaintiffs te amand thes
complaints 1o add new plaintiffs to certan claims

Cine riatier that & nat consalidated in the muli duitrict hga-
fian 18 also in the SONY, ard the SDNY granted the defendants’
raetian bo dsmiss om Mareh 31, 2015, but gave plantd o 1o file
a rew pleadng, On June 1, 2015, plairtif filed a mcticn for leave
to file a second amended complaint in the SONY, defendants’
oppesiion brief was filed on July 18, 2015. Furthermore, in Feb-
rusary 2015, various banks that served on Lhe Swiss frane LIBOR
paned, inchuding Credit Susse Group AG, were named in a crl
putative class sctoor bwsu® filed in the SONY, alisging manipula-
fion of Swiss frane LIBOR 1o benefit defendants’ trading postions,
On June 19, 2015, the pluntidfs flad an amended complaird. On
August 18, 2015, the defendants filed motions to dismiss,

Mg, inJuy 2008, vanous banks that sesced on the Sin-
gagore Intesbank Offered Rale (SIBOR) and Singapore Swap
Offer Rate (SOR) pamels, inchding Credd Suisse Group AG and
affiaies, were named i a chal putaiie class action brwsull filed
in the SONY, alegng manipulation of SIBOR and SOR to beneft
defendants' trading positions, On October 31, 2016, the plainiifs
filed an amended complaird. On Nevember 18, 2018, defendants
filed motions 1o dismiss,

Additenally, Credit Suissa Group AG and affilates as well as
other financial instilutions are named m thiee pending il class
actien bwsnts 0 the SONY relating 1o the allaged manipulation
of forekgn exchange rates. On January 28, 2015, the court denied
defendanls’ molion 1o disimes the enginal consalidated complaint
brought by US-based mmestors and foreign plaintifis who trans-
acted in the US, bul granted ther matian fa dismiss (he twe class
actions braught by forign-based wvestors, In July 2015, plairdifs
filed @ second consoldated amended complaim, adding additsral
defendants and asserling additonal claims on behalf of a second
putative class of exchange imvestors. In August 2015, the cowt
consoldated al forexgn exchange-related actions pending in the
SDNY, except one putative chiss action alleging violations of the
U3 Employes Relirement Income Securdy Al of 1974 (ERISA)
bazed an the same alleged conduct, which = now pending as
a separate action, In Movember 2015, the Group and affiliates,
togethes with sther firancial instdulions, filed a mebion 13 dismiss
tha second consabdated amended complainl. On Seplember 20,
2016, the SONY granted in parl and dened in par such maticn
1o dismiss. The decmion reduced the sze of the putatoe class, but
allowed the pamary antidrust and Commoddy Exchange Act claims
{o surviee. The Group and several affiliates, with cther financial
instilutions, have alse been named in two Canadian putathve chiss
actions, which make simBar allegations. On May 19, 2016, affikaies
of Credil Suissa Group AG, along with saveral cther financial insli-
{utions, filed a mation o dismiss the pulatree ERISA class acton,
which tha SONY granted on August 23, 2018, On Saplamber 22,
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2016, plantifls filed an appeal of that decision. The thed pend-
ing matler pames Credd Suisse Group AG and affilales. as wal
ag chher financal instdulsons, ina putatve class action fled in the
SDMY on Saplember 28, 2018, alleging manpulatian of the for-
eign exchange market en behalf of indirect purchasers of foreign
exzhange natrumend s, Defandants mowed 1o dismass the indineet
purchasar complaind on January 23, 2017,

Credil Susse AG, New Yaork Branch, and ather financial insti-
tutons have alse been named in a perding consalidaled ol class
action beuzuil relatey to the alleged manipuation of the ISDAFDC
raie for LIS dollars in the SDMY. On February 12, 2015, the class
plardidis filed a consalidaled amended class action complaint. On
Aprd 13, 2015, the defendants filed 2 molion 1o demiss. On Aped
11,2018, Cred® Suisse AG, Mew York Branch entened inlo a sei-
tlemant agreement with pluintfis, On May 3, 2016, plandiis fled
a moefion for prabminary approval of the setilemant, akang with
settlements with olher firancial matitubans. On May 11, 2016,
the SOMY pealmirarily appeoved plaintiffs’ settlemen agreaments
with Credit Sulsse AG, Mew York Branch, and six other financzal
institudions. The sedllamant provides for dismissal of the casa with
preadice and a setflement payment of USD B0 millon by Credit
Suisse. The satilaments remain subject to final court approval

C55 LLC, along with over 20 other primary dealers of US
treasury securifies, has bean named in a numbar of pulalve ead
class acton complamts in the US relating fo the US treasury mar-
kats. Thesa complants genarally allege that defendants coluded
te manipulate US treasury auctions, as well as the prcng of US
treasury sacurties in the when-isswed market, with impacts upon
ralated futures and oplions, These actions have been consolidated
irite 3 mul-disteict Migation in the SDMNY. Plaintiffs haowe nod wel
filed & consolidated amended complaint.

Credit Suisse Group AG and affilales. aleng with other finan-
cial institubons, have been named in one consoldaled pulalive
chal class action complaint and one consoldalad complaint filed
by individual plaindiffs relating to mieresl rale swaps, abaging thal
dealar defendanls conspired with trading platforms o prevent
the development of interest rale swap exchanges. The indaidual
Irwsulls were brought by TeraEachange LLC, a swap exscution
facilly, and affikabes, and Javelin Capflal Markels LLC, a swap
exaacudion facilty, and an affiliate, which claim to have suffared lost
profits as a result of defendands’ aleged conspiracy. All inlerest
rale swap actions have bean conselidaled in & mull-district Biga-
tion im the SONY. Beth class and indiidual plaindiffs filed sscond
amanded conscldated complaints on December 9, 2016, which
defendans moved to dismiss on January 20, 2017,

Adddionally, Credit Suisse Group AS and affikates, alang with
other financial instdutions and indéviduats, have been named in
several putatie class setion compluints filed in the SONY relating
to 55A bonds. The compiaints generally allege thal defendanris
conspired to fix the prices of 554 bonds sold to and purchased
from ivestors in the secondary market, These acions have been
conselidaled in tha SONY. Plaintiffs have not yel filed a consolb-
dated amended complaint,
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On August 16, 2016, Creddt Suisse Greup AG and Credd
Susse AG, alang with athéer francal indliuticns, were named in
a putative clazs action brought in the SONY, alisgng maniputation
af the Austrakan Bank Bl Swap reference rate. Plambifs filad an
amended complaint on December 16, 2016, which defendants
mazved be dusmnids on February 24, 2017,

COS-related matters

Certan Credd Sumse enlfies, as well as olher banks and enlties,
wete ramed defendants ina consalidated mulli-district chal Migatian
precesding n the SONY abegng veslatsans of antdrust b retaled fo
CDS. In September 2014, the court cvirsesng the Hagation granted
n par and denied in part the defendants’ motion to disméss, which
alkwied the case 1o procked 1o dicovery. On September 30, 2015,
Credit Suisse and {he slher defendants executed agreaments with
the putathe class action plaintfis fo salile this Rigatian. On Apnl
18, 2016, the SONY entered an coder granting fral approval 1o the
setlemen agraemants batwaen the putative chss action plundifa
and Credit Suisse and the alher defendants, and antenng final pudg-
ot and dismissal of the partes’ respactng actions.

As previously disclosed, a Credil Suisse entily recemed cavil
iwestigalive demands fram the DOJ relating to compatition in
credil dervales trading, processing, chearing and information ser-
wices, By a letter dated September 15, 2018, the DOJ notified
Credit Suisse that it has chosed s imvestigation.

Nel new assets-related matters

On Oeteber 5, D016, the SEC anrounced a settlemant pursuant
o which Credd Suisse agreed to pay LSD 90 millisn and admit-
ted that it did not adequalaly dischase carlain practices related to
the recognition of nel new assets during the pediod from the fourth
quarier of 2011 unli the fourth quarter of 2012

Alternative trading systems

Credd Suisse has been respandng fo inquiries from variows gov-
ammental and regulatary authartees conceming the oparatisn of
#s alternatroe frading systems, and has been cooperating with
those reguests. On Jaruary 31, 2016 and Februaary 1, 2016, the
SEC and NYAG, respecthely, announced selllemenls with Credd
Sutkse it hres such inguries, Credd Susse has padd, ona without
admilting-cr-dermang bass, a fotal of LISD 84.3 milien as par of
a satllement of vanious matters ralated to the oparaton of s US
based allemative trading systems and order handing practices,
are relaled disclosures.

Caspian Energy litigation

A lrwsut was browght against Credit Susse Indarnatsral (58 in
Englsh caurt by Rosserlane Consultants Limited and Swinbeook
Develapments Limied, The Bigation retates to the forced sale
Iy C58in 2008 of Caspan Energy Group LP (CEG), the vehicle
fhreugh which the plaintifis held a 51% stake in the Hyuresdag
off and gas field in Azerbasan. CEG was sold for USD 245 mi-
I following twe unsuccessful merger and acquistion processes,
The plairddfis allege thal CEG sheuld heve Been sald for at laast
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USD TOO mibon, The iral lock place al the end of 2014 and on
February 20, 2015, the ¢ase was dismissed and pdgmant gien
i faver of CSI. The plantiffs appealed the udgment, In January
2017, the Court of Appeal ruled in CSH's favar.

ATA litigation

A kst was fled on November 10, 2014 inthe S Destrict Court
for the Eastem Datrict of Mew York (EOMNY) against 3 number
of banks, inchding Credt Suisse AG, alegng clims under the
United States Anti-Terrariam Azt (ATAL The acton alages a con-
spracy between Iran and vanous inberrational fimancial inst@utions,
including the defendarts, @ whech thay agreed 1o alber, falefy o aamil
infermation from payment messages that moheed rarsan partes
for the express purpase of concealing the lmman pares' frnancal
actiilies and transactions from defection by US aulhordies. The
eomplain, browght by appeooimabely 200 plaintidfs, alleges that this
conspracy has made i posshile for lran to fransber funds to Hezbok
kb ard other temonst argaraabiors sckively engaged in harming US
mistary parsornel and chilang. On July 12, 2016, plaintiffs féed
second amended complant in the EDNY againsl & rumber of barks,
mchuding Credd Susss AG, alleging chams under the ATA. On Sep-
tembar 14, 2018, Credit Suisse A5 and the elher defendards filed
motiong 1o damiss the prairtitfs’ second amended complaint n the
EDNY. A bvwsiit weas filed an Nevarnbar 2, 2016 i the LIS Dastrict
Cowrt for the Southern District of llineis (3.0, IE) aganst a rum-
bar of banks, including Credt Suisse AG, allaging claims undar the
ATA. The complaint, brought by apprasmatedy 100 plaintiffs, makes
alegations sivdar to the ATA action panding against Credt Suisse
AG n the EDNY, On January 23, 2017, plaritiffs filed an amended
eomplant aganst the defendants o the S.0. [IL

MPS

In labe 2014, the Monle ded Paschi di Sena Foundatian (Feunda-
tion) Had a lawsud i the Civil Court of Milan, ltaly sseking EUR 3
bilien in damages pintly from Credd Swisse Securibas (Eurcpe)
Limited (CS5SEL), Banca Lesnards & Co 5.p . and farmar mam-
bers of the Foundation's management commities. The lwsur
redutas 15 the faliness opinkrs CSSEL and Banea Lesnards & Co
S5.p.A. debvered to the Foundalion in connectan with the EUR 9
billien acquisdion of Banca Antrveneta S.pA, by Banca Mente
dei Pagchi di Siera SpA. (BMPS) in 2008, BMPS funded the
acquisition by 3 ELR & bdkon rghls offer and the issuance of unre-
deermable securties comvertible irfo BMPS shares. in which the
Faundation enested EUR 2.9 biion and EUR 490 millon, respae-
thealy. The Foundation alleges that the fanness opmions wers issued
in the absence of key financial nformation. CSSEL babves fha
the claim bchs merd and & not supported by the available evidence.

leelandic banks

CSSEL is defending elvwback clums of USD 16 milion and
EUR 22 milicn brosight by the Winding Up Committees (\WUCs)
of 1he lcelardic banks Hawpthng Bank hi and LB W (prevsausly
Landsbanki Istands b} in the District Court of Reykavik, lcatand,
The clains concem the burback by the lcelandic banks of ther
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own bands fram CSSEL i the manths prior 1o the lcelandic banks'
wpahvency, Thie prmary basis for the clawback i that the buy-
backs constiiuted early repayments of debil fo CESEL. In addion,
C5l s defending a EUR 170 milisn cbrwback chaim beowght by the
WLIC of Kaupthing Bank hf in the District Count of Reylgnvik, lce-
tand. The claim relates to C51's issiance of ten credd lnked notes
in 2008, which the WUC & sesking fo challenge under vanous
provisions of leetandic machancy taw in order 1o clw back funds
paid to CS1. The WUICs are alse claming significant paralty rier-
esf under bzelandie kB in respect of both the CSSEL and C5I
clasms. CSSEL argues that the buyback transactians ange governed
by Enghsh ar New York b and C5l sigues thal the purchase of
the credil brkad nales |s governed by English law, nether af which
provides a legal basis for such clawback achons, In Octaber 2014,
{he Courl of the Ewopean Free Trade Assocalan Stales issued a
man-binding decisien supparting C51's and CSSELs posilan that
the governing Liw of the Iransactions @ relevant. Separately, C35|
s pursieng a clim for USD 226 milkan in the Datrct Court of
Reykjavis, lceland against Kaupthing Bank hf's WUC in crder fo
enforee cerlain secunly nghts ansing under a 2007 structuned
frade. C3l acqured the securily nahls fellowing Haupthing Bank
hf's insalvency in 2008, In December 2016, CSSEL, CSl and
Kaupthing ehf (formerly Kauptheg Bank hf) entered info a settle-
el agneemant and the Faupthing related proceedings have now
been conchuded,

Italian Investigation

Credit Susss AG resohed a previously-disclsrd Nalan inestiga-
fion o allaged tax and money undenng issues though agree-
ments to pay an admeestrave tax penally and an administratie
sanction. The premise of the alleged tax abidy was failee fo
ke requred distiasunes regardiveg the sctivlies of ltakan chards,
and Credt Susse AG agreed fo pay a EUR 18 milken administira-
ihe 1ax penalty 1o resabe these claims. A3 discudsed in ‘Nete
28 - Taw’, Credd Suisse AG alse made a tax payment of ELIR 83
milien, camprising ELIR 70 miion of incame lax, assacaled pan-
alties and irleresl, on reverue assctiated with this matles, and
ELIR 13 millean relating bo tax and ndedest on an whrelsled llalan
fax matter, The pramise of the absged administralre labdity was
the madequacy of historcal mternal contrals, and Credi Suisse
AG entered an agreement under Adicle 53 of Hakan Administira-
e Law 231 to pay EUR B midlian in disgargemeant of profita and a
EUR 1 milicn administrative sanclion. On Decermber 14, 2018, the
compatent Nakan judge approved this agreement wnder Law 231,
which marked the erd of the ivestigation by the Itakan authori-
fies. Mo admission of wrongdeang was required in connection with
either agresment,

Customer account malters

Several chents have clasmed that a former relalisnabiy manager
in Swiizerkared had excedded his wvmsiment authonty i the man-
agement of ther portfolias, resulting in excessve concentrations
of cerlain exposwres and imesiment lsses, Cred? Susse AG s
ivpsligating the chims, a8 wal a3 Iransachons amang the clents.
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Credit Suisse AG filed a cominal complaint agamst the former rela-
tisnghep manager with the Geneva Prosecutor's Office upon whech
the prosecutor indsated a crimnal investigation. Several clients of
thee Baemner relabionshey marager sl filed criminal complairs with
the Geneva Prosecutor's Otfice.

FiIFA-related matters

In connectian with imestigations by US and Swias government
aulhardies into the mvalvement of financial instidutions in the
abaged bribery and comuption suraunding the Fédésation |mama-
tionale de Foctbal Association (FIFA), Credd Suisse has receied
irwpuarend from thase aidhorilies regarding s banking rakabionships
with certam individuals and entfies associabed wilh FIRA, incled-
g bt net limited to cerlam persons and entilies named and/
or described in the May 20, 2015 indictment and the Novwember
05, 2015 supersading indscimend filed by the Eastern District of
Mew Yaork US Atlemey's Office, The LS and Swiss authorites
are mwestigating whether muliple francal nstiubions, ineluding
Credit Suisse, parmited the processng of suspious o ctherwise
impraper transachans, or faded bo obsarve anli-maney bindeding
krws and regulations, with respect to the accourds of certain per-
sons and enfities assocated with FIFA. Credidl Susse is cooperai-
ing with the authories on this matter,

External Assel Manager matter

Several chards hone claimed that an exlernal seel marcger based
in Gereva misappropriated funds, forged bank statements, trans-
ferrad assets betwean chenl accounds ot Credd Suisse as cuslo-
dian to cenceal ksses and made investments withoul the autho-
rization of those cherls, Cradl Suisse B imestigating the claima.
The Geneva Prosscutor’s Office intialed a criminal investigation
agams! represertalies of the exdernal agset mandger and a foi-
mer Credd Sulsse amployes,

Mossack Fonseca/lsrasl Desk matters

Credit Sumse, along with many financial instilutions, has recaied
inquings from govemmental and reguiatory authorties concerm-
iy banking relationshps between firancil ingfutans, their ek
enis and the Panama-based kaw firm of Mossack Fonseca. Credit
Suisse has alse recened governmental and reguialory inquines
concarmng cress-border services provaded by Credit Swisse's Swit-
etland-based |srael Desk. Credit Susse is conduching & review of
these issues and has been cooperating with the authariies.

Mozambique matter

Credit Suisse is respending to requests from regulatery and
enforcement authord es relabed 1o Credt Susse’s arangemant of
loan financirg to Mozambegue state entesprises, Proindicus S.A.
ard Empresa Macambacana de Atum 5.4, (EMATLM), a desinbu-
tion fo precate e stors of lban participation netes (LPM) relaled
te the EMATUM financing in September 2013, and Cradit Suisse’s
subsequent fole in arranging the exchange of thase LPNs for
Ewobonds issued by the Repubbs of Mazambique. Credd Swsse
has baen cooparabng with the autharites on this matiar.
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40 Significant subsidiaries and equity method investments

Significant subsidiaries

&4 of Decembai 31, 3000
Credit Swisse Group AG

Credit Sisiiss AG
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Significant subsidiaries (continuad)
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41 Subsidiary guarantee information

Cenain whally-swned finance subsidranas of the Growp, ineled-
ing Credi Susse Group Funding (Guemsey) Limited, whch is a
Guesnsey Incorpesated mon-cellular company bmded by shaned,
hane ssued securflies fully and uncondilionally guarantesd by the
Group, Thens ane vandus kgal and regulidary requinsments, nchud-
ing the satisfaction of a sohency test under Guemsey b for the
Guernssy subsidary, appleabls o some of the Growp's subsidar-
w3 that may mi their abity to pay dradends or dstributions and
ke bars and advances to the Group,

On March 28, 2007, the Group and the Bank issued ful,
incenditional and several guarantees of Cradd Sulsse (LSA),
Inc.'s aulstarding SEC-registered debl securlies, In accordance
with the guaranteas, f Credf Sulsse (LISA), Ine. fails o make

any timely paymerd under the agreemants governing such debt
sacuriiies, {ha holders of the debl securities may demand payment
freen edar the Group & the Bank, withaul fra! proceading asalnst
Cradit Sussse (LESA), Inc, The guarantee from the Group is suber-
dinated to senior labites. Credd Suisse (USA). Inc. is an indract,
wholly cwned subsidary of the Group,

Az part of an arnounced prograrm b ewche the Gloup's kgal
antily structure to meel developing and fulure reguistory requine-
ety and US Federal Resprve regilaticn on establishing Imedme-
dizle Heldng Companies inthe LS for nen-US banks, legal entdes
are re-parented as subsidiaries of Credit Sussa (USA) Ine. Price
perniods ane restated to conform ba the currend presartation to reflect
the imipact of such transactions.
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Condensed consolidating stalements of eperations
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Condensed consolidating statemeants of eperations (continued)
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Condensed consolidating stalements of eperations (eontinued)
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Condensed consolidating balance sheels
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Condensed consolidating balance sheets (conlinuad)
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Condensad Dﬂl‘liﬂlidﬂﬂl‘ln statlermants of cash Mows (conlinued)
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Condensed consolidating statemeants of cash Nows (continued)
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42 Credit Suisse Group parent company
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43 Significant valuation and income recognition differences between US GAAP and Swiss GAAP banking

law {true and fair view)

The Greup's consabdated financal statements ke basn prepared
in accondance with US GAAP,

o FINMA, requires Swass-domeced banks which preser thei
financial statements under egher US GAAP of Intermational Finan-
ciad Reporling Standasds (IFRS) fo provide a ramralse explanation
of the majpr differences between Swiss GAAP bankang b (true
and fair view) and its primary accounting standasd.

The prncipal provisions of the Bankng Ordinance and the
FIMA Creutar 20181, "Accourting - banks”, govermng firanctal
reporiing for banks (Swiss GAAP) differ in cerdan aspects from
US GAAP. The felawang ame the mapt diferences:

o B Gioip’s & 0 e

Seope of consolidation

Under Swiss GAAR, magarty-owned subsadiares that ane not con-
sidered long-term Fresiments of do pal aperate in the cate busl-
mess of the Group are efher sccounted for as firancial imestments
& a3 equily methed imvestments. LIS GAAP has no such exep-
fian rekaling to the consolidation of magarily-owned subsidaries,

Foreign currency translations

Urdar US GAAP, foreign cusreny transiation adiistments result-
ingg from the consclidation of branches with funclonal currencies
ather than the Swids frane are ncluded in accumulated ofber com-
prehensie incomesgkoss) (AQCH in sharehalders’ equiy. Urder
Swiss GALP, foreign currency translation sdjustments fram the
consobdation of foreign branches are recognized m et mcome.’
(lo3s) fradn trading activiies and fair value optien.

Under LS GAAR, foregn curency measwrement adpstments
for madable-for-4ale secunties are repedled i ADCH wheth i pant
of tetal shareholders equty, whareas for Swiss GAAP statutory
purposes they are included in the siataments of incame.

Irvestrments in securitias
Under Swiss GAAP, classification and measurement of imest-
ments in securfies depands on the nature of the evesimenl.

Under US GAAR, mvesimants in equly secunties whire a com-
pary has the abilly o sgnificartly influence the sparabing and
financial polcies of an invesbes are accounted for under the equiy
methed of accounting of the fair value aption. Under the equity
methed of accounling, a compary's share of the prefit or loss as

well as amy impakment an the parbizipation are reparted i ather
[l

Under Swiss GAAP, irvestinems in aquily securities which
are held with the intention of a permanent imestment ar which
are mesiments in fnancial industry ifrastructure are inchuded n
pafpalions imespective of the percentage awnership of voling
shares heid. If a company has the abdily 1o significantly influance
the irvestee. the equiy methed of accounting 15 apphed, Other
pasticipaling inderasts ate nitially rscognzed ab Fstental east and
tested for impairment af least anmualy. The fair value oplion s nol
alaveed for paricipalions.

For the purpose of testing a companys parbcipating mber-
asls for mpaimand, the portfolo method is applied. Impairmant s
recorded i the cumying vake of a portfolio of participating mierests
exceds is fair value. Should the faki value of the partialio recover
subsequently after an impaimnent and such recovery |s consadersd
sustamable, the impairmant from price paricds can be reversed up
te faxr value but not exceeding the hestoncal cost basis. A reversal
of the mpairment is recorded as ssdraardinary incoems in the dtats-
mers of ncame,

Under US GAAR, saitable-for-cabs securflies are valued at fair
vahe, Unreakred gains and losses due to fuctuations in fair value
(inchding foreign exchange) ame not recorded in Ihe condalidaled
statements of eperabons bul included nel of tax in ADCI, which is
past of batal shareholders’ aquity. Declnes in fai valie below cost
deernad 1o be ciher-dhan-lempanary are ecsgnized as imparments
in the consebdated statements of eperalons, except for amouris
relabing 1o facters other than credil loss on debl secunties with no
irderd of iequiremant Lo all that cortimie 1o be included in ADCL
The new cosl basis will not be changed for subsequent recovaries
in far value,

Urder Swiss GARR, avaiable-for-sale securibes arg accounted
for a1 the lower of cost or maskel with valustisn reductions and
recoverss due to marked flucluations recerded in olher ordinary
expanses and intome, respectively. Forsign exchange gains and
lesses are recagnized n nel meamedloss) from frading actvties
and fair valie aplion

Under LIS GAAPR, nan-marketable equity secunties ang valued at
cast lags other-than-lemporary impaiment of 3 far value.

Under Swiss GAAP, non-marketable equily secunties are car-
fiad at (ke lower of cost o masket,
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Linder LIS GAAPR, dechries in fair vakie of held-to-matunty secun-
fies below cost deemed to be athes-than-temperary are recog-
nized as mparmends in the consalidated sislements of aparalions
except for amounts relating to facters other than credd loss an
dabl sacuriies held with no intent or requeement 1o sell thal are
mcluded im AQCI The imparment cannct be reversed in fulure
parieds

Urider Swiss GAMP, all mpairments ane recognized m the con-
soldated slaterments of income. impainments recognized an held-
fo-maturily securities are reversed up 1o the amartized cost o the
fair value of the nstrument subsequantly recovers. A reversal (s
recanded in the consalidaled stalements of income.

Fair value option

Uniike LS GAAP, Swiss GAAP genarally does ned allew the o far
value opbon concept That creates an cpbional altemative meagune-
menl (reatment for cenain pon-rading firancial asasts and labik-
fies, guaranteas and commitments. The fair value option permits
Mk wage of fair vahos for indial and Jubsequent meaduremant with
changes im far value recosded m the consolidated siatements of
aperatsns.

For tssued struclured products that mest cedain conddions,
fair value meadurement can be appbed, The rekliled changas in
fair value of both the embedded dervalive and the host contract
are iecsrded i trading meome, exept for fair value adjustments
refating to own credit that cannol be recogneed in the consek-
dated stalements of income. Impacts of changes in own credi
spreads are recognized n the compensalion accourts whech are
aithar reeanded n other assels or olher labities.

Derivative financial instruments used far Tair value hedging
Urdar US GAAF, the full ameunt of unrealized gains o losses
an © dervatives chassified as hedging instruments and the cor-
responding losses or gains on the hedged dems are recognized
in neome. Hedgng neffactveness i recorded in trading incodne.

Under Swiss GAAP, the carrying value of hedged flems is
mat adaisted. The amaurd representing the change m fair vakie
of the hedged dem due fto the nsk being hedged is recorded in
the compansatan accou inthuded in clher assels of other labil-
fies, Hadgng inefectiveness is recorded n nel incomeloss) from
frading scihities and fak valus opton.

Darivatives used for cash flaw hadges
Undar US GAAP, the effective portion of a cash flow hedge is
repored in AOCH

Urder Swiss GAAP, the effective portion of a cash flow hedge
is racordad in the compensation account includad in other assats
o ather abigies,

Derecognition of financial instruments

Under LS GAAP, Bnancil instruments are anly derscognized if the
fransaction meels the feliowng crfena: (f) the firancial assst has
been legally isetated from the transferor, (il the transferse has the

EDINETOOOO

OO000O0000O0O00oOdn(ees7ss)
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Maotes to the consoldated financial statements

right o repledge or resell the transfermed assel, and () the trans-
feior does net maintan effectve contrel aver the transtermed assel.

Under Swiss GAAR. a financial instrument i3 derecognized
whan the ecanamic condral kas been transfered from the salar to
the buyer, A party which has the controling abiliy 1o receme the
future returns from the firancial natrument and Lhe abligalon b
absarb the risk of the financial instrument (s deamed 1o hive soo-
noemss contral cver a francal Rathsment,

Dbt lssuance costs
Linder LIS GAAR, debl Bsuance cosls are presenled as a dinect
deduction from the camymg ameurd of the related dabit,

Under Swiss GAAP, dabl issuance costs are reparbed as a bal-
ance shesl asse! m atcrued income and prapaid epanses,

Goadwill amartization

Linder LIS GAAR, goodwill i not amedioed but must be tested for
impairient annialy of mone Treguertly i an swent of change in ci-
cumstances indicates that the goodwill may be mpared.

Under Swiss GAAP, gesdwill is amortized over its useful life,
genarally not excesding fve years, except for justifed cases where
a maxirmwm usaful Ife of up to tan years is sccaplable. In addition,
goadwil = lested at least anmally for empairment

Amortization of intangitle assels

Under LIS GAAP, intangible assels with indefinite lves are nat
amortized buf are tested for impairment annually or mone fre-
quertly f an event of change i Circumstancas mdcates that the
asset may by mpared,

Under Swisa GAAP, intangible assets are amorized sver a
userful life, up to a maximum of fie years, in justified cases up toa
g of 1en years, Inadddion, thess aisets ane tested &t beast
annualy for mpairment.

Guarantees

US GAAP reguires all guaranteas b be intially recegnized at fai
vadue, Lpen issuance of a guarardee, the guarantor is required to
recogne a kabdity that reflects the mittal fair vahes; smullane-
ously, a recenable is recorded to reflect the fulure guarantes fee
income sver the enlre e of the guarantes.

Under Swiss GAAP, only accreed or prepasd guaraniee fees
are recorded on the balance sheel. Mo guarantee Eabilty and
recenable for fulure guarantes fees are recorded upon issuance
of @ guarantas.

Loan origination fees and costs
S GAAP requires the deferral of fees recesed upfront and direcl
costs incwred in conmaction with the origination of leans ot hald
under the far value option

Under Swiss GAAP, enly upfrent payrments o fees that are
cansidered interest-related components are daferred (e.g.. pre-
miums and dacounts). Fees recenved from the borrower which
are considered service-related fees such as commiiment fees,
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structuring fees and arrangement fees ane immediabely recognazed
W COMMISHION NCome.

Sale snd laaseback fransactiona
Under US GAAR, gans from the sale of proparty subject to a sake
and leasaback anangermant are deferred and amorized sver Lhe
leasaback panad,

Under Swias GAAPR, gains from the sale of property subjget fa
a sale and leageback armangement are anly defearad if the provi-
siong of the kaseback contract indicate fthat the feaseback & a
captal lease; f the leaseback cortract meels the requrements of
an epemiting leage, such gaing am immedadely recognzed upsn
sale aof the properly.

Extracrdinary income and expensas

Undla LS GAAP, Swiss GAAP does rapart cerfain axpenses of
revenues as extraordmary d the recorded mcome of expense s
nan-aperaling and RoR-recuing,

Pensions and past-retirement benelits

Ursder LS GAAF, the kabdty and related persion expense is deler-
minad based on the propcied unit credit aciuanal caleulation of
the bareht obbgaton,

Under Swiss GAAP the labdily and relaled pension expensa i3
primandy delermined based on the pensien plan valzation in accor-
dance with Swiss GAAR FER 26, A pansion asssl i3 recorded £ a
stabutory everfunding of a pansion plan keads to a fulwe ecenomic
benehl, and a pension labilly & recorded f a stalutary undér-
funding of a pension ptan leads to a fulure econamic obligation
Employer comribution raserves musd be capitalzed if they repre-
sent a fuure economic benefit, A futurs economic benefil exists
if the ermployer can eeduce fs fuluee @atubory annual eonmribation
fo the pensmon plan by releasing employer conlributsan resardes,
Pangon expensss include the required comnbutions defined by
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Swass kaw, any addifional contriiution mandated by the pension
fund frustess and ary change in value of the pansion asset of lia-
bilty between bwo measuremend dates as delermined on the basis
af the anmmeal year-and pension plan valuation.

Discentinued oparations
Under US GAAP, the assets and kabifies of a discontimued apera-
tien are separated from the ordinary caplions of the consolidated
batance sheeis and are reporied as decontinued operalions mea-
sured &l the lower of (he camyng value ar fawr value less cost to
0, Accordingly, income and expense from discaninued opera-
tiona are reporied ina separate e fem of the consobdated stata-
merls of oparations.

Urded Swais GAAP, these posthans remain in thes indial bal-
arce sheel caplions urlil disposed of and conbnue lo be valued
accarding to the respactive caplions.

Security collateral received in securities landing
ransactions
Under IS GAAP, securty coliateral receded in secunties lnding
transachions are recorded as assets and a comrespending labilty b
redurn the colisleral is recognized,

Urder Swss GAAP, security collateral recessd and the obb-
gathen to return coliateral of securtias banding transaetions s nat
recogrzed an the balance sheel,

Loan commitments
Under US GAAR, the Growp includes unuded credd facilties that
can be revoked al A5 sole dacrebian upen notice fo the chent
lxan commitmeants

Under Swiss GAAP, credt facillies that can be revoked at
the Group's sels dieretion ame only declosed o the netice panod
exceeds six weeks.
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Parenl company financial slalements — Credil Suisse Group
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Parent company financial statements

Statements of income

e
2018

Statements of mcome (CHF mallion)

Todnl ap-8i 6 by incsma B30 B

P — [ T 481

phewtinh i

Amorirabion, depecsabion snd smpaenen] &5 O MOraouTend et -

Tetal cp-eeating expenses ] &

Dpsrating profitlossh 132 133

Eatrasrdigry, Aol tdvar Fig of § B ¥ - ;

Mt proRbifloss) belon a5 {137 140

Het proftilassh (147 174
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Parenl company financial slatements — Credil Susse Group 405

Parent compary financial statements

Balance sheets

Oshorara s
& dwobak ol
e Pl ]
Aseels (CHF milhond

Cath l-"l'llill‘J‘\Pl.'l-lWﬂ M3 G|
mm m=lhmm ik st y ki HLIRGL R i i . b s b
-l!l“'l.'b- |I'u.l'f_l1] I'|1I||;I'\'-'h : ' o i ik 7 T g% 1':7::' :-‘rf
pale ot R i eem LR Ll i Tladd ceaddinadiaa T R
Totsl current assats 4T A
Fmr\od rmtﬁa’. 1 1 40 4,140
et peneis o . . o . o o . g retiadtens ezt
Tofsl noncument assels &2 26T S1AET
Total asests L] et ]
Liabibties and shatsheidars” sqaity (CHF mlion) =
Shorl Jarm e hu- ;g“-‘:-ht-r‘.;ll - AL
[l '\Flp'.-Dfln “l‘r}!‘] : ' . T : o T .-1
e s saar e 1 GRS A SO AL, A t R R el T Rl
Total shortterm lisbiisies 3ass 2pe
.-:r-g Ser infsi ol ba::'ngh:::\-'-" 3 15 Bas ]
sl . o . . o . keucr o T
Totsl long-leim fiabilites 5 50 8288
Total liskiia LE AL &i81
Share Cagitsl -] a4 =
leﬂmlltﬂmr!mhe! s s s
Other capial eseres : s o i : 5 = s = T g 1,800
Legal capital reseien 25,184 24,908
Sterves i Beasry Shates ¥ el ] 390%
Legal income 1eser e EE 5 ] B X v ]
Sltutory and dscretanary 18 e 10, 800 10, B
ﬂﬂmdtmﬁq:umﬂ'?nvu B, 344 S0
PR, g i k . . v i i ELot T o
Voluntary ielamed sarnings 15,687 15,844
Traatury thates agent] olber capitul resen 2] i (i
Treasur y shared [Fi) L1
Totsl shaehobdrs’ sguity 44872 44,748
Total liskdites and shaseholders’ o quity 5% 280 52,908
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Motes to the inancal statements

Notes to the financial statements

1 General information and subsequent evenis

Company

Credit Sisss Graup AG s a Swiss holding company incerporaled
a3 a jont stock corporabian (pubkc bmied campany) with s reg-
istared offics in Zunch, Switterband. The firancal stalements of
Credit Sutsse Group AG are prepared in accordance with the regu-
tations of the Swiss Code of Obbgaticns and are stated in Swids
francs (CHF ). The financial year erds on December 31,

Number of employees
The merage rumber of employess (full-time aguaalams) for Lhe
currert year, as well as for the previcus year, did nal exceed 50,

Subsequent events

Im arder ta abgm the corporale struciure of Cradd Suisse (Schweiz)
AE (05 Schwee) with that of the Swiss Undversal Bank dvisaon,

2 Aceounting and valuation principles

the following equty slakes held by Credd Suisse Groug A5 will be
transferred o C5 Sehwed: () 100% equity stake in Neos Aar-
gawer Bank AG, (s) 100% equily stake in BANK-now AG, and
(i) 5O% aquily stake in Swisszard AECS GmbH. The transfer
of these equiy stakes & currently axpacted 1o take place by way
of an a-fards- pesdu contrbubon from Credi Sukse Group AG te
Credt Susse AG and immediately thereafter va a subsequent sale
of thase equity stakes fram Cred® Sulsse AG 1o CS Schwee. The
a-fends-pandu contribuban and the subsequent sale ane sxpecied
to lake place ab the redpecine equity stakes’ aggregate Swids
GAAP carrying value as recarded by Credit Suisse Group AG. The
trangier is expecied to be completed by Masch 31, 2017,

Thess financal statements were prepared in accordance with the
provisions of the Swiss Law on Accounting and Fnancial Reparting
{30rl tilhe of the Swiss Code of Obbgatisns).

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equialents are carnied al nominal valee,

Derivative financial instruments
Drarivalaes firancial instruments reporied in this balance shaet line
flem are carmed al the lower of cost or market.

Financial investments

Firancial investments mclude secunties issued by and lsans
grarfied 1o group companies with a long-term matunty, Debt and
equity secrities are camed af cost. Leng-lemm loans are carnied
at neminal value. Mo valuation adpstments or mparment kosses
wifd fegquied.

Participations

Participations are valeed o histoncal cost bess impairmen. For the
purpase of impakmarnt testing, with & chaarly dafined sub-pedtiolia
of economically closely related palicipations, the portiol valu-
ation method i apphed. The amaunt of imparmeant (5 assesead
on the lavel of this sub-porfolia and not indiadually for each par-
ticipation. All sther participations are vaked individually, An impair-
ment 5 recorded if the canrying value exceeds 1he far valee of
the padicipation sub-portfalic. i the fair valee of paricpations
recovers sgnificanly and 1 considered sustainable, a pror penad
impaiment can be reversed up lo the histoncal cost value of the
participalions.

Interest-bearing liabilities
Shert-term and long-term nterest-bearing abilties ane valued al
nomEal vlie.

Treasury sharés

Crwn shares are recorded o cost and reparted as freasury shanas,
fesulling 0 a reduction of total sharehalders’ equly. Realged gams
and loases on the sale of own shares ane recognized Ehrough the
statements of neome as sther financtal ncome o financal expenses.

Revenue recoghition

Revenues are recogned when they are reakred or realzable, and
arg earned. Dradend mcome i3 recedded in the reperting period in
which the diidend is declared.

Fareign currency translatiens

Azsets and habities of foregn branches are trangiated inlo Swiss
francs al the exchange rates prevaiing al year-end. Income and
axpanss dems are transiibed af weghled averags exchangs rales
for the percd, A8 currency transhition effects ae ecognized n
athar financal income of fnancial axpansa.

Faraign currency translation rates

Faowua i
ELIL]
5 0156

1USD/ | CHF T
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3 Other financial income
i ol
CHF mallion ;

4 Cther operaling income

2018
L prallicen )
Tatsl 178 197
5 Financial expenses
— - “I. s i
CHF pllion
-:II Sl &) LY el e aft Qafredtom Tt i NLET s

! papern ) 14
Tatal T a1
& Personnel expenses
.- FONR =il
CHE million )
'_luul - e
T Other operaling expenses

2018

Ll prallicen )
Z ANed e i
Totsl 138 154
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B8 Extraordinary, non-recurring or prior period income

in 2008 )
CHF malion
Tasn oh aake ol praedounhy o Fecagaiped rianglhs Etels ¥ i
Total o T
8 Other shori-term receivables

2008 2008
B drciben s Fror Sademapk ledd Mg 105
Cithe a8 5
Teanl 220 o]
10 Accrued income and prepald expeanses
wit ol 2008
CHF edlion
Dot ol Lo mefat 2 0ed P4 & kel
Arrrussd derest moome =] 18
it T T
Totnl BA -

Credit Sulsse Group AG hadges an cpen inbérest rate risk expasure  no valiabon changes, Le. change of clean replacement values,
from a fined rate labdity with a nominal amound of USD 1.0 bilion  are recorded onthe balance sheet and m the statemert of income:
with a foed recanar interast rale swap with equaabert metional  of the cempany. The inferes! coupsns recehed and paid from the
This hedge i3 consadered to be highly effectve aver the entre  inferest rate swap ane recorded in the satement of income as an
mabistity of Lhe hadge relabanship and no replacement vahes and  adjustment bo the intarest copense of the hedged axpasure.

11 Financlal invesimenls

wrd ol 018 2015
CHE milion o o
Dact sacntes 110 S
Edquaty bt 1 1
Long-teem koans ' ' 1 146
Total 4,353 4,140
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12 Participations

Direct participations

Viaking et Eqity mbwien cupeia
% i Company rame Dromecis Curssrey oy mllicen

a of Dacambar 11, 2010
R s PR i Lo NPT R i o =ik oot A
DGR Usce MM o0 iy e S ddiion) wrrans syl M of Sbrh.

0
200
e

agidiee:

e
e

EbD

et G i o) 4
Credd Suatss -Mﬁuﬂngl:ﬁwmﬁ}uu-
,Condt Sumse Holdngs (US&h e

Crodl Suanie Sarvces AG. ¢ 7 O Dureh, Switpeland .

Conl Sisia Tl A ) Toawch, Switreriard

| Coedf Siitse Trum Holdngsitd St Pater Porh, Gueersey. T Be

CHLF Mdeg A5 Tug, Swtizeriana CHE (%]
s s SRS e B s

S e LR

EUR 00

P R Wi S et 115774 SO e 4

VST A ki bt ard BOOM 5P ity et bl By CHet Sutiie AS
W G e by Ol e CORTETeEL
F Dozt i Pl i i Errisallre] Poraiec bl il s B &0 Bt bl v Feorronn b5

Indirect participations

The company’s principal indirect participations are shawn in
Note 40 - Signeheant subsidures and equily methed ime slivenls
n 'V - Conseddated hnancial staternents - Credit Suisse Group,

13 Short-term interest-bearing liabilitias

ol 2006 s
ICHIF million

i SR . . - e
Cashcolateral receted o] L e
Toksl 320 g |
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14 Accrued expenses and deferred income

wred o ELLL el
ek elion

eIl 101 peryanrsl @ Girer ool Al £ spenas ne B0
Diefpred ey on :-:-i;l'n-:l dett secuten &0 %
[y pTRe e p— 2 o
Total 128 137r

15 Long-term interesi-bearing liabilities

Thee metes issued by Credd Suisse Group AlG are perpetual sacur-
i3 and hinee e fiad o fnal malirdly date. Subgee! 1o the salis-
faction of certain condflions, they may be redesmed, al the optien
of the lsswar, on the first call dafe of on ary interest payment
date thereatter, Upon the occurrence of a contingency event or
a viabibly everd, abse called a wide-down event, (he mterest on
tha notes shall cease to acorue and the full principal amaound of
each note will avtematcally and permanently be wilter-dewn 1
rero. A wiite-down event will gecur if the swn of Credt Suisse
Growup's consobdated cammon aquiy ter 1 rabio ([CET1 ratie) and
the Higher Trigger Capital Riafie as of any quarterly batance sheet

Lang-term interest-bearing liabilities

dale or mterm capital report dale is belew 5.126%, unless the
Swiss Financial Markel Superasery Authedty FINKA [FINMA),
ol the request of Credl Suisse Group, has agreed on of priar te
the publization of the quarterdy rasults thak sctions, ercumstances
or events have restored, or will imminently restore, the ratio to
abave the appheable (e shald, A wiite-down everd will alsa accur
if FIMKA determinas that a write-dewn of the nobes & necessary,
o that Crédit Suisse Group AG requires pubbe sector capital sup-
port to preverd Credd Suisse Group AG from becaming mschent,
bankrupt o unables to pay a malerial part of its debls, or clher
smilar croumsdances,
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Total 4,988
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16 Share capital, conditional, conversion and authorized capital of Credil Sulsse Group

No, §f Ha ot
el P v o G et e P vake
shares  CF e nCHF
Share capital a4 of Decomber 31, 2018 1,057,378,244 TarEs 1m0
Condibonsl capitsl 3
Warearly and corssscibie hond
Captal as of Deceniowr 37, P0t8 ; = 2 i
Capital an of December 2V, 3018
Hadf -.h.m:1 : : : -
5 T T
Capital an of December 31, 38
Coamsanion cupdlal
Captal s of Decembsr 31, J008 1050, 00 D00 [
Cogital 3 of December 31, 2018 T, (0, D00 ¥ 6,00 o)
Authoaized capitad
Captal a3 of Deamier 31, P0G 2 773601 5150 w4
Anreesi Gorer sl Westing of Aprd 8, 2008 - no sase T 2, i £ s
e R g : i R
of Work Capial Mardgenment i Juns 200G (F7. 00 ) {1,080.0000 Q0,00 1, 050,000
Sorip drudend b June 008 {75, 51, 1) {3050,758) TEAE, ta4 0T
SANRY . Doy 91 20 16T A1 00 Samaty
Share capital 33 of Decembar 31, 2018 2080807378 63 sesaes
VS0 0 vl Taeitateed Aleated i veed o Frph-Tiggel capitil ingFumens
By ) ity g b e APATE TR e hghs Srigyer £ apitil B WU
17 Credil Sulsse Group shares held by subsidiaries
£ 0
Shirs  Wariat i Ehire  MafM vidhee
squvabety (OHF mile]  equvdann JCHF milon)
HBlalance atbeginning of nsncial year
Flagtica hplknga ! 5,408,145 177 TAEEAN1 168
iHoliing, net of perding otligation {0, 0Ty (15 (98, 804) el ]
Balance st eeed ol Anancisd year
P ol heleing ] 0 BADG DS 117
Hokdnga, net of pendng dobgation {1105 T) 1) (04N e

! PapmnSng 0 2% of lnmed wares i of Deosmt 21, 2015
T T pubscharinn wer inn $hor T posion By 1,74 5650 Cr el Sus GI0up shanks w1 & markt vishus of CHE 18 malian, tepeesanding 0007 of istusd shares o3 of Duoemba 21, 2016
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18 Purchases and sales of treasury shares held by Credit Suisse Group

Mt gunuTloand Sinapary shren, Barbge prce
o L £ com Heario [ Al
HEHF il [CHF i) ot S CHF)
11 BOTATE .87
el (k) 34 G00E 1) 1405
A 5 iFigprey st s e
(5} (A5EALE)
Balance as of Oecombedr 31, Hoid 2 142,534 13132
ighast pricw, paid on aary 15, (008 CHE 2000
Lot pric e, paid oo bora 7, Minl GeF 38T
ool |
Balance s of December 31, 7014 7 FELNGT 2508
Sl ol WoawEy Wdteg" Lkl [y ] (4405 161} ey A -
Puchae ol oy s = R Rt abdarany T
Change i 2015 1 4 eI
Balance as of December 31, 7015 1 801,878 R
Highani s, pad of Aapias 3, HI8S CHF 2588,
L vl i, [kl 2 Jiruiy 1%, 01% C3F 1285
! Fraepd piopriirng Wit gwid S daithimants wiits Group smgdym e
19 Significant shareholders
v ol Foll L]
Mumbes' Tiobal reraal S Mt ook o e
af e erery Packkig of grares [T ek
el (CHF mallon] b (e (D malaon] b
Dawch shsaholdeas "
Crisgser Horriesus L T EEL 12 V603 NF 13 1299
Nortnas Nomanwes Lig 4 ' 1 8 o
H R gt - - - e e oL rrhipeetrreen =
Creacent Hoiding e il & (21 - AT

bR regatered o T W et o T Cioupon Dacemies BT of P reporiing penad, it SParetohiery e &5 DOmna of ADT poailary Dk

F Nomdress Pokings secesdng T% wow tegeinted with & nght 10 vole onfy o T nomines conliem, Bl ne inddsl sharefolder hordy mose Fan O 5% of Tw sufsendng shan Caniaton @
Wm0 ke W iEndty of iy Darafioil gerer Robdedg mons Tan 05 of fus eostandng Cpial

P Paricipaton wak s Taan B daclovone esshald of 4%

» Bipfer 10 'Blote 3~ Buminess Sowriopeenty, pgnfizant sharsholden and 1ot
sequert warchi' n Y = Comoldaded francial riatements = Crodfl Sumve Gioop
Lerraat oyt dasnd i abataRikiern rod Iegistanad B the ahine ragte ol

ie , e
LasdE Suprse hoUD =i
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20 Conlingent labilities
i od FOIG s
Coantingent latditas (CHF milkon)
Agcesoati wcrerdly Balfien, guaaniess and oifer condnosnd Babifies faf ol st reootted g5 Babiiiey) L] BB

of which Faroe been enfeced info on behal] of sutmidanien *

T ]

¥ ickiden werior unaecaed ot v by vibsoaries of CHF IRU0ST millon end OF 15,137 milien ol Decamber 21 3006 and 2015, mapec iy, which quilfes as 5l lus

wheartare capatity (TLAC]

Value-sdded tax

The company belengs 1o the Swiss vahese-added tax group of
Credit Susse Group, and thus earmes gl kabdty to the Swiss
federal tax authority for value-added tax dabts of the entire Groug.

Swiss pension plan

The employess of Cradt Suisse Greup AG are covared by the
pensan plan of the ‘Pensionskasse der Credit Susse Group
(Sehwai) (Ihe Swiss pansion plan) All Swiss subsedaries of
Credit Sulsse Group AG and a few companies that have close
budinasd and hrancsl ties with Credit Sutise Graup AG partizipate

21 Assels and liabilities with related parlies

i this plan. The Swiss pengkon plan s an ndepandent solf- insured
penson plan se up as a trust and qualfies as a defined contriby-
tiani plan (3avings plan) under Swiss b,

The Swiss pension plan's annual financtal statemends are
prepaded i atcosdance with Swiss GAAF FER 26 based on the
full poputation of covered employees. Individual annual financial
shaternents for each panticipating camparry ame not prapared Asa
mubi-empleyer plan with unrestricted joint labiiy for all participat-
) companies, the sconemes interest in the Swiss pansan plar's
over- or underfunding i allocated 1o each participating company
baged an an alocalion key determined by the plan,

o IR il
Aunwts (CHF million)

i sh @ CaMh BQuvalenks = Be
Critee s -t necbivabied 216 an
Dot rvatve Tinancial inatnasnts 175 245
e e a0 pripaid muperie a7 o5

Pubcpabors 473
Tokal nencument asssts - related paben B3 i B A
Tobsl addal = i alabed pasiias rEma 57 gm0
???1; ;’;Fgﬂ:-tqu ] habdsbes 3201 a7
Cther short berm iatdnes Eu ™ 3
Ad cied eaperredand dehmned noome ) w7
Toksl sheotbieem lakdlities - relaied paities 3375 2,780
Totd lisbiites - related parties 1275 2am
Thes amieits red BuhebSars rogestamis, Fia @i dow 1iom and dus b group Dompanesd. The emsad 1 Gk 1 mirdgement todel i belve CHF 1 milon

22 Subordinated assets and liabilities

i of 2006 o ]
CHF prallicen

Sodbeibeal ol apsety 199 4,105
Tokal subord insted mseks 4773 408
Segor el e L ey 2170 SO0
Total subordinated lishilities 510 S0
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23 Shareholdings of the Board of Directors, Execulive Board and employees

Executive Board shareholdings in which they have a cantroling mterest as well as the vake of the
The tabls ‘Exscutive Beard holdings and valies of deferred share-  urnested share-based compensation awards held by Exseutive
based awards by indvidual’ disckeses the shareholdings of the  Board members as of December 31, 2006 and 2015,

Esscubive Board members, thair immadase family and companes

Executive Board holdings and values of deferred share-based awards by individual

Frnbar ol Murmbar of urnw il [

Hearehas il weited el e O L]
ol shate  anedoresiied Fart

wraren ! gEpdn  shew e ICHFY ]

A0 T

BT NE
4016908
bines0 haenia T oi e
TG ATempdn BRGS0
ey SRAnT PaEaeed 10048380
CoTTEsT a0 ROSeETA IRdd T

Vaa3 BAR
264050

Tromas Goftsten
Sl ki
David B Mathers
i Dt b
Lk e
Tetsl 1308,044  BIITI0Z 7033046 109200,81  E0.800418

b

Tickared Thishi - &T7.558
Jomes L Amaw i AT i ARk B L 601,ga8 “h3aapdie. 3 0ET.EIE
Fiarte- Cniér Bioute = TEHT RS AD 1m0
Y s TS o S e ) i
Fatir Gowrks = 0 T URTEE T 1TINT
Thomas ot her : B aad e, 3an !
il Fran 13,358 PRGIE 1127
Ordd B Mathers Lot o FIBTTD SRR
Jowctem ettt 17,0505 DTRED 15,051
Tereottyy P O'Hara De0TE =ra=1., ) GO AL ! :
Hebman Sshang B g 404,104 4E2096 A MEMZ  EBOEEI0
L s =|:EIZ 158244 LET AT 3 ERE 053 Az
Total ABAAIS  DI0MITY  JATESSE  TILTAABI0  ESSKSEHD
! bk shanry Bunl wms vy grastes) in determsd companuybon snd have veitsd

PASIDATO e TR
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Board of Directors shareholdings

The table belvw dischoses the shareholdings of the Beard of Dinec-
fors members, their mmediste family and companies in which
they have a cordroling inlerest. As of December 31, 2016 and
2015, there were no Board of Oreclors members with oulstand-
ing ophions.

Board of Directors shareholdings by individual

™ 10 3018
Deceember 31 (shares)'

Lie Rrodarem 10T a61 445N
Jutten BinHamed ol MThed o amane . Ded0d
o raa oo AT e s

Taral 1230447 1,087,778°

Ve hages Grong pharey Tak ee sulpect 1o 4 Blocking peiad of wp e fea e, inghade
sharshaddings of immpdats iy maTitery

* Pachien & 050 charey eid by Sebastun Troun g of Dacemar 31, 3005, who g4 not
shind for e setion e Ba Board ey of Aprd 77, 2008

Share swards sutstanding

Frurrbast Fosprabaar

ol yharg- oF Walre -
el wwardy

sitvlandng  Faltalein  cstndeg  Faivaius in
i, CHF malion nmilon  OMF malien

[— [ 138 soe7
Total share awards 1315 1,073 138 T5T
!l o i T o iy b shane seRrdn grantes o smphoyees o iibsienes of Creds Suvee G AG wre Comidred 0 Tug ks tabis
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Proposed appropriation of refained eamings and capital distribution

Proposed appropriation of retained earnings
and capital distribution

Proposed appropristion of retained sarnings

2016
lslﬂlrud wanimgs [CHF prlion) o
Hetnned o wrimps available lor apgeopristion EREH
.-, g lrward & 0
Tokal saar
Proposed distribution out of capital contribution reserves

006
Capilal conhibubon eagsive s (CHF milion)
Balwnce stbeginning of pras 73,108
Captal b bt sion B T Hirr =

ate . foe aJ i e
Dalance atend of yeas T
Propossd duliafon ol CHF 070 pae regetered share lor e hiranclal vear 20181 0480
Gaance alter dishibation P01
. Fohi Fio chie .
T i 1% e - 3 #
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1.2
2017 143
2017 31

SDNY
USA CSS LLC
2017 12
SCNY RMBS 360
CSS LLC

2017 400 NCUA

RMBS 715 CSS LLC
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Report of the Statutory Auditor

To the General Meeting of Credit Suisse Group AG, Zurich

Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Consolidated Financial Statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Credit Suisse Group AG and subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2016,
and the related notes.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles and the requirements of Swiss law. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal
control system relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant
to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and

the results of operations and the cash flows for each of the years in the three- year period ended December 31, 2016 in accordance with U.S.
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, and comply with Swiss law.
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Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority

Valuation of financial instruments reported at fair value

Goodwill

Valuation of deferred tax assets

Provisions for litigation and regulatory actions

Valuation of the allowance for loan losses

Valuation of the projected benefit obligation of pension plans

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of financial instruments reported at fair value

Key Audit Matter

The Group reports financial assets reported at fair value of
CHF 320.9 billion and financial liabilities reported at fair
value of CHF 187.6 billion as of December 31, 2016. These
financial assets represented 39% of total assets and these
financial liabilities represented 24% of total liabilities as of
December 31, 2016.

The fair value of the majority of the Group’s financial
instruments is based on quoted prices in active markets or
observable inputs.

In addition, the Group holds financial instruments for which
no prices are available and which have little or no
observable inputs. For these financial instruments fair value
is determined through the application of valuation
techniques, which often involve the exercise of judgment by
management including the use of assumptions and
estimates. In particular for financial instruments which do
not have directly observable market prices, judgment is
often required to determine modelling assumptions that are
used in the determination of fair value. The Group also has
certain financial instruments that utilize significant,
judgmental inputs with varying degrees of observability for
purposes of determining fair value. Further, the Group
applies significant judgment in calculating certain valuation
adjustments including credit, debit and funding valuation
adjustments.

Our response

We assessed and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of the key controls over financial reporting
with respect to the valuation of financial instruments
reported at fair value. This included controls over
independent price verification, valuation model approval and
the calculation, validation and recording of valuation
adjustments.

For a sample of financial instruments, we examined the
appropriateness of models used and valuation inputs or
data. We compared observable inputs and data against
independent sources and externally available market data.

For a sample of instruments which do not have directly
observable market prices, we critically examined and
challenged the assumptions and models used or
reperformed an independent valuation assessment, by
reference to what we considered to be available alternative
methods and sensitivities to key factors.

We also evaluated the methodology and inputs used in
determining key judgmental valuation adjustments by
critically examining and challenging these assumptions and
models, and performing recalculations for a sample of these
adjustments.

We made use of our own valuation specialists in performing
the above procedures, in particular in relation to the most
judgmental financial instruments, models, methodologies
and assumptions.
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For further information on the valuation of financial instruments reported at fair value refer to the following:

- Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies, “Fair value measurement and option”, “Trading assets and liabilities”

- Note 16 Trading assets and liabilities

- Note 35 Financial instruments

Goodwill

Key Audit Matter

The Group reports goodwill totalling CHF 4.9 billion as of
December 31, 2016. Goodwill is allocated to reporting units
and the carrying value is primarily supported by the future
cash flows of the underlying businesses. During 2016, as a
result of the reorganization of reporting units, goodwill
impairment testing was performed as of March 31 and June
30 in addition to the annual impairment assessment as of
December 31, 2016.

Due to the inherent uncertainty associated with the
forecasts used in determining the fair value of each
reporting unit, this is an area in which significant judgment is
applied. There is a greater degree of sensitivity to the
impact of changes to estimates of future cash flows and
other key assumptions for those reporting units where
headroom between fair value and carrying value is limited.

For further information on goodwill refer to the following:

Our response

We assessed and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of the key controls over financial reporting
with respect to the valuation of goodwill. This included
controls over the annual impairment analysis, including the
assumptions used in determining the fair value of each
reporting unit, the development and approval of the financial
plan, and management’s annual comparison of forecasts to
past performance.

We evaluated the reasonableness of cash flow projections
and compared key inputs, such as the discount rates and
growth rates, to externally available industry, economic and
financial data and the Group’s own historical data and
performance. With the assistance of our own valuation
specialists, we critically examined and challenged the
assumptions and methodologies used to calculate fair value
for those reporting units where the impact of changes to key
estimates and assumptions was most sensitive.

- Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies, “Goodwill and other intangible assets”

- Note 21 Goodwill

Valuation of deferred tax assets

Key Audit Matter

The Group reports net deferred tax assets totalling CHF 5.7
billion as of December 31, 2016.

Significant judgment is required in relation to deferred tax
assets as their recoverability is dependent on forecasts of
future profitability over a number of years. The most
significant deferred tax assets arise in the US and
Switzerland.

Our response

We assessed and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of the key controls over financial reporting
with respect to the valuation of deferred tax assets. This
included controls over the recognition and measurement of
deferred tax assets, the assessment and approval of
assumptions used in projecting the future taxable profits in
relevant jurisdictions / legal entities, the development and
approval of the legal entity plans, and management’s
annual comparison of legal entity plans to past
performance.

We substantively tested management's process for valuing
deferred tax assets by critically examining management's
analysis and comparing assumptions used in the forecast to
independently obtained data points. We also examined the
consistency between the financial plan used for goodwill
impairment purposes and the legal entity plans used in the
valuation of deferred tax assets.
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For further information on the valuation of deferred tax assets refer to the following:

- Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies, “Income taxes”

- Note 28 Tax

Provisions for litigation and regulatory actions

Key Audit Matter

The Group reports litigation provisions of CHF 3.8 billion as
of December 31, 2016. The Group’s estimate of the
aggregate range of reasonably possible losses that are not
covered by existing provisions for which the Group believes
an estimate is possible is zero to CHF 1.1 billion.

The Group is involved in a number of judicial, regulatory
and arbitration proceedings concerning matters arising in
connection with the conduct of its businesses. The outcome
of such cases is dependent on the future outcome of
continuing legal and regulatory processes. Consequently,
the calculations of the provisions are subject to inherent
uncertainty as they rely on management judgment about the
likelihood and amount of liabilities arising from litigation and
regulatory claims.

Our response

We assessed and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of the key controls over financial reporting
with respect to provisions for litigation and regulatory
actions. This included controls over the valuation of the
litigation provisions and their approval, review and
disclosure.

We evaluated the Group’s assessment of the nature and
status of litigation, claims and regulatory actions. We
considered the legal advice received by the Group from in-
house counsel, as well as external counsel, when relevant,
for certain of the more significant cases.

We examined the Group’s conclusions with respect to the
provisions and disclosures made for significant cases,
considering the results of corroborative information obtained
from management. In view of the significance of the
judgments required, we examined the more significant
provisions in detail. For the significant cases, we obtained
correspondence directly from the Group’s outside attorneys
and, where appropriate, performed corroborative inquiry of
outside counsel and tested data and inputs used by
management in determining their litigation provisions.

For further information on provisions for litigation and regulatory actions refer to the following:

- Note 39 Litigation

Valuation of the allowance for loan losses

Key Audit Matter

Our response
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The Group reports gross loans of CHF 277.0 billion and has
recorded an allowance for loan losses of CHF 0.9 billion as
of December 31, 2016.

The valuation of the allowance for loan losses relies on the
application of significant management judgment and the use
of different modelling techniques and assumptions. The
specific allowance for loan losses involves judgment to
estimate the recoverable amount and the collateral value.
The collective allowance for loan losses involves judgment
in determining the methodology and parameters in
calculating the allowance at a portfolio level.
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We assessed and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of the key controls over financial reporting
with respect to the valuation of the allowance for loan
losses. This included controls over the calculation,
approval, recording and monitoring of the allowance for loan
losses. This also included controls over model approval,
validation and approval of key data inputs and the
qualitative considerations for potential impairment that were
not captured by management’s models.

For a sample of loan loss allowances calculated on an
individual basis we tested the assumptions underlying the
impairment identification and quantification including
forecasts of future cash flows, valuation of underlying
collateral and estimates of recovery on default. We also
examined a sample of loans which had not been identified
by management as impaired and formed our own opinion
about collectability.

For a sample of loan loss allowances calculated on a
collective basis we tested the underlying models including
the model approval and validation process. We also tested
the reasonableness of the inputs to those models, such as
recovery rates, by comparing data and assumptions made
to external benchmarks, when available.

For further information on the valuation of allowance for loan losses refer to the following:

- Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies, “Loans”

- Note 19 Loans, allowance for loan losses and credit quality

Valuation of the projected benefit obligation of pension plans

Key Audit Matter

The Group reports a projected benefit obligation of CHF
19.2 billion with a net overfunded status of CHF 0.7 billion
as of December 31, 2016. The Group's projected benefit
obligation is mainly driven by the Swiss defined benefit
pension plan, which was CHF 15.9 billion with an
overfunded status of CHF 66mn as of December 31, 2016
and represented 82% of the Group's total projected benefit
obligation as of December 31, 2016.

The valuation of the projected benefit obligation is an
important judgment as pension benefit obligations are
calculated using a number of actuarial assumptions and
inputs. Small changes in assumptions can result in
significant impacts to the valuation of the projected benefit
obligation.

In 2016, the Group carried out a methodology review of the
actuarial assumptions used in calculating its projected
benefit obligation for its Swiss pension plan. As a result, the
Group refined its methodology for estimating certain
assumptions including the mortality assumption, discount
rate, interest credit rate and conversion rate.

Our response

We assessed and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of the key controls over financial reporting
with respect to the valuation of the projected benefit
obligation. This included controls over the inputs to the
annual valuation of the projected benefit obligation for the
Swiss pension plan as well as over management'’s review
of assumptions used in the calculation.

We evaluated the annual valuation of the projected

benefit obligation, which included the current year
methodology refinements relating to the Swiss pension plan.
With the assistance of our own actuarial specialists, we
critically examined and challenged the key assumptions
used in the calculation of the projected benefit obligation.
We also assessed the Group’s pension and other post-
retirement benefits disclosure in Note 31.

For further information on the valuation of the projected benefit obligation of pensions plans refer to the following:

- Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies, “Other liabilities”
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Report on Other Legal Requirements

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO
and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal control system exists,
which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Group’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework 2013
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ”), and our report dated March 24, 2017 expressed
an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control over financial reporting.

KPMG AG
Nicholas Edmonds Anthony Anzevino
Licensed Audit Expert Global Lead Partner

Auditor in Charge

Zurich, Switzerland
March 24, 2017
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Report of the Statutory Auditor

To the General Meeting of Credit Suisse Group AG, Zurich

Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying financial statements of Credit Suisse Group AG, which comprise the balance sheet,
statement of income and notes for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of Swiss law and Credit
Suisse Group AG'’s articles of association. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system
relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors
is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss
law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the
entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016, comply with Swiss law and Credit Suisse Group AG'’s articles of
association.
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Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority

Valuation of participations

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of participations

Key Audit Matter

Credit Suisse Group AG reports participations of CHF 48.0
billion as of December 31, 2016. The participations portfolio
consists of investments in subsidiary entities mainly
operating in the banking and finance industry.

Participations are valued at acquisition cost less
impairment. For the purpose of impairment testing, the
portfolio valuation method is applied for economically
closely related participations. All other participations are
valued individually. The valuation of participations involves
judgment in the projections and assumptions used, which
are sensitive to the expected future market developments
that could affect the profitability of these entities.

Our response

We assessed and tested the design and implementation of
the key controls over financial reporting with respect to the
valuation of participations. This included controls over the
identification and measurement of impairments, the
evaluation of the valuation methodology, key inputs and
assumptions used in the determination of the participation
value, and management’s annual comparison of legal entity
plans to past performance.

For a sample of participations, we evaluated key
assumptions applied in performing the valuation. We used
our own valuation specialists to critically examine and
challenge the key assumptions applied by benchmarking
them against independent data.

For further information on the valuation of financial instruments reported at fair value refer to the following:

Note 2 Accounting and valuation principles, “Participations”

Note 12 Participations
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Report on Other Legal Requirements

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO
and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal control system exists,
which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and Credit Suisse Group AG’s articles of
association. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

KPMG AG
Nicholas Edmonds Ralph Dicht
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert

Auditor in Charge

Zurich, Switzerland
March 24, 2017
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